## ISSN 2225-0719





# Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology





OWNED BY THE SECOND AFFILIATED HOSPITAL OF CHONGQING MEDICAL UNIVERSITY PUBLISHED BY XIA & HE PUBLISHING INC. pISSN: 2225-0719; eISSN: 2310-8819 Frequency: Quarterly Launch date: September 28, 2013 (Volume 1, Issue 1)

#### **Editors-in-Chief**

#### **Prof. Hong Ren**

General Editor-in-Chief The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, China

#### Prof. George Y. Wu

Comprehensive Editor-in-Chief University of Connecticut Heath Center, USA

#### Dr. Harry Hua-Xiang Xia

Editor-in-Chief Guangdong Pharmaceutical University, China

#### **Managing Editors**

Huaidong Hu Chongqing, China

Sandeep Kumar Karn Chongqing, China

#### **Executive Editor**

Hua He Houston, USA

#### **Technical Editor**

Huili Zhang Wuhan, China

#### **Contact Information**

#### **Editorial Office**

Managing Editors: Dr. Huaidong Hu Dr. Sandeep Kumar Karn Telephone: +86-23-6372 7251 Fax: +86-23-6370 1383

**E-mail:** jcth@xiahepublishing.com

Postal Address: 74 Linjiang Road, Yuzhong District, 400010 Chongqing, CHINA

#### Publisher

Xia & He Publishing Inc. Website: www.xiahepublishing.com

E-mail: service@xiahepublishing.com

Postal Address: 14090 Southwest Freeway, Suite 300, Sugar Land, Texas, 77478, USA

#### Current Issue: Volume 8, Issue 4

Publication date: December 28, 2020

#### **Aims and Scope**

Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology (JCTH, J Clin Transl Hepatol) publishes high quality, peer-reviewed studies in the clinical and basic human health sciences of liver diseases. *JCTH* welcomes submissions of articles within its topical scope including: novel discoveries in clinical and basic hepatology; liver disease mechanisms; novel techniques in research and management of liver diseases; epidemiological/environmental factors of liver diseases; role of immune system function in liver diseases; acute and chronic hepatitis; cirrhosis; genetic and metabolic liver diseases and their complications; hepatobiliary disease; liver cancer; drug metabolism; biliary disease; peritoneal tuberculosis. *JCTH* publishes various types of articles, including original article, review, short communication, systematic review, meta-analysis, case report, methodology article, letter to the editor, and editorial.

#### Indexing & Abstracting

*JCTH* is now indexed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE); PubMed; PubMed Central; Scopus; Baidu Scholar; CNKI Scholar; Dimensions; EB-SCOhost; Google Scholar; Microsoft Academic; SafetyLit; ScienceOpen; Scilit; Semantic Scholar; Wanfang Data; Web of Science; WorldCat Discovery Services; Zetoc.

#### **Open Access**

*JCTH* adopts open access publishing model, and all articles are distributed under the terms of the CC BY-NC 4.0 license (http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/). Under this license, anyone may copy, distribute, or reuse these articles for non-commercial purposes, provided the original work is properly cited. Manuscripts submitted for publication in an open access journal are subject to the same rigorous peer-review and quality control as in scholarly subscription journals.

#### **Disclaimer**

All articles published in Xia & He journals represent the views and opinions of their authors, and not the views, opinions, or policies of the publisher, except where explicitly indicated. Xia & He Publishing shall not be held responsible for the use of views and opinions expressed in the articles; use of any information in the articles shall not be considered an endorsement by Xia & He Publishing of the products advertised.

#### Links

Journal Home: https://www.xiahepublishing.com/journal/jcth Editorial Board: https://www.xiahepublishing.com/journal/jcth/editors Archive: https://www.xiahepublishing.com/journal/jcth/archive Instructions for Authors: https://www.xiahepublishing.com/journal/jcth/instruction Online Submission System: https://www.editorialmanager.com/jcth/default.aspx

## Associate Editors

## Viral Hepatitis, Cirrhosis and Liver Failure

#### Mohamed A Daw

Faculty of Medicine, University of Tripoli Tripoli, Libya

#### Xiao-Guang Dou

Department of Infectious Diseases, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University Shenyang, China

#### Jin-Lin Hou

Hepatology Unit and Department of Infectious Diseases, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University Guangzhou, China

#### Chao-Hong Liu

Department of Pathogen Biology, School of Basic Medicine, Huazhong University of Science and Technology Wuhan, China

#### Jun-Qi Niu

Department of Hepatology, The First Hospital of Jilin University Changchun, China

#### Arielle Rosenberg

University Paris Descartes Paris, France

#### **Qing-Feng Sun**

Department of Infectious Diseases, The Third Affiliated Hospital to Wenzhou Medical College Wenzhou, China

#### Fu-Sheng Wang

The Institute of Translational Hepatology, 302 Military Hospital of China Beijing, China

#### Da-Zhi Zhang

Department of Infectious Diseases, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University

Chongqing, China

## Alcohol and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

#### Roopjeet Bath

Department of Medicine, University of Connecticut Farmington, USA

#### Marko Duvnjak

Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Clinic of Internal medicine, Clinical Hospital Centre "Sestre milosrdnice" Zagreb, Croatia

#### Yu-Chen Fan

Department of Hepatology, Qilu Hospital of Shandong University Jinan, China

#### Kittichai Promrat

Alpert Medical School of Brown University Providence, USA

#### Ashwani Singal

Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of South Dakota, Avera McKennan University Health Center and Transplant Institute Sioux Falls, USA

#### Lai Wei

Hepatopancreatobiliary Center, Beijing Tsinghua Changgung Hospital, School of Clinical Medicine, Tsinghua University Beijing, China

#### Ming-Hua Zheng

NAFLD Research Center, Department of Hepatology, the First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University Wenzhou, China

## Autoimmune and Cholestatic Liver Disease, DILI, Immunology

#### John W. Birk

UCONN Health, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology Farmington, USA

#### **Timothy Billiar**

Department of Surgery, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine Pittsburgh, USA

#### Aziz A. Chentoufi

Immunology/HLA Department, National Reference Laboratory, Mohammed VI University of Health Sciences Casablanca. Morocco

Casabianca, Morocc

#### Ji-Dong Jia

Liver Research Center, Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medial University Beijing, China

#### Lun-Gen Lu

Department of Gastroenterology, Shanghai General Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine Shanghai, China

#### Farzin Roohvand

Molecular Virology Department, Pasteur Institute of Iran Tehran, Iran

#### Xue-Feng Xia

Key Laboratory for Reproduction and Genetics of Guangdong Higher Education Institutes, Key Laboratory for Major Obstetric Diseases of Guangdong Province, Third Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University; Department of Reproductive Medicine, Third Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University Guangzhou, China



#### **Surgery and Transplantation**

#### Yen-Hsuan Ni

College of Medicine and Children's Hospital, National Taiwan University Taiwan

#### Michael Schilsky

Yale New Haven Transplantation Center, Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, USA

#### Radiology

#### Li-Min Chen

Institute of Blood Transfusion, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, and Peking Union Medical College Chengdu, China

#### Pathology

#### Masahiro Arai

Department of Gastroenterology, Nerima Hikarigaoka Hospital Tokyo, Japan

#### Wendy Cao

New York University Langone Health New York. USA

#### Lan-Jing Zhang

Department of Pathology, Princeton Medical Center Plainsboro, USA

#### Liver Cancer and Oncology

#### Ke-Qin Hu

Irvine Medical Center, University of California Orange, USA

#### Douglas LaBrecque

Department of Internal Medicine, University of lowa lowa City, USA

#### Joseph Lim

Section of Digestive Diseases/Yale Liver Center, Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, USA

#### Tawesak Tanwandee

Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University Bangkok, Thailand

Dangkok, manand

#### Man-Fung Yuen

Department of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong; Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Medicine, Queen Mary Hospital Hong Kong

## **Editorial Board Members**

Avin Aggarwal Las Vegas, USA

Gianfranco D. Alpini Temple, USA

Leon D. Averbukh Farmington, USA

Mostafa El Awady Giza, Egypt

Sina Aziz Karachi, Pakistan

Gyorgy Baffy Boston, USA

Mahmoud Mohamed Bahgat Cairo, Egypt

Fernando Bessone Rosario, Argentina

Kalyan Ram Bhamidimarri Miami, USA

Peter Buch Farmington, USA

Chalermrat Bunchorntavakul

Bangkok, Thailand Phunchai Charatcharoen-

witthaya Bangkok, Thailand

En-Qiang Chen Chengdu, China

Po-Hung Chen Baltimore, USA

Li Chen Shanghai, China

Ashok Kumar Choudhury New Delhi, India

Jian-Qiang Ding Foshan, China

Maysaa El Sayed Zaki Cairo, Egypt

Jian-Gao Fan Shanghai, China

Heather L Francis Bryan, USA

Catherine Frenette La Jolla, USA

Artin Galoosian San Francisco, USA

Yan-Hang Gao Changchun, China

George Boon-Bee Goh Singapore, Singapore Chang-Cun Guo

Xi'an, China

Ahmet Gurakar Baltimore, USA Steven-Huy Bui Han Los Angeles, USA Ying Han Xi'an, China Amr Shaaban Hanafy Zagazig, Egypt Kazuhiko Hayashi Nagoya, Japan Song-Bing He Suzhou, China Peng Hu Chongging, China Jing Hua Shanghai, China Yan Huang Changsha, China Yue-Hua Huang Guangzhou, China Trana Hussaini Vancouver, Canada Hartmut Jaeschke Kansas City, USA Wasim Jafri Karachi, Pakistan Tatsuo Kanda Tokyo, Japan Lindsey Kennedy Temple, USA Ruhail Kohli Baltimore, USA John Koskinas Athens, Greece Anastasios Koulaouzidis Edinburgh, UK Anand V Kulkarni Hyderabad, India Ashish Kumar New Delhi, India Manoj Kumar New Delhi, India Xiang-Ming Lao Guangzhou, China Jun Li Hangzhou, China Jie Li Jinan, China **Bing Liu** Guangzhou, China Cheng-Hai Liu Shanghai, China Man-Qing Liu Wuhan, China Feng-Min Lu Beijing, China



Ming-Qin Lu Wenzhou, China

Mazyar Malakouti San Antonio, USA

Alessandro Mantovani Verona, Italy

Qing Mao Chongqing, China

Matthew McMillin

Fan-Yin Meng Temple, USA

Ahmed Mesalam Cairo, Egypt

Albert D. Min New York, USA

Paul Naylor Detroit, USA

Calvin Q. Pan New York, USA

James S. Park New York, USA

María Teresa Pérez-Gracia Valéncia, Spain

Cyriac Abby Philips Kochi, India

Nikolaos T. Pyrsopoulos Newark, USA

Atoosa Rabiee Washington, USA

Alok Ranjan Washington, USA

Sahaj Rathi Vancouver, Canada Sammy Saab

Los Angeles, USA

Behnam Saberi Baltimore, USA

Moinak Sen Sarma Lucknow, India

Ke-Qing Shi Wenzhou, China

Chao Sun Tianiin, China

Gamal Shiha Mansoura, Egypt Surajit Sinha Bethesda, USA Coleman Smith Washington, USA Martina Smolic Osijek, Croatia

Robert Smolic Osijek, Croatia Jonathan G. Stine Charlottesville, USA Giovanni Targher Verona, Italy **Rolf Teschke** Frankfurt, Germany Claudio Tiribelli Trieste, Italy George Tsoulfas Thessaloniki, Greece Vladimir Maximovich Tsyrkunov Grodno, Belarus Zheng-Kun Tu Changchun, China **David Victor** New York, USA Gen-Shu Wang Guangzhou, China Le-Yi Wang Urbana, USA Yu Jun Wong Singapore Yong-Ning Xin Qingdao, China Ming Yan Jinan, China Dong-Liang Yang Wuhan, China Li Yang Cincinnati, USA Tian Yang Xi'an, China Eric M. Yoshida Vancouver, Canada Samar Samir Youssef Cairo, Egypt Jia Yu Wuhan, China Yu-Feng Yuan Wuhan, China Xin-Xin Zhang Shanghai, China Yuan-Yuan Zhang Chengdu, China Shi-Cheng Zheng Chengdu, China Yu-Bao Zheng Guangzhou, China Hong Zhou Nanjing, China Hui-Ping Zhou Richmond, USA Yu Zhou Wuhan, China Jian-Hong Zhong Nanning, China

4

## JOURNAL OF CLINICAL AND TRANSLATIONAL HEPATOLOGY

## CONTENTS

### 2020 8(4):357-481

#### Editorial

Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology Has Been Indexed in S a Greater Academic Goal	SCIE: A Milestone towards
Harry Hua-Xiang Xia, George Y. Wu and Hong Ren	
Original Articles	
A 3D Human Liver Model of Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Marion Duriez, Agnes Jacquet, Lucile Hoet, Sandrine Roche, Marie-Dominique Gilles Haussy, Xavier Vigé, Zsolt Bocskei, Tamara Slavnic, Valérie Martin, Jean- Michel Didier, Aimo Kannt, Cécile Orsini, Vincent Mikol and Anne-Céline Le Fe	Bock, Corinne Rocher, Claude Guillemot, évre
Association of TCF7L2 rs7903146 Gene Polymorphism with the Risk of in the Chinese Han Population	NAFLD and CAD
Clinical Outcome Event Adjudication in a 10-Year Prospective Study of Therapy for Chronic Hepatitis B Joseph K Lim, Alex Y Chang, Atif Zaman, Paul Martin, Conrado M Fernandez- Simona Rossi, James M Ford, Tamara Noonan, Elizabeth Cooney, Victor Navar	Nucleos(t)ide Analogue Rodriguez, Mete Korkmaz, rro and Luis Colombato 377
Long-term Outcome of Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Infusion in Effect over Time Mithun Sharma, Anand Kulkarni, Mitnala Sasikala, Pramod Kumar, Shasidhar J Kumar Pondugala, Ganesh Jaishetwar, Santosh Darisetty, Nitin Jagtap, Rajesh C Jagadeesh Rampal Singh, Syeda Fatima, Padaki Nagaraja Rao, Guduru Venkat J and Duvurr Nageshwar Reddy	<b>Cirrhosis: Waning</b> Jaggaiahgari, Gupta, Rao 
Hispanic Patients with Primary Biliary Cholangitis Have Decreased Acc Compared to Non-Hispanics Atoosa Rabiee, Nathalie A Pena Polanco, Aymara Fernandez De La Vara and C	Cess to Care
Review Articles	

## 2019 Chinese Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Prevention of Mother-to-child Transmission of Hepatitis B Virus

Clinical Considerations of Coagulopathy in Acute Liver Failure	
Ahyoung Kim, Bolin Niu, Tinsay Woreta and Po-Hung Chen 407	7
Skeletal Muscle Dysfunction in the Development and Progression of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Sarah Altajar and Gyorgy Baffy	4
Macrophage Phenotypes and Hepatitis B Virus Infection Yujia Li, Shilin Li, Xiaoqiong Duan, Chunhui Yang, Min Xu and Limin Chen	1
Nontumoral Portal Vein Thrombosis: A Challenging Consequence of Liver Cirrhosis Manus Rugivarodom and Phunchai Charatcharoenwitthaya	<u>,</u>
Elastography for Longitudinal Assessment of Liver Fibrosis after Antiviral Therapy: A Review Hong Wei and Bin Song	5
Chronic Liver Disease and Silymarin: A Biochemical and Clinical Review	
Sean P. Tighe, Daud Akhtar, Umair Iqbal and Aijaz Ahmed 454	ł

### **Case Reports**

A Case Report of Alloimmune Hepatitis after Direct-acting Antiviral Treatment in a Liver Transplant Patient
Catherine Choi, Youssef Botros, Jamil Shah, Pei Xue, Anja Jones, Mark Galan, Raquel Olivo, Mumtaz Niazi, Flavio Paterno, James Guarrera and Nikolaos T. Pyrsopoulos
Alcoholic Liver Disease and COVID-19 Pneumonia: A Case Series
Devika Kapuria, Shubhra Upadhyay, Rahul Shekhar and Euriko Torrazza-Perez
COVID-19 in Liver Transplant Recipients - A Series with Successful Recovery
Ashok Choudhury, Golamari Srinivasa Reddy, Shantan Venishetty, Viniyendra Pamecha, Saggere Muralikrishna Shasthry, Arvind Tomar, Lalita Gauri Mitra, Venkata Siva Tez Prasad, Rajendra Prasad Mathur, Debajyoti Bhattacharya and Shiv Kumar Sarin
Transaminitis in a Three-year-old Boy with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy
Qiuli Xie, Yingen Feng, Jing Li, Xiaoqiao Chen and Jianqiang Ding
Letter to the Editor
Impact of Liver Injury in COVID-19 Patients: Single-center Retrospective Cohort Analysis
Jiten Desai, Upenkumar Patel, Shiva Arjun, Kristen Farraj, Kevin Yeroushalmi, Sandra Gomez Paz, Jaehyuck Im, Andres Castillo, Rajmohan Rammohan and Paul Mustacchia
Reviewer Acknowledgement

2020 Reviewer Acknowledgement		479
-------------------------------	--	-----



## Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology Has Been Indexed in SCIE: A Milestone towards a **Greater Academic Goal**

Harry Hua-Xiang Xia<sup>1</sup>, George Y. Wu<sup>2</sup> and Hong Ren<sup>\*3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Gastroenterology, First Affiliated Hospital, Guangdong Pharmaceutical University, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China; <sup>2</sup>Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology-Hepatology, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, CT, USA; <sup>3</sup>Institute for Viral Hepatitis, Department of Infectious Diseases, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China



Prof. George Y. Wu

Dr. Harry Hua-Xiang Xia

Citation of this article: Xia HH, Wu GY, Ren H. Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology has been indexed in-SCIE: A milestone towards a greater academic goal. J Clin-Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):357-358. doi: 10.14218/JCTH. 2020.00138.

On November 10, 2020, the Editorial Office received a notification letter from Clarivate Analytics stating that Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology (JCTH) had been selected to be included in citation indexes in the Web of Science, and that articles published in JCTH after December 30, 2017 will be listed in some of the most influential and widely used databases in the world, including Current Contents/Clinical Medicine, Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE), Essential Science Indicators, and Journal Citation Reports Science.

While indexing in the major databases, including Pub-Med/PubMed Central in 2015, Emerging Science Citation Resources in 2018 and Scopus in early 2020, was testimony to the excellence of JCTH, there was no assurance that the Journal would be accepted by the most exclusive of indices. We - Prof. Hong Ren, the General Editor-in-Chief; Prof. George Y. Wu, Comprehensive Editor-in-Chief; and Dr. Harry Hua-Xiang Xia, Co-Editor-in-Chief - have attempted to provide strategic vision, effective leadership, and stringent ethical standards for the Journal. But, all of this would have been of little consequence had it not been for the tremendous contributions of the associate editors, editorial board members, reviewers, authors, and staff of the editorial office. It is primarily because of their collective efforts that *JCTH* has achieved worldwide recognition in the competitive environment of academic publishing. Therefore, we, on behalf of the Journal, wish to take this opportunity to thank all of those individuals who have worked so hard and done so well to date.

On this momentous occasion, it is fitting to review the history of JCTH and the journey that led to its current status. The initiation and preparation for the creation of the Journal began in the Spring of 2010, when Dr. Xia was told by Dr. Qingfeng Sun from The Third Affiliated Hospital to Wenzhou Medical University that Prof. Ren, the Editor-in-Chief of a prestigious Chinese journal named Chinese Journal of Hepatology, intended to launch an English language journal in hepatology for The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongging Medical University, China. He approached Prof. Dazhi Zhang, Director of the Editorial Office of Chinese Journal of Hepatology, and the two had a very productive conversation. After several rounds of teleconferences and personal meetings in

Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology 2020 vol. 8 | 357–358

Copyright: © 2021 Authors, This article has been published under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0), which permits noncommercial unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided that the following statement is provided."This article has been published in Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology at DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00138 and can also be viewed on the Journal's website at http://www.jcthnet.com".

Abbreviations: JCTH, Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology: SCIE, Science Citation Index Expanded.

Received: 02 December 2020; Revised: 12 December 2020; Accepted: 13 December 2020

<sup>\*</sup>Correspondence to: Hong Ren, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing 400010, China. E-mail: renhong0531@vip.sina.

Xiamen, Chongqing, and Guangzhou, a general consensus was achieved that the project was worthwhile and feasible.

Xia & He Publishing Limited was engaged to undertake the task. Xia & He Publishing Limited had been originally registered since July 29, 2011 in Hong Kong, and was later established as Xia & He Publishing Inc. on January 8, 2015 in the USA under the very capable management of Dr. Hua He. The contract for publishing *JCTH* was signed by Prof. Ren and Dr. Xia on November 29 and December 8, 2011, respectively. In the meantime, Dr. Xia cordially invited Prof. Wu to be the Comprehensive Editor-in-Chief, owing to his remarkable academic record and international reputation. Dr. Xia and Prof. Wu, along with his wife, Prof. Catherine Wu, first met on November 27, 2010. In that and subsequent meetings and relaxed conversations — of course, over lunch at Chinese restaurants — numerous common views and perspectives were shared on the proposed journal.

After more than 2 years of preparation, JCTH was officially launched in September 2013, with an initial issue that featured an editorial entitled "Found in Translation" by Prof. Wu.<sup>1</sup> Since then, JCTH has published quarterly, yielding 29 issues with 361 peer-reviewed articles as of November 10, 2020. Of these articles, 92.0% are original and review articles, and 54.6% have been financially supported from various research funding sources, with The National Institutes of Health and National Natural Science Foundation of China listed as sponsors of the research in 24.9% of the articles. From the outset, JCTH sought to be diverse, international, and inclusive in both its articles and review panels; for the latter, the success of this approach is reflected by the composition of the Editorial Board, which now consists of 143 experts from 23 countries and regions, with 37.1% from China and 32.2% from the USA, followed by Egypt, India, Italy, etc. The corresponding authors of the articles published in JCTH to date are from 32 countries and regions, with 35.5% of them from the USA and 23.0% from China, followed by India, Egypt, Italy, etc. The reviewers are from 40 countries and regions, with 24.8% of them from the USA and 19.2% from China, followed by Japan, India, Italy, etc.

According to the Web of Science, as of November 10, 2020, the most cited *JCTH* article has been referenced 205 times,<sup>2</sup> and one of the articles on COVID-19 published in the early 2020 has already been cited 56 times.<sup>3</sup> The readership interest in and academic influence of *JCTH* have also been reflected by estimated unofficial impact factors for 2017, 2018 and 2019 of 3.615, 3.489 and 4.546, respectively, with a self-citation rate of only 1.4%. In June 2021, *JCTH* will receive its first official impact factor, which is expected to be around 3.5.

While indexing in SCIE is a major achievement and a remarkable milestone for *JCTH*, it is obviously not the final goal. As stated in our inaugural issue, "the objective

Xia H.H. et al: JCTH has been indexed in SCIE: A milestone

of the Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology is to identify and publish articles that represent translations of fundamental research to contributions of direct practical value".1 In all that JCTH does, this is and will remain the fundamental and paramount mission. That objective is also symbolized in our logo, in which translational research promotes the proper placement of pieces of a puzzle to form an ever more accurate picture of the liver. However, in the pursuit of this objective, we are planning to further increase the international influence of JCTH by inviting more highprofile experts to the editorial board and further increasing the standards for manuscripts to be published in the Journal. Within the next 10 years, we will strive for the Journal to become listed among the top 25% of journals in gastroenterology and hepatology, according to the Web of Science Journal Citation Reports.

In closing, we wish to share reflections that encapsulate the vision for the future of *JCTH* as composed by Dr. Xia in Chinese, with English translation in parentheses:

同谋肝胆志,	
共表中华情.	
十年磨一剑,	
携手启新程.	

 (With a graceful ambition and careful preparation, We determined to launch an internationally influential hepatology journal in China.
With such a major milestone met after 10 years of persistence and endeavor,
We start a new journey toward a greater goal together.)

#### Funding

None to declare.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### References

- Wu GY. Found in translation. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2013;1:1. doi: 10.14218/ JCTH.2013.000XX.
- [2] Yoon E, Babar A, Choudhary M, Kutner M, Pyrsopoulos N. Acetaminopheninduced hepatotoxicity: a comprehensive update. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2016;4:131–142. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2015.00052.
- [3] Feng G, Zheng KI, Yan QQ, Rios RS, Targher G, Byrne CD, et al. COVID-19 and liver dysfunction: Current insights and emergent therapeutic strategies. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8:18–24. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00018.



## A 3D Human Liver Model of Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis

Marion Duriez<sup>1</sup>, Agnes Jacquet<sup>1</sup>, Lucile Hoet<sup>1</sup>, Sandrine Roche<sup>1</sup>, Marie-Dominique Bock<sup>1</sup>, Corinne Rocher<sup>1</sup>, Gilles Haussy<sup>1</sup>, Xavier Vigé<sup>1</sup>, Zsolt Bocskei<sup>1</sup>, Tamara Slavnic<sup>2</sup>, Valérie Martin<sup>3</sup>, Jean-Claude Guillemot<sup>1</sup>, Michel Didier<sup>1</sup>, Aimo Kannt<sup>4,5</sup>, Cécile Orsini<sup>1</sup>, Vincent Mikol<sup>1</sup> and Anne-Céline Le Fèvre<sup>\*1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Translational Sciences, Sanofi, 1 Avenue Pierre Brossolette, Chilly-Mazarin, France; <sup>2</sup>IT&M STATS, Groupe IT&M, Neuilly-sur-Seine, France; <sup>3</sup>Non Clinical Biostatistics, Sanofi, Vitry sur Seine, France; <sup>4</sup>Diabetes and Cardiovascular Research, Sanofi, Industriepark Höchst, Frankfurt, Germany; <sup>5</sup>Present address: Institute of Experimental Pharmacology, Medical Faculty Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany

#### Abstract

Background and Aims: To better understand nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) disease progression and to evaluate drug targets and compound activity, we undertook the development of an in vitro 3D model to mimic liver architecture and the NASH environment. Methods: We have developed an in vitro preclinical 3D NASH model by coculturing primary human hepatocytes, human stellate cells, liver endothelial cells and Kupffer cells embedded in a hydrogel of rat collagen on a 96-well plate. A NASH-like environment was induced by addition of medium containing free fatty acids and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ . This model was then characterized by biochemical, imaging and transcriptomics analyses. Results: We succeeded in defining suitable culture conditions to maintain the 3D coculture for up to 10 days in vitro, with the lowest level of steatosis and reproducible low level of inflammation and fibrosis. NASH disease was induced with a custom medium mimicking NASH features. The cell model exhibited the key NASH disease phenotypes of hepatocyte injury, steatosis, inflammation, and fibrosis. Hepatocyte injury was highlighted by a decrease of CYP3A4 expression and activity, without loss of viability up to day 10. Moreover, the model was able to stimulate a stable inflammatory and early fibrotic environment, with expression and secretion of several cytokines. A global gene expression analysis confirmed the NASH induction. Conclusions: This is a new in vitro model of NASH disease consisting of four human primary cell-types that exhibits most features of the disease. The 10-day cell viability and cost effectiveness of the model make it suitable for medium throughput drug screening and provide attractive avenues to better understand disease physiology and to identify and characterize new drug targets.

**Citation of this article:** Duriez M, Jacquet A, Hoet L, Roche S, Bock MD, Rocher C, *et al.* A 3D human liver model of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4): 359–370. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00015.

#### Introduction

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is an umbrella term that comprises a large spectrum of liver injuries, varying in severity but all leading to fibrosis. Among these, nonalcoholic fatty liver (NAFL) refers to hepatic steatosis alone, which is very common<sup>1</sup> and driven by the accumulation of intracellular lipid droplets. Furthermore, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) is defined as a more serious pathogenesis, having inflammatory foci, hepatocyte damage, and fibrosis. Adverse hepatic outcomes related to NASH may include cirrhosis, liver failure, and hepatocellular carcinoma.<sup>2</sup> NAFLD is associated with obesity and features of metabolic syndrome, including hypertension, dyslipidemia, central adiposity, insulin resistance, or diabetes.<sup>3,4</sup> Moreover, NASH with advanced fibrosis has been linked to increased overall and liver-related mortality.<sup>5</sup>

Today, bariatric surgery is the most efficient procedure to reverse NASH and fibrosis in obese patients.<sup>6</sup> Weight loss induced by diet and exercise has also been shown to be effective in resolving NASH and improving hepatic fibrosis.<sup>7</sup> Despite a marked increase in prevalence, though NASH is still an orphan disease, with no approved drugs for its treatment. Thus, a better management approach for NAFLD and the development of new drugs and therapeutic options are urgently needed.<sup>8</sup> Although there has been steady progress in understanding NASH pathogenesis, the identification of therapeutic targets and the advancement of drug development have shown limited progress, mainly due to the lack of predictive preclinical models. Several animal models have been developed to study NAFL and NASH, but they do not accurately depict the human pathology, presumably because of NAFL/NASH heterogeneity.9

In drug discovery, hepatic *in vitro* models have been used to assess drug clearance and hepatotoxicity by investigating metabolism, enzyme induction, and transporter function. Monolayer cultures of isolated primary rat or human hepatocytes remain the main investigative tools for drug testing. These 2D models have shown several limitations, including a short lifetime and loss of function, likely resulting from dedifferentiation of primary hepatocytes (PHH).<sup>10</sup> Precisioncut liver slices, which contain PHH as well as liver nonparenchymal cells have also shown reduced lifetime; thus, impairing the development of liver chronic disease models and robust drug testing.

Copyright: © 2020 Authors. This article has been published under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0), which permits noncommercial unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided that the following statement is provided. "This article has been published in *Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology* at DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00015 and can also be viewed on the Journal's website at http://www.jcthnet.com".

**Keywords:** 3D liver model; Human primary cells; Key features of NASH. **Abbreviations:** ECM, extracellular matrix; HSC, hepatic stellate cell; KC, Kupffer cell; LEC, sinusoidal endothelial cell; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; NASH, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis; PHH, primary human hepatocytes. *Received: 2 March 2020; Revised: 19 March 2020; Accepted: 1 June 2020* **\*Correspondence to:** Anne-Céline Le Fèvre, Translational Sciences, Sanofi,

<sup>1</sup> Avenue Pierre Brossolette, 91385 Chilly-Mazarin, France. Tel: +33-160495815, E-mail: anne-celine.le-fevre@sanofi.com

More recently, 3D cultures have been developed to improve cell survival and to provide a more natural tissue-like environment. In the liver, the extracellular matrix (ECM) behaves as a scaffold for surrounding cells, and in vitro artificial matrix aims to support ECM functions by promoting cell adhesion, cell differentiation, and cell-to-cell communication.<sup>11-13</sup> 3D cultures of hepatic cell lines or human PHH embedded in artificial scaffolds were shown to modify gene and cell surface receptor expression toward more mature-like phenotypes, resulting in the maintenance of hepatocyte polarization and functionality. Furthermore, it has been shown that collagen gels enhanced mechanical properties with good cell adhesion and a high survival rate for hepatocytes.<sup>10</sup> Thus, the 3D cell culture systems appear to be more representative of hepatocyte physiology in liver tissue and provide opportunities to develop extended in vitro models of NASH and NAFLD.

The development of in vitro human 3D models to mimic liver architecture has been undertaken by several groups, especially for drug safety assessment.<sup>14</sup> The process has included layered cocultures and cocultures on micropatterned surfaces, spheroids and bioprinted liver tissue.<sup>14</sup> Many of these models have been grown within specialized microfluidic devices, to provide nutrients and oxygen transport.<sup>14</sup> Few 3D coculture studies have been designed as NAFL or NASH disease models to display key pathogenic phenotypes. Thus, steatosis has been observed in NAFLD models supplemented with high concentrations of oleic and palmitic acids. Increased lipid accumulation was found to be associated with altered gene expression and activity of several CYP450 enzymes. Only limited cytokine release was reported, likely due to the absence of Kupffer cells (KCs) in these in vitro systems. Therefore, such 3D models highlighted the need to coculture additional cell types that could further incorporate features of inflammation and fibrosis and better reflect disease progression.

Feaver *et al.*<sup>15</sup> set up a 3D model with PHH, monocytederived macrophages and hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) in hemodynamic and transport conditions. Correlations between the *in vitro* model and human biopsies were evidenced by transcriptomics, lipidomics, and functional analysis. This model requires differentiating monocytes into macrophages, which is time consuming, and yields only M2 macrophages, a nonphysiological macrophage subpopulation. In addition, this hemodynamic system is unsuitable for high-throughput screening.

In this paper, we report on a new 3D coculture model combining PHH with HSCs, sinusoidal endothelial cells (LECs) and KC. Activated HSCs play a principal role in fibrosis initiation and development through the production of collagen, while KCs are involved in liver damage and inflammatory processes. LECs were more recently shown to play a pivotal role in NAFL/ NASH progression.<sup>16</sup> This model was characterized biochemically and transcriptionally, and displayed some key features of hepatic injury, steatosis, inflammation, and early fibrosis. Its 10-day cell viability, as well as its reasonable cost-effectiveness, make it compatible for medium throughput screening in 96-well plates. This coculture model thus provides a valuable platform to better understand NASH disease progression, and to evaluate drug targets and compound activity.

#### Methods

The liver microenvironment under NAFLD and NASH disease conditions includes many circulating risk factors, which were incorporated into cell media to promote *in vitro* NAFLD or NASH-relevant phenotypes. Those risk factors include high glucose and insulin concentrations, excess of free fatty acids and endotoxins. For steatosis induction, free fatty acids (palmitic and oleic acids) were used, which lead to the accumulation of intracellular lipid droplets. This lipotoxic phenotype is the most commonly used stimuli for NAFLD *in vitro* models, as it can also lead to an increase of inflammatory cytokines levels.<sup>17,18</sup> Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  was added to induce the inflammation process and activate the KCs. Cells were embedded in a hydrogel of rat collagen in 96-well plates and the NASH environment was induced by adding a media containing free fatty acids and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ . Considering the main characteristics of NASH pathology, hepatocyte injury, steatosis, inflammation and fibrosis were assessed biochemically and via transcriptomics.

#### Cell 3D coculture in hydrogels/matrix of collagen

PHH were obtained from Lonza (Walkersville, MD, USA), and HSCs, KCs and LECs were provided by Samsara (San Diego, CA, USA). PHH, HSCs and LECs were seeded in red phenolfree William E medium (A12176; Gibco, Invitrogen Corp., Waltham, MA, USA) supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum, primary hepatocyte thawing and plating supplements solution (CM3000; ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and 1% of a non-essential amino acids solution (11140050; Gibco).

PHHs, LECs and hepatic stellate primary cells were embedded at  $0.5 \times 10^6$ ,  $0.1 \times 10^6$  and  $0.1 \times 10^6$  cells/mL, respectively, in a half RAFT<sup>™</sup> 3D collagen hydrogel (016-0R92; Lonza) in 96-well plates, as recommended by the provider. Cells were cocultured in DMEM (low-glucose, pyruvate, no glutamine, no red phenol; 11054; Gibco) supplemented with bovine serum/ free fatty acid-free 0.125% solution (A7030; Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA), 50 U/mL penicillin/streptomycin (15140122; Gibco), dexamethasone 0.1  $\mu\text{M},$  ITS-G 1X (41400045; Gibco), GlutaMAX<sup>™</sup> 1X (35050061; Gibco), HEPES 15 mM (15630080; Gibco), non-essential amino acids solution 1X (11140050; Gibco), acid L-ascorbic 2.5 mg/mL (A4403; Sigma-Aldrich) and glucagon 0.1 µg/mL (G2044; Sigma-Aldrich). This liver coculture medium is named "healthy media". After 3 days of culture, the cocultures were incubated either in healthy media or in a media mimicking the NASH environment and supplemented with glucose 25 mM (Sigma-Aldrich), oleate acid 40 µM (Sigma-Aldrich), palmitate acid at 60 µM (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and tumor necrosis factor-α 5 ng/mL (Pepro-Tech, Cranbury, NJ, USA). Healthy and NASH medium were changed every 2-3 days. At day 6, KCs were added to the coculture at 0.2×10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL. Supernatants and embedded cells were sampled on days 3, 6, 8, 10, 13 and 15 for analysis.

#### Viability and hepatocyte metabolism

Viability was assessed by measurement of adenosine triphosphate using the CellTiter-Glo 3D Assay (G9681; Promega, Madison, WI, USA). PHH metabolism was measured through CYP3A4 activity with the Luciferin-IPA CYP3A4-P450 Glo Assay (V9002; Promega).

#### 3D primary liver cell coculture immunostaining

3D hydrogels were fixed with 4% Paraformaldehyde/phosphate-buffered saline for 15 min at room temperature and

#### Duriez M. et al: A human cellular NASH model

immunostainings were performed. PHH cell membrane staining was performed with a rabbit anti-cytokeratin 18 antibody (EPR17347, #Ab181597; Abcam, Cambridge, UK) and an Alexa Fluor 594 conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody (#A11012; Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA). HSCs were stained with a mouse anti- $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin antibody (#A5228; Sigma-Aldrich) and an Alexa Fluor 680 conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG secondary antibody (#A21057; Molecular Probes). KCs were stained with an FITC conjugated anti-CD68 antibody was used (KP1, #FCMAB205F; Sigma-Aldrich), nuclei were labeled using NucBlue live (#R37610; ThermoFisher Scientific). Image acquisitions were performed with a Leica SP8X confocal microscope, using ×40 water objective, Z-stack of Z=30  $\mu$ m zoom 0.8. 3D reconstitution was performed with IMARIS software 9.1.2.

#### Triglyceride content

Triglycerides content was measured on coculture supernatants with the PicoProbe Triglyceride Quantification Assay (K614-100; BioVision Inc., Milpitas, CA, USA). Intrahepatic lipid droplets were stained with the LipidTox Green probe (H34475; ThermoFisher Scientific) and PHH cell membrane with CK18 immunostaining. Images of 3D cocultures were acquired with a Leica SP8X confocal microscope, using ×40 water immersion objective and a Z-stack of Z=30  $\mu$ m, zoom 0.8. 3D reconstitution was performed with IMARIS software 9.1.2.

#### Cytokine/metalloprotease release

The cytokine content in coculture supernatants were measured using the U-plex Biomarker Human Group 1 Kit (K15067L-2; MSD Technology, Rockville, MD, USA). Samples were diluted at 1/4 for IL6, CXCL8 and CCL2 measurement, and no dilution was performed for CXCL10 quantification. The concentration of secreted metalloproteinase MMP2 was quantified with the Human MMP2 Ultrasensitive Kit (K151FYC-2; MSD Technology) with a ½ dilution.

#### Statistical methodology of biochemical parameters

To compare NASH and healthy models, a two-way ANOVA was performed on each parameter, with group treatment (healthy or NASH), day and their interaction as fixed-effects factors, and with experiment and interaction of experiment, group and day as random effect factors. Comparisons of NASH versus healthy were provided for each day and no correction for multiplicity was done. To analyze the kinetics of the healthy model, a one-way ANOVA was performed on each parameter, with day as the fixed-effect factor and experiment and experiment by day as random effect factors. A Bonferroni-Holm's correction was applied on p-values to compare the following: day 6 vs. day 3, day 8 vs. day 6, day 10 vs. day 8 for comparison of both conditions; and day 10 vs. day 13 and day 13 vs. day 15 for healthy time course assessment. Either a log or rank transformation was applied on studied parameters, and fold-changes were calculated. For log-transformed variables, the differences estimated from the model and their confidence intervals were back-transformed by using an exponential function. For rank-transformed variables, fold-change and confidence intervals were estimated by Hodges-Lehmann's method.

#### **RNA** extractions

Hydrogels embedded cocultures containing  $0.2 \times 10^6$  cells per well, were rinsed twice with cold phosphate-buffered saline and stored at -80°C until use. For RNA extraction, two wells were lysed in a final volume of 700  $\mu\text{L}$  of Qiazol lysis reagent (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Lysates were homogenized using CK14-2 mL tubes in a Precellys tissue homogenizer instrument (Bertin Instruments, Montiany-le-Bretonneux, France). The lysates were collected and 140 µL of chloroform were added, vortexed and centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C. Recovered aqueous phase was processed with an on-column DNAse treatment and a RNeasy mini-kit (Qiagen) as recommended by the provider. RNAs were recovered in 30 µL of RNase-free water. RNA quality was determined by RNA LabChip with a 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Scientific Instruments, Santa Clara, CA, USA). Samples with RNA integrity number >7.4 were further processed and their concentration was quantified by Xpose spectrophotometer (Trinean, Unchained labs, France).

#### RNA libraries and sequencing

RNA-Seq libraries were generated with 15 ng of total RNA. cDNAs were generated with the SuperScript VILO cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific) and the following steps for library construction were performed using the "AmpliSeq for Illumina Transcriptome Human Gene Expression Panel" according the accompanying reference guide (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA).

Libraries were quantified and qualified, respectively, by Qubit (Invitrogen) and Bioanalyzer (Agilent). Libraries were pooled (equimolar concentration at 4 nM), denatured and diluted to a final concentration of 1.4 pM. Sequencing was performed on the Illumina NextSeq500 with NextSeq 500/ 550 High Output v2 Kit and sequencing parameters of 2×151 base pair pair-end, dual index (2×8 base pairs).

Generated raw files were converted into FASTQ files and analyzed on Array Studio (V10.0.1.81; Omicsoft, Qiagen). Briefly, raw data QC was performed, then a filtering step was applied to remove reads corresponding to rRNAs as well as reads having low quality score. Mapping and quantification were performed using OSA4 [1C] (Omicsoft Sequence Aligner, version 4).19 Reference Human.B38 genome was used for mapping and genes were quantified based on RefSeq gene annotations. Differentially-expressed transcripts were identified with DESeq2.<sup>20</sup> The variable multiplicity being taken into account and false discovery rate adjusted *p*-values calculated with the Benjamini-Hochberg correction.<sup>21</sup> Significant differentially-expressed genes were defined as p < 0.05after adjustment for false discovery and average fold-change between condition replicates of >1.8. The differentiallyexpressed genes were further analyzed using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (Qiagen; https://www.qiagenbioinformatics.com/products/ingenuity-pathway-analysis).<sup>22</sup>

#### Results

#### Human liver primary cells 3D coculture characteristics in healthy conditions

Setting up a human *in vitro* NASH disease model requires developing a coculture containing the different cells involved in the pathogenesis and maintaining it over an extended

period of time in culture to induce this chronic disease. We developed a 3D coculture with primary cells using the  $\mathsf{RAFT}^{\mathsf{TM}}$ biological rat collagen hydrogel embedding PHH, HSCs, KCs and LECs. The addition of LECs as feeder cells in the 3D liver coculture allowed us to stabilize the model by improving cell viability from 1 week up to 2 weeks (data not shown). PHH, HSCs and LECs were seeded in the hydrogel of collagen at a 5:1:1 ratio, respectively, reproducing the human liver ratio, and cultured in a 96-well plate in a homemade cell culture media named 'healthy media' (Fig. 1A). At day 6, KCs were added to the coculture since they did not tolerate the embedding process (data not shown) but were able to enter the hydrogel once formed. Several media, where Obeticholic acid/Palmitic acid concentrations, glucose concentration and tumor necrosis factor were varied, were tested to maintain viability of the four cell types. Only the homemade liver coculture optimized media, described in the Materials and Methods section, allowed us to obtain a viable coculture of the four cell types up to day 10 (Fig. 1B).

To assess the suitability of the model, coculture viability, cytokine secretion and lipid droplet content were measured from day 3 to day 15 in four independent experiments. The human 3D liver coculture at a basal level displayed a good viability from day 3 to day 15, as reflected by adenosine triphosphate level (Fig. 2A). PHH CYP3A4 enzymatic function was evaluated and it remains stable from day 3 up to day 13 (Fig. 2B). Inflammatory cytokines and chemokines IL6, CXCL8 and CXCL10 were measured in coculture supernatants. Basal levels of secreted IL6 and CXCL8 remained stable from day 3 to day 15, with a nonsignificant increase at day 8 resulting from the addition of KCs at day 6 (Fig. 2C and 2D). CXCL10 was almost undetectable before day 8, after KCs addition, and its secretion in cell supernatants remained stable from day 8 to day 15 (Fig. 2E). The triglyceride content of the human liver 3D coculture was quantified, and PHH lipid droplets were observed by immunofluorescence via Green LipiTox and a cytokeratin-18 containing (Fig. 2F and 2G, respectively). A high basal level of triglycerides with no significant variation was detected from day 3 to day 15 (Fig. 2F). This result was correlated with the observation of an important intracellular lipid droplet staining in PHH from day 3 to day 10 (Fig. 2G). Of note is that the PHH triglyceride content in human liver 3D coculture was higher than expected. Several media were tested on PHH, including William's E media. All of them induced an elevated intracellular lipid droplet content (Supplementary Fig. 1) for unknown reasons and the cell coculture showed a lower viability than the homemade media.

Together, these results support a long-term viability and the stable expression of NASH-induced key features that can be directly quantified in the human 3D liver primary coculture under healthy conditions up to 15 days (Supplementary Table 1).

A transcriptomic analysis of human 3D liver primary coculture under the healthy condition was performed. Gene expression analysis was only performed on samples from days 3, 8 and 10 (n=3/condition) as the total RNA quantity extracted at day 13 and day 15 was too low for gene expression studies.

The expression of genes related to PHH activities, including the efflux transporters ABCC2, ABCB1 and ABCB11, was first investigated. These genes are consistently detected during the time course of the coculture until day 10 (Supplementary Table 2) as well as UGT1A1, a gene encoding the phase II UDP-glucuronosyltransferase enzyme, with a foldchange <2 and/or with a p-value >0.05. Furthermore, CYP7A1 cytochrome P450 gene was expressed from day 3 to day 10, with no significant difference (Supplementary Table 2), CYP3A4 expression, which was decreased at day 8 and day 10 compared to day 3, was stable from day 8 to day 10 (Supplementary Table 2) and was previously observed to be functional from day 3 to day 13 in 3D coculture (Fig. 2B). Together, these genes reflect the polarization, functionality and metabolic activity of mature PHH in human 3D liver primary coculture up to 10 days in vitro.

As expected, the expression of IL6, CXCL8 and CXCL10 inflammatory cytokine genes is observed. IL6 expression was stable between day 3 and day 10 (Supplementary Table 2), whereas CXCL8 and CXCL10 were significantly down- and up-regulated from day 3 to day 8, resulting from the addition of KCs but which remained stable from day 8 to day 10 (Supplementary Table 2). IL6, CXCL8 and CXCL10 gene expression results are in line with their secretion observed in 3D coculture supernatants (Fig2. C, D and E). The expression of





(A) Real architecture for 3D model with RAFT<sup>TM</sup> system methodology illustration. (B) PHH-KC-HSC-LEC coculture at 10 days in 3D collagen matrix with healthy media. (a) KC staining with CD68 in green and nucleus-labeled in blue. (b) PHH staining with CK18 in green and nucleus labeled in blue. (c) HSC staining with  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin in red and nucleus labeled in blue. (d) Merge. (e) 3D reconstitution was performed with IMARIS software 9.1.2.

#### Duriez M. et al: A human cellular NASH model



#### Fig. 2. Human 3D liver primary coculture characterization.

(A) Adenosine triphosphate intracellular in RLU. (B) CYP3A4 activity in RLU. (C) IL6 (D) CXCL8 and (E) CXCL10 in pg/mL. (F) Triglyceride content in pg/mL. (G) Kinetics of lipid droplet content in liver coculture in 3D collagen matrix, healthy condition. PHH staining of CK18 in red, nuclear in blue and lipid droplet in green. \*p<0.050, \*\*p<0.010, \*\*\*p<0.001, two-way ANOVA with random effect followed by Bonferroni-Holm correction

Col1A1 gene, encoding collagen compounds remained stable from day 3 to day 10 (Supplementary Table 2), whereas ACTA2 gene, encoding the  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin protein, slightly increased with a 2.8-fold-change and 2.4-foldchange at day 8 and day 10, as compared to day 3, but which remained stable from day 8 to day 10 (Supplementary Table 2). The ACTA2 gene increased from day 3 to day 8, probably resulting from the addition of KCs since the latter have been shown previously to activate HSCs through soluble factors.<sup>23</sup> Together, these results showed that HSCs are not activated by a bystander effect of the coculture under healthy conditions.

We succeeded in defining suitable culture conditions, including medium composition and chronological cell addition, to maintain the four liver primary cell types in 3D coculture up to 10 days *in vitro*. Furthermore, these culture conditions gave the lowest level of steatosis, together with reliable low levels of inflammation and fibrosis.

## Human 3D liver NASH model display PHH injury and steatosis

The human *in vitro* 3D NASH model was set up by culturing the human primary 3D liver coculture with a custom medium mimicking a NASH-like disease environment added from day 3. This medium contained free oleic and palmitic fatty acids at 100  $\mu M$  with a 2:3 ratio, as well as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  at 5 ng/mL.

The adenosine triphosphate levels measured in the human 3D liver coculture did not show a significant difference between the healthy and NASH culture conditions and indicated a good viability which was maintained until day 10 (Fig. 3A). ABCC2 and ABCB11 gene expressions were not modulated during the coculture, neither in the NASH nor in the healthy models, showing a stable PHH mature phenotype up to 10 days *in vitro* (Fig. 3B and Supplementary Table 3). Cytochrome P450 CYP3A4, the expression of which is known to be reduced in NASH, displayed a reduced activity and gene expression in the NASH model, as compared to healthy coculture but without reaching statistical significance (Fig. 3C). However, at day 10, three out the four experiments showed a decreased CYP3A4 activity (Fig. 3C), which correlated to a reduced gene expression at day 10 (Fig. 3D and Supplementary Table 3).

PHH steatosis assessed by triglyceride quantification in coculture did not show significant differences between healthy and NASH culture conditions (Fig. 4A). Intracellular lipid droplet staining is observed in both conditions but without noticeable differences at day 8 and day 10 (Fig. 4B). As mentioned before, PHH display a high basal level of triglycerides. This feature was observed for all the media tested, supporting the finding of PHH viability in the 3D collagen matrix and being consistent with biochemical quantification of steatosis.



Fig. 3. PHH injury characterization in human 3D liver NASH model.

(A) Time course of adenosine triphosphate mean concentration (in RLU, +/-standard error of the mean) in 3D healthy and NASH models. (B) ABCC2 (left panel) and ABCB11 (right panel) mRNA expression in counts per million at days 8 and 10 in healthy and NASH culture. (C) Time course of CYP3A4 mean concentration (in RLU, +/-SEM) in 3D healthy and NASH models (left panel) with a focus on the fourth independent experiment trend on day 10 (right panel, each symbol represents an independent experiment). (D) CYP3A4 mRNA expression in counts per million at days 8 and 10 in healthy and NASH culture conditions. \*p<0.050, \*\*p<0.010, \*\*\*p<0.001, Student's test and DESeq2, respectively for panels A and C and panels B and D.

The human *in vitro* 3D NASH model displayed a similar stable viability as observed in the healthy 3D liver coculture model, whereas it showed a decreased CYP3A4 activity in three out of four experiments. Lipids droplets, characteristic of steatosis, were observed in both conditions; high basal level in healthy coculture does not allow detection of an increase of triglyceride content in NASH conditions.

#### Human 3D liver NASH model expression of inflammatory and tissue remodeling factors

The ability of human 3D liver coculture to react to a proinflammatory environment was explored next. The secretion of CXCL8, IL6, CXCL10 and CCL2 in supernatants of healthy and NASH 3D coculture was examined by quantifying multiplex assay at days, 6, 8 and 10. Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (5 ng/mL) was added to the medium and changed every 2-3 days to induce an inflammatory process.

IL6 secretion showed a significant 5-fold increase at day 6 in the 3D NASH model, as compared to the healthy condition (Fig. 5A and Supplementary Table 4), and a significant increase in gene expression was observed at days 8 and 10 (Fig. 5B). The secretion of CXCL8 was significantly up-regulated in NASH coculture at day 6 and day 8, with a 10.3-fold and 4.7-fold increase, respectively (Fig. 5A and Supplementary Table 4). This observation correlated to an up-regulation in the expression of CXCL8 in 3D NASH coculture from day 8 to day 10, with a respective fold-increase of 13.4 and 14.6 (Fig. 5B). Finally, CXCL10 secretion was also significantly upregulated in the 3D NASH model, being 32.5-fold and 22.6fold at day 6 and day 10, respectively (Fig. 5A and Supplementary Table 4). A significant 8.7-fold increase of CCL2 at day 6 was also observed in coculture supernatant in the 3D NASH model (Fig. 5C and Supplementary Table 3).

The expression of the metalloproteinases MMP2 and MMP9 involved in tissue remodeling and markers of early fibrotic events was also explored. MMP2 secretion in the human 3D NASH coculture significantly increased by 1.2-fold, 1.7-fold and 1.4-fold at days 6, 8 and 10m respectively (Fig. 6A and Supplementary Table 4), and correlated with a significative up-regulation in MMP2 gene expression at day 10 (Fig. 6B and Supplementary Table 3). Finally, MMP9 transcripts significantly increased both at days 8 and 10, with a 3.2-fold and 6.6-fold change in the NASH environment (Fig. 6C and Supplementary Table 3).

Together, these results show that the human *in vitro* 3D NASH model is able to simulate a stable inflammatory and early fibrotic environment with the secretion of IL6, CXCL8, CXCL10, CCL2, MMP2 and MMP9 expression, respectively, as compared to the healthy model.

#### Duriez M. et al: A human cellular NASH model



#### Fig. 4. Assessment of steatosis feature.

(A) Time course of triglyceride mean concentration content (in pg/mL, +/-standard error of the mean) in 3D healthy and NASH models. (B) Lipid droplet staining in healthy and NASH culture conditions (left and right panels respectively) at days 8 and 10 (upper and lower panels, respectively). Lipid droplets are stained in green, nucleus in blue, and CK18 staining at PHH cell surface in red. Images were acquired with a Leica SP8X confocal microscope. \*p<0.050, \*\*p<0.010, \*\*\*p<0.001, Student's test.



Fig. 5. Inflammatory environment induced in 3D liver NASH model.

(A) Time course of secreted IL6, CXCL8, CXCL10 and CCL2 mean concentration (in pg/mL, +/-standard error of the mean) at days 6, 8 and 10 in healthy and NASH models. (B) IL6, CXCL8, CXCL10 and CCL2 mRNA expression in count per millions at days 8 and 10 in healthy and NASH conditions. \*p<0.050, \*\*p<0.010, \*\*\*p<0.001, Student's test and DESeq2, respectively, for panel A and panel B.

## Human 3D NASH model regulates a gene set related to pathways involved in NASH development

To better characterize the human *in vitro* 3D NASH model, a global gene expression analysis has been performed by RNA-Seq. For this purpose, three samples from days 3, 8 and 10 of the healthy 3D cocultures and from days 8 and 10 of the *in vitro* 3D NASH model were processed. Global RNA-Seq datasets from the 3D healthy and NASH models were first

interrogated using a principal component analysis to cluster these two models during *in vitro* development (Fig. 7A). A distinct sample separation was observed between 3D healthy and NASH models (represented by circles and triangle, respectively, in Fig. 7A), highlighting that NASH culture condition alters the overall gene expression pattern of 3D liver cocultures. A time effect on both the healthy and NASH 3D liver model was also visualized, being more noticeable between days 8 and 10 in the 3D NASH coculture.



Fig. 6. Early fibrotic tissue remodeling factors induced in 3D liver NASH model.

(A) Time course of secreted MMP2 mean concentration (in pg/mL, +/-standard error of the mean) at days 6, 8 and 10 in healthy and NASH models. (B) MMP2 and (C) MMP9 mRNA expression level in count per millions at days 8 and 10 in healthy and NASH conditions. \*p<0.050, \*\*p<0.010, \*\*\*p<0.001, Student's test and DESeq2, respectively, for panel A and panels B and C.





(A) Principal component analysis (PCA) for gene expression in the 3D model of NASH versus healthy state at day 3, 8 and 10. The PCA was performed using DESeq2 normalized expression data. (B) Clustering analysis of differentially-expressed genes between the 3D model of the NASH disease and biological healthy models, at day 8. Heat map illustrating unsupervised hierarchical clustering of the 468 genes specifically regulated in NASH model versus the biologically healthy model at day 8 (log2 of DESeq normalized data). (C) Enrichment analysis of molecular pathways in NASH model at day 8. Visualization of top 18 enriched canonical pathways in human NASH patients as compared to normal controls. Values are expressed as –log (*p*-value).

To identify pathways modulated under NASH-inducing conditions, differentially-expressed genes between 3D healthy and NASH models were identified. A total of 659 significant differentially-expressed genes were detected between 3D healthy and NASH conditions at day 8 (Supplementary Fig. 2). A gene subset was already modulated between day 3 and day 8 in the healthy 3D model and, thus, could not be assigned to the NASH culture condition. In the end, we selected 468 differentially-expressed genes in the 3D NASH model that were not found to be regulated over time in the healthy model. This list included 351 upregulated and 117 down-regulated genes (Supplementary Fig. 2). A hierarchical clustering analysis of healthy and NASH 3D liver models using these 468 differentially-expressed genes confirmed a good separation of the samples from healthy and NASH 3D coculture conditions (Fig. 7B). In addition, most of the differentially-expressed genes after 8 days *in vitro* are still differentially regulated at day 10.

We ran further pathway analysis of the 468-gene set differentially regulated in NASH conditions. Interestingly, among the top 18 enriched pathways, genes involved in hepatic fibrosis/ hepatic stellate cell activation were found to be modulated, and this pathway was ranked in third position (Fig. 7C). The first two most strongly modulated gene clusters are associated with the activation of immune cell adhesion and the inflammatory process via the diapedesis pathways (Fig. 7C).

More precisely, genes encoding for claudin adhesion proteins, together with members of the immunoglobulin superfamily, such as ICAM1, ICAM2 and VCAM1, were up-regulated (Fig. 8). Other additional up-regulated inflammation/immune pathways included interferon signaling, IRF activation, tumor necrosis factor-receptor, and IL17 signaling.



Fig. 8. mRNA expression level.

The values are expressed in counts per million at days 8 and 10 in the healthy and NASH conditions, with a scatter plot representation for VCAM1 (A), ICAM1 (B) and ICAM2 (C). p<0.050, p<0.010, p<0.001, DESeq2 test.

In conclusion, global gene expression analysis showed similar results to biochemical analysis. Together with the steatosis pathways observed under healthy conditions and maintained in the NASH 3D coculture, inflammation and early induction of fibrosis were shown to be induced in the human primary 3D liver NASH model.

#### Discussion

In our present study, we have set up an *in vitro* 3D NASH model by coculturing four human primary liver cell types, including PHH, HSCs, LECs, and KCs. The major challenge prior to this had been to develop a medium able to maintain these four primary cell types in culture, during an extended period of time, and to preserve the PHH mature phenotype.

Our custom Liver CoCulture media, optimized for 3D coculture, enabled us to successfully ensure cell viability up to 2 weeks *in vitro*. Transcriptomic analyses performed at day 10 indicated that PHH were still polarized and functional, with the detection of ABCC2, ABCB11, CYP3A4, and CYP7A1 gene expression.

In NASH, injured steatotic hepatocytes induce an inflammatory environment, leading to HSC activation and fibrosis. Since this mechanism results from hepatocyte ballooning, reflecting cell death, and the 3D NASH model requires a sustained viability to perform analysis, an inflammatory stimulus was provided by adding tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ cytokine to the NASH culture media. PHH injury was mainly characterized by a decrease of CYP3A4 activity and mRNA expression at day 10.<sup>24</sup>

Intriguingly, the 3D liver coculture exhibited high basal levels of triglycerides, as well as significant lipid droplet staining related to steatosis. An enrichment of pathways governing HSC activation and promoting early fibrosis was also observed. Thus, the human 3D liver coculture model displays steatosis and an activation of HSC leading to fibrosis, which are two main characteristics of NAFL/NASH. This model is able to respond to the inflammatory environment and to enhance the expression of proinflammatory cytokines, like IL6, as described in the literature.<sup>25,26</sup> Several previous studies have associated an increased CCL2 chemokine with steatohepatitis in chronic hepatic injury through an enhancement of proinflammatory monocyte/macrophage influx in the liver.<sup>27-30</sup> Thus, CCL2 is thought to link steatosis and inflam-

mation, and accordingly, its expression is up-regulated in the human 3D NASH model.

An increase of CXCL8 and CXCL10 was also observed in the 3D liver NASH model, confirming the induction of an inflammatory environment, which is a key characteristic of NASH disease.  $^{\rm 31}$  As previously described, CXCL8 could be a marker of NASH combined with diabetes.<sup>32</sup> Recently, Zimmermann et al.33 established a positive correlation between CXCL8 mRNA expression and liver fibrosis stages, showing that a high level of transcript is found in a mouse model of severe F4 fibrosis; furthermore, an up-regulation of CXCL8binding CXCR1 and CXCR2 receptors was positively correlated with chronic liver diseases. CXCL10 cytokine expression has also been correlated with fibrosis score.<sup>34</sup> The pivotal role of CXCL10 in NASH has also been shown in vivo using CXCL10-deficient mice, since a decrease in liver steatosis, injury, inflammation and fibrosis have been reported in this model compared to wild-type animals.  $^{\rm 35}$ 

The increase of CXCL10 mRNA and secreted protein in 3D coculture maintained in the NASH-like environment, together with the key role of CXCL10 in NASH disease reported in the literature, underscores the relevance of our human 3D NASH model.<sup>35,36</sup> Fibrogenesis is known to be associated with the synthesis and the activity of matrix metalloproteases that regulate ECM turnover during hepatic fibrosis. Among them, MMP2 and MMP9 are induced in fibrotic livers and are involved in the early disruption of the ECM in "pathologic" liver. Moreover, up-regulation of MMP2 has been identified in human fibrotic liver, whereas MMP9 induction has been highlighted in the rodent NASH model.<sup>37-40</sup> Phenotypes that manifest later in the disease lifetime, such as collagen formation, have not been observed in this model because of the limited duration of the coculture.

The translatability of the model is further strengthened by the differential regulation of the serum endothelial dysfunction markers, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1. These two markers are of major interest to validate the induced fibrosis in the NASH model. Indeed, ICAM-1 has been found to be significantly higher in serum from NASH patients compared to serum of NAFL and healthy patients,<sup>41</sup> supporting the role of ICAM-1 as a potential disease progression biomarker. Regarding VCAM-1, it has also been recently validated as an accurate biomarker of fibrosis in NASH patients.<sup>42</sup> Furthermore, ASK1/MAP3K5

			Models		
Characteristics	Liver-on-a- chip <sup>49</sup>	Spheroids <sup>50,51</sup>	Hemoshear model (Transwell) <sup>15</sup>	3D Insight <sup>™</sup> Human Liver Microtissues (spheroids) <sup>48</sup>	Our 3D model
Cell types	HepG2 cell line	PHH and small amounts of KCs and HSCs	PHH, M $\Phi$ and HSCs	PHH, KCs, HSCs and LECs	PHH, KCs, HSCs and LECs
Stability time	8 days	35 days	10 days	9 days	10 days
Hepatocyte integrity	1	1	✓	✓	1
Steatosis induction	✓	✓	✓	✓	1
Inflammation induction	x	IL6 secretion only	✓	✓	1
Fibrosis induction	x	X	✓	✓	1
Disease induction	NAFL	NAFL	NASH	NASH	NASH
NASH markers	X	x	X	X	✓

Table 1. Comparison of characteristics of several models

has been largely described in the literature as a pharmacological target for NASH disease treatment<sup>43-45</sup> and, interestingly, its up-regulation is observed in our human 3D NASH model (Supplementary Table 2).

Finally, PD-L1 (CD274) gene expression was shown to be enhanced in the human 3D NASH model, and this finding is relevant for the induction of fibrosis. An up-regulation of the PD-L1 gene has been described previously in injured liver and associated with HSC immunomodulatory activity<sup>46</sup> and hepatocyte damage leading to inflammatory processes.<sup>47</sup> The induction of PD-L1 and PDCD1LG2 in the human 3D NASH model suggests that this pathway could qualify as an attractive avenue for NASH treatment.

Several 3D models for NASH have been developed and a recent comprehensive comparison was reported by Oseini et al.<sup>14</sup> Most of these models are used to measure drug toxicity and clearance but do not mimic disease progression. Few 3D culture systems have been set up for NAFLD disease modeling. The main features are summarized in Table 1. For example, liver-on-a-chip and spheroid technology have been used with cell lines or primary cell types to induce steatosis and recapitulate NAFLD. Two different commercial technologies, the  $\mathsf{Transwell}^{\mathsf{TM}}$  from  $\mathsf{Hemoshear}$ device and 3D Insight<sup>™</sup> Human Liver Microtissues from InSphero (Table 1, rows 3 & 4), are comparable to our model in terms of model viability and NASH features. However, in the Transwell model, it is necessary to differentiate monocytes in macrophages. Furthermore, the use of a microfluidic system hampers its application for screening purposes. More recently, Mukherjee et al.48 has developed a 3D model using 3D Insight Human liver microtissues that is the closest to the one reported in this paper. With the four human primary cell types, they described NASH features and use reference molecules to reverse the disease. However, transcriptional characterization was not reported. In our model, the translatability, as typified by NASH transcriptional markers, is more thoroughly defined. Our model is also distinguished by the fact that embedded endothelial cells were used. These cells have been shown to play a pivotal role in NAFLD/NASH progression from the simple

steatosis to the early NASH stage probably by activating HSCs and KCs.<sup>16,18</sup> It has been suggested that coculture of primary human HSCs and LECs from cirrhotic livers promote fibrillar collagen production by HSCs. In addition, it is thought that liver sinusoidal endothelial cells injuries in the early stage of NAFLD are necessary for the activation of KCs and HSCs, and therefore for the NAFLD/NASH progression.

In conclusion, we have developed a new 3D NASH model with four human primary cell types, which include liver sinusoidal endothelial cells.

Optimization of the model, by using microfluidic devices, could be an option to increase cell survival and to mimic chronic disease, but it will likely not be suitable for screening purposes. Our 3D NASH model could be maintained for 10 days *in vitro* and showed triglyceride content leading to steatosis, an inflammatory response and activation of fibrosisrelated pathways that are also associated with NASH. The relative extended life time of the 3D model culture makes it an attractive platform to evaluate preventive and curative treatments with drug candidates. These experiments will be reported in due course.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors want to thank Prof. François Pattou and Prof. Bart Staels for support and advice, and the Federation Hospital & University INTEGRA, who in association with SANOFI are part of the PreciNASH consortium.

#### Funding

This work was supported by grants from the Agence Nationale pour la Recherche (ANR-16-RHUS-0006-PreciNASH).

#### **Conflict of interest**

All of the authors except TS were employees of Sanofi during the course of the study, and all are or have been shareholders of Sanofi.

#### **Author contributions**

Study design, data acquisition, and biochemical data analysis (AJ, LH), transcriptional data acquisition and analysis (SR, MDB, CR), imaging data (GH), critical revision of the manuscript (XV and ZB), statistical analysis (TS, VM), analyzing and interpreting data, critical revision of the manuscript, and funding acquisition (JCG, MD, AK, CO, VM), study supervision, study design, data acquisition analysis and interpretation, and drafting the manuscript (MD, ACLF).

#### References

- Younossi Z, Tacke F, Arrese M, Chander Sharma B, Mostafa I, Bugianesi E, et al. Global perspectives on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology 2019;69:2672–2682. doi: 10.1002/hep.30251.
- [2] Friedman SL, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Rinella M, Sanyal AJ. Mechanisms of NAFLD development and therapeutic strategies. Nat Med 2018;24:908–922. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0104-9.
- [3] Buzzetti E, Pinzani M, Tsochatzis EA. The multiple-hit pathogenesis of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Metabolism 2016;65:1038–1048. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2015.12.012.
- [4] Younossi ZM, Koenig AB, Abdelatif D, Fazel Y, Henry L, Wymer M. Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-Meta-analytic assessment of prevalence, incidence, and outcomes. Hepatology 2016;64:73–84. doi: 10.1002/hep.28431.
- [5] Dulai PS, Singh S, Patel J, Soni M, Prokop LJ, Younossi Z, et al. Increased risk of mortality by fibrosis stage in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology 2017;65:1557–1565. doi: 10.1002/hep.29085.
- [6] Lassailly G, Caiazzo R, Buob D, Pigeyre M, Verkindt H, Labreuche J, et al. Bariatric surgery reduces features of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in morbidly obese patients. Gastroenterology 2015;149:379–388; quiz e15-e16. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.04.014.
- [7] Vilar-Gomez E, Martinez-Perez Y, Calzadilla-Bertot L, Torres-Gonzalez A, Gra-Oramas B, Gonzalez-Fabian L, et al. Weight loss through lifestyle modification significantly reduces features of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology 2015;149:367–378.e5; quiz e14-e15. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.04.005.
- [8] Rinella ME, Sanyal AJ. Management of NAFLD: a stage-based approach. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016;13:196–205. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.3.
- [9] Santhekadur PK, Kumar DP, Sanyal AJ. Preclinical models of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol 2018;68:230–237. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017. 10.031.
- [10] Godoy P, Hewitt NJ, Albrecht U, Andersen ME, Ansari N, Bhattacharya S, et al. Recent advances in 2D and 3D in vitro systems using primary hepatocytes, alternative hepatocyte sources and non-parenchymal liver cells and their use in investigating mechanisms of hepatotoxicity, cell signaling and ADME. Arch Toxicol 2013;87:1315–1530. doi: 10.1007/s00204-013-1078-5.
- [11] Martinez-Hernandez A, Amenta PS. The hepatic extracellular matrix. II. Ontogenesis, regeneration and cirrhosis. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 1993;423:77–84. doi: 10.1007/BF01606580.
- [12] Wells RG. Cellular sources of extracellular matrix in hepatic fibrosis. Clin Liver Dis 2008;12:759–768. doi: 10.1016/j.cld.2008.07.008.
- [13] Abedin M, King N. Diverse evolutionary paths to cell adhesion. Trends Cell Biol 2010;20:734–742. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2010.08.002.
- [14] Oseini AM, Cole BK, Issa D, Feaver RE, Sanyal AJ. Translating scientific discovery: the need for preclinical models of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatol Int 2018;12:6–16. doi: 10.1007/s12072-017-9838-6.
- [15] Feaver RE, Cole BK, Lawson MJ, Hoang SA, Marukian S, Blackman BR, et al. Development of an in vitro human liver system for interrogating nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. JCI Insight 2016;1:e90954. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.90954.
- [16] Ramachandran P, Dobie R, Wilson-Kanamori JR, Dora EF, Henderson BEP, Luu NT, et al. Resolving the fibrotic niche of human liver cirrhosis at single-cell level. Nature 2019;575:512–518. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1631-3.
- [17] Alkhouri N, Dixon LJ, Feldstein AE. Lipotoxicity in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: not all lipids are created equal. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009;3:445–451. doi: 10.1586/egh.09.32.
- [18] Miyao M, Kotani H, Ishida T, Kawai C, Manabe S, Abiru H, et al. Pivotal role of liver sinusoidal endothelial cells in NAFLD/NASH progression. Lab Invest 2015;95:1130–1144. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2015.95.
- [19] Hu J, Ge H, Newman M, Liu K. OSA: a fast and accurate alignment tool for RNA-Seq. Bioinformatics 2012;28:1933–1934. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts294.
- [20] Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol 2014;15:550. doi: 10. 1186/s13059-014-0550-8.
- [21] Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: A practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society

Series B (Methodological) 1995;57:289-300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161. 1995.tb02031.x.

- [22] Krämer A, Green J, Pollard J Jr, Tugendreich S. Causal analysis approaches in Ingenuity Pathway Analysis. Bioinformatics 2014;30:523–530. doi: 10. 1093/bioinformatics/btt703.
- [23] Kolios G, Valatas V, Kouroumalis E. Role of Kupffer cells in the pathogenesis of liver disease. World J Gastroenterol 2006;12:7413–7420. doi: 10. 3748/wjg.v12.i46.7413.
- [24] Woolsey SJ, Mansell SE, Kim RB, Tirona RG, Beaton MD. CYP3A activity and expression in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Drug Metab Dispos 2015;43: 1484–1490. doi: 10.1124/dmd.115.065979.
- [25] Bocsan IC, Milaciu MV, Pop RM, Vesa SC, Ciumarnean L, Matei DM, et al. Cytokines genotype-phenotype correlation in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2017;2017:4297206. doi: 10.1155/2017/4297206.
- [26] Rabelo F, Oliveira CP, Faintuch J, Mazo DF, Lima VM, Stefano JT, et al. Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in steatosis and steatohepatitis. Obes Surg 2010;20:906–912. doi: 10.1007/s11695-010-0181-4.
- [27] Vucur M, Gassler N, Huss S, Klussmann S, Eulberg D, Luedde T, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of the chemokine CCL2 (MCP-1) diminishes liver macrophage infiltration and steatohepatitis in chronic hepatic injury. Gut 2012; 61:416–426. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300304.
- [28] Tosello-Trampont AC, Landes SG, Nguyen V, Novobrantseva TI, Hahn YS. Kuppfer cells trigger nonalcoholic steatohepatitis development in dietinduced mouse model through tumor necrosis factor-α production. J Biol Chem 2012;287:40161–40172. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.417014.
- [29] Narayanan S, Surette FA, Hahn YS. The immune landscape in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Immune Netw 2016;16:147–158. doi: 10.4110/in.2016.16.3.147.
- [30] Krenkel O, Tacke F. Liver macrophages in tissue homeostasis and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2017;17:306–321. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.11.
- [31] Koyama Y, Brenner DA. Liver inflammation and fibrosis. J Clin Invest 2017; 127:55–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI88881.
- [32] Estep JM, Baranova A, Hossain N, Elariny H, Ankrah K, Afendy A, et al. Expression of cytokine signaling genes in morbidly obese patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and hepatic fibrosis. Obes Surg 2009;19: 617–624. doi: 10.1007/s11695-009-9814-x.
- [33] Zimmermann HW, Seidler S, Gassler N, Nattermann J, Luedde T, Trautwein C, et al. Interleukin-8 is activated in patients with chronic liver diseases and associated with hepatic macrophage accumulation in human liver fibrosis. PLoS One 2011;6:e21381. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021381.
- [34] Domagalski K, Pawłowska M, Kozielewicz D, Dybowska D, Tretyn A, Halota W. The impact of IL28B genotype and liver fibrosis on the hepatic expression of IP10, IFI27, ISG15, and MX1 and their association with treatment outcomes in patients with chronic hepatitis C. PLoS One 2015;10:e0130899. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0130899.
- [35] Zhang X, Shen J, Man K, Chu ES, Yau TO, Sung JC, et al. CXCL10 plays a key role as an inflammatory mediator and a non-invasive biomarker of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. J Hepatol 2014;61:1365–1375. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2014.07.006.
- [36] Tomita K, Freeman BL, Bronk SF, LeBrasseur NK, White TA, Hirsova P, et al. CXCL10-mediates macrophage, but not other innate immune cells-associated inflammation in murine nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Sci Rep 2016;6: 28786. doi: 10.1038/srep28786.
- [37] Okazaki I, Noro T, Tsutsui N, Yamanouchi E, Kuroda H, Nakano M, et al. Fibrogenesis and carcinogenesis in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH): Involvement of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase (TIMPs). Cancers (Basel) 2014;6:1220–1255. doi: 10. 3390/cancers6031220.
- [38] Giannandrea M, Parks WC. Diverse functions of matrix metalloproteinases during fibrosis. Dis Model Mech 2014;7:193–203. doi: 10.1242/dmm. 012062.
- [39] Robert S, Gicquel T, Victoni T, Valença S, Barreto E, Bailly-Maître B, et al. Involvement of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and inflammasome pathway in molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. Biosci Rep 2016;36:e00360. doi: 10.1042/BSR20160107.
- [40] Friedman SL. Liver fibrosis from bench to bedside. J Hepatol 2003;38 Suppl 1:S38–S53. doi: 10.1016/s0168-8278(02)00429-4.
- [41] Ito S, Yukawa T, Uetake S, Yamauchi M. Serum intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: comparison with alcoholic hepatitis. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2007;31:S83–S87. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277. 2006.00292.x.
- [42] Lefere S, Van de Velde F, Devisscher L, Bekaert M, Raevens S, Verhelst X, et al. Serum vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 predicts significant liver fibrosis in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Int J Obes (Lond) 2017;41:1207–1213. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2017.102.
- [43] Povsic M, Oliver L, Jiandani NR, Perry R, Bottomley J. A structured literature review of interventions used in the management of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). Pharmacol Res Perspect 2019;7:e00485. doi: 10.1002/prp2. 485.

#### Duriez M. et al: A human cellular NASH model

- [44] Connolly JJ, Ooka K, Lim JK. Future pharmacotherapy for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH): Review of phase 2 and 3 trials. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2018;6:264–275. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2017.00056.
- [45] Drescher HK, Weiskirchen S, Weiskirchen R. Current status in testing for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). Cells 2019;8:845. doi: 10.3390/cells8080845.
- [46] Yu MC, Chen CH, Liang X, Wang L, Gandhi CR, Fung JJ, et al. Inhibition of Tcell responses by hepatic stellate cells via B7-H1-mediated T-cell apoptosis in mice. Hepatology 2004;40:1312–1321. doi: 10.1002/hep.20488.
- [47] Wu JF, Hsu HY, Ni YH, Chen HL, Wu TC, Chang MH. Suppression of furin by interferon- $\gamma$  and the impact on hepatitis B virus antigen biosynthesis in human hepatocytes. Am J Pathol 2012;181:19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath. 2012.03.036.
- [48] Mukherjee S, Zhelnin L, Sanfiz A, Pan J, Li Z, Yarde M, et al. Development and validation of an in vitro 3D model of NASH with severe fibrotic phenotype. Am J Transl Res 2019;11:1531–1540.
- [49] Gori M, Simonelli MC, Giannitelli SM, Businaro L, Trombetta M, Rainer A. Investigating nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in a liver-on-a-chip microfluidic device. PLoS One 2016;11:e0159729. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159729.
- [50] Bell CC, Hendriks DF, Moro SM, Ellis E, Walsh J, Renblom A, et al. Characterization of primary human hepatocyte spheroids as a model system for druginduced liver injury, liver function and disease. Sci Rep 2016;6:25187. doi: 10.1038/srep25187.
- [51] Kozyra M, Johansson I, Nordling Å, Ullah S, Lauschke VM, Ingelman-Sundberg M. Human hepatic 3D spheroids as a model for steatosis and insulin resistance. Sci Rep 2018;8:14297. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-32722-6.

## Association of TCF7L2 rs7903146 Gene Polymorphism with the Risk of NAFLD and CAD in the Chinese Han Population

Xin Yan<sup>1,4</sup>, Wenwen Jin<sup>1</sup>, Jie Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Mengke Wang<sup>1</sup>, Shousheng Liu<sup>\*2,3</sup> and Yongning Xin<sup>\*1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Infectious Disease, Qingdao Municipal Hospital, Qingdao, Shandong, China; <sup>2</sup>Clinical Research Center, Qingdao Municipal Hospital, Qingdao, Shandong, China; <sup>3</sup>Digestive Disease Key Laboratory of Qingdao, Qingdao, Shandong, China; <sup>4</sup>Dalian Medical University, Dalian, Liaoning, China

#### Abstract

Background and Aims: Coronary artery disease (CAD) is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Previous studies have suggested that TCF7L2 rs7903146 was related to the risk of developing NAFLD but the conclusions are not consistent and no related study has been conducted in Chinese populations. The aim of this study was to investigate the association between TCF7L2 rs7903146 and the risk of developing NAFLD and CAD in a Chinese Han population. Methods: TCF7L2 rs7903146 genotypes were measured by the MALDI-TOF-MS from 143 NAFLD patients, 159 CAD patients, 131 NAFLD + CAD patients, and 212 healthy controls. The demographic data and serum lipid profiles of all subjects were collected. The distributions of genotype and allele frequency in each group were also tested. Logistic regression was used to investigate the risk of TCF7L2 rs7903146 with NAFLD and CAD. All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS 23.0. Results: There were no significant differences in the distributions of TCF7L2 rs7903146 genotype and allele frequency in each of the two groups, and the TCF7L2 rs7903146 CT + TT genotype did not increase the risk of developing NAFLD, CAD, and NAFLD + CAD. Except for body mass index in the control group, the differences of clinical parameters between the TCF7L2 rs7903146 T allele carriers and non-carriers in each group were not significant. In the non-obese group, the TCF7L2 rs7903146 CT + TT genotype was a protective factor for the development of NAFLD in the non-obese subjects (odds ratio=0.359, 95% confidence interval: 0.134-0.961, p = 0.041). **Conclusions:** TCF7L2 rs7903146 was not associated with the risk of developing NAFLD, CAD, and NAFLD + CAD in the Chinese Han population. In the nonobese population, the TCF7L2 rs7903146 CT + TT genotype was a protective factor against the development of NAFLD.

**Citation of this article:** Yan X, Jin W, Zhang J, Wang M, Liu S, Xin Y. Association of TCF7L2 rs7903146 gene polymorphism with the risk of NAFLD and CAD in the Chinese Han population. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):371–376. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00071.

#### Introduction

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is the clinicopathological syndrome, characterized by excessive intracellular fat deposition that occurs with the exclusion of alcohol and other specific liver damaging factors, such as viruses, drugs, autoimmune factors, and genetic factors.<sup>1</sup> According to the clinical statistic results, coronary artery disease (CAD) causes the highest mortality in the patients with NAFLD, and the incidence of CAD in patients with NAFLD has increased significantly in recent years.<sup>2,3</sup> A previous study showed that NAFLD can act as one of the independent risk factors for CAD, after excluding hypertension, obesity, diabetes, and other factors.<sup>4</sup> Both NAFLD and CAD are influenced by the interaction of genetic and environmental factors, and they share some pathological mechanisms, such as obesity, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, inflammation, and oxidative stress.<sup>3,5,6</sup> A large number of studies have investigates the role of NAFLD in the development of CAD. NAFLD was reported to be related to the formation of coronary artery plaques and impaired coronary blood flow reserve.4,7,8 In addition, genetic pathogenesis in NAFLD and CAD is drawing more attention, and the gene polymorphisms of ADIPOQ, LEPR, APOC3, PPAR, SREBP, TM6SF2, and MTTP have been reported as risk factors for the development of NAFLD and CAD.5

*TCF7L2* is located on chromosome 10q25 and encodes the transcription factor-4 (TCF-4) (also known as lymphocyte factor-4), which is an important member of the transcription factor family.<sup>9–11</sup> The TCF-4 family can participate in a variety of physiological pathways in different types of cells.<sup>12,13</sup> In 2009, Musso *et al.*<sup>14</sup> first reported that *TCF7L2* rs7903146 T allele frequency was higher in NAFLD patients than in healthy controls. In addition, they found that *TCF7L2* rs7903146 T allele carriers possessed higher levels of low-density lipoprotein (LDL), very low-density lipoprotein, triglyceride (TG), and cytokeratin 18 than non-carriers in the NASH subgroup. Subsequently, Giovanni *et al.*<sup>15</sup> reported that *TCF7L2* rs7903146 T allele carriers had the prolonged elevation of post-meal glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP). The elevated GIP was demonstrated in other studies



**Keywords:** Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; Coronary artery disease; *TCF7L2*; Single nucleotide polymorphism.

**Abbreviations:** ALP, alkaline phosphatase; BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; GGT, gamma-glutamyltransferase; GIP, glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; SD, standard deviation; TBIL, total bilirubin; TC, total cholesterol; TCF-4, transcription factor-4; TG, triglyceride.

Received: 26 July 2020; Revised: 25 August 2020; Accepted: 24 September 2020 \*Correspondence to: Yongning Xin, Department of Infectious Disease, Qingdao Municipal Hospital, 1 Jiaozhou Road, Qingdao, Shandong 266011, China. Tel: +86-532-82789463, Fax: +86-532-85968434, E-mail: xinyongning@163.com; Shousheng Liu, Clinical Research Center, Qingdao Municipal Hospital, 1 Jiaozhou Road, Qingdao, Shandong 266011, China. Tel: +86-532-88905831, Fax: +86-532-88905293, E-mail: shoushengliuouc@163.com

to exacerbate liver steatosis and increase the levels of postprandial resistin and free fatty acids.<sup>16,17</sup> Besides, some evidence has suggested that TCF7L2 rs7903146 is associated with serum lipid indexes, including TG, total cholesterol (TC), LDL, and apolipoprotein B, all of which are associated with risk of CAD development.<sup>18,19</sup> Corella et al.<sup>20</sup> demonstrated that the relationship between TCF7L2 rs7903146 and serum lipid profiles was influenced by adherence to the MedDiet. When adherence was low, the levels of TC and LDL were higher in TT carriers than CT/CC carriers. But when adherence was high, no difference was observed between TT carriers and CT/CC carriers. Up to now, the association of TCF7L2 rs7903146 with the risk of developing NAFLD and CAD was investigated only in a limited amount of studies, and no related report was available in Chinese populations. In addition, the effect of TCF7L2 rs7903146 polymorphism on serum lipid profiles is still unclear.<sup>21–23</sup> In consideration of the increased incidence of NAFLD and CAD in China, illuminating the association of TCF7L2 rs7903146 with the risk of NAFLD and CAD in Chinese may provide some new ideas for the treatment of NAFLD and CAD.

The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship of *TCF7L2* rs7903146 with the risk of developing NAFLD and CAD in a Chinese Han population, and explore the effect of *TCF7L2* rs7903146 on the serum lipid profiles.

#### Methods

#### Subjects

This study was conducted according to the principles of the declaration of Helsinki and its appendices.<sup>24</sup> Subjects were composed of 143 patients with NAFLD, 159 patients with CAD, 131 patients with NAFLD + CAD, and 212 healthy controls, who were enrolled at the Qingdao Municipal Hospital (China) from December 2017 to December 2018. The Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (2010 Revision) and the Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction (2015 Version) were used as exclusion and inclusion criteria for NAFLD and CAD. Patients with NAFLD were included from the Department of Gastroenterology, in a random manner, and diagnosed by B-type ultrasonography. Combining the medical history and laboratory testing, subjects with alcoholic fatty liver, viral hepatitis, autoimmune liver disease, drug-induced liver disease and hereditary metabolic disease were excluded. Patients with CAD were included from the Department of Cardiology, in a random manner, and diagnosed by coronary angiography. We divided the CAD patients into with or without NAFLD groups, respectively. The healthy controls were included from the Physical Examination Center of the Qingdao Municipal Hospital, in a random manner. All the subjects signed informed consent forms after participating in this study.

#### **Biochemical analyses**

The demographic data (gender, age, height and weight) were obtained by questionnaire. The body mass index (BMI) was calculated by weight (kg)/height  $(m)^2$ . Fasting venous blood samples of each subject were collected after a 12-h overnight fasting and kept in ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid-containing tubes. The biochemical data, such as TG, TC, fasting plasma glucose (FPG), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), LDL,

alkaline phosphatase (ALP), gamma-glutamyltransferase (GGT), and total bilirubin (TBIL) were measured through standard laboratory method.

#### Genomic DNA extraction and genotyping

Genomic DNA was extracted from each blood sample and stored at -80°C until use. The primers for PCR amplification were designed and synthesized by Bomiao Biotechnology (Beijing, China) as: 5'-ACGTTGGATGAACTAAGGGTGCCTCA-TACG-3' and 5'-ACGTTGGATGGCCTCAAAACCTAGCACAGC-3'. The detailed process of PCR amplification consists of the following steps: an initial denaturation at 94°C for 5 m, followed by 45 cycles of denaturing at 94°C for 20 s, annealing at 56°C for 30 s, and extending at 72°C for 1 m. After that, a final extension at 72 °C was conducted for 5 m. The genotype *TCF7L2* rs7903146 was detected by DNA sequence using the MALDI-TOF-MS (MassARRAY System; Agena Bioscience, Shanghai, China) and raw data was acquired by TYPER4.0.

#### Statistical analysis

The measurement data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) for those conforming to the normal distribution, otherwise as median guartile. Homogeneity of variance was tested between each of two groups. The independent samples *t*-test was used for data conforming to normal distribution with homogeneity variances, while the rest were tested by rank sum test. Chi-square test was used to analyze the gender distribution differences. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was performed by chi-square test. The distribution of genotypes and allele frequency between two groups were also tested by chisquare. The correlation between genotype and risk of diseases were estimated by binary logistic regression modeling. The demographic and biochemical data of different genotypes were tested by independent sample *t*-test and rank sum test. A p-value of <0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance. All the statistical analyses were conducted by SPSS 23.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA).

#### Results

## Demographic and biochemical characteristics of subjects

A total of 457 subjects were included in this study. As the results show in Table 1, differences of gender distribution were observed between the NAFLD group and control group, and between the NAFLD + CAD group and the control group. The NAFLD group had higher levels of BMI, TC, TG, LDL, alanine aminotransferase, GGT and FPG than the control group, while age and HDL level were lower in the NAFLD group compared to the control group (all p < 0.05). No significant differences were observed for aspartate aminotransferase, ALP and TBIL between the NAFLD group and the control group. Age, BMI and levels of TG, alanine aminotransferase, ALP, GGT, and FPG in the CAD group were high compared to those in the control group, and the levels of TC, HDL, and LDL were low in the CAD group compared to those in the control group (all p < 0.05). There were higher age, BMI, and levels of TG, alanine aminotransferase, ALP, GGT and FPG, and lower levels of TC, HDL and LDL in the NAFLD + CAD group compared to the control group (all p < 0.05). The NAFLD + CAD group had higher age and levels of ALP and FPG, and lower BMI and levels of HDL, LDL, alanine aminotransferase and TC than the NAFLD group (all p < 0.05).

	Control group, n = 212	NAFLD group, n = 143	CAD group, <i>n</i> = 159	NAFLD + CAD group, n = 131	$p_{I}$	$p_2$	p <sub>3</sub>	p4
Male (%)	121 (57.06)	100 (69.93)	96 (60.38)	90 (68.70)	0.014	0.523	0.032	0.826
Age (yr)	47 (41-57.75)	42 (37-45)	66 (61-74)	62 (55-67)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	23.90 (21.82-25.91)	$26.61 \pm 5.50$	$25.28 \pm 3.25$	$25.19 \pm 2.54$	<0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
TC (mmol/L)	5.11 (4.59-5.74)	$5.48 \pm 0.82$	$4.64 \pm 1.28$	4.31 (3.76-5.54)	<0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
TG (mmol/L)	1.12 (0.87-1.69)	1.54 (1.16-2.20)	1.43 (1.03-1.85)	1.46 (1.01-2.18)	<0.001	0.002	<0.001	0.328
HDL (mmol/L)	$1.30 \pm 0.29$	1.21 (1.08-1.35)	1.01 (0.86-1.16)	1.02 (0.85-1.17)	0.031	< 0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
LDL (mmol/L)	3.10 (2.67-3.58)	$3.25 \pm 0.61$	2.64 (2.09-3.41)	2.64 (2.12-3.43)	0.047	< 0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
ALT (U/L)	18.28 (12.87-25.87)	23.80 (18.42-43.65)	20.73 (14.72-31.36)	22.67 (15.63-33.44)	<0.001	0.015	0.001	0.021
AST (U/L)	20.79 (18.15-24.68)	21.64 (18.33-26.78)	21.70 (16.99-31.08)	22.17 (16.80-32.72)	0.139	0.335	0.107	0.659
ALP (U/L)	$71.17 \pm 20.35$	68.63 (58.99-83.39)	$79.78 \pm 22.87$	82.50 (70.52-98.63)	0.785	< 0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
GGT (U/L)	22.12 (16.19-30.21)	30.63 (20.77-47.73)	26.35 (18.16-36.84)	27.70 (18.54-39.98)	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	0.084
TBIL (µmol/l)	13.20 (9.43-16.88)	11.9 (9.9-14.9)	13.50 (10.20-18.28)	13.10 (10.48-16.30)	0.398	0.169	0.448	0.111
Glu (mmol/L)	4.48 (4.04-4.96)	4.79 (4.50-5.18)	5.20 (4.55-6.43)	5.42 (4.75-6.40)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
Data are expressed as $p_i$ : NAFLD group vs. cc	mean ± standard deviation for th introl group; p2: CAD group vs. c.	lose conforming to the normal dis ontrol group; $p_3$ ; NAFLD + CAD g	:tribution, otherwise as median q iroup vs. control group; <i>p</i> 4: NAFL	Jartile. D + CAD group vs. NAFLD group.	<i>p</i> < 0.05 was c	onsidered stati	stically significa	nt.

Table 1. Demographic and biochemical characteristics of subjects

## TCF7L2 rs7903146 genotype and allele frequency distribution

The genotype frequency distribution of TCF7L2 rs7903146 was in accordance with Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium in each group (all p > 0.05) (Table 2). As the results show in Table 3, there was no significant difference in the genotype distribution of TCF7L2 rs7903146 (CC vs. CT + TT) between the NAFLD group and the control group, the CAD group and the control group, the NAFLD + CAD group and the control group, and the NAFLD + CAD group and the NAFLD group (all p >0.05). In addition, the difference of TCF7L2 rs7903146 allele frequency distribution in each group was also not significant (all p > 0.05). When we analyzed the association of *TCF7L2* rs7903146 genotype and the risk of NAFLD, CAD, and NAFLD + CAD, the results suggested that the CT + TT genotype did not increase the risk of developing NAFLD, CAD, and NAFLD + CAD in the general population, and the CT + TT genotype also did not increase the risk of developing CAD in the patients with NAFLD (Table 4).

## Association of TCF7L2 rs7903146 genotype with the risk of NAFLD in the non-obese subjects

The difference of clinical parameters between the T allele carriers and non-carriers in each group was analyzed, and no significant difference was observed in the NAFLD group, the CAD group, and the NAFLD + CAD group (data not shown). However, the BMI of the T allele carriers was lower than in non-carriers in the control group (p = 0.027). To investigate the potential relationship of TCF7FL2 rs7903146 genotype with the BMI value, we divided the whole subject population into two groups: obese subjects (BMI  $\geq$ 25) and non-obese subjects (BMI <25). In the obese group, no significant difference was observed for the genotype distribution of TCF7L2 rs7903146 (CC vs. CT + TT) between the NAFLD patients and non-NAFLD patients. In the non-obese group, distribution of the CT + TT genotype and CC genotype was significantly different (p = 0.035) (Table 5). Logistic regression model analysis suggested that the CT + TT genotype was a protective factor against the development of NAFLD in the nonobese subjects (odds ratio=0.359, 95% confidence interval: 0.134-0.961, p = 0.041). After adjustment for gender and age, and serum lipids, the CT + TT genotype was still a protective factor against the development of NAFLD in the nonobese subjects (odds ratio = 0.245, 95% confidence interval: 0.072 - 0.837, p = 0.025) (Table 6).

Table 2. Result of Hardy-	Weinberg Equilibrium a	nalysis
---------------------------	------------------------	---------

Gene locus	Group	X <sup>2</sup>	р
rs7903146	NAFLD group	0.39	0.53
	Control group	0.63	0.43
	CAD group	0.03	0.86
	NALFD + CAD group	0.07	0.81

 $\hat{p} < 0.05$  was considered different.

Abbreviations: CAD, coronary artery disease; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology 2020 vol. 8 | 371-376

body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; GGT, gamma-glutamyltransferase; Glu, glucose; HDL,

triglyceride.

ц,

cholesterol;

total

bilirubin; TC,

total I

TBIL, 1

aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; BMI,

nonalcoholic fatty liver disease;

low density lipoprotein; NAFLD,

Abbreviations: ALP, alkaline phosphatase; ALT, alanine

density lipoprotein; LDL,

high

	Genotype frequ	iency, <i>n</i> (%)					Allele frequ n (%)	Allele frequency, n (%)				
	СС	CT + TT	<i>p</i> <sub>1</sub>	<i>p</i> <sub>2</sub>	p <sub>3</sub>	<i>p</i> <sub>4</sub>	С	Т	<i>p</i> <sub>1</sub>	<i>p</i> <sub>2</sub>	p <sub>3</sub>	p <sub>4</sub>
NAFLD	125 (89.93)	14 (10.07)	0.93	0.28	0.06	0.08	263 (94.60)	15 (5.40)	0.90	0.22	0.06	0.06
Control	190 (89.62)	22 (10.38)					402 (94.81)	22 (5.19)				
CAD	134 (85.90)	22 (14.10)					289 (92.63)	23 (7.37)				
NAFLD + CAD	110 (95.65)	5 (4.35)					225 (97.83)	5 (2.17)				

Table 3. Distribution of genotype and allele frequency of TCF7L2 rs7903146 in each group\*

 $p_1$ : NAFLD group vs. control group;  $p_2$ : CAD group vs. control group;  $p_3$ : NAFLD + CAD group vs. control group;  $p_4$ : NAFLD + CAD group vs. NAFLD group. \*SPSS 23.0 was used for testing and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Abbreviations: CAD, coronary artery disease; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

Table 4. Association between genotype and the risk of NAFLD, CAD, and CAD & NAFLD\*

	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> 1	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> <sub>2</sub>	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> <sub>3</sub>	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> <sub>4</sub>
CC	1	0.93	1	0.29	1	0.07	1	0.09
CT + TT	0.97 (0.48-1.96)		1.42 (0.75-2.67)		0.39 (0.15-1.07)		0.41 (0.14-1.16)	

p<sub>2</sub>: NAFLD group vs. control group; p<sub>2</sub>: CAD group vs. control group; p<sub>3</sub>: NAFLD & CAD group vs. control group; p<sub>4</sub>: NAFLD + CAD group vs. NAFLD group.

<sup>®</sup>Binary logistic analysis was used for testing.

Abbreviations: CAD, coronary artery disease; CI, confidence interval; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; OR, odds ratio.

Table 5.	<b>Distribution of</b>	genotype frequency	and allele frequency	of TCF7L2 rs79031	46 in obese and	non-obese subjects*
----------	------------------------	--------------------	----------------------	-------------------	-----------------	---------------------

	NAFLD group, <i>n</i> (%)	Non-NAFLD group, n (%)	X <sub>2</sub>	p
Obese				
Genotype				
CC	151 (91.5)	149 (90.9)	0.045	0.832
CT + TT	14 (8.5)	15 (9.1)		
Allele				
С	316 (95.76)	313 (95.43)	0.043	0.836
Т	14 (4.24)	15 (4.57)		
Non-obese				
Genotype				
CC	84 (94.38)	175 (85.78)	4.466	0.035
CT + TT	5 (5.63)	29 (14.22)		
Allele				
С	171 (96.07)	378 (92.65)	2.451	0.117
Т	7 (3.93)	30 (7.35)		

\*SPSS 23.0 was used for testing.

p<0.05 was considered a statistically significant difference.

Abbreviation: NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

#### Discussion

Genetic factors significantly participate in the development and progression of NAFLD and CAD.<sup>25,26</sup> In this study, we investigated the relationship of *TCF7L2* rs7903146 with the risk of developing NAFLD and CAD in a Chinese Han population. As the results showed, there were no differences in the *TCF7L2* rs7903146 genotype and allele distribution between the NAFLD group and the control group, the CAD group and the control group, and the NAFLD + CAD group and the control group, and the NAFLD + CAD group and the NAFLD group. In addition, the CT + TT genotype did not increase the risk of

#### Yan X. et al: Association of TCF7L2 with NAFLD and CAD

	Unadjusted			Adjusted <sup>*</sup>	
	OR (95% CI)	Р		OR (95% CI)	Р
CC	1	0.041	СС	1	0.025
CT + TT	0.359 (0.134-0.961)		CT + TT	0.245 (0.072-0.837)	

Table 6. Association of TCF7L2 rs790314	5 genotype and NAFLD in non-obese subjects*
---	---

 $^*$ Binary logistic regression model was adjusted for age, gender, TC, TG and LDL.

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; OR, odds ratio; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride.

developing NAFLD, CAD, and NALFD + CAD in the general population, and did not increase the risk of developing CAD in the patients with NAFLD. However, the *TCF7L2* rs7903146 CT + TT genotype was a protective factor for NAFLD in the non-obese subjects.

As a component of the Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway, TCF7L2 participates in a variety of physiological pathways, such as cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and oxidative stress, all the effect of TCF7L2 which can be exerted throughout growth, zoning, heterogenesis, and other intrinsic metabolism processes of liver.<sup>27–29</sup> The relationship of TCF7L2 with metabolism was first found by Grant et al., 30 who found that the microsatellite of TCF7L2 intron 3, DG10S478, was associated with type 2 diabetes in an Icelandic population. The gene's expression product, a high-mobility family box, contains transcription factors that influence blood glucose homeostasis. Subsequent studies revealed several potential functions of TCF7L2, including decreasing insulin secretion, impairing incretin effect, and increasing insulin resistance.31-33 In addition, TCF7L2 rs7903146 has been reported to be relevant to lipid disorders, NAFLD, obesity and hypertension.<sup>14,18,34</sup> Corella *et al.*<sup>20</sup> reported the correlation between TCF7L2 rs7903146 and multiple lipid indexes, but the potential molecular mechanism by which TCF7L2 rs7903146 induces abnormal hepatic metabolism remains unknown.

Some researchers reported that TCF7L2 rs7930146 can regulate open chromatin and genetic transcription in pancreas, thus increasing the risk of diabetes.<sup>31,35</sup> In addition, Dorota et al.<sup>36</sup> found that the expression of TCF7L2 in liver may be regulated by weight loss. However, the evidence of how TCF7L2 rs7903146 participates in hepatic lipid metabolism remains unclear. Musso et al.14 found that the TCF7L2 rs7903146 CT/TT genotype was a risk factor for NAFLD. In that study, the results indicated that the TCF7L2 rs7903146 polymorphism did not associate with the risk of developing NAFLD, CAD, or NAFLD + CAD in the general population, and did not associate with the risk of developing NAFLD + CAD. Except for BMI in the control group, the differences of clinical parameters between the TCF7L2 rs7903146 T allele carriers and non-carriers in each group were also not significant. Further analysis found that the distribution of the CT + TT genotype and the CC genotype was significantly different between the NAFLD patients and non-NAFLD patients in the non-obese group. After adjustment for gender and age, and serum lipids, the CT + TT genotype was still a protective factor for the development of NAFLD in the non-obese subjects. Previous study determined that the minor allele frequency of the rs7903146 Tallele varied according to the difference of region (the minor allele frequencies in Vietnam, Estonia, Sweden, Caucasia, India, East Asia were 4.63, 19.82, 22.5, 29, 28.1, and 3.2, respectively).<sup>37</sup> In this study, the minor allele frequency of rs7903146 was 4.63, which was similar to the minor allele frequency of East Asia. Development of NAFLD was affected by ethnic, genetic, dietary, and environmental factors; therefore, the difference of the effect of *TCF7L2* rs7903146 polymorphism on the risk of developing NAFLD in Chinese and other countries may be affected by ethnic and genetic factors.

There were several limitations in this study. First, all the NAFLD patients were diagnosed by ultrasound rather than the liver biopsy; therefore, the diagnosis of NAFLD may not be very accurate. Second, the sample size was relatively small, which may affect the conclusion. Third, our conclusion cannot reflect the association between *TCF7L2* rs7903146 polymorphism and the risk of developing NAFLD in other countries, due to all the subjects in this study being of the Chinese Han population.

#### Conclusions

This study investigated the relationship of *TCF7L2* rs7903146 polymorphism with the risk of NAFLD, CAD, and NAFLD + CAD in a Chinese Han population, for the first time. The results suggest that *TCF7L2* rs7903146 was not associated with the risk of developing NAFLD, CAD, and NAFLD + CAD in our Chinese Han population, and *TCF7L2* rs7903146 did not affect the serum lipid metabolism. In the non-obese subpopulation, the *TCF7L2* rs7903146 CT + TT genotype was a protective factor for the development of NAFLD. More subjects of other ethnicity should be included to further investigate the association of *TCF7L2* rs7903146 with the risk of NAFLD, and the potential mechanism underlying the *TCF7L2* rs7903146 variant's affect the lipid metabolism should be illustrated.

#### Funding

This study was supported by a grant from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31770837).

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Study concept and design (YX and SL), acquisition of the data (XY, WJ, JZ, and MW), analysis and interpretation of the data (YX and WJ), drafting of the manuscript: (XY), critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content (YX and LS), supervision (YX). All the authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### References

- [1] Li J, Zou B, Yeo YH, Feng Y, Xie X, Lee DH, et al. Prevalence, incidence, and outcome of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in Asia, 1999-2019: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019;4:389–398. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30039-1.
- [2] Nseir W, Shalata A, Marmor A, Assy N. Mechanisms linking nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with coronary artery disease. Dig Dis Sci 2011;56:3439–3449. doi: 10.1007/s10620-011-1767-y.
- [3] Vanwagner LB, Bhave M, Te HS, Feinglass J, Alvarez L, Rinella ME. Patients transplanted for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis are at increased risk for postoperative cardiovascular events. Hepatology 2012;56:1741–1750. doi: 10. 1002/hep.25855.
- [4] Assy N, Djibre A, Farah R, Grosovski M, Marmor A. Presence of coronary plaques in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Radiology 2010; 254:393–400. doi: 10.1148/radiol.09090769.
- [5] Li XL, Sui JQ, Lu LL, Zhang NN, Xu X, Dong QY, et al. Gene polymorphisms associated with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and coronary artery disease: a concise review. Lipids Health Dis 2016;15:53. doi: 10.1186/s12944-016-0221-8.
- [6] Wu S, Wu F, Ding Y, Hou J, Bi J, Zhang Z. Association of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease with major adverse cardiovascular events: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep 2016;6:33386. doi: 10.1038/srep33386.
- [7] Akabame S, Hamaguchi M, Tomiyasu K, Tanaka M, Kobayashi-Takenaka Y, Nakano K, et al. Evaluation of vulnerable coronary plaques and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) by 64-detector multislice computed tomography (MSCT). Circ J 2008;72:618–625. doi: 10.1253/circj.72.618.
- [8] Yilmaz Y, Kurt R, Yonal O, Polat N, Celikel CA, Gurdal A, et al. Coronary flow reserve is impaired in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: association with liver fibrosis. Atherosclerosis 2010;211:182–186. doi: 10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2010.01.049.
- [9] Shitashige M, Hirohashi S, Yamada T. Wnt signaling inside the nucleus. Cancer Sci 2008;99:631–637. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2007.00716.x.
- [10] Grove EA. Wnt signaling meets internal dissent. Genes Dev 2011;25:1759– 1762. doi: 10.1101/gad.17594311.
- [11] Waterman ML. Lymphoid enhancer factor/T cell factor expression in colorectal cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2004;23:41–52. doi: 10.1023/a: 1025858928620.
- [12] Ye F, Chen Y, Hoang T, Montgomery RL, Zhao XH, Bu H, et al. HDAC1 and HDAC2 regulate oligodendrocyte differentiation by disrupting the betacatenin-TCF interaction. Nat Neurosci 2009;12:829–838. doi: 10.1038/nn. 2333.
- [13] Batlle E, Henderson JT, Beghtel H, van den Born MM, Sancho E, Huls G, et al. Beta-catenin and TCF mediate cell positioning in the intestinal epithelium by controlling the expression of EphB/ephrinB. Cell 2002;111:251–263. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)01015-2.
- [14] Musso G, Gambino R, Pacini G, Pagano G, Durazzo M, Cassader M. Transcription factor 7-like 2 polymorphism modulates glucose and lipid homeostasis, adipokine profile, and hepatocyte apoptosis in NASH. Hepatology 2009;49: 426–435. doi: 10.1002/hep.22659.
- [15] Musso G, Gambino R, Pacini G, De Michieli F, Cassader M. Prolonged saturated fat-induced, glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide elevation is associated with adipokine imbalance and liver injury in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: dysregulated enteroadipocyte axis as a novel feature of fatty liver. Am J Clin Nutr 2009;89:558–567. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.26720.
- [16] Kim SJ, Nian C, McIntosh CH. Resistin is a key mediator of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) stimulation of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity in adipocytes. J Biol Chem 2007;282:34139–34147. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.M704896200.
- [17] Hansotia T, Maida A, Flock G, Yamada Y, Tsukiyama K, Seino Y, et al. Extrapancreatic incretin receptors modulate glucose homeostasis, body weight, and energy expenditure. J Clin Invest 2007;117:143–152. doi: 10. 1172/JCI25483.
- [18] Huertas-Vazquez A, Plaisier C, Weissglas-Volkov D, Sinsheimer J, Canizales-Quinteros S, Cruz-Bautista I, et al. TCF7L2 is associated with high serum triacylglycerol and differentially expressed in adipose tissue in families with familial combined hyperlipidaemia. Diabetologia 2008;51:62–69. doi: 10. 1007/s00125-007-0850-6.
- [19] Chen X, Ayala I, Shannon C, Fourcaudot M, Acharya NK, Jenkinson CP, et al. The diabetes gene and wnt pathway effector TCF7L2 regulates adipocyte

#### Yan X. et al: Association of TCF7L2 with NAFLD and CAD

development and function. Diabetes 2018;67:554–568. doi: 10. 2337/db17-0318.

- [20] Corella D, Carrasco P, Sorlí JV, Estruch R, Rico-Sanz J, Martínez-González MÁ, et al. Mediterranean diet reduces the adverse effect of the TCF7L2rs7903146 polymorphism on cardiovascular risk factors and stroke incidence: a randomized controlled trial in a high-cardiovascular-risk population. Diabetes Care 2013;36:3803–3811. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0955.
- [21] Oktavianthi S, Saraswati MR, Suastika K, Dwipayana P, Sulfianti A, Hayati RF, et al. Transcription factor 7-like 2 single nucleotide polymorphisms are associated with lipid profile in the Balinese. Mol Biol Rep 2018;45:1135–1143. doi: 10.1007/s11033-018-4265-x.
- [22] Pineda-Tenor D, Berenguer J, Jiménez-Sousa MA, Carrero A, García-Álvarez M, Aldámiz-Echevarria T, et al. rs7903146 polymorphism at transcription factor 7 like 2 gene is associated with total cholesterol and lipoprotein profile in HIV/hepatitis C virus-coinfected patients. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 2015;31:326–334. doi: 10.1089/aid.2014.0195.
- [23] Perez-Martinez P, Perez-Caballero AI, Garcia-Rios A, Yubero-Serrano EM, Camargo A, Gomez-Luna MJ, *et al.* Effects of rs7903146 variation in the Tcf7l2 gene in the lipid metabolism of three different populations. PLoS One 2012;7:e43390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043390.
- [24] Human experimentation: Code of ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki). Can Med Assoc J. 1964;91:619.
- [25] Younossi Z, Anstee QM, Marietti M, Hardy T, Henry L, Eslam M, et al. Global burden of NAFLD and NASH: trends, predictions, risk factors and prevention. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;15:11–20. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro. 2017.109.
- [26] Khera AV, Kathiresan S. Genetics of coronary artery disease: discovery, biology and clinical translation. Nat Rev Genet 2017;18:331–344. doi: 10. 1038/nrg.2016.160.
- $\label{eq:spectral_spectral} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{[27] Monga SP. Role of Wnt/$$$$/$$$-catenin signaling in liver metabolism and cancer. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2011;43:1021-1029. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2009.09. 001. \end{array}$
- [28] Jungermann K, Katz N. Functional specialization of different hepatocyte populations. Physiol Rev 1989;69:708–764. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1989.69.3. 708.
- [29] Gebhardt R, Hovhannisyan A. Organ patterning in the adult stage: the role of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in liver zonation and beyond. Dev Dyn 2010; 239:45–55. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.22041.
- [30] Grant SF, Thorleifsson G, Reynisdottir I, Benediktsson R, Manolescu A, Sainz J, et al. Variant of transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene confers risk of type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet 2006;38:320–323. doi: 10.1038/ng1732.
- [31] Lyssenko V, Lupi R, Marchetti P, Del Guerra S, Orho-Melander M, Almgren P, et al. Mechanisms by which common variants in the TCF7L2 gene increase risk of type 2 diabetes. J Clin Invest 2007;117:2155–2163. doi: 10. 1172/JCI30706.
- [32] Florez JC, Jablonski KA, Bayley N, Pollin TI, de Bakker PI, Shuldiner AR, et al. TCF7L2 polymorphisms and progression to diabetes in the Diabetes Prevention Program. N Engl J Med 2006;355:241–250. doi: 10. 1056/NEJMoa062418.
- [33] Damcott CM, Pollin TI, Reinhart LJ, Ott SH, Shen H, Silver KD, et al. Polymorphisms in the transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene are associated with type 2 diabetes in the Amish: replication and evidence for a role in both insulin secretion and insulin resistance. Diabetes 2006;55:2654–2659. doi: 10.2337/db06-0338.
- [34] Samaan Z, Lee YK, Gerstein HC, Engert JC, Bosch J, Mohan V, et al. Obesity genes and risk of major depressive disorder in a multiethnic population: a cross-sectional study. J Clin Psychiatry 2015;76:e1611–e1618. doi: 10. 4088/JCP.14m09720.
- [35] Gaulton KJ, Nammo T, Pasquali L, Simon JM, Giresi PG, Fogarty MP, et al. A map of open chromatin in human pancreatic islets. Nat Genet 2010;42:255– 259. doi: 10.1038/ng.530.
- [36] Kaminska D, Kuulasmaa T, Venesmaa S, Käkelä P, Vaittinen M, Pulkkinen L, et al. Adipose tissue TCF7L2 splicing is regulated by weight loss and associates with glucose and fatty acid metabolism. Diabetes 2012;61:2807– 2813. doi: 10.2337/db12-0239.
- [37] Tong Y, Lin Y, Zhang Y, Yang J, Zhang Y, Liu H, et al. Association between TCF7L2 gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus: a large Human Genome Epidemiology (HuGE) review and meta-analysis. BMC Med Genet 2009;10:15. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-10-15.



## Clinical Outcome Event Adjudication in a 10-Year Prospective Study of Nucleos(t)ide Analogue Therapy for Chronic Hepatitis B

Joseph K Lim<sup>\*1</sup>, Alex Y Chang<sup>2</sup>, Atif Zaman<sup>3</sup>, Paul Martin<sup>4</sup>, Conrado M Fernandez-Rodriguez<sup>5</sup>, Mete Korkmaz<sup>6</sup>, Simona Rossi<sup>7</sup>, James M Ford<sup>8</sup>, Tamara Noonan<sup>9</sup>, Elizabeth Cooney<sup>9</sup>, Victor Navarro<sup>7</sup> and Luis Colombato<sup>10</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, USA; <sup>2</sup>Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA and Johns Hopkins Singapore, Singapore; <sup>3</sup>Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, USA; <sup>4</sup>University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, USA; <sup>5</sup>Hospital Universitario Fundación Alcorcón, Madrid, Spain; <sup>6</sup>OSF Saint Anthony Center for Cancer Care, Rockford, IL, USA; <sup>7</sup>Einstein Healthcare Network, Philadelphia, PA, USA; <sup>8</sup>Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA; <sup>9</sup>Bristol-Myers Squibb, Wallingford, CT, USA; <sup>10</sup>Hospital Británico, UCA School of Medicine, Buenos Aires, Argentina

#### Abstract

Background and Aims: In the REALM (Randomized, Observational Study of Entecavir to Assess Long-Term Outcomes Associated with Nucleoside/Nucleotide Monotherapy for Patients with Chronic HBV Infection) study, 12,378 patients with chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection received up to 10 years of randomized therapy with entecavir or another HBV nucleos(t)ide analogue. Monitored clinical outcome events (COEs) included malignant neoplasms, HBV disease progression events, and deaths. An external event adjudication committee (EAC) was convened to provide real-time review of reported COEs to optimize data quality, and minimize potential adverse effects of the large cohort, interdisciplinary outcome assessments, geographic scope, and long duration. Methods: The EAC comprised an international group of hepatologists and oncologists with expertise in diagnosis of targeted COEs. The EAC reviewed and adjudicated COEs according to prospectively defined diagnostic criteria captured in the EAC charter. Operational processes, including data collection and query procedures, were implemented to optimize efficiency of data recovery to maximize capture of adjudicated COEs, the primary study outcome measure. Results: A total of 1724 COEs were reported and 1465 of these events were adjudicated by the EAC as reported by the investigators (85.0% overall concordance). Concordance by COE type varied: deaths, 99.6%; hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), 83.3%; non-HCC malignancies, 88.0%; non-HCC HBV disease progression, 68.2%. Reasons for lack of concordance were most commonly lack of adequate supporting data to support an adjudicated diagnosis or evidence that the event pre-dated the study. **Conclusions:** The REALM EAC performed a critical role in ensuring data quality and consistency; EAC performance was facilitated by well-defined diagnostic criteria, effective data capture, and efficient operational processes. **Trial registration:** ClinicalTrials.gov NCT00388674.

**Citation of this article:** Lim JK, Chang AY, Zaman A, Martin P, Fernandez-Rodriguez CM, Korkmaz M, *et al.* Clinical outcome event adjudication in a 10-year prospective study of nucleos(t)ide analogue therapy for chronic hepatitis B. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):377–384. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00039.

#### Introduction

Chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection (CHB) remains a global health challenge, with an estimated 240 to 400 million infected individuals worldwide.<sup>1-3</sup> HBV nucleos(t)ide analogues (NUCs) introduced over the past two decades can help reduce this burden of disease; suppression of viral replication with HBV NUCs for 3-5 years can reverse HBV-associated liver fibrosis and reduce the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).<sup>4-6</sup>

Entecavir (ETV) is a third-generation NUC approved for treating hepatitis B e-antigen (HBeAg)-positive, HBeAg-negative, and lamivudine-experienced adults with CHB, based on phase 3 results demonstrating histologic, virologic, and biochemical benefits.<sup>7–9</sup> Virologic breakthrough was rare after 5 years of ETV treatment in NUC-naive patients; consistent with this durable antiviral effect, HBV disease progression was reduced.<sup>10–12</sup> ETV safety was favorable in randomized trials and long-term follow-up studies; no association between ETV and risk of specific adverse events was identified with therapy of up to 5 years.<sup>13</sup> However, in 2-year preclinical carcinogenicity studies, benign and malignant tumors involving lung, liver, and brain were observed in ETV-exposed mice and rats.<sup>14</sup> Excepting lung tumors, which were limited to male mice, rodent tumors occurred only at significantly higher

**Keywords:** Hepatitis B; Antiviral therapy; Clinical outcomes; Event adjudication; Liver cirrhosis.

Abbreviations: AASLD, American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases; CHB, chronic hepatitis B virus infection; CI, confidence interval; COE, clinical outcome event; CRF, case report form; CRO, clinical research organization; DRF, data request form; EAC, event adjudication committee; EASL, European Association for Study of the Liver; ETV, entecavir; HBV, hepatitis B virus; HBeAg, hepatitis B e-antigen; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HR, hazard ratio; NUC, nucleos(t)ide analogue; REALM, Randomized, Observational Study of Entecavir to Assess Long-Term Outcomes Associated with Nucleoside/Nucleotide Monotherapy for Patients with Chronic HBV Infection; SAE, serious adverse event.

Received: 1 May 2020; Revised: 24 August 2020; Accepted: 5 September 2020 \*Correspondence to: Joseph K Lim, Yale University School of Medicine, 333 Cedar Street, LMP 1080, New Haven, CT 06520 USA. Tel: +1-203-737-6063, Fax: +1-203-785-7273, E-mail: joseph.lim@yale.edu

ETV exposures than those occurring with approved doses in humans.

These findings prompted initiation of the REALM study ((Randomized, Observational Study of Entecavir to Assess Long-Term Outcomes Associated with Nucleoside/Nucleotide Monotherapy for Patients with Chronic HBV Infection; NCT00388674) of HBV-associated and non-HBV-associated clinical outcomes in adults with CHB who received ETV or non-ETV HBV NUCs for up to 10 years.<sup>15,16</sup> Planned enrollment was 12,500 patients in up to 500 research centers globally. To ensure data quality and consistency from this large and geographically diverse investigator group during the extended follow-up, an independent event adjudication committee (EAC) was established to review investigator-reported clinical outcome events (COEs). EACs have proven valuable in randomized trials in other fields, particularly those with substantial risk of misclassifying events that are crucial for study outcome assessment.<sup>17-21</sup> However, independent EACs have seldom been used in studies of liver disease; to our knowledge, REALM is the first HBV therapeutic study to utilize an EAC for evaluating COEs. Herein, we report the structure and processes utilized by the REALM EAC, the COEs submitted for EAC review, outcomes of their assessments, and key lessons learned.

#### Methods

#### Study design

Eligible patients were adults with HBeAg-positive or -negative CHB, who, in their physician's opinion, were eligible for monotherapy with an approved HBV NUC. Patients could be HBV treatment-naive or experienced, with or without compensated or decompensated cirrhosis, or coinfected with hepatitis C and/or hepatitis delta viruses. Patients were ineligible if coinfected with human immunodeficiency virus, had expected liver transplant-free survival of less than 1 year, a history of malignant neoplasm or dysplastic liver nodule, prior ETV use, or intention to receive interferon monotherapy.

Patients were randomly assigned 1:1 to receive ETV or other standard-of-care HBV NUC that was selected at each investigator's discretion and dosed per the product label. Concurrent interferon-alfa-2b or pegylated interferon-alfa-2a treatment was allowed. After receiving the first dose of study therapy, patients' HBV treatment regimens could be modified by switching to or adding alternate HBV NUC(s) or by terminating treatment altogether. Patient observation continued regardless of such modifications.

#### Data collection

After randomization, patients were followed for up to 10 years after enrollment of the first patient. With full enrollment anticipated to take 3 years, individual patients were expected to receive 7 to 10 years of follow-up. Participating sites monitored for and reported treatment-related serious adverse events (SAEs) and COEs; COEs included malignant neoplasms (non-HCC, HCC), deaths, and non-HCC liverrelated manifestations of HBV disease progression, which included development or progression of compensated or decompensated cirrhosis. Patients were assessed for COEs through twice-yearly in-person visits and two interim telephone interviews. Although the specific means for evaluating patients was at the investigators' discretion, site guidance was provided regarding COEs to be monitored and diagnostic criteria.

#### EAC structure and review process

Due to the complexity of COE definitions and the unblinded study design, an EAC comprising two subcommittees (hepatology, oncology) was established to adjudicate all investigator-reported COEs per criteria outlined in the EAC charter (Supplemental Appendix). The EAC was co-chaired by a hepatologist and an oncologist and composed of experts in those fields; each member also served on the EAC subcommittee relevant to their clinical expertise. The hepatology subcommittee reviewed non-HCC liver-related events of HBV disease progression and liver-related deaths; the oncology subcommittee reviewed events of non-HCC malignant neoplasms and malignancy-related deaths. The subcommittees shared responsibility for reviewing new reports of HCC, dysplastic liver nodules, and non-liver/non-malignancy-related deaths. EAC members and the sponsor remained blinded to HBV therapies received throughout the study. Full committee meetings were initially held quarterly; however, due to increasing case volume, beginning in 2009, meetings were held every other month. Full committee meetings were teleconferences, except for one face-to-face meeting annually, which typically occurred before the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (commonly known as AASLD) or European Association for Study of the Liver (commonly known as EASL) meeting.

Each reported COE was reviewed independently by two subcommittee members, who recommended an adjudicated diagnosis (Fig. 1). With concordant reviews, the relevant Chair completed an adjudication case report form (CRF) which certified the adjudicated diagnosis and date of diagnosis, after which these data were entered into the clinical database. Discordant reviews prompted full committee review; the final decision was based on majority votes. The sponsor's Global Pharmacovigilance Group reviewed treatment-related SAE reports. If SAE details were consistent with a studydefined COE, the investigator was asked to re-report the event as a COE. If an event was reported as both an SAE and a COE, and subsequently confirmed to meet COE criteria, the SAE report was withdrawn.

Investigators reported events to the sponsor and/or a contracted clinical research organization (CRO) on standardized COE CRFs in the form of diagnostic questionnaires and COE workbooks. These documents formed the core contents of a case packet created for each reported COE and submitted for EAC review. The diagnostic questionnaire contained the reported COE and date of diagnosis; COE workbooks contained the investigator-reported event term, the primary evaluation method supporting the diagnosis (e.g. histology, imaging, laboratory assessments) and test date, and any secondary diagnostic information.

Following sponsor/CRO review of submitted CRFs, sites were contacted as necessary using standardized data request forms (DRFs) for further case information and source documents required for EAC review and adjudication. Specific DRFs were developed for each type of COE; DRFs requested case information, such as liver imaging or biopsy data for cirrhosis, ascitic fluid neutrophil counts for spontaneous bacterial peritonitis, or upper endoscopy results for variceal bleeding. The CRO provided an important link between



Fig. 1. Reporting and processing of COEs for adjudicated diagnosis. Flow chart indicates the standardized procedure developed for data collection and EAC adjudication. In addition, during steps 3 and/or 4, reporting sites were contacted as required to obtain further case information needed for adjudication, as described in step 2.

Abbreviations: COE, clinical outcome event; CRO, clinical research organization; DRF, data request form; EAC, event adjudication committee.

investigators and the EAC for acquisition of event documentation.

#### Additional COE capture methods for EAC adjudication

During the study, at least annually, the EAC reviewed evolving literature addressing HBV and HCC outcomes, including society practice guidelines, to assess the need to modify EAC charter diagnostic criteria. The charter was amended twice during the study, in October 2009 and May 2014. The first amendment added liver stiffness measurement by transient elastography (FibroScan<sup>ò</sup>) as a supportive finding for diagnosis of cirrhosis. The second amendment allowed definitive diagnosis of cirrhosis based on FibroScan<sup>ò</sup> findings alone, and HCC diagnosis based on detection of a characteristic focal lesion (arterial phase enhancement with venous phase washout) by a single contrast-enhanced, cross-sectional imaging procedure. Additional steps undertaken to maximize COE data capture are described below.

**HCC events:** Following the 2014 EAC charter amendment that resulted from updated AASLD practice guidelines for HCC,  $^{22,23}$  the EAC reassessed investigator-reported HCC events that were assessed previously as "unable to

adjudicate" using the original charter criteria. Reporting investigative sites were requested to provide any new relevant data, and the full EAC assessed whether the revised diagnostic criteria could now support an adjudicated diagnosis of HCC. Transarterial chemoembolism reports were also reviewed for relevant angiography findings, and dysplastic liver nodule reports were added to case packets of subsequently reported HCC events to support HCC diagnosis and timing.

**Non-HCC HBV disease progression events:** Initially, diagnosis of cirrhosis was based on liver histology and/or ultrasound. During the study, use of ultrasound-based elastography to assess liver fibrosis and cirrhosis became common practice. The EAC charter was modified twice, adding ultrasound-based elastography data as probable and definitive criteria for diagnosis of cirrhosis. However, the EAC did not retrospectively re-evaluate cirrhosis events that were previously assessed as "unable to adjudicate" because the technology was not used consistently before the charter amendment.

**Deaths:** The EAC assigned a primary cause of death to events with more than one investigator-reported cause and, to the extent permitted by supporting data, a primary cause

of death to events reported with an "unknown" cause. Most death reports were submitted with source documents, e.g. hospital discharge summaries and/or death certificates, allowing the EAC to affirm the death and assess the primary cause. However, some deaths were reported only with the death CRF and lacked source documents. Most such cases were reported by Asian sites, and the absence of source documents was often related to the death occurring at an outlying medical facility, where the investigator lacked attending privileges. In such cases, investigators were asked to verify the death in writing and, where possible, provide the most likely cause.

**Non-HCC malignancy events:** Some events of non-HCC malignancies were reported with general cancer diagnoses, even when supporting pathology reports allowed greater specificity regarding tumor type. To enhance the accuracy of data capture and analyses for these events, the EAC oncology chair and subcommittee members were trained on MedDRA coding of malignant and premalignant tumors. Heightened attention to investigator-reported diagnoses versus those on pathology reports and other source documents was reinforced. Secondarily, the sponsor independently reviewed investigator reports and adjudicated tumor diagnoses prior to addition to the study database. The EAC oncology chair was asked to reassess cases of concern, particularly histology data, and amend adjudicated diagnoses where appropriate.

#### Results

#### Patient disposition

Among the 12,485 randomized patients, 6216 and 6162 initiated treatment with ETV or a non-ETV nuc, respectively (Fig. 2).<sup>15</sup> Patients continued their randomly assigned treatment prior to switching to an alternate HBV treatment for a median 98.7 months (range: 0-114.4) with ETV or 94.0 months (range: 0-113.1) with a non-ETV NUC; median cumulative duration of either HBV therapy was 99.1 and 96.7 months, respectively. The results of the REALM study have been published elsewhere, and revealed no significant differences in clinical endpoints between ETV and non-ETV nucleos (t)ide analogue treatment, and virologic response independent of treatment group was associated with a reduced risk of liver-related HBV disease progression (hazard ratio (HR): 0.09, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.038-0.221) and HCC (HR: 0.03, 95% CI: 0.009-0.113).<sup>24</sup>

#### **COE** outcomes

EAC-reviewed and -adjudicated COEs of liver-related HBV disease progression (HCC, non-HCC HBV disease progression, or liver-related death) were reported in 442 patients (7.1%) in the ETV group and 464 patients (7.5%) in the non-ETV group (Table 1).

Overall, 504 patients died, 502 of whom received an EACadjudicated diagnosis regarding cause of death; two events were assessed as unable to adjudicate due to lack of data verifying the death. Among these 502 patients, 328 (65%) were adjudicated with cause of death as reported by the investigator, and the remaining 174 (35%) were determined to have an alternate cause of death (Table 2). The most common causes of death in the ETV and non-ETV groups, respectively, were HCC (n=43 and 69), liver-related conditions (n=46 and 48), and non-HCC malignancies (n=17 and 15). Among the 179 adjudicated deaths with discrepant diagnoses between the reporting investigator and the EAC, most often the cause of death was reported as being due to a specific event such as HCC (n=66), a liver-related condition (n=30) or a malignancy (n=12) but was adjudicated as unknown due to inadequate evidence. The EAC adjudicated a specific cause of death for 6 patients with a reported unknown cause.

Among the 606 EAC-reviewed HCC events, 504 were adjudicated as HCC. One event was adjudicated as preexisting; none were assessed with an alternate diagnosis. The EAC could not adjudicate 104 HCC events, predominantly due to inadequate case documentation. The EAC pursued various avenues to limit the number of HCC events assessed as unable to adjudicate. All HCC reports reviewed by the EAC after the 2014 charter amendment were assessed using the revised criteria for HCC diagnosis. In addition, using the revised diagnostic criteria, the EAC reassessed 31 previous HCC events that could not be adjudicated because only a single imaging study had been conducted; four (13%) were reassessed as meeting criteria for HCC.

The EAC reviewed 404 investigator-reported events of non-HCC HBV disease progression, 202 in each treatment group. Among these, 283/404 were adjudicated as a new event of disease progression, either as reported (n=175), as reported with a modified date of diagnosis (n=78), or with the disease progression manifestation changed (n=28). Of the remaining 124/404 events, 29 were adjudicated as pre-existing (most commonly events of cirrhosis or ascites), 3 received an alternate diagnosis, and 92 were assessed as unable to adjudicate due to inability to satisfy EAC diagnostic criteria.

The EAC reviewed 200 events of non-HCC malignancy. Among these, 145 were adjudicated as reported, or as reported but with an alternate diagnosis date. Thirty-one were adjudicated with an alternate diagnosis of non-HCC malignancy, providing greater specificity regarding tumor type. One was adjudicated as an alternate event (endometrial hyperplasia), and the remaining twenty-three were assessed as unable to adjudicate due to inability to satisfy EAC diagnostic criteria. All reported non-HCC malignancies assessed as unable to adjudicate lacked histologic data or other means for confirming the reported diagnosis.

Concordance between investigator and EAC assessments of HBV-associated COEs was high overall (85.0%; 1465/1724 COEs). However, concordance varied substantially by COE type. Concordance was highest for deaths (99.6% agreement; 502/504 COEs), followed by non-HCC malignancies (88.0% agreement; 176/200 COEs), HCC (83.3% agreement; 504/605 COEs), and non-HCC HBV disease progression (68.2% agreement; 283/415 COEs). In addition, EAC adjudication resulted in modification of the COE (e.g., hepatic decompensation), COE manifestation (e.g., ascites), and/or COE diagnosis date in 26.7% cases (461/1724 COEs).

#### Discussion

This is the first prospective observational cohort study of CHB therapy that has employed an EAC to affirm study endpoints. The standardized adjudication process was custom-tailored to meet the challenging aspects of study design. These include the diverse clinical outcomes assessed, the global scope that involved 24 countries and 299 sites in the Americas, Europe and Asia-Pacific, a large cohort of approximately 12,500 patients, and a long (10-year) study duration.



Fig. 2. Patient disposition. The flow of patients through the study is shown. Outcome analyses were based on all patients who were randomized and treated. Reasons for not completing the study are shown for each treatment group; discontinuations for administrative reasons were due primarily to early site closures associated with site conduct issues, dissolution of site ethics committees, or related issues.

Abbreviations: ETV, entecavir; HBV, hepatitis B virus; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; NUC, nucleos(t)ide analogue.

The sponsor and CRO worked closely with the EAC to establish operational and administrative processes in accordance with the EAC charter, and to ensure that the EAC was provided with the means to perform its role efficiently. Despite the long study duration, attrition of EAC membership during the study was very limited.

The EAC reviewed and adjudicated cases independently of the sponsor and remained blinded to treatment-specific results throughout the study. The sponsor performed annual data assessments to share interim results of adjudicated COEs with the EAC, the data monitoring committee, and regulatory authorities; however, these interim assessments were based on pooled treatment results and study blinding was maintained.

EAC participation in clinical studies is well established in other fields, particularly cardiovascular medicine,<sup>17–21</sup> to promote consistency, objectivity, accuracy, and reliability of study outcomes. This is accomplished through standardized application of prespecified clinical event definitions that reflect best evidence from published literature and consensus among expert physicians, medical societies, and regulators. Event adjudication may also contribute to patient protection through collection of safety data used by oversight committees and regulatory agencies in real-time clinical event monitoring.

However, event adjudication is resource-intensive, timeconsuming, and potentially subject to bias. To promote consistency and accuracy of event adjudication, the REALM EAC applied several strategies representing best practice that may support future observational cohort studies of CHB infection. The most pertinent challenges faced in the adjudication experience, the measures employed to address these challenges, and lessons learned are summarized below.

#### **Optimizing efficiency**

As the study progressed, substantial differences between sites were observed in the quality and availability of primary data needed for COE adjudication. To address this issue, standardized DRFs for each COE category and category

#### Table 1. Summary of EAC-reviewed COEs

EAC-reviewed COEs, number of patients	ETV, <i>N</i> =6216	Non-ETV, <i>N</i> =6162
Deaths	240	264
Liver-related	46	48
НСС	290	316
Non-HCC malignant neoplasms	109	91
Non-HCC HBV disease progression	202	202

Abbreviations: COE, clinical outcome event; EAC, event adjudication committee; ETV, entecavir; HBV, hepatitis B virus; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma.

subtype were used to obtain additional data deemed critical for EAC adjudication. This element of the adjudication process enhanced the quality and efficiency of EAC case review and limited the need for additional site queries. Guidance in the application of COE criteria and event reporting were made available to investigators, and study coordinators made more frequent visits to sites where data collection was problematic.

The large volume of study data presented logistical challenges associated with acquisition and distribution of documents for EAC review, assessment, and documentation. These challenges were addressed through the rigorous, step-wise EAC process established for COE reporting, source document submissions, data querying and retrieval of responses, and use of adjudication CRFs specific to each COE type. A secure web-based portal provided efficient storage and recall of COE documentation. Through the portal, EAC members accessed event-related documents and COE case packets for review, and EAC chairs filed completed adjudication CRFs.

Adjudication efficiency was enhanced by periodic assessment to ensure adequate EAC membership and appropriate distribution of case assignments across the EAC, including hepatology and oncology experts. Although oncologists were initially responsible primarily for reviewing reported non-HCC malignancies and malignancy-related deaths, as the case load increased, the oncologists also assumed shared responsibility with hepatologists for reviewing HCC events.

#### Assignment of adjudicated diagnoses

Event adjudication entailed determining the diagnosis and the date of diagnosis of investigator-reported events, and assessment of whether reported cases met EAC charter-defined COE criteria. Investigator-reported dates of diagnosis were verified by primary review of radiographic, laboratory, and other source documents from the REALM database.

Due to international enrollment (299 site investigators, 24 countries, 4 continents), the committee faced challenges in resolving significant geographic variability in language, clinical practice standards, and definitions of liver-related events. The rigorous assembly of COE-related information, using standardized DRFs for COE category and type, and adherence to EAC charter-defined criteria for COEs facilitated report consistency. Furthermore, international representation in the composition of the EAC helped promote consistency in event adjudication across global regions.

Table 2. Summary of COE reviews by the EAC in the REALM study

	ETV,	Non-ETV,
Patients with events, <i>n</i> (%)	N=6216	N=6162
Reported deaths	240 (4)	264 (4)
EAC reviewed	240 (4)	264 (4)
Adjudicated as death	238 (4)	264 (4)
Adjudicated as reported	156 (3)	169 (3)
Adjudicated as reported with alternative diagnosis date	0	3 (<0.1)
Adjudicated with alternate diagnosis	82 (1)	92 (1)
Unable to adjudicate	2 (<1)	0
Reported HCC events	289 (5)	316 (5)
EAC reviewed	290 (5)	316 (5)
Adjudicated as HCC	241 (4)	263 (4)
Adjudicated as reported	122 (2)	146 (2)
Adjudicated as reported with alternative diagnosis date	119 (2)	117 (2)
Adjudicated with alternate diagnosis	1 (<1)	
Unable to adjudicate	51 (1)	53 (1)
Pre-existing events	0	1 (<1)
Reported non-HCC malignant neoplasm events	109 (2)	91 (1)
EAC reviewed	109 (2)	91 (1)
Adjudicated as non-HCC malignant neoplasm	95 (2)	81 (1)
Adjudicated as reported	35 (1)	24 (<1)
Adjudicated as reported with alternative diagnosis date	48 (1)	38 (1)
Adjudicated with alternative diagnosis	12 (<1)	19 (<1)
Adjudicated as alternate event	1 (<1)	0
Unable to adjudicate	13 (<1)	10 (<1)
Reported non-HCC events of HBV disease progression	208 (3)	207 (3)
EAC reviewed	202 (3)	202 (3)
Adjudicated as non-HCC events of HBV disease progression	137 (2)	146 (2)
Adjudicated as reported	87 (1)	88 (1)
Adjudicated as reported with alternative diagnosis date	34 (1)	44 (1)
Adjudicated as reported with alternative disease progression manifestation	16(<1)	12 (<1)
Adjudicated with alternate diagnosis	0	3 (<1)
Pre-existing events	21 (<1)	8 (<1)
Unable to adjudicate	44 (1)	48 (1)

EAC reviewed events were reviewed by two EAC members, as described in the Methods. Adjudicated events were those that had adequate supporting information to permit an adjudicated decision by the committee.

Abbreviations: COE, clinical outcome event; EAC, event adjudication committee; ETV, entecavir; HBV, hepatitis B virus; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma.

Lim J.K. et al: Clinical event adjudication for HBV

#### Event capture and prespecified data analyses

Data analyses rely heavily on the quality and consistency of source data. In this study, primary and key secondary endpoint analyses were based on adjudicated COE data; hence, minimizing the number of unadjudicated events was critical. After initial establishment of diagnostic criteria, adjustments were implemented to address subsequent changes that emerged in clinical practice guidelines, diagnostic testing, and treatment over the 10-year study period. Ultimately, the EAC charter was amended only twice, to incorporate new guideline criteria for HCC diagnosis and add ultrasound-based elastography to diagnostic criteria for cirrhosis. EAC reassessment of cases following charter updates ensured uniform application of charter criteria across time.

Adjudicating cause of death was the situation that most frequently required full-committee discussion to resolve discordant reviews. Inadequate hospital documentation was a frequent source of uncertainty, particularly in regions where death certificates were not regularly available. In addition, in patients with cirrhosis and HCC, distinguishing liver-related death from HCC-related death required careful evaluation of primary documents to assess primary contributing factors to fatality. For example, a fatal variceal hemorrhage associated with portal hypertension, although generally liver-related, could be adjudicated as HCC-related if malignant invasion of the portal vein was documented. Furthermore, the EAC would request primary medical documents for subjects preceding study enrollment to distinguish clinical events as pre-existing, recurrent, or new.

As described in Methods, a secondary, independent review process was implemented to ensure that adjudicated diagnoses of non-HCC malignancies were as specific as possible, based on supporting pathology data. Of the 176 reported non-HCC malignancies that were adjudicated as a non-HCC malignancy (ETV: n=95; non-ETV: n=81), 31 of these events (ETV: n=12; non-ETV: n=19) were assigned an alternate tumor diagnosis by the EAC. In all cases, this was based on selection by the reviewing EAC oncologist of a more specific tumor diagnosis regarding the organ site and/or tissue diagnosis.

Maintaining consistency in COE adjudication over the duration of the study was essential. Monthly teleconferences and annual face-to-face meetings supported regular engagement of EAC members and minimized turnover. The teleconferences provided a live record of adjudication decisions and approach, and helped to promote homogeneity of the adjudication process over time. The EAC charter, adjudication process, and committee performance was reviewed annually.

The relatively frequent modifications of some categories of investigator-reported COEs demonstrate the impact of external adjudication on endpoint assessment in observational cohort studies. Most differences between investigator and EAC assessments of death were related to inadequate documentation to support investigator conclusions regarding cause of death. In contrast, discrepancies regarding HCC, non-HCC malignant neoplasms, and non-HCC events of HBV disease progression were more commonly related to preexisting diagnoses, alternative dates of diagnosis, unacceptable diagnostic methods, or alternative disease progression manifestations.

In summary, if supported by an effective administrative infrastructure, EACs can enhance the consistency and validity of clinical outcome assessment and strengthen regulatory review of therapeutic interventions in liver disease. The REALM study represents possibly the first application of EAC adjudication in HBV therapeutic research, and is unique due to its large cohort, geographic scope, outcome assessments bridging hepatology and oncology, and long-term follow-up over 10 years. The challenges and accomplishments of this EAC may provide useful insights for future cohort studies in liver disease.

#### Acknowledgments

Editorial support was provided by R Boehme of Articulate Science and funded by Bristol-Myers Squibb. Operational and pharmacovigilance support was provided by Pharmaceutical Product Development (PPD), LLC.

#### Funding

This study was funded by Bristol-Myers Squibb, which designed the study, conducted statistical analyses, and provided financial support for the study.

#### **Conflict of interest**

JKL, CMV, and SM have received research support, consulting fees, and/or personal fees from Bristol-Myers Squibb and Gilead. PM has received research support and consulting fees from AbbVie, Gilead, and Merck. TN and EC are employees of the sponsor, Bristol-Myers Squibb. AYC, AZ, MK, JMF, and VN report no conflicts. The other authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Study concept and design, analysis and interpretation of data, drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content (JKL). Study concept and design, analysis and interpretation of data, critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content (AYC, AZ, PM, CMF, MF, SR, JFM, TN, EC, VN). Study concept and design, analysis and interpretation of data, drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content intellectual content, study supervision (LC).

#### References

- Kowdley KV, Wang CC, Welch S, Roberts H, Brosgart CL. Prevalence of chronic hepatitis B among foreign-born persons living in the United States by country of origin. Hepatology 2012;56:422–433. doi: 10.1002/hep. 24804.
- [2] Ott JJ, Stevens GA, Groeger J, Wiersma ST. Global epidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection: new estimates of age-specific HBsAg seroprevalence and endemicity. Vaccine 2012;30:2212–2219. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.12. 116.
- [3] Stanaway JD, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, Fitzmaurice C, Vos T, Abubakar I, et al. The global burden of viral hepatitis from 1990 to 2013: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2016;388:1081–1088. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30579-7.
- [4] Liaw YF, Sung JJ, Chow WC, Farrell G, Lee CZ, Yuen H, et al. Lamivudine for patients with chronic hepatitis B and advanced liver disease. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1521–1531. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa033364.
- [5] Marcellin P, Gane E, Buti M, Afdhal N, Sievert W, Jacobson IM, et al. Regression of cirrhosis during treatment with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate for chronic hepatitis B: a 5-year open-label follow-up study. Lancet 2013;381: 468–475. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61425-1.
- [6] Yue-Meng W, Li YH, Wu HM, Yang J, Xu Y, Yang LH, et al. Telbivudine versus lamivudine and entecavir for treatment-naïve decompensated hepatitis B

#### Lim J.K. et al: Clinical event adjudication for HBV

virus-related cirrhosis. Clin Exp Med 2017;17:233-241. doi: 10. 1007/s10238-016-0420-7.

- [7] Sherman M, Yurdaydin C, Sollano J, Silva M, Liaw YF, Cianciara J, et al. Entecavir for treatment of lamivudine-refractory, HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis B. Gastroenterology 2006;130:2039–2049. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006. 04.007.
- [8] Chang TT, Gish RG, de Man R, Gadano A, Sollano J, Chao YC, et al. A comparison of entecavir and lamivudine for HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis B. N Engl J Med 2006;354:1001–1010. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa051285.
- [9] Lai CL, Shouval D, Lok AS, Chang TT, Cheinquer H, Goodman Z, et al. Entecavir versus lamivudine for patients with HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B. N Engl J Med 2006;354:1011–1020. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa051287.
- [10] Chang TT, Liaw YF, Wu SS, Schiff E, Han KH, Lai CL, et al. Long-term entecavir therapy results in the reversal of fibrosis/cirrhosis and continued histological improvement in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology 2010;52:886– 893. doi: 10.1002/hep.23785.
- [11] Papatheodoridis GV, Idilman R, Dalekos GN, Buti M, Chi H, van Boemmel F, et al. The risk of hepatocellular carcinoma decreases after the first 5 years of entecavir or tenofovir in Caucasians with chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology 2017;66:1444–1453. doi: 10.1002/hep.29320.
- [12] Tenney DJ, Rose RE, Baldick CJ, Pokornowski KA, Eggers BJ, Fang J, et al. Long-term monitoring shows hepatitis B virus resistance to entecavir in nucleoside-naïve patients is rare through 5 years of therapy. Hepatology 2009;49:1503–1514. doi: 10.1002/hep.22841.
- [13] Chang TT, Lai CL, Kew Yoon S, Lee SS, Coelho HS, Carrilho FJ, *et al*. Entecavir treatment for up to 5 years in patients with hepatitis B e antigen-positive chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology 2010;51:422–430. doi: 10.1002/hep. 23327.
- [14] Baraclude<sup>®</sup> (entecavir) US. Prescribing Information. Available from: https: //packageinserts.bms.com/pi/pi\_baraclude.pdf.
- [15] Hou JL, Zhao W, Lee CH, Hann HW, Peng CY, Tanwandee T, et al. Prospective, randomized assessment of HBV-associated and other clinical outcome events during long-term therapy with entecavir or other HBV nucleos(t)ide analogues in patients with chronic HBV infection. Hepatology 2017;66: 12A-13A.

- [16] Hou JL, Jia JD, Wei L, Zhao W, Wang YM, Cheng M, et al. Efficacy and safety of entecavir treatment in a heterogeneous CHB population from a 'real-world' clinical practice setting in China. J Viral Hepat 2013;20:811–820. doi: 10. 1111/jvh.12115.
- [17] Farb A, Zuckerman BD. Clinical event adjudication in cardiovascular device trials: An Food and Drug Administration perspective. Am Heart J 2017;191: 62–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2017.05.010.
- [18] Mahaffey KW, Harrington RA, Akkerhuis M, Kleiman NS, Berdan LG, Crenshaw BS, *et al.* Systematic adjudication of myocardial infarction end-points in an international clinical trial. Curr Control Trials Cardiovasc Med 2001;2: 180–186. doi: 10.1186/cvm-2-4-180.
- [19] Mahaffey KW, Held C, Wojdyla DM, James SK, Katus HA, Husted S, et al. Ticagrelor effects on myocardial infarction and the impact of event adjudication in the PLATO (Platelet Inhibition and Patient Outcomes) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;63:1493–1499. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.01.038.
- [20] Popma CJ, Sheng S, Korjian S, Daaboul Y, Chi G, Tricoci P, et al. Lack of concordance between local investigators, angiographic core laboratory, and clinical event committee in the assessment of stent thrombosis: Results from the TRACER angiographic substudy. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2016;9:e003114. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.115.003114.
- [21] Seltzer JH, Heise T, Carson P, Canos D, Hiatt JC, Vranckx P, et al. Use of endpoint adjudication to improve the quality and validity of endpoint assessment for medical device development and post marketing evaluation: Rationale and best practices. A report from the cardiac safety research consortium. Am Heart J 2017;190:76–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2017.05.009.
- [22] Bruix J, Sherman M. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma: an update. Hepatology 2011;53:1020–1022. doi: 10.1002/hep.24199.
- [23] Bruix J, Sherman M. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2005;42:1208–1236. doi: 10.1002/hep.20933.
- [24] Hou JL, Zhao W, Lee C, Hann HW, Peng CY, Tanwandee T, et al. Outcomes of long-term treatment of chronic HBV infection with entecavir or other agents from a randomized trial in 24 countries. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020;18: 457–467.e21. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.07.010.

## Long-term Outcome of Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Infusion in Cirrhosis: Waning Effect over Time

Mithun Sharma<sup>\*1</sup>, Anand Kulkarni<sup>1</sup>, Mitnala Sasikala<sup>2</sup>, Pramod Kumar<sup>1</sup>, Shasidhar Jaggaiahgari<sup>2</sup>, Kumar Pondugala<sup>2</sup>, Ganesh Jaishetwar<sup>3</sup>, Santosh Darisetty<sup>1</sup>, Nitin Jagtap<sup>1</sup>, Rajesh Gupta<sup>1</sup>, Jagadeesh Rampal Singh<sup>1</sup>, Syeda Fatima<sup>1</sup>, Padaki Nagaraja Rao<sup>1</sup>, Guduru Venkat Rao<sup>1</sup> and Duvurr Nageshwar Reddy<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Asian Institute of Gastroenterology, Hyderabad, India; <sup>2</sup>Asian Healthcare Foundation, Hyderabad, India; <sup>3</sup>Yashoda Hospital, Hyderabad, India

#### Abstract

Background and Aims: Long-term data on cell-based therapies, including hematopoietic stem cell infusion in cirrhosis, are sparse and lacking. Methods: Patients with cirrhosis of non-viral etiology received either standard-of-care (n = 23) or autologous CD34+ cell infusion through the hepatic artery (n = 22). Study patients received granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (commonly known as G-CSF) injections at 520  $\mu$ gm per day for 3 days, followed by leukapheresis and CD34+ cell infusion into the hepatic artery. The Control group received standard-of-care treatment. Results: Mean CD34+ cell count on the third day of G-CSF injection was 27.00  $\pm$  20.43 cells/µL 81.84  $\pm$  11.99 viability and purity of 80-90%. Significant improvement in the model of endstage liver disease (commonly known as MELD) score  $(15.75 \pm 5.13 \text{ vs.} 19.94 \pm 6.68, p = 0.04)$  was noted at end of 3 months and 1 year ( $15.5 \pm 5.3$  vs.  $19.8 \pm 6.4$ , p =0.04) but was not statistically different at end of the second  $(17.2 \pm 5.5 \text{ vs. } 20.3 \pm 6.8, p = 0.17)$  and third-year  $(18.4 \pm 10.12)$ 6.1 vs. 21.3  $\pm$  6.4, p = 0.25). No difference in mortality (6/23 vs. 5/23) was noted. Conclusions: Autologous CD34+ cell infusion effectively improved liver function and MELD score up to 1 year but the sustained benefit was not maintained at the end of 3 years, possibly due to ongoing progression of the underlying disease.

**Citation of this article:** Sharma M, Kulkarni A, Sasikala M, Kumar P, Jaggaiahgari S, Pondugala K, *et al.* Long-term outcome of autologous hematopoietic stem cell infusion in cirrhosis: Waning effect over time. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):385–390. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00052.

#### Introduction

The rising incidence of chronic liver disease (CLD) has increased the need for liver transplantation. The unmet need has resulted in numerous studies targeting the regenerative potential of the liver as an alternative or as a bridge to liver transplantation.<sup>1,2</sup> Stem cells are cells that reside in the human niche and have an intrinsic ability of self-renewal, but they maintain their undifferentiated state and have potency to transform into specialized cells, like hepatocytes.<sup>3</sup>

The capacity of the liver to regenerate can be traced back to the two Greek mythological characters, Tityus and Prometheus, who were both banished to the mountains to suffer and die. In mythology, a vulture used to come and feed on their livers, only to find that the liver regenerated the next day and thereby giving the first documentation of the regenerative potential of the liver.<sup>4,5</sup> The demonstration that hepatic oval cells can regenerate was shown biologically by hepatocyte proliferation in rats.<sup>6</sup>

Human studies using hematopoietic stem cells identified a subset of CD34+ cells, which have the potential to differentiate into liver cells. These CD34+ cells were identified based on their distinct appearance, immunophenotype, and gene expression. For proof of concept, safety study was first conducted with five patients, opening the doors for further research in this field.<sup>7</sup> After that, numerous studies have looked into the short-term outcome of infusion of hematopoietic or mesenchymal stem cells in patients with cirrhosis of the liver.<sup>8–10</sup> However, the route by which stem cells were infused, the method of calculation of the dose of cells, and the stage of liver cirrhosis when these cells were infused were heterogeneous. Studies using granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) alone to mobilize hematopoietic stem cells from bone marrow to the liver have shown an increased number of CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells in the liver tissue in a paired-biopsy study, thereby suggesting that there is a definite increase in the number of stem cells in the liver following mobilization.<sup>11</sup> Whether mere mobilization of the cells is enough or whether the separation of specific stem cells is required along with direct infusion into the target organ (liver) would yield better results is a matter of debate.

Our previous study with autologous hematopoietic stem cell infusion through the hepatic artery showed significant



**Keywords:** Stem cells; Cirrhosis; Hepatic artery; Bridge to liver transplantation. **Abbreviations:** ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; CD, cluster of differentiation; CLD, chronic liver disease; DDLT, deceased donor liver transplantation; G-CSF, granulocyte colony stimulating factor; GMP, Good Medical Practice; HBA1C, glycosylated hemoglobin; INR, international normalized ratio; LDLT, living donor liver transplantation; MELD, model for end-stage liver disease.

Received: 5 June 2020; Revised: 2 September 2020; Accepted: 27 September 2020

<sup>\*</sup>**Correspondence to:** Dr. Mithun Sharma, Hepatology, and Liver Transplantation, Asian Institute of Gastroenterology, Hyderabad, India. Tel: +91-4042342234, Fax: +91-4042342334, E-mail: drmithunsharma@gmail.com

short-term improvement in model for end-stage disease (MELD) score, serum albumin, and serum creatinine. These benefits were noticed at the beginning of the first month after autologous CD34+ cell infusion and were maintained at 3 and 6 months.<sup>12</sup>

Here, we present the long-term data of the same cohort of patients who underwent autologous hematopoietic stem cell infusion and were followed up for 3 years.

#### **Methods**

Patients with decompensated cirrhosis of the liver having a non-viral etiology, who attended the Liver Clinic of our institute, were screened for eligibility to be enrolled in the study. The screening was carried out between June 2012 and July 2013, and those patients with a MELD score of greater than 14 or a score of greater than 10 with evidence of ascites or hepatic encephalopathy were counseled to undergo liver transplantation. A significant proportion of patients were not willing to undergo transplantation, either due to financial constraints, lack of donor, or a combination of both. These patients were provided an explanation about stem cells and counselled that by enrolment in the study, there may be a beneficial effect on the natural history of their disease. The experimental nature of this modality of treatment was explained in detail, including the concept that they may not benefit at all from this study. Those patients who agreed to be a part of the study were enrolled in the study group. The remaining patients who were willing only to receive deceased donor liver transplantation (DDLT) were included in the liver transplantation waiting list for DDLT and registered with the centralized organ allocation authority of the state. These patients were considered as the control group in the study. A small number of patients who had a first degree-related liver donor underwent liver transplantation. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board, Institutional Ethics Committee and the Institutional Committee of Stem Cell Research, and informed written consent was obtained from all patients.

#### Inclusion criteria

- Adult patients between 18 to 70 years of age with a MELD score of >14 and with no donor or finance for immediate liver transplantation within in the next 3 months;
- ii. A MELD score-based life expectancy of at least 3 months;
- iii. Ability to give written informed consent.

#### Exclusion criteria

- i. Any patient with hepatocellular carcinoma or any other malignancy within the last 5 years;
- ii. Presence of ongoing infections, including retroviral, hepatitis B or hepatitis C;
- iii. Co-existent cardiac and/or pulmonary co-morbidities related or unrelated to liver cirrhosis;
- Recent history of upper or lower gastrointestinal bleeding, acute kidney injury or hepatorenal syndrome with the last month;
- Main portal vein thrombosis, either partial or complete, on cross-sectional imaging;
- vi. Patients with a manual platelet count below 50,000/mm<sup>3</sup>;
- vii. Any patient with pregnancy or lactating mothers.

#### Control group

Patients between 18-70 years, who were enrolled in the waiting list for DDLT during the study period. Informed consent also was taken from all participants in the control group.

All the patients underwent liver protocol investigations, which included complete hemogram, kidney and liver function tests, serum alpha-fetoprotein, coagulation profile, Dopplerultrasonography of the whole abdomen, and contrastenhanced computed tomography scan along with quantitative estimation of hepatitis B DNA and hepatitis C RNA. Serology tests for syphilis, herpes simplex virus, and cytomegalovirus were conducted, as per protocol. The control group patients were investigated and treated with standard-of-care treatment for liver cirrhosis, which included diuretics, lactulose, beta-blockers, and low salt (<2 g of sodium chloride) and high-protein diet.

The study was approved by the Asian Institute of Gastroenterology Institutional Review Board, Asian Institute of Gastroenterology Ethics Committee, and the Institutional Committee of Stem cell Research, which was registered with the National Apex Committee for stem cell research in India. The study was registered with the clinical trial registry of India (CTRI/2017/11/010429).

#### Methodology

Study group patients received G-CSF at 520 µg/day (Neupogen, Filgrastim, Roche) for 3 consecutive days, in an effort to mobilize the hematopoietic stem cells' bone marrow niche to the peripheral circulation. Serial monitoring of complete blood counts was carried out, along with liver and kidney function tests. Doppler ultrasonography of the abdomen was done on the third day. Any adverse effects due to administration of G-CSF, like fever, symptomatic increase in spleen size and sepsis, were documented and reported. The estimation of serum CD34+ cells was measured daily and 1 h before leukapheresis. A predefined level of greater than 2 cells/ $\mu$ L was achieved. For leukapheresis, a central line was secured, and 1 h after the third dose of G-CSF, the patient was moved to the phlebotomy unit. Leukapheresis, under the supervision of a hematologist, was done using an MCS-3P magnetic cell separator (Hemaneics, USA). The amount of peripheral blood collected after leukapheresis varied between 30 mL to 60 mL. Side effects related to leukapheresis, like hypotension, tachycardia, shortness of breath, etc., were documented, and corrective measures were taken as per standard operating procedures. The leukapheresis product underwent mononuclear cell isolation in a cleanroom in a Good Medical Practice (commonly known as GMP)-certified laboratory of the institute.

Hi-Sep method (HiSep LSM1077, LS001; Himedia Laboratories, India) was used for mono-nuclear cell isolation, with washing with phosphate buffered saline and diluting with CliniMACS buffer (Miltenyi Biotech, GmbH, Germany). These cells underwent centrifugation and incubation with CD34<sup>+</sup> labeled monoclonal antibodies microbeads (MACS; Miltenyi Biotech) for 30 m. CliniMACS buffer was used to wash these cells, which were then processed in a CliniMACs cell separator. A high-gradient magnetic field was used to separate the CD34 + cells. The cell adequacy was calculated, and viability of the cells was assessed using the trypan blue dye exclusion method. Cell viability was higher than 80% in all cases.
Sharma M. et al: Stem cell in liver disease: Long-term outcome

Flow cytometry was used to ascertain cell purity. The CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells were diluted with 10 mL of phosphate buffered saline supplemented with 2% human serum albumin and dispatched for use on the same day, within 1 h. The hepatic artery was catheterized through the femoral route under fluoroscopic guidance by the interventional radiologist and infused into the hepatic artery. The patients were observed overnight and discharged the subsequent day, after a screening Doppler ultrasonogram to rule-out hepatic artery thrombosis. Any procedure-related adverse effects, like pain (recorded by visual analog scale) or bleeding from the femoral catheterization site, etc., were noted.

### Follow-up visits of patients

Weekly follow-up of the patients was carried out through the first months, followed by quarterly evaluation for 1 year and then half-yearly assessment for the subsequent 3 years. During each follow-up visit, the patient underwent a complete hemogram, along with renal and liver function test, serum alpha-fetoprotein test, and Doppler ultrasonography of the abdomen. The presence or appearance of any new complaints was noted. As stem cells have a potential for carcinogenesis, any suspicious nodule or rise in alpha-fetoprotein was further evaluated by cross-sectional imaging to rule-out hepatocellular carcinoma. Worsening of ascites, need for large-volume paracentesis, evidence of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis late-onset or recurrent hepatic encephalopathy, an/or any gastrointestinal bleed was noted. Patients in the control arm underwent similar follow-up visits. For both groups, any emergency hospital visits, either to our center or any hospital locally, were noted.

### Statistical analysis

A comparison of the clinical and laboratory findings was performed at the end of 1 month, 3 months and 3 years, to assess the long-term outcome. All nominal values were expressed as mean with standard deviation and as median with range. Fisher's exact test was used for categorical variables, and a two-tailed *p*-value of <0.05 was considered to be significant. GraphPad software 2019 was used for this per-protocol statistical analysis.

### Results

One hundred patients were screened for eligibility to be enrolled in the study. The inclusion criteria were not met by 30 patients, while another 25 patients refused to participate in the study. Two patients in the study group underwent living donor liver transplantation (LDLT), as they were able to find a suitable donor. Another patient died due to hepatorenal syndrome, and one patient was lost to follow up in the initial 1-3 months period. Out of the 23 patients in the control arm (liver transplantation waiting list), there were no dropouts at the end of 1 month. However, between 1 and 3 months, two patients died due to sepsis and one due to hepatorenal syndrome. Another patient in the control group underwent DDLT, while two patients were lost to follow-up. In the initial data analysis that was published in 2015,<sup>12</sup> there were 17 and 18 patients in the control and study groups in the per-protocol analysis. These patients have now been followed up to the end of 3 years. During this extension period of the study, a total of 6/23 patients in the study group and 5/23 in the control group died due to complications of portal hypertension. Sepsis was the most common cause of death (four patients in both groups. Two patients in the study group and one patient in control died due to acute upper gastrointestinal bleed. Three patients in the control group underwent liver transplantation while on the waiting list, as shown in the consort diagram. During the follow-up of 3 years, two patients were lost to follow-up in the control group and one in the study group. So, in the final analysis at the end of 3 years, there were 13 patients in the study group and 12 in the control group.

In the control and study groups, at the beginning of the study, the cause of cirrhosis was cryptogenic in 18 (78.2%) and 16 (72.72%), and alcohol use disorder-related in 5 (21.7%) and 6 (27.27%) respectively. In the final analysis at the end of 3 years, there were 9/12 (75%) cryptogenic and 4/12 (25%) alcohol use disorder-related cirrhosis cases in the study group, and 8/12 (66.7%) and 4/12 (33.3%) respectively in the control arm.

There was no difference in the baseline characteristics at the initiation of the study, nor when the primary analysis was done at the end of 3 months nor at the end of the study at 2 years. The MELD score in both groups was similar. Median alcohol abstinence was 7 months (range, 5-11 months) in the control group. In comparison, it was 6 months (range, 4-12 months) in the study group, and all the patients maintained the alcohol abstinence during the study period. Seven patients in the control group and six in the study group had well-controlled type 2 diabetes mellitus [mean glycosylated hemoglobin (HBA1c): 6.45 (range, 5.3-8.3) and 6.63 (range, 5.1-9), respectively]. Ascites was present in 95.6% (n = 22) and 100% (n = 22) of patients in the control group and study group respectively. Patients with refractory ascites requiring therapeutic paracentesis for respiratory easement and impaired quality of life was 22.7% and 21.7% respectively in the study and control groups. Limitation of an increase in diuretic dose due to adverse effects was the cause of refractory ascites in all patients. Overt hepatic encephalopathy within the last 3 months before enrolment in the study was 26% (n = 6) and 7 (31.81%; n = 7) in the control and study groups respectively.

Baseline CD34+ cell count (cells/ $\mu$ L) before G-CSF administration was 2.3 ± 2.56 (mean ± standard deviation). Cell viability at baseline was 48.17 ± 23.95%. Peripheral CD34+ cell count measured on the third day after G-CSF infusion was 27.00 ± 20.43 (cells/ $\mu$ L), and the cell viability was improved to a value of 81.84 ± 11.99%. Cell purity varied between 80% and 90% among all patients. A minimum of 1 × 10<sup>6</sup> hematopoietic stem cells per kg dry body weight of the patient were infused through the hepatic artery.

### Results after CD34+ cell infusion

Primary endpoint analysis of the original published data revealed an increase in the mean serum albumin in the study group (2.83  $\pm$  0.36 vs. 2.43  $\pm$  0.42, p = 0.001), which was not maintained at the end of the first year but showed statistically significant improvement at the end of second year. This improvement seen between the first and second year was not maintained at the end of the third year, as shown in Figure 2 (Table 2) when compared with controls. Further, at 3 months, significant improvement in serum creatinine was noted in the study group (0.96  $\pm$  0.33 vs. 1.42  $\pm$  0.70, p = 0.01), which was not maintained at any other point

during the study period, as shown in Table 2. Serum bilirubin, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) did not show any significant differences. Platelet count and international normalized ratio (commonly referred to as INR) showed some improvement but did not reach statistical significance at any point in time. However, when these patients were followed-up for 3 years, there was no difference in the MELD score and mortality (6/23 vs. 5/23) between the two groups.

There was a significant improvement in the MELD score (15.75 ± 5.13 vs. 19.94 ± 6.68, p = 0.04) at the end of 3 months. When these patients were followed-up for 3 years, the improvement in MELD score was maintained at the end of 1 year (15.5 ± 5.3 vs. 19.8 ± 6.4, p = 0.04) but was not statistically different at the end of 2 years (17.2 ± 5.5 vs. 20.3 ± 6.8, p = 0.17) and upon final analysis at the end of the third year (18.4 ± 6.1 vs. 21.3 ± 6.4, p = 0.25). Though there was no difference in the mortality (6/23 vs. 5/23) between the two groups, the maximum number of deaths was three in each group, occurring between the second and third years.

The most frequent cause of death in both groups was sepsis, followed by one case of upper gastrointestinal bleeding. Patients in both the groups were regularly followed-up with screening endoscopy, and the need for endoscopic variceal ligation was similar in the two groups. No case of new-onset development of gastric varices was noted in our series. The incidence of hepatic encephalopathy was also not different between the two groups (study 3/12 vs. control 4/13).





Abbreviation: LTx: Liver transplantation.

### Sharma M. et al: Stem cell in liver disease: Long-term outcome





Abbreviation: MELD: Model for end-stage liver disease.

#### Discussion

Autologous CD34+ cell infusion is a minimally manipulated cellbased procedure that is safe and improves liver function in the short term, and has been suggested to serve as a bridge to liver transplantation.<sup>12</sup> But, all studies to date have published their outcomes at a maximum of up to the end of 3 to 6 months.<sup>13-15</sup> No studies have mentioned the long-term outcome of these patients after the end of the short study period.

A recent retrospective study that used peripheral mobilized stem cell infusion in patients with decompensated cirrhosis assessed a 5-year outcome. The study found that after propensity score matching, survival was significantly higher in patients receiving stem cell infusion (71.2% vs. 52.1%, p = 0.001) than in the control group.<sup>16</sup> The beneficial effect of this study, when compared with our research, could be due to the patient population having had a lower Child-Pugh score, and the majority of the patients being without ascites. So, it could be hypothesized that if stem cells are used early in the course of the natural history of cirrhosis, when the inflammatory milieu<sup>17</sup> of the liver is still less Sharma M. et al: Stem cell in liver disease: Long-term outcome

Parameter	Control group, $n = 23$	Study group, $n = 22$	p value
Age in years	47.35 ± 12.54	48.91 ± 9.25	0.62
Sex, Male:Female	20:3	16:6	0.072
Hemoglobin, g/dL	$9.29 \pm 1.86$	$9.15\pm1.60$	0.79
Platelet count, lakh/mm <sup>3</sup>	0.92 ± 0.27	$1.1 \pm 0.72$	0.24
Total bilirubin, mg/dL	4.78 ± 4.06	$3.55 \pm 2.12$	0.21
Albumin, mg/dL	$2.7\pm0.35$	$2.55 \pm 0.35$	0.16
INR	$1.72 \pm 0.53$	$1.80\pm0.52$	0.62
Serum creatinine, mg/dL	$1.08\pm0.38$	$1.02\pm0.29$	0.56
MELD score	18.73 ± 5.29	$18.28 \pm 3.50$	0.74

Table 1. Dasenne characteristics at recruitment of the control and study group	Table 1.	Baseline	characteristics a	at recruitment	of the c	ontrol and	study (	aroup
--	----------	----------	-------------------	----------------	----------	------------	---------	-------

Abbreviations: INR, international normalized ratio; MELD, model for end-stage liver disease.

Table 2. Results comparison at differen	t time points after autologous	hematopoietic stem cell infusion
---	--------------------------------	----------------------------------

Follow up parameter	Three months	One year	Two year	Three year
MELD score				
Study group	$15.75 \pm 5.13$	$15.75 \pm 5.13$	$17.2\pm5.5$	$18.4\pm6.1$
Control group	$19.94 \pm 6.68$	$19.8\pm6.4$	$20.3\pm6.8$	$\textbf{21.3} \pm \textbf{6.4}$
<i>p</i> -value	0.04	0.04	0.17	0.25
Albumin, mg/dL				
Study group	$2.83\pm0.36$	$2.7\pm0.7$	$\textbf{2.82} \pm \textbf{0.64}$	$\textbf{2.62} \pm \textbf{0.46}$
Control group	$\textbf{2.43} \pm \textbf{0.42}$	$2.4\pm0.52$	$\textbf{2.38} \pm \textbf{0.48}$	$\textbf{2.32} \pm \textbf{0.54}$
<i>p</i> -value	0.001	0.17	0.03	0.14
Creatinine, mg/dL				
Study group	$0.96\pm0.33$	$1.2\pm0.46$	$1.24\pm0.84$	$1.28\pm0.74$
Control group	$1.42\pm0.70$	$1.46\pm0.92$	$1.46 \pm 1.1$	$\textbf{1.39} \pm \textbf{0.98}$
<i>p</i> -value	0.01	0.42	0.461	0.78

hostile to the mobilized or infused stem cells, the regenerative power of the cells could be better. This theory needs to be validated in a prospective randomized trial with paired-biopsies taken pre- and post-stem cell infusion to document increase in the number of stem cells in the liver tissue. The study also did not record any adverse effect of stem cell infusion in the large cohort of patients.

Though initial isolated reports in stem cell studies have reported some adverse effects, like splenomegaly, splenic rupture, and hepatic artery thrombosis, multiple other studies, including randomized control trials, have not found any adverse effects on these patients. However, a multicenter study that did not see any improvement in MELD score and liver function when they compared peripheral CD133+ stem cell infusion mobilized by G-GSF compared to the group receiving G-CSF alone standard-of-care in compensated cirrhosis reported increased adverse effects.<sup>18</sup> The study also reported a significant worsening of ascites in the stem cell infusion group. As the majority of the patients were compensated, the development of ascites could have been a part of the natural history of cirrhosis, or a precipitating factor may be caused by acute-on-chronic liver failure, which was not addressed in the study. Besides, that study had used an infusion of stem cells through a peripheral vein and the percentage of the cells that reached the hepatic tissue remains unknown as there was no way the cells could be tracked. There was no paired biopsy to document homing-in of the stem cells.<sup>19</sup> Besides, as three doses of CD133+ hematopoietic stem cell infusion at a dose of 0.2  $\times$  10<sup>6</sup> cells per kg on days 5, 30 and 60, was used, as multiple infusions, then comparing the results and extrapolating the same to studies with single infusion and different dosing is not correct.<sup>20</sup>

Long-term outcomes of autologous stem cell infusion have been studied in another retrospective study, which involved 23 patients undergoing stem cell infusion. Though the overall mortality was less in the stem cell group (55.1 % vs. 73.9%), there was no significant difference found in the 10-year longterm survival rate (p > 0.05). There was also a higher incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in stem cell patients (47.8% vs. 21.7%, p < 0.05).<sup>21</sup> Though theoretically, there is a possibility of uncontrolled malignant proliferation of an aged stem cell niche,<sup>22</sup> the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in a 10-year period could develop as a part of the natural history. This needs further investigation, though a close watch on the development of hepatocellular carcinoma is always required following any cell-based therapy.<sup>23</sup>

Despite multiple studies, results with isolated hematopoietic stem cell or mesenchymal stem cell infusion in cirrhosis have not shown very promising long-term results. The questions of whether it is the wrong timing of injections or whether the cells get destroyed in the hepatic tissue have paved the way for ongoing study on the combination of mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells, as the former has an immunomodulatory effect<sup>24,25</sup> which can possibly benefit the higher regenerative potentials of the hematopoietic stem cells.

One of the drawbacks of this study was the lack of pairedbiopsies to demonstrate the homing-in of the stem cells or to demonstrate an increase in the number of CD34+ cells in the liver tissue. Unfortunately, there is no tracking system by which we can track these infused cells once they are injected. Since this was a long-term data study, multiple biopsies would have been needed at different times, which would have not been practical or feasible.

In conclusion, autologous hematopoietic stem cell infusion in patients with cirrhosis is still considered a safe procedure, despite isolated reports on safety. It is promising to serve as a bridge to liver transplantation. Since cirrhosis is an ongoing process, the answer to whether or not repeated infusions will help (the current evidence does not support it) requires further studies. Combination stem cell therapy or hepatic organoids and mini-liver development in laboratories contain a lot of promise.<sup>26,27</sup>

### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

### Funding

The study was funded by the Asian Healthcare Foundation and Asian Institute of Gastroenterology, Hyderabad, India.

#### **Author contributions**

Conceptualized and designed the study (MS, MiS, PNR, DNR), wrote the manuscript (MS, MiS), contributed to data collection, patient recruitment and follow-up (NJ, AK, PK, RG), involved in stem-cell harvesting and infusion (SJ, KP, SD, GJ), designed the figures (NJ, AK), analyzed the data (SF, PNR), critically reviewed and provided intellectual input to the paper (DNR, PNR, GVR, MS, MiS).

### References

- [1] De A, Kumari S, Singh A, Kaur A, Sharma R, Bhalla A, et al. Multiple cycles of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor increase survival times of patients with decompensated cirrhosis in a randomized trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.02.022.
- [2] Kwon YK, Etesami K, Genyk Y. Should living donor liver transplant selection be subject to the same restrictions as deceased donor transplant? Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2020;25:47–51. doi: 10.1097/MOT.000000000000728.
- [3] Alessandra S, Rossi L. Planarian stem cell heterogeneity. Adv Exp Med Biol 2019;1123:39–54. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-11096-3\_4.
- [4] Tiniakos DG, Kandilis A, Geller SA. Tityus: a forgotten myth of liver regeneration. J Hepatol 2010;53:357–361. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.02.032.
- [5] Chen TS, Chen PS. The myth of Prometheus and the liver. J R Soc Med 1994; 87:754–755.
- [6] Petersen BE, Goff JP, Greenberger JS, Michalopoulos GK. Hepatic oval cells express the hematopoietic stem cell marker Thy-1 in the rat. Hepatology 1998;27:433–445. doi: 10.1002/hep.510270218.
- [7] Gordon MY, Levicar N, Pai M, Bachellier P, Dimarakis I, Al-Allaf F, et al. Characterization and clinical application of human CD34+ stem/progenitor cell populations mobilized into the blood by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. Stem Cells 2006;24:1822–1830. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0629.

### Sharma M. et al: Stem cell in liver disease: Long-term outcome

- [8] Spahr L, Lambert JF, Rubbia-Brandt L, Chalandon Y, Frossard JL, Giostra E, et al. Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor induces proliferation of hepatic progenitors in alcoholic steatohepatitis: a randomized trial. Hepatology 2008; 48:221–229. doi: 10.1002/hep.22317.
- [9] Mohamadnejad M, Namiri M, Bagheri M, Hashemi SM, Ghanaati H, Zare Mehrjardi N, et al. Phase 1 human trial of autologous bone marrow-hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in patients with decompensated cirrhosis. World J Gastroenterol 2007;13:3359–3363. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i24.3359.
- [10] Pai M, Zacharoulis D, Milicevic MN, Helmy S, Jiao LR, Levicar N, et al. Autologous infusion of expanded mobilized adult bone marrow-derived CD34+ cells into patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2008; 103:1952–1958. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.01993.x.
- [11] Garg V, Garg H, Khan A, Trehanpati N, Kumar A, Sharma BC, et al. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor mobilizes CD34(+) cells and improves survival of patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. Gastroenterology 2012;142:505–512.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.11.027.
- [12] Sharma M, Rao PN, Sasikala M, Kuncharam MR, Reddy C, Gokak V, et al. Autologous mobilized peripheral blood CD34(+) cell infusion in non-viral decompensated liver cirrhosis. World J Gastroenterol 2015;21:7264–7271. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i23.7264.
- [13] Gupta H, Youn GS, Han SH, Shin MJ, Yoon SJ, Han DH, et al. Responserelated factors of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells transplantation in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis. J Clin Med 2019;8:862. doi: 10. 3390/jcm8060862.
- [14] Yu SJ, Yoon JH, Kim W, Lee JM, Lee YB, Cho Y, et al. Ultrasound-guided percutaneous portal transplantation of peripheral blood monocytes in patients with liver cirrhosis. Korean J Intern Med 2017;32:261–268. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2015.267.
- [15] Mohamadnejad M, Vosough M, Moossavi S, Nikfam S, Mardpour S, Akhlaghpoor S, et al. Intraportal infusion of bone marrow mononuclear or CD133+ cells in patients with decompensated cirrhosis: A double-blind randomized controlled trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 2016;5:87–94. doi: 10.5966/sctm. 2015-0004.
- [16] Guo C, Guo G, Zhou X, Chen Y, Han Z, Yang C, et al. Long-term outcomes of autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation in patients with cirrhosis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019;17:1175–1182.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh. 2018.10.034.
- [17] Monteiro S, Grandt J, Uschner FE, Kimer N, Madsen JL, Schierwagen R, et al. Differential inflammasome activation predisposes to acute-on-chronic liver failure in human and experimental cirrhosis with and without previous decompensation. Gut 2020. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-320170.
- [18] Newsome PN, Fox R, King AL, Barton D, Than NN, Moore J, et al. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and autologous CD133-positive stem-cell therapy in liver cirrhosis (REALISTIC): an open-label, randomised, controlled phase 2 trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;3:25–36. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(17)30326-6.
- [19] Noorwali A, Faidah M, Ahmed N, Bima A. Tracking iron oxide labelled mesenchymal stem cells(MSCs) using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in a rat model of hepatic cirrhosis. Bioinformation 2019;15:1–10. doi: 10. 6026/97320630015001.
- [20] Wu CX, Wang D, Cai Y, Luo AR, Sun H. Effect of autologous bone marrow stem cell therapy in patients with liver cirrhosis: A meta-analysis. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2019;7:238–248. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2019.00008.
- [21] Wang MF, Li YB, Gao XJ, Zhang HY, Lin S, Zhu YY. Efficacy and safety of autologous stem cell transplantation for decompensated liver cirrhosis: A retrospective cohort study. World J Stem Cells 2018;10:138–145. doi: 10. 4252/wjsc.v10.i10.138.
- [22] Henry CJ, Casás-Selves M, Kim J, Zaberezhnyy V, Aghili L, Daniel AE, et al. Aging-associated inflammation promotes selection for adaptive oncogenic events in B cell progenitors. J Clin Invest 2015;125:4666–4680. doi: 10. 1172/JCI83024.
- [23] Yakoub-Agha I, Mesnil F, Kuentz M, Boiron JM, Ifrah N, Milpied N, et al. Allogeneic marrow stem-cell transplantation from human leukocyte antigen-identical siblings versus human leukocyte antigen-allelic-matched unrelated donors (10/10) in patients with standard-risk hematologic malignancy: a prospective study from the French Society of Bone Marrow Transplantation and Cell Therapy. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:5695–5702. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.08.0952.
- [24] Hu C, Li L. The immunoregulation of mesenchymal stem cells plays a critical role in improving the prognosis of liver transplantation. J Transl Med 2019; 17:412. doi: 10.1186/s12967-019-02167-0.
- [25] Mardpour S, Hassani SN, Mardpour S, Sayahpour F, Vosough M, Ai J, et al. Extracellular vesicles derived from human embryonic stem cell-MSCs ameliorate cirrhosis in thioacetamide-induced chronic liver injury. J Cell Physiol 2018;233:9330–9344. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26413.
- [26] Huch M, Dorrell C, Boj SF, van Es JH, Li VS, van de Wetering M, et al. In vitro expansion of single Lgr5+ liver stem cells induced by Wnt-driven regeneration. Nature 2013;494:247–250. doi: 10.1038/nature11826.
- [27] Messina A, Luce E, Hussein M, Dubart-Kupperschmitt A. Pluripotent-stemcell-derived hepatic cells: Hepatocytes and organoids for liver therapy and regeneration. Cells 2020;9:420. doi: 10.3390/cells9020420.

### Hispanic Patients with Primary Biliary Cholangitis Have Decreased Access to Care Compared to Non-Hispanics

Atoosa Rabiee<sup>\*1</sup>, Nathalie A Pena Polanco<sup>2</sup>, Aymara Fernandez De La Vara<sup>3</sup> and Cynthia Levy<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, VA Medical Center, Washington DC, USA; <sup>2</sup>Divison of Digestive Health and Liver Diseases Department of Medicine University of Miami Miller School of Medicine USA; <sup>3</sup>Department of Medicine, Jackson Memorial Hospital, University of Miami, Miami, FL, USA

### Abstract

Background and Aims: Hispanic patients with primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) have reduced rates of biochemical response to ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) and increased risk of disease progression compared to non-Hispanic patients. In this study, we sought to identify differences in demographics, comorbidities, environmental risk factors and socioeconomic status between Hispanic and non-Hispanic patients with PBC. Methods: In a case control study, we analyzed data from Hispanic (n=37 females and 1 male) and non-Hispanic (n=54 females and 4 males) patients with PBC seen at the University of Miami/Jackson Memorial Hospital from January 1998 through January 2013. Data were obtained by filling out a questionnaire either via phone call, mail, or e-mail. Odds ratios were calculated to measure the association between exposure and outcomes. Results: Baseline demographics, environmental risk factors and comorbidities were similar between Hispanic and non-Hispanic patients with PBC. Hispanic patients were less likely to be married and fewer Hispanics had education beyond high school level compared to non-Hispanics. Sixty four percent of Hispanic patients had a household income of less than \$50000, compared to 19.5% of non-Hispanics. Fewer Hispanic patients with PBC had health insurance coverage compared to non-Hispanics (86.5% vs. 98.1%; odds ratio: 0.1, 95% confidence interval: 0-0.9). Conclusions: Differences in disease severity and response to therapy observed in prior studies could not be explained by environmental exposures. In addition to genetic variation, socioeconomic discrepancies (access to care) may further explain these differences.

**Citation of this article:** Rabiee A, Pena Polanco NA, De La Vara AF, Levy C. Hispanic patients with primary biliary cholangitis have decreased access to care compared to non-Hispanics. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):391–396. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00006.

### Introduction

Primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) is a chronic immune-mediated liver disease characterized by inflammation and progressive loss of small intrahepatic bile ducts, eventually leading to biliary cirrhosis. PBC is a rare disease, affecting mainly women in their middle age, and the exact pathogenesis remains incompletely understood. Little information is available regarding the effect of race or ethnicity on susceptibility or progression of PBC.

A multicenter study by Peters et al.<sup>1</sup> described the differences in severity and disease progression by race and ethnicity in patients with PBC. The study concluded that progression to advanced liver disease, ascites, hepatic encephalopathy, and variceal bleeding was more frequent in the non-Caucasian group. Non-Caucasians also had lower levels of physical activity and more severe pruritus. Notably, among the 535 patients enrolled in the study, 86.4% were Caucasians. Non-Caucasians included 42 (7.9%) Hispanics, 21 (3.9%) African Americans, and 10 (1.8%) other. We have previously shown in a cross-sectional study that Hispanic patients with PBC have reduced response rates to UDCA.<sup>2</sup> In that study, Hispanic patients were more likely to have complications of advanced liver disease, such as portal hypertension, as compared to non-Hispanics. The reasons for such disparities were not addressed.

In the present study, we aimed to evaluate the demographics, comorbidities, environmental risk factors and socioeconomic status of Hispanic patients with PBC compared to non-Hispanic ones.

### Methods

We identified all patients with diagnosis of PBC seen at the University of Miami/Jackson Memorial Hospital (Miami, FL, USA) between January 1998 and January 2013, through ICD-9 codes. Diagnosis of PBC was confirmed by chart review. As recommended by the American Association for the study of Liver Diseases (AASLD), diagnosis of PBC was confirmed when patients met two out of the following three criteria: 1) chronic cholestasis, evidenced by persistent increase in serum alkaline phosphatase (ALP); 2) positive serology for anti-mitochondrial antibodies; and 3) histologic confirmation of PBC, with the presence of nonsuppurative destructive cholangitis involving interlobular and septal bile ducts.

We developed a questionnaire-based survey, available in English and Spanish, to evaluate patients' demographics, comorbid conditions, environmental risk factors and

Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology **2020** vol. 8 | 391–396

Copyright: © 2020 Authors. This article has been published under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0), which permits noncommercial unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided that the following statement is provided. "This article has been published in *Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology* at DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00006 and can also be viewed on the Journal's website at http://www.jcthnet.com".



Keywords: Primary biliary cholangitis; Ethnicity; Health disparity.

**Abbreviations:** AASLD, American Association for the study of Liver Diseases; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; CI, confidence interval; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; OR, odds ratio; PBC, primary biliary cholangitis; UDCA, ursodeoxycholic acid.

Received: 28 January 2020; Revised: 21 July 2020; Accepted: 18 September 2020

<sup>\*</sup>Correspondence to: Atoosa Rabiee, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, VA Medical Center, 50 Irving St NW, Washington DC 20422, USA. Tel: +1-202-745-8456, E-mail: rabiee.atoosa@gmail.com

socioeconomic status, and contacted patients by mail, e-mail, or phone call. A pre-designed consent form was read over the phone to patients, and a verbal consent was obtained prior to collection of information. If the questionnaire was sent by email or mail, this form was included for patients to review, and return of questionnaire implied that consent was provided. We collected data on patients' demographics, clinical presentation, comorbidities, risk factors for PBC, and socio-economic variables.

Once patients were identified and diagnosis confirmed by chart review, they were contacted via telephone call, e-mail communication, or postal mail. Multiple attempts were made to reach each patient. Of 265 subjects with confirmed diagnosis, 10 were deceased, 5 did not want to participate, and 26 had incorrect contact information in the medical records and could not be reached. Thus, the study population consisted of 224 patients with confirmed PBC. The study protocol and questionnaires were approved by the University of Miami Institutional Review Board.

### Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the study population. Results were provided as n (%) or median (interquartile range). Odds ratios (ORs) and their 95% confidence intervals (Cis) were calculated to measure the association between exposure and outcome.

Evidence in favor of an association was determined by the exclusion of 1 from this interval. Male patients were excluded from the data analysis, since there were so few of them (n=5), to preserve homogeneity of the sample and generalizability of the result to the majority of PBC patients who are female. All analyses were performed using R (version 3.2.2) and the 'epitools' package.<sup>3</sup>

#### Results

### Demographics

Two hundred and twenty-four patients were given the questionnaire and ninety-six (43%) completed it (Fig. 1). Of the responders, 39.6% were Hispanic (38 in total; 37 females and 1 male) and 60.4% were non-Hispanic patients (58 in total; 54 females and 4 males); forty-nine (91%) in the non-Hispanic group were White, 3.7% Black, 1.9% American Indian, and 3.7% other. Hispanic patients were all White. Median age of Hispanic patients was 51 years-old (age range: 30-75). Non-Hispanics had a median age of 53.5 (age range: 28-74). Among Hispanics, 58.3% were married, as compared to 75.4% of non-Hispanic patients. one patient had prior hepatitis B exposure and one had prior HCV infection; both were non-Hispanics. Twenty-six patients had radiographic evidence of cirrhosis; among them, 54% of these were Hispanic (n=14). Table 1 summarizes the demographics of our study population.

Among Hispanic patients, 45.9% were from the Caribbean, 32.4% from South America, and 10.8% from Central America; only four were born in the United States. The vast majority (83.8%) have lived in the USA for more than 15 years. Hispanic patients were diagnosed in a more recent era than the non-Hispanics. Ninety-two percent of Hispanic patients were diagnosed after year 2000, as compared to 42.6% of non-Hispanics.

### Rabiee A. et al: Health disparity in Hispanic PBC patients



Fig. 1. Flow chart showing study enrollment.

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of Hispanic and non-Hispanic patients with PBC

Baseline characteristics	Hispanics, n=37	Non- Hispanics, <i>n</i> =54
Age, median (range)	51 (30-75)	53.5 (28- 74)
Race, <i>n</i> (%)		
White	38 (100%)	49 (90.7%)
Black		2 (3.7%)
Asian		1 (1.9%)
Other		2 (3.7%)
Marital status, n (%)		
Single	10 (27.8%)	6 (11.3%)
Married	21 (58.3%)	40 (75.4%)
Other	5 (13.9%)	7 (13.2%)
Years lived in the USA, <i>n</i> (%)		
Less than 15 years	6 (16.2%)	0
15 years or more	31 (83.8%)	53 (100%)
Year of diagnosis, median (interquartile range)	2007 (2005- 2008)	2002 (1997- 2002)
Place of living at the time of diagnosis, $n$ (%)		
USA	36 (97.3%)	86 (100%)
Outside of USA	1(2.7%)	0
Years lived in the location prior to diagnosis, median (range)	18.6 (2-44)	22.7 (1-55)

Hispanic patients were diagnosed with PBC mainly when living in the USA. Only 2.7% of Hispanic patients had been diagnosed outside of the USA. Average years lived in the location where patients were diagnosed with PBC was 18.7 years (range: 2-64) and 22.7 years (range: 1-62) for Hispanic and non-Hispanic patients, respectively. Rabiee A. et al: Health disparity in Hispanic PBC patients

### Comorbidities and potential risk factors

There were no differences between groups with respect to hair dye and nail polish use, alcohol and tobacco use, age of menarche or menopause, number of miscarriages or pregnancies, or itching during pregnancy. Although non-Hispanics were more likely to use birth control pills or hormone replacement therapy, this difference did not reach statistical significance. There was no statistically different difference in history of urinary tract infections, vaginal infections, sexually transmitted diseases, concomitant medical conditions, or surgical procedures (Fig. 2). Symptoms at the time of presentation, diagnosis of PBC or autoimmune disease in a first degree relative were also not statistically significant between the two groups. Table 2 details the frequency of symptoms, comorbidities and risk factors in the two Ethnic groups.

### Socioeconomic factors

In our study, 27% of Hispanic patients had a high school education or less as the highest level of education, as compared to only 17% of non-Hispanics. There was no statistically significant difference in the employment status between the two groups (83.3% of Hispanics were employed, as compared to 92.3% of non-Hispanics). Among Hispanics, 62.8% had a household income of less than \$50,000, as compared to only 19.5% of non-Hispanics (OR: 6.7, 95% CI: 2.5-19.2). Most patients in both Hispanic and non-Hispanic groups were not the sole provider of income in the family. The median number of family members supported by the family income was the same in both the Hispanic and non-Hispanic groups. Only 1.9% of non-Hispanics did not have any health care insurance, as compared to 13.5% of Hispanics (OR: 0.1, 95% CI: 0-0.9) (Table 3).

### Treatment with UDCA

Median dose of UDCA was the same for both Hispanic and non-Hispanic groups (1000 mg). Hispanic patients were

numerically more likely to miss their medications, as compared to non-Hispanics, but this did not reach statistical significance (35.5% vs. 22.6%). The proportion of patients going without medications to afford food, housing and bills was similar in both groups (82.9% in Hispanics vs. 87% in non-Hispanics).

#### Discussion

In the current study, we investigated differences in demographics, comorbidities, environmental risk factors and socioeconomic status between Hispanic and non-Hispanic patients with PBC. We could not demonstrate any significant difference in comorbidities or environmental risk factors between the two groups. However, we found important socio-economic disparities, including lower level of education, lower income, and decreased availability of health care insurance among Hispanic patients. Furthermore, Hispanic patients were less likely to be married and frequently had a "recent" diagnosis of PBC compared to the Non-Hispanic patients. All of these characteristics could have a major role in disease progression and their medical management.

Carrion *et al.*,<sup>4</sup> studied chronic liver disease with different etiologies in Hispanic patients. The investigators found higher incidence and more aggressive course as well as worse outcomes despite treatment for many of these diseases. Specifically, Hispanic patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (commonly known as NAFLD) had more advanced fibrosis and Hispanic patients with chronic hepatitis C infection had faster progression to cirrhosis. Furthermore, incidence and mortality from hepatocellular carcinoma were higher in Hispanics compared to non-Hispanic whites.

Peters *et al.*<sup>1</sup> studied patients with PBC from 11 of the states in the USA, including 501 females and 34 males, mean age of 52, from an ethnically diverse background. In that study, most patients were Caucasian, although their cohort also included 42 Hispanics. They showed more severe disease in Hispanics and African Americans, with greater limitation on activity level, worse pruritus, and



Fig. 2. Comorbidities and risk factors in Hispanic patients with PBC compared with non-Hispanics.

Abbreviation: AID, autoimmune disease; HRT, hormone replacement therapy; UTI, urinary tract infection; STD, sexually transmitted disease; PBC, primary biliary cholangitis.

Table 2. Comorbidities and risk factors in Hispanic and non-Hispanic patients with PBC

Comorbidities and risk factors	Hispanics	Non-Hispanics	OR (95%CI)
Hair dye, <i>n</i> (%)			
Never, rarely	11 (30%)	12 (23%)	1.48 (0.56-3.89)
Sometimes, often, always	26 (70%)	42 (77%)	
Nail polish, n (%)			
Never, rarely	11 (29.7%)	12 (22.2%)	1.47 (0.56-3.89)
Sometimes, often, always	26 (70.3%)	42 (77.8%)	
Tanning salon use, n (%)			
Never, rarely	37 (100%)	54 (100%)	
Sometimes, often, always	0	0	
Alcohol use, n (%)			
Never, rarely	30 (81.1%)	48 (88.9%)	0.54 (0.16-1.82)
Sometimes, often, always	7 (18.9%)	6 (11.1%)	
Smoking, <i>n</i> (%)			
Never, rarely	22 (62.9%)	23 (43.4%)	2.18 (0.91-5.37)
Sometimes, often, always	13 (37.1%)	30 (56.6%)	
Age of menarche, median (range)	12 (9-20)	12 (10-15)	
Age of menopause, median (range)	48 (37-60)	50 (35-60)	
Number of living children, median (range)	2 (0-5)	2 (0-4)	
History of miscarriage, n (%)	12 (33.3%)	17 (32.7%)	1.03 (0.41-2.56)
History of pregnancy, n (%)	33 (91.7%)	48 (92.3%)	0.91 (0.18-5.20)
History of itching during pregnancy, $n$ (%)	5 (16.1%)	4 (9.5%)	1.79 (0.42-8.24)
History of birth control use, <i>n</i> (%)	17 (45.9%)	35 (66%)	0.44 (0.18-1.05)
HRT, <i>n</i> (%)	8 (21.6%)	16 (30.2%)	0.64 (0.23-1.70)
UTI, n (%)	23 (62.2%)	41 (75.9%)	0.52 (0.21-1.32)
Vaginal infection, n (%)	14 (38.9%)	29 (55.8%)	0.51 (0.21-1.21)
STD, n (%)	5 (13.9%)	5 (9.6%)	1.51 (0.38-6.05)
Comorbidity, n (%)*	8 (21.6%)	10 (18.5%)	1.21 (0.41-3.49)
Surgery, n (%)	2 (5.4%)	5 (9.3%)	0.59 (0.07-3.03)
Itching at diagnosis, n (%)	15 (40.5%)	26 (50.0%)	0.69 (0.29-1.61)
First degree relative with PBC, $n$ (%)	7 (18.9%)	15 (32.6%)	0.49 (0.16-1.35)

Abbreviations: HRT, hormone replacement therapy; UTI, urinary tract infection; STD, sexually transmitted disease.

<sup>\*</sup>Comorbidity includes Sjogren's syndrome, hypothyroidism, scleroderma, CREST, Raynaud's, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythmatosos, polymyositis, diabetes, hypertension, coronary artery disease, hypercholesterolemia, history of cancer, asthma, herpes zoster, celiac disease.

severe disease as evidenced by laboratory data and exam findings (including splenomegaly, telangiectasia, peripheral edema, icterus, ascites and clubbing). Along these lines, Hispanics and African Americans were more likely to be excluded from treatment trials due to more severe liver disease. The investigators postulated that this increased disease severity noted among Hispanics and African Americans could have been due to delayed referral to tertiary care center, although this could not be evaluated. Another hypothesis was that Hispanics and African Americans had earlier onset PBC and were misdiagnosed. It was unclear from the study if these patients had more limited access to care, faster disease progression, initial misdiagnosis, or different comorbidities affecting their progress.

Although we have previously shown that Hispanic patients with PBC are more likely to have complications of advanced

liver disease,<sup>2</sup> the potential factors contributing to this observation were not studied. Thus, we were interested in understanding how one's ethnicity and social environment could influence the clinical presentation and progression of PBC. Potential environmental risk factors affecting development of PBC have been extensively evaluated and include smoking,<sup>5–9</sup> tonsillectomy,<sup>5</sup> vaginal or urinary tract infections (especially if multiple),<sup>5–9</sup> having a first degree relative with PBC,<sup>6,7,9</sup> use of hormone replacement therapy,<sup>7</sup> history of psoriasis and other autoimmune diseases,<sup>6,8,9</sup> and shingles.<sup>8</sup> Prince *et al.*<sup>8</sup> found no association with obstetric risk factors. Interestingly, in one study, the longer use of oral contraceptive pills was actually protective against development of PBC, <sup>6</sup> In addition to being a risk factor for the development of PBC, smoking is also an independent risk factor for development of fibrosis in PBC patients.<sup>10</sup>

Rabiee A. et al: Health disparity in Hispanic PBC patients

Table 3. Socioeconomic characteristics of Hispanic and non-Hispanic patients with PBC

Socioeconomic variables	Hispanics	Non- Hispanics	OR (95% CI)
High School education and below College education and above	27% 73%	17% 83%	1.7 (0.6-5.1)
Employed Unemployed	83.3% 16.7%	92.3% 7.7%	2.3 (0.6-10.2)
Household income less than 50,000	62.9%	19.6%	6.7 (2.5-19.2)*
Health care insurance	86.5%	98.1%	0.1 (0-0.9)*
Missing medications	35.5%	22.6%	0.5 (0.2-1.4)
Missing medications to afford essentials	17.1%	13%	1.3 (0.4-4.6)

Data from recent studies also indicates that Hispanic patients with PBC are less likely to undergo liver transplantation than Caucasian patients. Using the United Network for Organ Sharing registry, Cholankeril et al.<sup>11</sup> performed a retrospective review of the PBC liver transplant waitlist registrant's cohort, from 2000 to 2014. During this period, of a total of 156,624 adult patients listed for liver transplant, only 3.5% were waitlisted for a primary diagnosis of PBC. Overall, their mean age was 55.6 years, with women representing 86.2% of these patients, and 76.4% of all patients were Caucasian (vs. 14.5% Hispanics). Compared with white registrants, Hispanic registrants were significantly younger in age, had a higher proportion of females, were noted to have a higher mean model for end-stage liver disease score at listing, were more likely to develop complications related to portal hypertension at the time of listing, and were less likely to have private insurance. The authors found that the proportion of Hispanic registrants increased from 10.7% to 19.3% in this period of time, despite an overall decrease in the total number of PBC registrants; they also had the highest percentage of waitlist deaths, the lowest rate for undergoing LT, a significantly higher risk of death while on the waitlist, and the highest proportion of waitlist removals due to clinical deterioration.<sup>11</sup>

In the current study, Hispanics and non-Hispanics were not different with respect to the multiple risk factors and comorbidities thought to be associated with PBC and reported similar rates of pruritus and fatigue. Importantly, the main findings in the present study relate to differences in socioeconomic factors. Namely, Hispanics with PBC were less likely to be married (58% vs. 75%), indicating less help with responsibilities at home. These patients also had a lower level of education and lower income, and as expected were less likely to have medical insurance. All of these factors point towards more difficult access to health care among Hispanics, which could indeed explain the difference in disease severity noted by our group and by Peters *et al.*<sup>1,2</sup> Decreased access to health care can potentially lead to late presentation, more severe disease and lack of response to available therapies. In addition, the fact that the vast majority of Hispanics were diagnosed with PBC only when living in the USA also raises concern for missed diagnosis at their country of origin and longer disease duration prior to diagnosis. Finally, given that there was no difference in the mean age at diagnosis, a delayed diagnosis among Hispanics would imply initial presentation at age younger than 50, and it is well known that age is a determinant of PBC progression and response to UDCA.<sup>12</sup>

Our study was limited by a relatively low response rate, the potential for recall bias and the inability to provide strong evidence of cause and effect, as is characteristic of survey studies. To enhance our response rate, we attempted to contact patients through three different methods (mail, email, and phone). It is possible that a lower income was also associated with decreased access to communication, in the form of e-mail or phone; if that is the case, lower response rates might be expected in this subgroup of patients. For others, legal status in this country could also play a role in their willingness to participate in a research study, and this in turn could have affected the response rates of the immigrant population. Trained personnel conducted all of the phone interviews in a standardized fashion. In addition, when appropriate, these interviews were conducted by a native Spanish speaking investigator to improve patients' level of comfort with the study.

We also acknowledge that there was not sufficient information on the prevalence of NAFLD or NASH and its effect on progression of PBC in this cohort of patients.

It has been reported that both Hispanics and African Americans have a more severe presentation of PBC compared to Caucasian patients. In the analysis by Peters *et al.*,<sup>1</sup> when comparing with Caucasian patients, the African American and Hispanic patients were significantly more likely to be limited in their physical activity level, to have severe or difficult-tocontrol pruritus, or to have a history of ascites, hepatic encephalopathy, or variceal bleeding.<sup>1</sup> Ethnic disparities are also evident in terms of in-hospital mortality for PBC patients; despite a reported increase in hospitalizations of non-Hispanic PBC patients from 57.8% to 71.2% in a 7-year period (from 2007 to 2014) compared to 4.1-6.3% for African-Americans and 8.6-10.9% for Hispanics, the highest in-hospital mortality was observed in African-American PBC patients.<sup>14</sup> In the present study, both Caucasian and African American non-Hispanics were analyzed together; although this could result in an overestimation of severity for the non-Hispanic group, it is unlikely to have a significant effect in our study, given that only 3.1% of the non-Hispanic patients self-identified as African American.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to compare risk factors and comorbidities between Hispanic and non-Hispanic patients with PBC. Our results should be validated in a larger cohort.

In summary, we have shown that access to health care was lower in the Hispanic population compared to the non-Hispanic population with PBC, which at least in part explains the differences in disease severity seen in previous studies. Environmental risk factors and comorbidities do not seem to significantly explain the variability in the disease course in different ethnic populations. Future studies should focus on evaluating different genetic backgrounds between Hispanic and non-Hispanic patients with PBC and its role in the severity and progression of PBC.

### Funding

None to declare.

### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

### **Author contributions**

Designed the study and wrote the manuscript (AR), (CL) performed the study and analyzed the data (AR, NAPP, AFDLV, CL).

### References

- Peters MG, Di Bisceglie AM, Kowdley KV, Flye NL, Luketic VA, Munoz SJ, *et al.* Differences between Caucasian, African American, and Hispanic patients with primary biliary cirrhosis in the United States. Hepatology 2007;46:769–775. doi: 10.1002/hep.21759.
- [2] Levy C, Naik J, Giordano C, Mandalia A, O'Brien C, Bhamidimarri KR, et al. Hispanics with primary biliary cirrhosis are more likely to have features of autoimmune hepatitis and reduced response to ursodeoxycholic acid than non-Hispanics. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014;12:1398–1405. doi: 10. 1016/j.cgh.2013.12.010.
- [3] Aragon TJ, Fay MP, Wollschlaeger D, Omidpanah A. Epitools: Epidemiology tools. Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/epitools/index.html.

### Rabiee A. et al: Health disparity in Hispanic PBC patients

- [4] Carrion AF, Ghanta R, Carrasquillo O, Martin P. Chronic liver disease in the Hispanic population of the United States. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011;9: 834–841. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2011.04.027.
- [5] Parikh-Patel A, Gold EB, Worman H, Krivy KE, Gershwin ME. Risk factors for primary biliary cirrhosis in a cohort of patients from the united states. Hepatology 2001;33:16–21. doi: 10.1053/jhep.2001.21165.
- [6] Corpechot C, Chrétien Y, Chazouillères O, Poupon R. Demographic, lifestyle, medical and familial factors associated with primary biliary cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2010;53:162–169. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.02.019.
- [7] Gershwin ME, Selmi C, Worman HJ, Gold EB, Watnik M, Utts J, et al. Risk factors and comorbidities in primary biliary cirrhosis: a controlled interview-based study of 1032 patients. Hepatology 2005;42:1194–1202. doi: 10.1002/hep.20907.
- [8] Prince MI, Ducker SJ, James OF. Case-control studies of risk factors for primary biliary cirrhosis in two United Kingdom populations. Gut 2010;59: 508–512. doi: 10.1136/gut.2009.184218.
- [9] Lammert C, Juran BD, Schlicht E, Chan LL, Atkinson EJ, de Andrade M, et al. Biochemical response to ursodeoxycholic acid predicts survival in a North American cohort of primary biliary cirrhosis patients. J Gastroenterol 2014; 49:1414–1420. doi: 10.1007/s00535-013-0903-1.
- [10] Corpechot C, Gaouar F, Chrétien Y, Johanet C, Chazouillères O, Poupon R. Smoking as an independent risk factor of liver fibrosis in primary biliary cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2012;56:218–224. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.03.031.
- [11] Cholankeril G, Gonzalez HC, Satapathy SK, Gonzalez SA, Hu M, Khan MA, et al. Increased waitlist mortality and lower rate for liver transplantation in hispanic patients with primary biliary cholangitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;16:965–973.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.12.017.
- [12] Carbone M, Mells GF, Pells G, Dawwas MF, Newton JL, Heneghan MA, et al. Sex and age are determinants of the clinical phenotype of primary biliary cirrhosis and response to ursodeoxycholic acid. Gastroenterology 2013; 144:560–569.e7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.12.005.
- [13] Podda M, Selmi C, Lleo A, Moroni L, Invernizzi P. The limitations and hidden gems of the epidemiology of primary biliary cirrhosis. J Autoimmun 2013;46: 81–87. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2013.06.015.
- [14] Galoosian A, Hanlon C, Tana M, Cheung R, Wong RJ. Race/ethnicity and insurance-specific disparities in in-hospital mortality among adults with primary biliary cholangitis: Analysis of 2007-2014 national inpatient sample. Dig Dis Sci 2020;65:406–415. doi: 10.1007/s10620-019-05809-x.

### 2019 Chinese Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Prevention of Mother-to-child Transmission of Hepatitis B Virus

Jinfeng Liu<sup>#1,2</sup>, Tianyan Chen<sup>#1,2</sup>, Yaolong Chen<sup>#3,4</sup>, Hong Ren<sup>\*5</sup>, Guiqiang Wang<sup>\*6</sup>, Wenhong Zhang<sup>\*7</sup>, Yingren Zhao<sup>\*1,2</sup> and Society of Infectious Diseases and Chinese Medical Association

<sup>1</sup>The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, Shaanxi, China; <sup>2</sup>Shaanxi Clinical Research Center of Infectious Diseases, Xi'an, Shaanxi, China; <sup>3</sup>Evidence-Based Medicine Center, Basic Medical Sciences, Lanzhou University, Lanzhou, Gansu, China; <sup>4</sup>WHO Collaborating Centre for Guideline Implementation and Knowledge Translation, Lanzhou, Gansu, China; <sup>5</sup>Department of Infectious Diseases, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China; <sup>6</sup>Hepatology Center, Department of Infectious Diseases, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China; <sup>7</sup>Department of Infectious Diseases, Huashan Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai, China

### Abstract

To develop the evidence-based guidelines for managing mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus in China, a multidisciplinary guideline development group was established. Clinical questions were identified from two rounds of surveys on the concerns of first-line clinicians. We conducted a comprehensive search and review of the literature. A grading of recommendations' assessment, development, and evaluation system was adopted to rate the quality of evidence and the strength of recommendations. Recommendations were formulated based on the evidence, overall balance of benefits and harms (at individual and population levels), patient/health worker values and preferences, resources available, cost-effectiveness, and feasibility. Eventually, recommendations related to 13 main clinical concerns were developed, covering diagnostic criteria, treatment indications, antiviral therapy choice, timing to initiate and discontinue treatment, immunoprophylaxis strategy at birth, and how to deal with special situations, such as unintended pregnancy, assisted reproduction, and breastfeeding. The guidelines are intended to serve as guidance for clinicians

and patients, to optimize the management of majority of pregnant women who are positive for hepatitis B surface antigen. **Guideline registration:** International Practice Guide Registration Platform (IPGRP-2018CN040).

**Citation of this article:** Liu J, Chen T, Chen Y, Ren H, Wang G, Zhang W, *et al.* 2019 Chinese clinical practice guidelines for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):397–406. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00070.

### Introduction

As a primary cause of liver cirrhosis and cancer, chronic hepatitis B (CHB), accounting for about 1 million deaths per year, remains a severe public health problem and presents a heavy disease burden and economic burden to society and families.<sup>1</sup> With an extensive hepatitis B vaccination program implemented, mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) has become the key obstacle to realizing the World Health Organization's goal of reducing the prevalence of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) among children aged 5, to 0.1%.<sup>2</sup> Furthermore, MTCT is responsible for familial clustering of hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection<sup>3</sup> in which the risk of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma increase significantly and the age of onset of end-stage liver diseases was advanced dramatically.<sup>4</sup> Elimination of MTCT is crucial to decreasing new HBV infections and to minimizing the burden of HBV-related diseases.

As the most principal strategy to prevent new HBV infections, the hepatitis vaccine has reduced the rate of MTCT by more than 80%<sup>5</sup> Whereas, among infants born to hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg)-positive mothers, there are still 8% becoming CHB after vaccine immunoprophylaxis, and 4% after immmunoprophylaxis of vaccine combined with human hepatitis B immunoglobulin (HBIG).<sup>5</sup> Annually, there are almost 2 million new infections in children younger than 5 years. Antiviral intervention during pregnancy has been widely adopted to interrupt MTCT; nevertheless, there is still controversy about treatment indications, antiviral therapy choice, and the timing to initiate and discontinue the treatment, and so on.



**Keywords:** Hepatitis B virus; Mother-to-child transmission; Clinical practice guidelines; Prevention; GRADE.

**Abbreviations:** ADV, adefovir dipivoxil; AGREE II, Appraisal of Guidelines for Research and Evaluation; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; CHB, chronic hepatitis B; CK, creatine kinase; ETV, entecavir; GRADE, grading of recommendations assessment, development, and evaluation; HBeAg, hepatitis B e antigen; HBIG, human hepatitis B immunoglobulin; HBsAg, hepatitis B surface antigen; HBIG, human hepatitis B virus; IFN, interferon; LAM, lamivudine; LdT, telbivudine; MTCT, mother-to-child transmission; PICOs, population, intervention, comparator, outcomes; RIGHT, Reporting Items for Practice Guidelines in Healthcare; TAF, tenofovir alafenamide; TDF, Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate; TFV, tenofovir; ULN, upper level of normal.

*Received: 22 July 2020; Revised: 18 August 2020; Accepted: 8 September 2020* <sup>#</sup>These authors contributed equally to this work.

<sup>\*</sup>Correspondence to: Yingren Zhao, Department of Infectious Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, Shaanxi 710061, China. Tel: +86-13509187086, Fax: +86-29-85324594, E-mail: zhaoyingren@mail.xjtu.edu.cn; Hong Ren, Department of Infectious Diseases, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chonqqing Medical University, Chonqqing 400010, China. E-mail: renhong0531@vip.sina.com.cn; Guiqiang Wang, Hepatology Center, Department of Infectious Diseases, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing 100034, China. E-mail: john131212@sina.com; Wenhong Zhang, Department of Infectious Diseases, Huashan Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai 200040, China. E-mail: zhangwenhong@fudan.edu.cn

To further standardize the clinical recommendations for top concerns of first-line clinicians, a multidisciplinary guideline development group was established to comprehensively evaluate the evidence and overall balance of benefits and harms, while the guidelines do not cover the whole spectrum of prevention and treatment of MTCT. As with clinical practice guidelines, they provide general guidance to optimize management of the majority of pregnant patients infected with HBV, while clinical judgement considering a unique patient and reliability of clinical care should be considered. In addition, despite accumulated knowledge, areas of uncertainty still exist and therefore health care workers, patients, and public health authorities must continue to make choices based on evolving evidence. The guidelines have two versions: the Chinese language version published in the Chinese Journal of Infectious Diseases and the English language version, which is the current version.

### **Methods**

The guidelines were launched by the Society of Infectious Diseases, Chinese Medical Association, supported by the Chinese Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) Center in methodology, and developed according to the World Health Organization's Handbook for Guideline Development (2014).<sup>6</sup> Appraisal of Guidelines for Research and Evaluation (known as AGREE II)<sup>7</sup> and Reporting Items for Practice Guidelines in Healthcare (known as RIGHT) tool<sup>8</sup> were also referred to. Three groups were established for developing the guidelines: steering committee, guidelines development panel, and guidelines secretary group. The steering committee consisted of 3 well-known experts in the field, with the following missions: 1) approve the use of population, intervention, comparator, outcomes (PICOs), 2) supervise the literature search and systematic reviews, 3) check the grade of the evidence, 4) finalize the recommendations using a modified Delphi approach, and 5) approve the publication of the guidelines. A multidisciplinary guidelines development panel, including experts from across the country in infectious diseases, hepatology, obstetrics, pediatrics, and methodology, was established, and tasked with the following missions: 1) generate the scope of the guideline and draft the PICOs, 2) grade the quality of the evidence, 3) draft the preliminary recommendations, and 4) write and publish the draft guideline. The guidelines secretary group conducted systematic reviews and investigated patients' views and preferences. All members involved in guidelines development were required to disclose any potential conflicts of interest, which were reviewed by the chairs (Yingren Zhao and Yaolong Chen). No relevant conflict of interest was reported.

Before initiating the guidelines, we wrote the protocol and registered it in the International Practice Guidelines Registry (http://www.guidelines-registry.org, Platform IPGRP-2018CN040). First, we collected questions reflecting clinicians' concerns through two rounds of questionnaire survey. Two hundred sixty-one copies of the questionnaire were collected from 98 facilities across mainland China, covering 26 provinces, municipalities, and autonomous regions. After deduplication and combination, 16 PICO questions were identified from among 68 clinical questions, based on importance grade. Published articles and conference abstracts were identified from PubMed, Embase, the Cochrane Library, and three Chinese literature databases (CNKI, WanFang, and CBM). The evidence synthesis group conducted systematic reviews and other literature searches for each question. We finally conducted 11 new systematic reviews. The GRADE was used to evaluate and rate the quality of evidence body (Table 1).<sup>9</sup> We then formulated recommendations and rated their strengths after comprehensive assessment of the quality of evidence, consideration of the overall balance of benefits and harms, patient/health worker values and preferences, cost-effectiveness, and feasibility. Finally, the guidelines development panel reached a consensus on each recommendation based on three rounds of Delphi survey and also reached a consensus on management algorithm for MTCT of HBV (Fig. 1). A flow chart describes the process of the guidelines development (Fig. 2).

### Recommendations

The guidelines contain 24 recommendations on the top 13 concerns of clinicians, covering diagnostic criteria, monitoring and prevention during pregnancy, and breastfeeding, as well

Table 1. Grades of evidence and recommendations

Grade of evidence	Notes
High quality (A)	Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.
Moderate quality (B)	Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and there is a possibility that it may change the estimate.
Low quality (C)	Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.
Very low quality (D)	The estimate of effect is very uncertain, and the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.
Grade of recommendation	
Strong (1)	The Guideline Panel is confident that the desirable effects of an intervention outweigh its undesirable effects (strong recommendation for an intervention), or that the undesirable effects of an intervention outweigh its desirable effects (strong recommendation against an intervention).
Weak (2)	The desirable effects probably outweigh the undesirable effects (weak recommendation for an intervention) or undesirable effects probably outweigh the desirable effects (weak recommendation against an intervention) but less uncertain higher cost or resource consumption exists.

### Liu J. et al: Guidelines for prevention of MTCT of HBV



Fig. 1. Management algorithm for mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus. \*Comprehensive assessment: liver biochemical function, HBV DNA, imaging assessment; "Time to discontinue treatment: at delivery, postpartum 1 or 3 m old.

Abbreviations: CHB, chronic hepatitis B infection; HBIG, human hepatitis B immunoglobulin; HBsAg, hepatitis B surface antigen; HBV, hepatitis B Virus; m, months; MTCT, mother-to-child transmission; TDF, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate; LdT, telbivudine.

as immunoprophylaxis strategy at birth. All the recommendations are as follows.

### Question 1: How to diagnose MTCT of HBV? Recommendation: Infants with HBsAg and/or HBV DNA positive at 7-12 months-old are diagnosed as having CHB infection due to MTCT (1B).

### Recommendation evidence

The previous reported rate of MTCT varied markedly, owing to inconsistence in specimens, timepoints of detection, and diagnostic criteria. Currently, HBsAg and/or HBV DNA positive at 7-12 months-old is deemed as having obtained CHB transmitted from mothers.<sup>10,11</sup> Whereas, there is no systematic review to assess the criterion. A systematic review and network metaanalysis showed the rate of HBsAg and/or HBV DNA positive at birth in cord blood or venous blood was significantly higher than that at 6, 7, or 12 months-old,<sup>12</sup> which indicated the excessive positive rate at birth may be attributed to false positivity caused by contamination of maternal blood or transient viremia due to placental abruption at birth.<sup>13,14</sup> In addition, there was no significant difference among the positive rates at age of 6, 7 and 12 months.<sup>12</sup> Therefore, HBV serological markers and HBV DNA should be tested at 7-12 months-old, namely 1-6 months after three dosages of vaccination, to determine the immune results and infection status. Moreover, the infants over 12 months-old with HBsAg and/or HBV DNA positive at first visit are also supposed to acquire HBV infection by MTCT.

# Question 2: What is the vaccination schedule for infants of HBsAg(+) mothers?

#### Recommendations:

2.1: The infants of HBsAg(+) mothers should receive hepatitis B vaccine and 100 IU HBIG within 12 h after birth, and the following two doses of vaccine at 1 and 6 months-old, respectively (1A).

2.2 For premature or low-birth weight infants, the combined immunoprophylaxis should be administered within 12 h after birth when the vital signs are stable or after the



Fig. 2. Flowchart of the process of the guidelines development.

Abbreviations: GRADE, the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation; HBV, hepatitis B virus; MTCT, mother-to-child transmission; PICO, population, intervention, comparator, outcomes.

### viral signs become stable. Three doses of full-course vaccine should be administered subsequently (1A).

### Recommendation evidence

Combined immunoprophylaxis is the current standard immunoprophylaxis strategy for preventing MTCT in HBsAg(+) mothers. Several sets of guidelines<sup>15-19</sup> recommend newborns of HBsAg(+) mothers receive hepatitis B vaccine (10  $\mu$ g recombinant yeast-derived hepatitis B vaccine or 20  $\mu$ g recombinant Chinese hamster ovary cells hepatitis B vaccine) and HBIG, and vaccines are administered at 0, 1, and 6 months-old, respectively. For the premature or lowbirth weight infants, one dose of vaccine is implemented as soon as possible within 12 h after birth (when the viral signs are stable) and another three doses of full-course vaccine are conducted after 1 month-old age is reached. For the very low-birth weight infants, those with severe birth defects, severe Liu J. et al: Guidelines for prevention of MTCT of HBV

asphyxia, or respiratory distress syndrome, should receive four doses of vaccine, administered after the vital signs become stable. By systematic review, we found 200 IU HBIG shows equivalent preventive effectiveness with 100 IU HBIG in infants born to CHB mothers (relative risk: 1.08, (0.64-1.82)) and HBeAg(+) mothers (relative risk: 0.84 (0.39-1.77)).<sup>20</sup> Considering cost-effectiveness, 100 IU HBIG is recommended to newborns of HBsAg (+) mothers.

Whether vaccine should be boosted in infants born to HBsAg(+) mothers is unclear. Systematic review also showed that the response to vaccine is similar between infants born to HBsAg(+) mothers and the general population.<sup>21</sup> While the titer of anti-hepatitis B surface antibody should be regularly assessed, boost could be considered when the titer is less than 10 IU/mL, regarding the high-risk circumstances of infection.

### Question 3: What is the threshold of HBV DNA for antiviral intervention during pregnancy?

**Recommendations:** 

3.1 Antivirals should be recommended to pregnant women with HBV DNA >2×10<sup>5</sup> IU/mL (1B).

3.2 Antiviral intervention could be decided after discussion with pregnant women with HBV DNA of  $1\times10^4$ - $2\times10^5$  IU/mL (2C).

### Recommendation evidence

Maternal high viremia is an independent risk factor for MTCT.<sup>22</sup> The majority of guidelines from associations for the study of liver diseases, such as the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, the European Association for the Study of the Liver, the Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, recommend antiviral intervention during pregnancy for preventing MTCT, whereas, the threshold of HBV DNA ranges from  $2 \times 10^5$  IU/mL to  $10^7$  IU/mL.<sup>17,23-25</sup> In addition, the recommendations are mainly based on clinical trials aiming to evaluating efficacy of antivirals<sup>11,26</sup> or single retrospective cohort investigation.<sup>27,28</sup>

A systematic review including 6027 patients from 18 studies indicated the rates of MTCT were 0, 0.88%, 1.15%, 4.81%, 10.04% and 18.80% in pregnant women with antenatal HBV DNA <1 $\times$ 10<sup>4</sup> IU/mL, 1 $\times$ 10<sup>4</sup> IU/mL-1 $\times$ 10<sup>5</sup> IU/mL,  $1\times10^5$  IU/mL-1 $\times10^6$  IU/mL,  $1\times10^6$  IU/mL-1 $\times10^7$  IU/mL,  $1\times10^7$  IU/mL-1 $\times10^8$  IU/mL, and  $>1\times10^8$  IU/mL, respectively. tively.<sup>5</sup> The pooled rate of MTCT was as high as 10% in women with antenatal HBV DNA  $\geq 1 \times 10^{6}$  IU/mL, which was remarkably higher than those with HBV DNA  $<1\times10^{6}$  IU/mL. Antivirals should be recommended for these pregnant women. Pregnant women with HBV DNA of  $1 \times 10^4$  IU/mL- $2 \times 10^5$  IU/mL still carry risk for transmitting the virus to their infants. Considering the high prevalence of HBsAg in China, antiviral intervention during pregnancy could be suggested in those with family history of HBV infection or history of MTCT. The benefit of antiviral treatment in terms of protecting newborns from HBV infection and controlling hepatitis activity in pregnant women with hepatitis should be explained before administration. At the same time, the patients should be notified of the side effects of antivirals, drug-resistant mutations, potential harms to the fetus, and hepatic flare after antivirals discontinuation, and so on.

Question 4: Which antivirals should be recommended for preventing MTCT?

**Recommendations:** 

4.1. Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) or telbivudine (LdT) is recommended for pregnant women with HBV DNA >2×10<sup>5</sup> IU/mL (1B).

**4.2 TDF** is preferred in pregnant women with drugresistance to lamivudine (LAM) or LdT (2C).

### Recommendation evidence

TDF and LdT do not show reproductive toxicity in animal experiments.<sup>29,30</sup> Plenty studies have manifested undifferentiated effectiveness of TDF and LdT in preventing MTCT.<sup>10,11,31</sup> In addition, the frequency of adverse events in pregnant women receiving TDF or LdT, such as abnormal creatinine, postpartum hemorrhage, rate of cesarean section, birth defects, and preterm birth were comparable with general population.<sup>26</sup> A prospective cohort has demonstrated undifferentiated growth and development in infants born to LdT-treated pregnant women during 5 years' follow-up.<sup>32</sup> For the pregnant women at high risk of MTCT, TDF or LdT should be administered to inhibit virus replication and reduce the transmission risk.

LAM and LdT present high potential of drug-resistance. Previous studies have confirmed the advantage of TDF over LAM and LdT as antiviral therapy.<sup>33</sup> Furthermore, the superiority of TDF has also been demonstrated in pregnant women with LAM or LdT-resistant mutants.<sup>34</sup> Hence, TDF could be suggested to pregnant women with drug-resistance to LAM or LdT.

As the first-line antiviral medicine for CHB patients, tenofovir alafenamide (TAF) has no influence on reproductive function in animal experiments. A study in human immunodeficiency virus-infected pregnant women assessed the safety of TAF but had small sample size.<sup>35</sup> The undergoing prospective, multicenter clinical trials will provide evidence for efficacy and safety of TAF in pregnant women with CHB.

### Question 5: When should the antiviral be initiated to prevent MTCT during pregnancy? Recommendation: The antiviral should be initiated at

24-28 weeks of gestation for preventing MTCT (2C).

### Recommendation evidence

Head-to-head comparison of the efficacy and safety of different timepoints to initiate antiviral intervention is lacking. A Bayesian network meta-analysis and system review showed that the risk of MTCT decreased significantly in pregnant women accepting intervention before 28 weeks of gestation, as compared to those initiating after 28 weeks (relative risk: 0.019, (0.00034-0.19)).<sup>36</sup> Additionally, the efficacy and safety of antiviral therapy initiated from 24 weeks of gestation have been identified in cohort studies and case-control studies.<sup>10,11,31,37,38</sup> Therefore, pregnant women with high HBV DNA levels (>2×10<sup>5</sup> IU/mL) are recommended to initiate antiviral intervention at 24-28 weeks of gestation. For pregnant women with high viremia who are visiting the hospital after 28 weeks of gestation, antiviral intervention should be initiated immediately. For pregnant women with HBV DNA of  $1 \times 10^4$  IU/mL  $-2 \times 10^5$  IU/mL who agree to take antivirals, the intervention could be initiated no later than 28 weeks of gestation.

Question 6: How to manage unintended pregnancy during antiviral therapy?

Recommendation: For patients who become unintentionally pregnant during antiviral therapy, TDF or LdT treatment should be continued (2B); adefovir dipivoxil (ADV) or entecavir (ETV) should be switched to TDF (2C); the potential risks of interferon (IFN) should be fully informed, and the patient should switch to TDF if the patients and/or family members decide to carry on the pregnancy (2C).

### Recommendation evidence

Data from the Antiretroviral Pregnancy Registry and wellcontrolled studies have revealed superior safety of TDF and LdT in pregnant women.<sup>10,11,31</sup> Additionally, TDF shows great advantage in antiviral treatment because of superior resistance profile and more extensive safety data in pregnant women. A systematic review<sup>39</sup> showed the rate of birth defects as 0.66% in pregnant women exposed to nucleos(t) ide analogues, which are undifferentiated from the rate in Chinese population (5.6%)<sup>40</sup> and Metropolitan Atlanta Congenital Defects Program (2.8%).<sup>41</sup> Therefore, childbearing women with unintended pregnancy during antiviral therapy should continue TDF or LdT.

The safety of ADV and ETV in pregnancy has not be elucidated clearly. A systematic review<sup>39</sup> including safety data from the Antiretroviral Pregnancy Registry showed the rate of birth defects in pregnant women exposed to ADV or ETV is comparable with that among the general population. Hence, women undergoing treatment of ADV or ETV could continue a pregnancy under doctors' guidance. However, regarding the risks of birth defects associated with high dose of ADV or ETV in animal experiments, switching to TDF is recommended.

We found low-quality evidence about the safety of IFN during pregnancy. Randomized controlled study of IFN administration during pregnancy is unlikely to be conducted, given the ethical concerns of such a trail. Guidelines suggest that IFN is contraindicated during pregnancy and contraception is recommended during IFN treatment, 24,42,43 while how to deal with unintended pregnancy during IFN treatment causes substantial controversy between obstetricians and hepatologists. In a Rhesus monkey model, 90-180 times the recommended dosage of IFN led to increased rate of abortion. A series of cohort studies had displayed undifferentiated rates of adverse effects, including birth defects in pregnant women with essential thrombocythemia<sup>44,45</sup> or multiple sclerosis<sup>46,47</sup> following exposure to INF. In addition, in case reports, the infants born to HBV or hepatitis C virus/human immunodeficiency virus-infected mothers exposed to IFN during first trimester did not display abnormal rates of birth defects.48-50 The data from Bayer HealthCare's global pharmacovigilance database have not revealed an obvious increase of adverse effects in pregnant women exposed to IFN during the early trimester. $^{47,51}$  With comprehensive assessment of toxicology, clinical reports, and views of obstetric experts, we suggest the risk of IFN should be fully informed to the pregnant women and their family members, and the TDF should be recommended instead of IFN if the family decides to continue the pregnancy.

### Question 7: How to deal with HBsAg(+) pregnant women with hepatic flare?

#### **Recommendations:**

7.1: For pregnant women with HBV DNA  $\leq 2 \times 10^5$  IU/ mL and ALT  $< 2 \times$  the upper limit of normal (ULN), close monitoring should be conducted (2C).

7.2: If a hepatic flare is confirmed to be associated with immune activation, antiviral treatment and monitoring should be initiated as CHB patients (1C).

### Recommendation evidence

We found low-quality evidence on management of hepatic flare during pregnancy. About 10% of pregnant women presents hepatic flare and the majority of those cases involve mild ALT elevation.<sup>52,53</sup> For pregnant women with HBV DNA  $\leq 2 \times 10^5$  IU/mL, mild ALT elevation ( $< 2 \times ULN$ ) and no cirrhosis, we suggest close monitoring without antiviral treatment, according to existing evidence.<sup>52–54</sup> A proportion of CHB patients with mild ALT flare experience disease progression.<sup>24</sup> More evidence is required for treatment consideration in pregnant women with mild hepatitis flare.

For pregnant women with  $2 \times ULN \le ALT < 5 \times ULN$ , close monitoring is recommended. If ALT continues fluctuating and hepatitis is attributed to immune activation, a treatment decision should be made.<sup>24,55</sup> Pregnant women with advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis should initiate antiviral treatment immediately, and close monitoring is required throughout the pregnancy.

# Question 8: Which indicators should be monitored during antiviral therapy for pregnancies? Recommendations:

8.1: For pregnant women taking antivirals to prevent MTCT, tests of liver biochemical function and HBV DNA should be conducted after 4 weeks (2C).

8.2: For those with hepatitis flares, more frequent monitoring and follow-up is recommended (2D). Renal function and serum phosphorus should be examined in patients receiving TDF, and creatine kinase (CK) should be measured in patients receiving LdT (2C).

### Recommendation evidence

There is no consensus on monitoring timepoint and indicators examined in pregnant women undergoing antiviral treatment. A systematic review<sup>56</sup> showed a mean decrease of  $3.16 \log_{10}$ IU/mL (95% confidence interval: 2.97-3.35) in HBV DNA after 4 weeks of antiviral treatment; therefore, HBV DNA level after 4 weeks of treatment can be tested to forecast the risk of transmission. HBV DNA levels should be tested again before delivery to further assess the risk.

There is potential influence on renal function and bone turnover<sup>57</sup> during long-term TDF treatment and risk of CK increase during LdT treatment.<sup>58</sup> In terms of the potential adverse effects, renal function and serum phosphorus should be examined in pregnant women with TDF treatment and CK during LdT treatment.

### **Question 9: Does HBV infection influence assisted reproduction?**

Recommendation: Considering the comparable cleavage rate, embryo implantation rate, pregnancy rate, and abortion rate in infertile women with CHB, assisted reproduction could be conducted following the same Liu J. et al: Guidelines for prevention of MTCT of HBV

## intervention and monitoring algorithm as in other CHB pregnant women (2C).

### Recommendation evidence

The impact of HBV on assisted reproduction and pregnancy outcomes is uncertain. Studies about MTCT rate in infertile women are scarce. One case-control study<sup>59</sup> showed lower rate of fertilization, cleavage, high-quality embryos, and pregnancy in infertile women with HBV infection. In women with HBV DNA  $\geq$ 5×10<sup>2</sup> IU/mL, few investigations have shown that ovarian reserve was lower and the rate of fertilization and high-quality embryos was decreased.<sup>60,61</sup> Nevertheless, the systematic review we performed showed the rate of fertilization to be only a little lower, while there were not significant differences in the rate of cleavage, high-quality embryos, implantation, pregnancy, and abortion.<sup>62</sup> In these circumstances, the infertile women with HBV infection could accept assisted reproduction. The intervention strategy should follow the recommendations for CHB pregnant women.

# Question 10: Could amniocentesis be conducted in CHB pregnant women?

### **Recommendations:**

10.1: Amniocentesis can increase the risk of MTCT in pregnant women with HBV DNA  $\geq 1 \times 10^6$  IU/mL and can be conducted only if the potential benefit is considered definite after assessment by an obstetrician (2B). 10.2: Amniocentesis is feasible after weighing the benefits and harms in pregnant women with HBV DNA <1×10<sup>6</sup> IU/mL (2B).

### Recommendation evidence

A previous systematic review<sup>63</sup> concluded that the risk of HBV transmission in amniocentesis was low in women with HBV DNA <1×10<sup>6</sup> IU/mL, whereas the risk increased significantly in HBeAg(+) mothers with HBV DNA ≥1×10<sup>6</sup> IU/mL (relative risk: 3.41-9.54). The 2018 updated American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases Guidelines recommend the risk of MTCT be considered when assessing the potential benefit of amniocentesis in women with high viremia.<sup>17</sup> Therefore, for pregnant women with low viral load, amniocentesis could be conducted with signed written content; while for the women with high viremia (≥1×10<sup>6</sup> IU/mL), the risk of MTCT should be assessed thoroughly and amniocentesis could be conducted for screening inherited and chromosomal diseases after consultation with an obstetrician.

### Question 11: What is the influence of delivery mode on MTCT?

Recommendation: Cesarean section may reduce the risk of MTCT in pregnant women with antenatal HBV DNA >2×10<sup>5</sup> IU/mL without intervention during pregnancy, and could be considered when there is fetal distress, macrosomia, or overdue pregnancy (2C).

### Recommendation evidence

With appropriate intervention and close monitoring, the risk of MTCT has decreased by a great degree, and the delivery mode does not affect MTCT. However, a portion of pregnant women do not undertake regular follow-up and appreciate intervention during pregnancy, especially in underdeveloped regions, in this case, cesarean section could reduce the risk of MTCT (relative risk: 0.41, 95% confidence interval: 0.25~0.67, p<0.001) in the pregnant women with antental HBV DNA > 2 × 10<sup>5</sup> IU/mL.<sup>63</sup> This population could benefit from cesarean section for reducing MTCT. After comprehensive assessment of the evidence and standpoints expressed by obstetricians, we suggest that cesarean section may be considered when there is fetal distress, macrosomia, or overdue pregnancy. To prevent excessive cesarean section, obstetric indications should also be followed.

### Question 12: When should the antiviral be discontinued after delivery?

#### **Recommendations:**

12.1: Pregnant women taking antivirals for preventing MTCT can discontinue antiviral treatment immediately after delivery, 4 weeks postpartum, or 12 weeks postpartum (2C), and should be monitored closely for hepatitis flare and rebound of HBV DNA (2C).

12.2: Pregnant women accepting antivirals owing to hepatic flare should be monitored and treated according to guidelines for CHB patients after delivery (2D).

### Recommendation evidence

There are a series of changes to the immune system and body function during pregnancy. No consensus has been reached about the timepoint to discontinue antiviral treatment because of the insufficient evidence on this issue.<sup>17,24,64</sup> Previous studies determined that about 20% of parturient women present ALT flare, regardless of antiviral treatment or not, and that there are two flare peaks, at 1 month postpartum and 3 months postpartum; the majority recover spontaneously.<sup>52,53,65,66</sup> The net-meta analysis showed no difference in rate of hepatitis flare among mothers discontinuing antiviral treatment immediately after delivery, 4 weeks postpartum, and 12 weeks postpartum, and those without antiviral intervention during pregnancy.<sup>67</sup> In view of this, the pregnant women receiving antivirals for interrupting MTCT can discontinue treatment immediately after delivery, 4 weeks postpartum, or 12 weeks postpartum. HBV DNA could rebound after antiviral discontinuation; close monitoring should be conducted and re-antiviral treatment can be considered when meeting treatment indications for CHB therapy.<sup>24,55</sup>

Previous studies of women who manifested ALT flare during pregnancy identified the occurrence as a risk factor for postpartum hepatic flare<sup>66</sup> and severe hepatitis has also been reported.<sup>68</sup> Therefore, it is suggested that pregnant women with active hepatitis should undergo monitoring and continue treatment after delivery, following guidelines for CHB patients.

### Question 13: Could CHB mothers breastfeed? Recommendations:

**13.1:** Breastfeeding is recommended after newborns accepting HBV vaccine and HBIG (2B).

**13.2:** The mother undergoing TDF treatment could give breastfeeding (2C).

### Recommendation evidence

The research about breastfeeding in HBsAg(+) mothers is insufficient. One case-control study reported that the viral load in breast milk was related with maternal viral load<sup>69</sup> while the risk of transmission did not increase with high

maternal viremia.<sup>70,71</sup> Further systematic review found that the risk of MTCT did not increase in infants accepting breast-feeding (relative risk: 0.73, p=0.21).<sup>72</sup> Considering the significant benefit identified, breastfeeding is recommended to infants who undergo combined immunoprophylaxis.

The concentration of tenofovir (TFV) in breast milk and infants were 0.03% and 0.01% of recommended dose for infants from mothers with human immunodeficiency virus, respectively.<sup>73-75</sup> In an investigation with small size of HBsAg (+) mothers undergoing TDF treatment, the TFV was undetectable in infants accepting breastfeeding. In addition, TFV cannot be absorbed via gastrointestinal tract. Hence, the mothers undergoing TDF treatment after delivery could give breastfeeding. Studies on infants accepting breastfeeding from LdT-treated mothers are scarce.

### Conclusions

Clinical guidelines are derived from clinical concerns and are intended to direct practice. Major guidelines of prevention and treatment of CHB provide recommendations for pregnant women as a special population.<sup>17,23,24,55</sup> The purpose of these guidelines is to provide scientific and specific guidance for the management of MTCT of HBV. Based on current clinical research outcomes, a preliminary exploration of the standardizations for managing MTCT has been established. Substantial relevant research evidence from China and other countries was fully retrieved and evaluated. Focusing on pregnant women with CHB, an expert panel from multiple disciplines proposed recommendations for the top 13 clinical concerns. Following accumulation of additional evidence and research findings, we plan to update the guidelines (at minimum) within 5 years of this publication (estimated 2022).

There are inevitably limitations to the process of guidelines' development that mainly reflect the low quality of the existing clinical studies and the small number of rigorously designed and implemented randomized controlled trials in this special population. For ethical issues, there is a lack of clinical trials on monitoring and treating CHB pregnant women with hepatitis flare; therefore, weak recommendations were proposed. In addition, scarce evidence exists on the rate of MTCT in infertile women with assisted reproduction, limiting the strength of recommendations. For infants born to CHB mothers, it is still essential to evaluate the necessity of booster vaccination. However, further scientific research will gradually address these shortcomings. Beyond that, as principal strategy, coverage of screening for HBsAg (+) in childbearing women and the vaccination program requires more efforts.

Development of these guidelines is a small step toward the goal of standardized diagnosis and optimized management of MTCT. It is hoped that these guidelines will facilitate clinical research, accumulate more high-quality evidence in the future, and ultimately promote the elimination of MTCT.

### **Members of the Guidelines Steering Committee** Taisheng Li, Guiqiang Wang, Kehu Yang

### **Members of the Guidelines Development Panel**

Xuefan Bai, Hong Chen, Suhua Chen, Tianyan Chen, Xinyue Chen, Yaolong Chen, Mingliang Cheng, Xiaoguang Du, Xiangchun Ding, Shangrong Fan, Xuegong Fan, Zhiliang Gao, Yingli He, Peng Hu, Yanhong Huang, Yan Huang, Fanpu Ji, Zhansheng Jia, Jianning Jiang, Peiru Jiang, Chengzhong Li, Chunfang Li, Fen Li, Jun Li, Ke Li, Xuelan Li, Yongguo Li, Zhengwen Liu, Qing Mao, Qinghua Meng, Qin Ning, Hong Ren, Hong Tang, Feng Wang, Jiuping Wang, Kai Wang, Jia Wei, Lai Wei, Yida Yang, Zujiang Yu, Li Zhang, Quan Zhang, Wenhong Zhang, Yuexin Zhang, Caiyan Zhao, Hong Zhao, Yingren Zhao

### Members of the Guidelines Secretary Group Yali Feng, Shan Fu, Jinfeng Liu, Naijuan Yao Members of the Evidence Synthesis Team

Yanfang Ma, Juan Li, Xufei Luo, Changli Qian, Zhen Tian, Jianjian Wang, Yuchao Wu, Nan Yang, Jingyi Zhang, Qi Zhou

### Acknowledgments

We appreciated all experts and clinicians participating in the guidelines' development, as well as the patients involved.

#### Funding

This work was supported by Beijing Chen Jumei Foundation, Key R&D Program of Shaanxi (S2018-YF-ZDSF-0240), National Natural Science Foundation of China Grants (81670537, 81770594), Chinese National Research Grant of the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan for Key Projects in Infectious Diseases (13th Five Year, China; Project No. 2017ZX10202202-002006). The meeting expenses of the Guidelines Steering Committee and the Guidelines Development Panel were funded by Beijing Chen Jumei Foundation.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

### **Author contributions**

Study concept and design (YRZ, GQW, WHZ, HR), drafting of the manuscript (JFL, TYC), critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content (YLC, WHZ, GQW, HR), administrative, study supervision (YRZ, GQW, WHZ, HR).

#### References

- Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality and life expectancy, 1950-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2018;392:1684–1735. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31891-9.
- [2] World Health Organization. Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016-2021. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/246177/WHO-HIV-2016.06-eng.pdf. Accessed at June 2016.
- [3] Obayashi A, Okochi K, Mayumi M. Familial clustering of asymptomatic carriers of Australia antigen and patients with chronic liver disease or primary liver cancer. Gastroenterology 1972;62:618–625.
- [4] Yang Y, Jin L, He YL, Wang K, Ma XH, Wang J, et al. Hepatitis B virus infection in clustering of infection in families with unfavorable prognoses in northwest China. J Med Virol 2013;85:1893–1899. doi: 10.1002/jmv.23649.
- [5] Liu J, Yao N, Chen T, Fu S, Wu Y, Feng Y, Tian Z, et al. FA-01-Prevalence of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hepatol 2019;70: E123–E124. doi: 10.1016/S0618-8278 (19)30217-8.
- [6] World Health Organization. WHO handbook for guideline development, 2nd ed. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/145714.
- [7] Brouwers MC, Kho ME, Browman GP, Burgers JS, Cluzeau F, Feder G, et al. AGREE II: advancing guideline development, reporting, and evaluation in health care. Prev Med 2010;51:421–424. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.08. 005.

### Liu J. et al: Guidelines for prevention of MTCT of HBV

- [8] Chen Y, Yang K, Marušić A, Qaseem A, Meerpohl JJ, Flottorp S, et al. Ein Instrument zur Erstellung von Leitlinienberichten: das RIGHT-Statement [A reporting tool for practice guidelines in health care: the RIGHT statement. Z Evid Fortbild Qual Gesundhwes 2017;127-128:3–10. doi: 10.1016/j.zefq. 2017.10.008.
- [9] Jaeschke R, Guyatt GH, Dellinger P, Schünemann H, Levy MM, Kunz R, et al. Use of GRADE grid to reach decisions on clinical practice guidelines when consensus is elusive. BMJ 2008;337:a744. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a744.
- [10] Jourdain G, Ngo-Giang-Huong N, Harrison L, Decker L, Khamduang W, Tierney C, et al. Tenofovir versus placebo to prevent perinatal transmission of hepatitis B. N Engl J Med 2018;378:911–923. doi: 10. 1056/NEJMoa1708131.
- [11] Pan CQ, Duan Z, Dai E, Zhang S, Han G, Wang Y, et al. Tenofovir to prevent hepatitis B transmission in mothers with high viral load. N Engl J Med 2016; 374:2324–2334. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1508660.
- [12] Fu S, Yao N, Feng Y, Li J, Zhao Y. Dynamic changes of HBsAg and/or HBV DNA in infants born to HBsAg(+) mothers: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. Hepatology 2019;70:581A.
- [13] Wang J, He Y, Jin D, Liu J, Zheng J, Yuan N, et al. No response to hepatitis B vaccine in infants born to HBsAg(+) mothers is associated to the transplacental transfer of HBsAg. Infect Dis (Lond) 2017;49:576–583. doi: 10. 1080/23744235.2017.1292541.
- [14] Chen T, Wang J, Feng Y, Yan Z, Zhang T, Liu M, et al. Dynamic changes of HBV markers and HBV DNA load in infants born to HBsAg(+) mothers: can positivity of HBsAg or HBV DNA at birth be an indicator for HBV infection of infants? BMC Infect Dis 2013;13:524. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-13-524.
- [15] Consensus on the management of hepatitis B. virus infection in women of childbearing age. Chinese Journal of Viral Diseases 2018;8:164–169.
- [16] Management algorithm for interrupting mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B. Journal of Clinical Hepatology 2017;33:1214–1217.
- [17] Terrault NA, Lok ASF, McMahon BJ, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, et al. Update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of chronic hepatitis B: AASLD 2018 hepatitis B guidance. Hepatology 2018;67:1560–1599. doi: 10.1002/hep.29800.
- [18] Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, Brink EW, Goldstein ST, Wang SA, et al. A comprehensive immunization strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. MMWR Recomm Rep 2005;54:1–31.
- [19] Immunization on schedules and instructions for vaccines of the National Immunization Program (2016 version). Chinese Journal of Viral Diseases 2017;7:81–86.
- [20] Fu S, Yao NJ, Feng YL, Li J, Wu YC, Tian Z, et al. The efficacy of two different dosages hepatitis B immunoglobulin in interrupting mother-to-infant transmission of hepatitis B virus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Hepatology 2019;70: E124.
- [21] Zhang, JY, Qi Y, Zhang TL. Vaccine response rates after immunization of infants born to HBV infection and normal pregnant women: systematic review. Papers collection of 2019 forum on evidence-based science and knowledge transfer and first symposium on clinical epidemiology and evidence-based medicine in northwest China, Lanzhou, 2019:47–48.
- [22] Wen WH, Chang MH, Zhao LL, Ni YH, Hsu HY, Wu JF, et al. Mother-to-infant transmission of hepatitis B virus infection: significance of maternal viral load and strategies for intervention. J Hepatol 2013;59:24–30. doi: 10.1016/j. jhep.2013.02.015.
- [23] Sarin SK, Kumar M, Lau GK, Abbas Z, Chan HL, Chen CJ, et al. Asian-Pacific clinical practice guidelines on the management of hepatitis B: a 2015 update. Hepatol Int 2016;10:1–98. doi: 10.1007/s12072-015-9675-4.
- [24] EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B. virus infection. J Hepatol 2017;67:370–398. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.03. 021.
- [25] National Institute for Health and Care Excellence: Clinical guidelines. In: Hepatitis B. (Chronic): Diagnosis and management of chronic hepatitis B in children, young people and adults. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, London, UK, 2013.
- [26] Brown RS Jr, McMahon BJ, Lok AS, Wong JB, Ahmed AT, Mouchli MA, et al. Antiviral therapy in chronic hepatitis B viral infection during pregnancy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology 2016;63:319–333. doi: 10.1002/hep.28302.
- [27] Wiseman E, Fraser MA, Holden S, Glass A, Kidson BL, Heron LG, et al. Perinatal transmission of hepatitis B virus: an Australian experience. Med J Aust 2009;190:489–492.
- [28] Zou H, Chen Y, Duan Z, Zhang H, Pan C. Virologic factors associated with failure to passive-active immunoprophylaxis in infants born to HBsAg-positive mothers. J Viral Hepat 2012;19:e18–e25. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2893. 2011.01492.x.
- [29] Sebivo (telbivudine). Product information. Novartis, Basel, Swiss, 2007.
- [30] Viread (tenofovir). Product information. Gilead Sciences, Foster City, CA, USA, 2013.

- [31] Han GR, Cao MK, Zhao W, Jiang HX, Wang CM, Bai SF, et al. A prospective and open-label study for the efficacy and safety of telbivudine in pregnancy for the prevention of perinatal transmission of hepatitis B virus infection. J Hepatol 2011;55:1215–1221. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.02.032.
- [32] Han GR, Jiang HX, Wang CM, Ding Y, Wang GJ, Yue X, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of telbivudine in infants born to mothers treated during the second or third trimesters of pregnancy. J Viral Hepat 2017;24:514–521. doi: 10.1111/jvh.12670.
- [33] Wang HL, Lu X, Yang X, Xu N. Antiviral therapy in lamivudine-resistant chronic hepatitis B patients: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2016;2016:3435965. doi: 10. 1155/2016/3435965.
- [34] Wang J, Liu J, Qi C, Yan T, Cao F, Jin L, et al. Efficacy of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate to prevent vertical transmission in mothers with lamivudine-resistant HBV. Antivir Ther 2015;20:681–687. doi: 10.3851/IMP2981.
- [35] Momper JD, Best B, Wang J, Stek A, Cressey T, Burchett S, *et al*. Tenofovir alafenamide pharmacokinetics with and without cobicistat in pregnancy. 22nd International AIDS Conference; 23–37 July 2018; Amsterdam.
- [36] Wu Y, Liu J, Feng Y, Fu S, Ji F, Ge L, et al. Efficacy and safety of antiviral therapy for HBV in different trimesters of pregnancy: systematic review and network meta-analysis. Hepatol Int 2020;14:180–189. doi: 10. 1007/s12072-020-10026-0.
- [37] Wu Q, Huang H, Sun X, Pan M, He Y, Tan S, *et al*. Telbivudine prevents vertical transmission of hepatitis B virus from women with high viral loads: a prospective long-term study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;13:1170–1176. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.08.043.
- [38] Yu M, Jiang Q, Ji Y, Jiang H, Wu K, Ju L, et al. The efficacy and safety of antiviral therapy with lamivudine to stop the vertical transmission of hepatitis B virus. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2012;31:2211–2218. doi: 10. 1007/s10096-012-1557-2.
- [39] Yang N, Kang S, Yao N. Safety of nucleoside analogues in pregant women with chronic HBV infection: a systematic review. Papers collection of 2019 forum on evidence-based science and knowledge transfer and first symposium on clinical epidemiology and evidence-based medicine in northwest China, Lanzhou, 2019:44–45.
- [40] Ling H. Ministry of Health issued the report on prevention and treatment of birth defects in China. China Modern Medicine 2012;19:1.
- [41] Correa A, Cragan J, Kucik J. Metropolitan Atlanta Congenital Defects Program 40th anniversary edition surveillance report: Reporting birth defects surveillance data 1968-2003 (vol 79, pg 65, 2007). Birth Defects Research Part a-Clinical and Molecular Teratology 2008;82:41–62. doi: 10.1002/bdra. 20434.
- [42] Spearman CW, Sonderup MW, Botha JF, van der Merwe SW, Song E, Kassianides C, et al. South African guideline for the management of chronic hepatitis B: 2013. S Afr Med J 2013;103:337–349.
- [43] World Health Organization. Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B. infection.
- [44] Beauverd Y, Radia D, Cargo C, Knapper S, Drummond M, Pillai A, et al. Pegylated interferon alpha-2a for essential thrombocythemia during pregnancy: outcome and safety. A case series. Haematologica 2016;101:e182–e184. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015.139691.
- [45] Sakai K, Ueda A, Hasegawa M, Ueda Y. Efficacy and safety of interferon alpha for essential thrombocythemia during pregnancy: two cases and a literature review. Int J Hematol 2018;108:203–207. doi: 10. 1007/s12185-017-2397-8.
- [46] Sandberg-Wollheim M, Alteri E, Moraga MS, Kornmann G. Pregnancy outcomes in multiple sclerosis following subcutaneous interferon beta-1a therapy. Mult Scler 2011;17:423–430. doi: 10.1177/1352458510394610.
- [47] Coyle PK, Sinclair SM, Scheuerle AE, Thorp JM Jr, Albano JD, Rametta MJ. Final results from the Betaseron (interferon  $\beta$ -1b) Pregnancy Registry: a prospective observational study of birth defects and pregnancy-related adverse events. BMJ Open 2014;4:e004536. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004536.
- [48] Atasoy HI, Sirmatel P, Sirmatel F. Pegylated interferon therapy during early pregnancy for hepatitis B infection: does it prevent vertical transmission? J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2017;30:745–747. doi: 10.1080/14767058. 2016.1183639.
- [49] Hiratsuka M, Minakami H, Koshizuka S, Sato I. Administration of interferonalpha during pregnancy: effects on fetus. J Perinat Med 2000;28:372–376. doi: 10.1515/JPM.2000.047.
- [50] Labarga P, Pinilla J, Cachorro I, Ruiz Y. Infant of 22 months of age with no anomalies born from a HCV- and HIV-infected mother under treatment with pegylated interferon, ribavirin and antiretroviral therapy during the first 16 weeks of pregnancy. Reprod Toxicol 2007;24:414–416. doi: 10.1016/j. reprotox.2007.07.002.
- [51] Romero RS, Lünzmann C, Bugge JP. Pregnancy outcomes in patients exposed to interferon beta-1b. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2015;86:587–589. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2014-308113.
- [52] Chang CY, Aziz N, Poongkunran M, Javaid A, Trinh HN, Lau D, et al. Serum alanine aminotransferase and hepatitis B DNA flares in pregnant and

- [53] Yi W, Pan CQ, Li MH, Wan G, Lv YW, Liu M, et al. The characteristics and predictors of postpartum hepatitis flares in women with chronic hepatitis B. Am J Gastroenterol 2018;113:686–693. doi: 10.1038/s41395-018-0010-2.
- [54] Liu J, Wang J, Qi C, Cao F, Tian Z, Guo D, et al. Baseline hepatitis B virus titer predicts initial postpartum hepatic flare: A multicenter prospective study. J Clin Gastroenterol 2018;52:902–907. doi: 10.1097/MCG. 00000000000877.
- [55] The guideline of prevention and treatment fro chronic hepatitis B: a 2015 update. Chinese Journal of Infectious Diseases 2015;33:641–662.
- [56] Fu S, Yao N, Liu J. Meta-analysis of changes in HBV DNA levels in pregnant women with chronic HBV infection after antiviral intervention. Papers collection of 2019 forum on evidence-based science and knowledge transfer and first symposium on clinical epidemiology and evidence-based medicine in northwest China, Lanzhou, 2019:54–55.
- [57] Marcellin P, Gane EJ, Flisiak R, Trinh HN, Petersen J, Gurel S, et al. Long term treatment with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate for chronic hepatitis B infection is safe and well tolerated and associated with durable virologic response with no detectable resistance: 8 year results from two phase 3 trials. Hepatology 2014;60:313A–314A.
- [58] Liaw YF, Gane E, Leung N, Zeuzem S, Wang Y, Lai CL, et al. 2-Year GLOBE trial results: telbivudine Is superior to lamivudine in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Gastroenterology 2009;136:486–495. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008. 10.026.
- [59] Lin J, Sha Y, Qiu P. Effects of hepatitis B virus infection in women with different ovarian reserve on outcomes of in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer. Reproduction and Contraception 2017;37:106–110.
- [60] Yu J. The effect of female HBV infection on the outcome of *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer. Kunming Medical University 2015.
- [61] Liu L, Liu Q, Wen Y. Ovarian reserve function in infertile women with HBV infection. Journal of Reproductive Medicine 2016;25:27–31.
- [62] Yao N, Ma Y, Wang J, Zhang X, Zhao Y, Chen Y, et al. Role of infertile female chronic hepatitis B virus infection in assisted reproduction and infantile outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology 2019;70:599A.
- [63] Tian Z, Li J, Liu J, Chen T, Zhao Y. Caesarean section versus vaginal delivery to prevent mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus: A meta-analysis. J Hepatol 2019;70:E124. doi: 10.1016/S0618-8278(19)30219-1.
- [64] Tran TT, Ahn J, Reau NS. ACG clinical guideline: Liver disease and pregnancy. Am J Gastroenterol 2016;111:176–194; quiz 196. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2015. 430.
- [65] Giles M, Visvanathan K, Lewin S, Bowden S, Locarnini S, Spelman T, et al. Clinical and virological predictors of hepatic flares in pregnant women with

### Liu J. et al: Guidelines for prevention of MTCT of HBV

chronic hepatitis B. Gut 2015;64:1810–1815. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308211.

- [66] Liu J, Wang J, Jin D, Qi C, Yan T, Cao F, et al. Hepatic flare after telbivudine withdrawal and efficacy of postpartum antiviral therapy for pregnancies with chronic hepatitis B virus. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017;32:177–183. doi: 10.1111/jgh.13436.
- [67] Zhao Y, Feng Y, Wu Y, Ji F, Chen T. Hepatic flare after antiviral treatment withdraw in post-partum for pregnancy of chronic hepatitis B viral infection: A pairwise and Bayesian network meta-analysis. J Hepatol 2019;70:E127. doi: 10.1016/S0618-8278(19)30224-5.
- [68] Wang X, Lu J, Wu Y. Clinical study on liver function, virology, serological changes and the safety of drug withdrawal in pregnant women who are chronic HBV carriers during pregnancy and postpartum. Chinese Journal of Hepatology 2019;27:261–266.
- [69] Zhang S, Li B, Wang X. Significance and correlation analysis of postpartum serum, saliva and breast HBV-DNA loads in parturients with different HBV infection patterns. Maternal and Child Health Care of China 2019;34:1974– 1977.
- [70] Montoya-Ferrer A, Zorrilla AM, Viljoen J, Molès JP, Newell ML, Van de Perre P, et al. High level of HBV DNA virus in the breast milk seems not to contraindicate breastfeeding. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis 2015;7:e2015042. doi: 10.4084/MJHID.2015.042.
- [71] Huang H. Effect of different feeding methods on mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus infection. Chinese Hepatology 2019;24:477–478.
- [72] Feng Y, Qian C, Yao N, Wu Y, Ma Y, Ma M, et al. The safety of breast-feeding on infant transmission of hepatitis B virus after combined immunoprophylaxis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology 2019;70:598A–599A.
- [73] Mugwanya KK, Hendrix CW, Mugo NR, Marzinke M, Katabira ET, Ngure K, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis use by breastfeeding HIV-uninfected women: A prospective short-term study of antiretroviral excretion in breast milk and infant absorption. PLoS Med 2016;13:e1002132. doi: 10.1371/journal. pmed.1002132.
- [74] Mirochnick M, Taha T, Kreitchmann R, Nielsen-Saines K, Kumwenda N, Joao E, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of tenofovir in HIV-infected women during labor and their infants during the first week of life. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2014;65:33–41. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3182a921eb.
- [75] Waitt C, Olagunju A, Nakalema S, Kyohaire I, Owen A, Lamorde M, et al. Plasma and breast milk pharmacokinetics of emtricitabine, tenofovir and lamivudine using dried blood and breast milk spots in nursing African mother-infant pairs. J Antimicrob Chemother 2018;73:1013–1019. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkx507.

### **Clinical Considerations of Coagulopathy in Acute Liver Failure**

Ahyoung Kim<sup>1</sup>, Bolin Niu<sup>2</sup>, Tinsay Woreta<sup>1</sup> and Po-Hung Chen\*<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA; <sup>2</sup>Division of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Department of Medicine, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, OH, USA

### Abstract

Acute liver failure (ALF) is the rapid onset of severe liver dysfunction, defined by the presence of hepatic encephalopathy and impaired synthetic function (international normalized ratio of  $\geq$ 1.5) in the absence of underlying liver disease. The elevated international normalized ratio value in ALF is often misinterpreted as an increased hemorrhagic tendency, which can lead to inappropriate, prophylactic transfusions of blood products. However, global assessments of coagulopathy via viscoelastic tests or thrombin generation assay suggest a reestablished hemostatic, or even hypercoagulable, status in patients with ALF. Although the current versions of global assays are not perfect, they can provide more nuanced insights into the hemostatic system in ALF than the conventional measures of coagulopathy.

**Citation of this article:** Kim A, Niu B, Woreta T, Chen PH. Clinical considerations of coagulopathy in acute liver failure. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):407–413. doi: 10.14218/ JCTH.2020.00058.

### Introduction

Acute liver failure (ALF) is a rare, rapidly progressive syndrome that results from an acute onset of severe liver dysfunction. The most commonly accepted definition of ALF includes the development of hepatic encephalopathy and coagulopathy (international normalized ratio [INR] of  $\geq$ 1.5).<sup>1,2</sup> The onset of acute symptoms occurs within 26 weeks, according to the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD).<sup>1</sup> But different societies have slightly different variations on the temporal classifications; for example, the European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) suggests three separate temporal subclassifications,<sup>2</sup> while the International Association for the Study of the Liver (IASL) and the Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver (APASL) both employ a timeline of 4 weeks (Table 1).<sup>3–5</sup> Unless otherwise specified, the present review will focus on the AASLD definition of ALF. INR reflects the disruptions in hepatic synthetic function in ALF and is an essential and useful clinical prognosticating tool. Clinicians often rely on INR to assess bleeding risk in ALF.<sup>6</sup> However, recent studies have demonstrated that a careful approach is indispensable when interpreting raw INR values in the context of hemostasis and bleeding diathesis in ALF. In this review, we present the utility of INR as a reflection of coagulopathy, the arguments for reestablished hemostatic system in ALF, and the suggested tools for evaluating coagulopathy in ALF.

### Interpretation of the INR value

Several reasons preclude the use of INR as the measure of coagulopathy in ALF. First, INR was designed for the specific indication of evaluating the interference of vitamin K-dependent clotting pathway, such as in warfarin-induced coagulopathy.<sup>7</sup> INR is less relevant in ALF because both vitamin Kdependent and -independent factors contribute to the coagulopathy. Second, INR reflects only the changes in procoagulant factors. INR arises from prothrombin time (PT) and is calculated as a ratio of patient's PT to standardized PT.<sup>8</sup> The laboratory measures of PT and activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) capture only the reduction in procoagulant factors.<sup>9</sup> These conventional studies of "coagulation" do not reflect any deficiencies in anticoagulant factors such as protein C, protein S, antithrombin, and tissue factor pathway inhibitor (commonly referred to as TFPI) that are also substantially reduced in ALF.10 Dynamic interactions between all these cellular components do not fully enter the INR.<sup>11</sup> Lastly, INR is unreliable. There can be large interlaboratory discrepancies between INR measurements in patients with liver disease because this test was not developed to reflect coagulopathy in liver disease.<sup>12</sup> Robert and Chazoulleres<sup>12</sup> demonstrated that INR provided inadequate normalization of PT in patients with liver failure, whereas INR normalized PT in anticoagulated patients. Trotter et al.<sup>13</sup> additionally showed a significant inconsistency in INR results by sending a sample of blood to three reference laboratories. The laboratory variability resulted in different Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (commonly known as MELD) scores and an average change in organ allocation priority from 58<sup>th</sup> to 77<sup>th</sup> percentile (p=0.01). The irregularities in PT/INR were thought to be due to different sample storage time,



**Keywords:** Acute liver failure; Coagulopathy; Thrombin generation assay; Viscoelastic test.

**Abbreviations:** AASLD, American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases; ALF, acute liver failure; ALI, acute liver injury; APASL, Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; EASL, European Association for the Study of the Liver; HE, hepatic encephalopathy; IASL, International Association for the Study of the Liver; ICP, intracranial pressure; INR, International Normalized Ratio; MELD, Model for End-Stage Liver Disease; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1; PT, prothrombin time; ROTEM, rotational thromboelastometry; TAFI, thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor; TEG, thromboelastography; TFPI, tissue factor pathway inhibitor; TGA, thrombin generation assay; tPA, tissue plasminogen activator; TPO, thrombopoietin; VET, viscoelastic test; vWF, von Willebrand factor.

Received: 20 June 2020; Revised: 8 August 2020; Accepted: 31 August 2020 \*Correspondence to: Po-Hung Chen, Division of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, 1830 E. Monument Street, Suite 429, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA. Tel: +1-410-614-3530, Fax: +1-410-550-7861, E-mail: pchen37@jhmi.edu

Society	ALF definition	Time course	Notes
AASLD	Presence of INR $\geq$ 1.5 and any degree of HE	Illness duration of <26 weeks	<ul> <li>Without preexisting cirrhosis except for patients with Wilson's disease, vertically-acquired hepatitis B virus, or autoimmune hepatitis</li> <li>AASLD does not formally endorse ALF subgroups based on time course</li> </ul>
EASL	Presence of acute abnormality of liver blood tests associated with coagulopathy (INR of >1.5) of liver etiology and HE/jaundice	<ul> <li>Hyperacute: development of HE within 7 days of jaundice</li> <li>Acute: development of HE between 8 and 28 days of jaundice</li> <li>Subacute: development of HE within 5-12 weeks of jaundice</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Without previous severe fibrotic or cirrhotic chronic liver disease, except for patients with acute <i>de novo</i> autoimmune hepatitis, Budd-Chiari syndrome and Wilson's disease</li> <li>Jaundice is considered the first symptom</li> </ul>
IASL	Presence of sudden and progressive liver dysfunction characterized by HE	Development of HE within 4 weeks of onset of symptoms • Hyperacute: <10 days • Fulminant: 10-30 days	• Without preexisting liver disease, except for patients with Wilson's disease and drug/toxic or viral hepatitis superimposed on preexisting liver disease
APASL	Presence of severe liver injury, coagulopathy INR of $\geq$ 1.5, and any degree of HE	Illness duration up to 4 weeks	Without chronic liver disease or cirrhosis
Acute Liver Failure Study Group of Japan	Presence of fulminant hepatitis with HE and PT time less than 40% of standardized value	Development of grade II or more severe HE within 8 weeks of onset of disease symptoms • Acute: HE within 10 days • Subacute: HE later than 11 days	<ul> <li>Exclude acute liver failure caused by drug/chemical intoxication and microcirculatory disturbances,</li> <li>Wilson's disease, acute fatty liver of pregnancy and Reye's syndrome</li> <li>Include asymptomatic hepatitis B virus carriers showing acute exacerbation of hepatitis</li> </ul>

Abbreviations: ALF, acute liver failure; AASLD, American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases; INR, international normalized ratio; HE, hepatic encephalopathy; EASL, European Association for the Study of the Liver; IASL, International Association for the Study of the Liver; APASL, Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver; PT, prothrombin time.

international sensitivity index of the thromboplastin, instrumentation, and the methodology used.  $^{\rm 10}$ 

The differences in PT/INR values within subclasses of ALF yield an interesting observation. In a study of 131 patients at the King's College in England, PT was more prolonged in fulminant hepatic failure (development of hepatic encephalopathy [HE] within 8 weeks) at median of 58 seconds when compared to PT in late-onset hepatic failure (development of HE between 8 and 24 weeks) at median of 32 seconds (p<0.01).<sup>14</sup> Similarly, the landmark Lancet study that first described the temporal subclassifications of ALF adopted by the EASL guidelines showed that the admission PT value was highest in the ALF group (development of HE within 8-28 days of jaundice), followed by the hyperacute liver failure group (development of HE within 0-7 days of jaundice) and the subacute liver failure group (development of HE within 29-72 days of jaundice).<sup>15</sup> Despite this interesting observation, the clinical significance in terms of coagulopathy and bleeding risk behind these differences in PT/INR values in ALF subgroups has not been explored.

Elevated INR is frequently observed in ALF but bleeding complications are uncommon. Munoz *et al.*<sup>7</sup> studied more than 1,000 patients with ALF from the Acute Liver Failure

Study Group, a consortium of 24 tertiary care liver centers collecting data on patients with ALF. The mean INR of this cohort was 3.8 (ranging from 1.5 to >10.0). At admission, 81% of their cohort had an INR value between 1.5 and 5.0. Fourteen percent had an INR value ranging from 5.0 to 10.0, and 5% had an INR >10.0.7 Another study on 2,095 ALF patients who presented to the Liver Intensive Therapy Unit at Kings College Hospital between 1973 and 2008 showed a similar INR profile. The mean INR in their cohort of 840 nonparacetamol ALF patients was 3.5 (range of 2.3 to 6), and the mean INR in their cohort of 1,255 paracetamol ALF patients was 6.2 (range of 3.9 to 9.3).<sup>16</sup> Despite the elevated INR values, spontaneous overt bleeding in ALF has been reported to be uncommon.<sup>17-20</sup> Bleeding in ALF is usually silent or manifested as mucosal membrane bleeding, often gastrointestinal in origin.7,19,21 In the ALF Study Group, the INR values of ALF patients who experienced bleeding were not significantly different from those who did not experience bleeding.<sup>7</sup> Bleeding complications from invasive procedures such as the placement of an intracranial pressure (ICP) monitor is also comparable to those without invasive procedures. In a cohort of 58 ALF patients, bleeding from ICP monitor placement was 10.3%, and half of the complications

were incidental radiological findings.<sup>22</sup> More recently published in 2018, the overall incidence of bleeding was 10.6% during the first 7 days of admission, 89% spontaneous and 11% post-procedural, in a cohort of 1,770 adult patients with ALF in the ALF Study Group Registry. Bleeding complications were the cause of death in 2.1% of their patients. Importantly, INR was not statistically different between bleeders and non-bleeders.<sup>6</sup>

### **Rebalanced hemostasis in ALF**

The exact mechanism of coagulopathy in ALF remains to be fully elucidated. However, current evidence suggests that the coagulopathy in ALF is derived from a complex and delicate interplay between decreased synthesis of procoagulant factors and anticoagulant factors, impaired fibrinolytic systems, defective platelets, and thrombocytopenia.<sup>7,17,23</sup> A significant alteration to the hemostatic system between procoagulant and anticoagulant pathways in ALF results in a delicate balance.<sup>24</sup> Any insult to this newly established system can tip the scale toward either thrombotic or bleeding complications.<sup>19</sup>

Acute hepatocellular injury leads to a considerable reduction in coagulation factor levels, as reflected by the prolonged PT/INR values. Hepatocytes synthesize most coagulation factors, including fibrinogen and factors II (prothrombin), V, VII, IX, X, XI, and XII.<sup>25</sup> In the 1970s, Boks et al.<sup>26</sup> reported that the levels of clotting factors were extremely depressed in their cohort of 7 ALF patients. In another study, 31 patients with acute paracetamol overdose showed reduced coagulation factors II, V, VII, and X but increased levels of factor VIII, an acute phase reactant synthesized in endothelial cells.<sup>19,25,27,28</sup> Coagulation factors also have a short half-life,<sup>23</sup> which augments the effect of reduced production of coagulation factors in ALF. These changes in coagulant factors are offset by decreased anticoagulant proteins in ALF.<sup>19</sup> Anticoagulant proteins, such as protein C, protein S, protein Z, protein Z-dependent protease inhibitor, antithrombin, heparin cofactor II, and  $\alpha 2\text{-macroglobulin},$  are all synthesized by the liver;  $^{10,29,30}$ an acute injury to hepatocytes leads to a diminished generation of these factors.

In addition to the decreased levels of coagulant and anticoagulant factors, fibrinogen is affected qualitatively and quantitatively in ALF. Fibrinogen is a glycoprotein that is cleaved by thrombin into fibrin to form a blood clot.<sup>31</sup> Green et al.<sup>32</sup> first reported the primary abnormality in fibrinogen in ALF by demonstrating varying degrees of disturbances in fibrin polymerization. A follow-up study modified the original calorimetry technique by Green et al. and reported dysfibrinogenemia in 86% of their 29 ALF patients.<sup>33</sup> These two studies confirmed the high incidence of acquired dysfibrinogenemia in ALF. Furthermore, fibrinogen produced in patients with ALF has increased amounts of sialic acid, which results in abnormal fibrinogen function and prolonged thrombin time.<sup>25</sup> Quantitatively, fibrinogen levels are typically normal or slightly reduced in ALF,<sup>10,25</sup> likely related to the fact that fibrinogen is an acute-phase protein.<sup>19</sup> Qualitatively, the disturbance in fibrinogen may contribute to coagulopathy in ALF.

Fibrinolysis, a process that prevents clotting, is also affected in ALF. All proteins involved in fibrinolysis, except for tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1), are synthesized by the liver.<sup>24</sup> The plasma levels of plasminogen, antiplasmin ( $\alpha$ -2 plasmin

inhibitor or  $\alpha$ -2 PI), thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor (TAFI), and factor XIII are all significantly reduced in ALF.<sup>10,24,26</sup> The plasma levels of tPA and PAI-1 (inhibitor of tPA) are increased during ALF, due to their release by activated endothelium and reduced hepatic clearance.<sup>10,19,25</sup> However, PAI-1 levels are even more substantially increased than tPA levels in ALF, resulting in impaired fibrinolysis and hypofibrinolysis in ALF.<sup>10,19,24</sup>

Platelet dysfunction is routinely observed in ALF.<sup>23</sup> In addition, there may be mild to moderate reduction in platelet count,17,19,24 though some patients may still retain normal platelet counts. According to data of more than 1,000 ALF patients from the Acute Liver Failure Study Group, the median platelet level was 132,000/mL (range of 1,000 to  $533,000)^7$ . Thrombocytopenia in ALF is thought to result from impaired platelet production and thrombin-mediated platelet consumption, though the exact mechanism is not yet known.<sup>23</sup> Initially, it was hypothesized that the decreased synthesis of thrombopoietin (TPO) was responsible for thrombocytopenia in ALF because TPO is produced by the liver. However, Schiødt et al.34 measured the TPO level in 51 patients with ALF and reported that TPO level was above the upper limit of normal in 22 patients, normal in 24 patients, and below normal in only 5 patients. TPO levels did not correlate with platelet count in ALF. However, the level and function of platelet adhesive protein von Willebrand factor (vWF) and its cleaving protease ADAMTS13 in plasma have shown to affect platelet function in acute liver injury (ALI) and ALF. ALI is defined as INR of  $\geq$ 1.5 in the absence of prior liver disease and illness duration of  $\leq$ 26 weeks but without hepatic encephalopathy. vWF is a multimeric protein that is essential to platelet adhesion, and its reactivity towards platelets is proportional to its size, which is regulated by ADAMTS13. When compared to control subjects, patients with ALI and ALF had highly elevated vWF levels but reduced vWF function and reduced ADAMTS13 level and function. The overall platelet activity was normal or perhaps even increased; the rise in the concentration of vWF and decreased ADAMTS13 level and function more than compensated for the decrease in vWF function.  $^{11,35}$ 

There is also evidence suggesting that ALF may be a hypercoagulable state. Stravitz *et al.*<sup>36</sup> conducted a study on 50 ALI/ALF patients assessing the level of microparticles in their plasma. Microparticles are procoagulant membrane fragments (ranging in size from 0.1 to 1.0µm) derived from various cells. In their cohort, three dominant sizes of microparticles (0.27, 0.28 to 0.64, >0.64µm) were detected in ALI/ALF patients and healthy controls, and the ALI/ALF patients had a significantly higher concentration of all sizes of microparticles. When displaying tissue factor, a membrane protein vital in initiating coagulation<sup>37,38</sup> these highly procoagulant microparticles released from acutely injured liver potentially mediate the activation of coagulation and result in intravascular coagulation. The process further exacerbates liver damage in ALF.<sup>36</sup>

Overall, there is an overwhelming amount of evidence to suggest that the hemostasis in ALF is complex and rebalanced (Table 2, Fig. 1). Reduction in procoagulant factors counters diminished anticoagulant factors. Decreased levels of antiplasmin and TAFI offset increased levels of PAI-1 and reduced plasminogen. The increased amount of vWF compensates for the platelet dysfunction. Microparticles may even

#### Table 2. Changes of hemostasis in ALF

Factors	Factors contributing to anticoagulation	Factors contributing to coagulation
Coagulation factors	<ul> <li>Reduced procoagulant factors</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Reduced anticoagulant factors</li> <li>Increased factor VIII</li> </ul>
Fibrinolytic pathway	<ul><li>Increased tPA</li><li>Reduced TAFI</li><li>Reduced antiplasmin</li></ul>	<ul><li>Increased PAI-1 (more than tPA)</li><li>Reduced plasminogen</li></ul>
Fibrinogen	• Dysfibrinogenemia	N/A
Platelets	<ul><li>Platelet dysfunction</li><li>Thrombocytopenia</li></ul>	<ul><li>Increased vWF</li><li>Reduced ADAMTS13</li></ul>
Microparticles	N/A	• Increased microparticles

Abbreviations: ALF, acute liver failure; N/A, not applicable; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1; TAFI, thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor; tPA, tissue plasminogen activator; vWF, von Willebrand factor.

play a role in normalizing coagulopathy. Hence, an elevated INR does not fully represent the cellular processes in ALF.

### Assessing hemostasis in ALF

### Viscoelastic tests

Conventional coagulation tests, such as PT/INR, do not entirely represent the *in vivo* process in the *in vitro* setting. Global assays that consider all aspects of coagulopathy, including pro/anticoagulation mechanisms and fibrinolysis, offer many advantages in ALF. More recently, viscoelastic tests (VET) of coagulopathy, including thromboelastographic (TEG) and rotational thromboelastometry (ROTEM), have emerged for non-surgical applications in acute and chronic liver diseases. VET is a single point-of-care assay that allows for real-time functional evaluation of viscoelastic properties of coagulation, including dynamics of clot formation, ultimate clot strength, clot stability, and degradation.<sup>11,39-42</sup> TEG and ROTEM have long been utilized in liver transplantation as its use reduces blood and fluid infusion volume during surgery.<sup>43-45</sup>

In ALF, the parameters reflecting primary and secondary hemostasis are typically normal on TEG. Stravitz *et al.*<sup>11</sup> conducted a prospective ancillary project to The Acute Liver Failure Study Group and performed TEG on 50 patients with ALI/ALF on admission. The mean INR was elevated at 3.4 (range of 1.5 to 9.6) but the mean and median TEG parameters were normal for the entire population. Thirty-two patients (63%) had normal TEG studies, and four patients (8%) actually had hypercoagulable TEG parameters. Normal clot formation was observed without activation



Fig. 1. Coagulation cascade in acute liver failure

### Kim A. et al: Coagulopathy in acute liver failure

Table 3.	Different modalities	of coa	gulopathy	/ measurement in ALF
rabie bi	Biller ente moduliteo	0. 004	guioputity	measurement in AE

	Pros	Cons
Conventional tests (platelets/PT/INR)	• Quick • Widely available	<ul> <li>Inability to measure platelet dysfunction</li> <li>Variability in PT/INR in liver disease rendering inaccurate measurements</li> </ul>
VET	<ul> <li>Quick</li> <li>Clinically available</li> <li>Widely used in trauma, liver transplantation, cardiac surgeries to guide transfusions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Insensitive to vWF</li> <li>Lack of protein C activation</li> <li>Absence of precise molecular mechanism behind tracings</li> </ul>
TGA	<ul> <li>Ability to study precise molecular mechanisms</li> <li>More global assessment of coagulopathy including protein C activation and vWF</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Time consuming</li><li>Only available in research setting</li></ul>

Abbreviations: INR, international normalized ratio; PT, prothrombin time; TGA, thrombin generation assay; VET, viscoelastic tests; vWF, von Willebrand factor; TGA, thrombin generation assay.

of the protein C system.<sup>11</sup> Furthermore, the authors reported that the number of thrombotic complications was higher than bleeding complications. Bleeding was reported in six patients, while thrombosis occurred in eleven patients.<sup>11</sup> In another study, plasma samples from 20 ALF patients showed similar results. The median INR in their cohort was 4.1 (interquartile range from 2.2 to 6.1) but it did not correlate with the TEG parameters. The authors demonstrated hypocoagulable TEG tracing in 20%, normal TEG tracing in 45%, and hypercoagulable tracing in 35%.<sup>46</sup> No significant bleeding complications or need for blood transfusions occurred in their study.<sup>46</sup> In summary, TEG tracings suggest perhaps a reestablished hemostasis system in ALF despite the elevated INR values.

### Thrombin generation assay

VET is a useful bedside tool, where the results are typically available within minutes and the tracings available in realtime. However, one critique is that VET may not represent the true hemostatic balance in ALF because it lacks protein C activation and is insensitive to vWF in cirrhotic patients.<sup>47</sup> Thrombin generation assay (TGA) overcomes the inherent weaknesses of VET by providing a more accurate interplay between pro- and anticoagulant factors in ALF, thus evaluating the coagulopathy globally. However, unlike VET, TGA can be time-consuming and is currently only available in research settings.<sup>48</sup>

Lisman *et al.*<sup>49</sup> performed TGA using the Calibrated Automated Thrombogram on 50 patients with ALI/ALF and 40 healthy controls. Thrombin generation in patients with ALI/ALF was not significantly different from thrombin generation in control subjects when thrombomodulin was added to test mixture.49 The presence of thrombomodulin allowed for full activation of protein C in ALF, a condition known to have protein C deficiency.<sup>9</sup> This finding of indistinguishable thrombin generation between ALI/ALF patients and control subjects supports the state of reestablished hemostasis in ALF. Fibrinolytic capacity was also significantly impaired in ALI/ALF patients, supporting hypofibrinolysis in these patients. No lysis was observed within 3 h in 73.5% of ALI/ALF patients but in only 2.5% of healthy controls. This phenomenon was associated with decreased levels of plasminogen and increased levels of PAI-1.49 Moreover, the intact thrombin-generating capacity and hypofibrinolytic status persisted throughout the first week of admission in ALI/ALF patients.<sup>49</sup> Habib *et al.*<sup>50</sup> conducted a similar study on 32 patients with ALI/ALF and 40 control subjects utilizing TGA. Patients with ALI/ALF had a median INR of 3.36 (interquartile range 2.67 to 7.01) and decreased coagulation factors, except for factor VIII, as expected. The authors confirmed that thrombin generation in the presence of thrombomodulin in ALI/ALF patients was not significantly different from healthy controls. The ratio of thrombin generation with thrombomodulin to thrombin generation without thrombomodulin was significantly elevated in patients with ALI/ALF, suggesting hypercoagulable state in these patients.<sup>50</sup> Again, study data showed that TGA demonstrates a rebalanced hemostatic system in ALF that is not reflected in elevated INR values.

### Conclusions

Based on the current evidence, global assessment of hemostasis in ALF indicates a "rebalanced" state. Therefore, prophylactic transfusion of blood products is unwarranted and may expose patients to harmful effects, such as volume overload and transfusion reaction, without a clear benefit.<sup>17,23,47</sup> Global tests of hemostasis have gained more recognition as potential tools in the evaluation of coagulopathy in patients with liver disease (Table 3). American Gastroenterological Association acknowledges the potential role of global assessment when evaluating clotting in patients with cirrhosis.<sup>51</sup> Both the European Association for the Study of the Liver and the Society of Critical Care Medicine also recommend the use of thromboviscous technology, such as VET and TGA, to assess bleeding/thrombotic risks in critically ill patients with ALF.<sup>2,42</sup> Neither the latest study data nor the most professional society guidelines support relying on INR as the sole measure of coagulopathy in ALF. Future iterations and standardization of VET and TGA are likely to provide a more comprehensive representation of coagulopathy in ALF.

### Funding

This work was supported by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism of the National Institutes of Health under award number K23AA028297 (to PHC) and Johns Hopkins University Clinician Scientist Award (to PHC). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Conceptualization and writing the original draft preparation (AK and PHC), data curation and visualization (AK), funding acquisition and supervision (PHC), writing, review and editing (AK, BN, TW, and PHC).

#### References

- Lee WM, Stravitz RT, Larson AM. Introduction to the revised American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases Position Paper on acute liver failure 2011. Hepatology 2012;55:965–967. doi: 10.1002/hep.25551.
- [2] Cordoba J, Dhawan A, Larsen FS, Manns M, Samuel D, Simpson KJ, et al. EASL Clinical Practical Guidelines on the management of acute (fulminant) liver failure. J Hepatol 2017;66:1047–1081. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.12. 003.
- [3] Tandon BN, Bernauau J, O'Grady J, Gupta SD, Krisch RE, Liaw YF, et al. Recommendations of the International Association for the Study of the Liver Subcommittee on nomenclature of acute and subacute liver failure. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1999;14:403–404. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1746.1999. 01905.x.
- [4] Mochida S, Nakayama N, Matsui A, Nagoshi S, Fujiwara K. Re-evaluation of the Guideline published by the Acute Liver Failure Study Group of Japan in 1996 to determine the indications of liver transplantation in patients with fulminant hepatitis. Hepatol Res 2008;38:970–979. doi: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2008.00368.x.
- [5] Sarin SK, Choudhury A, Sharma MK, Maiwall R, Al Mahtab M, Rahman S, et al. Acute-on-chronic liver failure: consensus recommendations of the Asian Pacific association for the study of the liver (APASL): an update. Hepatol Int 2019;13:353–390. doi: 10.1007/s12072-019-09946-3.
- [6] Stravitz RT, Ellerbe C, Durkalski V, Schilsky M, Fontana RJ, Peterseim C, et al. Bleeding complications in acute liver failure. Hepatology 2018;67:1931– 1942. doi: 10.1002/hep.29694.
- [7] Munoz SJ, Rajender Reddy K, Lee W. The coagulopathy of acute liver failure and implications for intracranial pressure monitoring. Neurocrit Care 2008;9: 103–107. doi: 10.1007/s12028-008-9087-6.
- [8] Riley RS, Rowe D, Fisher LM. Clinical utilization of the international normalized ratio (INR). J Clin Lab Anal 2000;14:101–114. doi: 10.1002/(SICI) 1098-2825(2000)14:3<101::AID-JCLA4>3.0.CO;2-A.
- [9] Tripodi A, Salerno F, Chantarangkul V, Clerici M, Cazzaniga M, Primignani M, et al. Evidence of normal thrombin generation in cirrhosis despite abnormal conventional coagulation tests. Hepatology 2005;41:553–558. doi: 10. 1002/hep.20569.
- [10] Caldwell SH, Hoffman M, Lisman T, Macik BG, Northup PG, Reddy KR, et al. Coagulation disorders and hemostasis in liver disease: pathophysiology and critical assessment of current management. Hepatology 2006;44:1039– 1046. doi: 10.1002/hep.21303.
- [11] Stravitz RT, Lisman T, Luketic VA, Sterling RK, Puri P, Fuchs M, et al. Minimal effects of acute liver injury/acute liver failure on hemostasis as assessed by thromboelastography. J Hepatol 2012;56:129–136. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2011.04.020.
- [12] Robert A, Chazouillères O. Prothrombin time in liver failure: time, ratio, activity percentage, or international normalized ratio? Hepatology 1996; 24:1392–1394. doi: 10.1053/jhep.1996.v24.pm0008938167.
- [13] Trotter JF, Brimhall B, Arjal R, Phillips C. Specific laboratory methodologies achieve higher model for endstage liver disease (MELD) scores for patients listed for liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2004;10:995–1000. doi: 10. 1002/lt.20195.
- [14] Gimson AE, O'Grady J, Ede RJ, Portmann B, Williams R. Late onset hepatic failure: clinical, serological and histological features. Hepatology 1986;6: 288–294. doi: 10.1002/hep.1840060222.
- [15] O'Grady JG, Schalm SW, Williams R. Acute liver failure: redefining the syndromes. Lancet 1993;342:273–275. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(93)91818-7.
- [16] Bernal W, Hyyrylainen A, Gera A, Audimoolam VK, McPhail MJ, Auzinger G, et al. Lessons from look-back in acute liver failure? A single centre experi-

ence of 3300 patients. J Hepatol 2013;59:74-80. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2013.02.010.

- [17] De Gasperi A, Corti A, Mazza E, Prosperi M, Amici O, Bettinelli L. Acute liver failure: managing coagulopathy and the bleeding diathesis. Transplant Proc 2009;41:1256–1259. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.03.007.
- [18] Bernal W, Wendon J. Acute liver failure. N Engl J Med 2013;369:2525–2534. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1208937.
- [19] Lisman T, Stravitz RT. Rebalanced hemostasis in patients with acute liver failure. Semin Thromb Hemost 2015;41:468–473. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1550430.
- [20] Stravitz RT. Potential applications of thromboelastography in patients with acute and chronic liver disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y) 2012;8: 513–520.
- [21] Shalimar, Acharya SK. Management in acute liver failure. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2015;5:S104–S115. doi: 10.1016/j.jceh.2014.11.005.
- [22] Vaquero J, Fontana RJ, Larson AM, Bass NM, Davern TJ, Shakil AO, *et al*. Complications and use of intracranial pressure monitoring in patients with acute liver failure and severe encephalopathy. Liver Transpl 2005;11:1581– 1589. doi: 10.1002/lt.20625.
- [23] Munoz SJ, Stravitz RT, Gabriel DA. Coagulopathy of acute liver failure. Clin Liver Dis 2009;13:95–107. doi: 10.1016/j.cld.2008.10.001.
- [24] Lisman T, Leebeek FW. Hemostatic alterations in liver disease: a review on pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and treatment. Dig Surg 2007;24: 250–258. doi: 10.1159/000103655.
- [25] Pluta A, Gutkowski K, Hartleb M. Coagulopathy in liver diseases. Adv Med Sci 2010;55:16–21. doi: 10.2478/v10039-010-0018-3.
- [26] Boks AL, Brommer EJ, Schalm SW, Van Vliet HH. Hemostasis and fibrinolysis in severe liver failure and their relation to hemorrhage. Hepatology 1986;6: 79–86. doi: 10.1002/hep.1840060115.
- [27] Kerr R, Newsome P, Germain L, Thomson E, Dawson P, Stirling D, et al. Effects of acute liver injury on blood coagulation. J Thromb Haemost 2003; 1:754–759. doi: 10.1046/j.1538-7836.2003.00194.x.
- [28] Hollestelle MJ, Geertzen HG, Straatsburg IH, van Gulik TM, van Mourik JA. Factor VIII expression in liver disease. Thromb Haemost 2004;91:267–275. doi: 10.1160/TH03-05-0310.
- [29] Lisman T, Porte RJ. Rebalanced hemostasis in patients with liver disease: evidence and clinical consequences. Blood 2010;116:878–885. doi: 10. 1182/blood-2010-02-261891.
- [30] Senzolo M, Burra P, Cholongitas E, Burroughs AK. New insights into the coagulopathy of liver disease and liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol 2006;12:7725–7736. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i48.7725.
- [31] Herrick S, Blanc-Brude O, Gray A, Laurent G. Fibrinogen. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1999;31:741–746. doi: 10.1016/s1357-2725(99)00032-1.
- [32] Green G, Thomson JM, Dymock IW, Poller L. Abnormal fibrin polymerization in liver disease. Br J Haematol 1976;34:427–439. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1976.tb03589.x.
- [33] Francis JL, Armstrong DJ. Acquired dysfibrinogenaemia in liver disease. J Clin Pathol 1982;35:667–672. doi: 10.1136/jcp.35.6.667.
- [34] Schiødt FV, Balko J, Schilsky M, Harrison ME, Thornton A, Lee WM. Thrombopoietin in acute liver failure. Hepatology 2003;37:558–561. doi: 10. 1053/jhep.2003.50113.
- [35] Hugenholtz GC, Adelmeijer J, Meijers JC, Porte RJ, Stravitz RT, Lisman T. An unbalance between von Willebrand factor and ADAMTS13 in acute liver failure: implications for hemostasis and clinical outcome. Hepatology 2013;58:752–761. doi: 10.1002/hep.26372.
- [36] Butenas S, Orfeo T, Mann KG. Tissue factor in coagulation: Which? Where? When? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2009;29:1989–1996. doi: 10. 1161/ATVBAHA.108.177402.
- [37] Grover SP, Mackman N. Tissue factor: An essential mediator of hemostasis and trigger of thrombosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2018;38:709–725. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309846.
- [38] Stravitz RT, Bowling R, Bradford RL, Key NS, Glover S, Thacker LR, et al. Role of procoagulant microparticles in mediating complications and outcome of acute liver injury/acute liver failure. Hepatology 2013;58:304–313. doi: 10. 1002/hep.26307.
- [39] Mancuso A, Fung K, Cox D, Mela M, Patch D, Burroughs AK. Assessment of blood coagulation in severe liver disease using thromboelastography: use of citrate storage versus native blood. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2003;14:211– 216. doi: 10.1097/00001721-200302000-00015.
- [40] Intagliata NM, Davis JPE, Caldwell SH. Coagulation pathways, hemostasis, and thrombosis in liver failure. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2018;39:598– 608. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1673658.
- [41] Reikvam H, Steien E, Hauge B, Liseth K, Hagen KG, Størkson R, et al. Thrombelastography. Transfus Apher Sci 2009;40:119–123. doi: 10.1016/j. transci.2009.01.019.
- [42] Nanchal R, Subramanian R, Karvellas CJ, Hollenberg SM, Peppard WJ, Singbartl K, et al. Guidelines for the management of adult acute and acute-on-chronic liver failure in the ICU: Cardiovascular, endocrine, hematologic, pulmonary, and renal considerations. Crit Care Med 2020;48:e173– e191. doi: 10.1097/CCM.000000000004192.

### Kim A. et al: Coagulopathy in acute liver failure

- [43] Kang YG, Martin DJ, Marquez J, Lewis JH, Bontempo FA, Shaw BW Jr, et al. Intraoperative changes in blood coagulation and thrombelastographic monitoring in liver transplantation. Anesth Analg 1985;64:888–896. doi: 10. 1213/0000539-198509000-00008.
- [44] Alamo JM, León A, Mellado P, Bernal C, Marín LM, Cepeda C, et al. Is "intraoperating room" thromboelastometry useful in liver transplantation? A casecontrol study in 303 patients. Transplant Proc 2013;45:3637–3639. doi: 10. 1016/j.transproceed.2013.11.008.
- [45] Hawkins RB, Raymond SL, Hartjes T, Efron PA, Larson SD, Andreoni KA, et al. Review: The perioperative use of thromboelastography for liver transplant patients. Transplant Proc 2018;50:3552–3558. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2018.07.032.
- [46] Agarwal B, Wright G, Gatt A, Riddell A, Vemala V, Mallett S, et al. Evaluation of coagulation abnormalities in acute liver failure. J Hepatol 2012;57:780– 786. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.06.020.
- [47] Lisman T, Bernal W. Management of hemostatic disorders in patients with advanced liver disease admitted to an intensive care unit. Transfus Med Rev 2017;31:245–251. doi: 10.1016/j.tmrv.2017.06.002.
- [48] Davis JPE, Northup PG, Caldwell SH, Intagliata NM. Viscoelastic testing in liver disease. Ann Hepatol 2018;17:205–213. doi: 10.5604/01.3001.0010.8635.
- [49] Lisman T, Bakhtiari K, Adelmeijer J, Meijers JC, Porte RJ, Stravitz RT. Intact thrombin generation and decreased fibrinolytic capacity in patients with acute liver injury or acute liver failure. J Thromb Haemost 2012;10:1312– 1319. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2012.04770.x.
- [50] Habib M, Roberts LN, Patel RK, Wendon J, Bernal W, Arya R. Evidence of rebalanced coagulation in acute liver injury and acute liver failure as measured by thrombin generation. Liver Int 2014;34:672–678. doi: 10.1111/liv.12369.
- [51] O'Leary JG, Greenberg CS, Patton HM, Caldwell SH. AGA clinical practice update: Coagulation in cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2019;157:34–43.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.03.070.



### Skeletal Muscle Dysfunction in the Development and Progression of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

Sarah Altajar<sup>1</sup> and Gyorgy Baffy<sup>\*1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, Massachusetts, USA; <sup>2</sup>Department of Medicine, VA Boston Healthcare System, Boston, Massachusetts, USA; <sup>3</sup>Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, USA

### Abstract

The association between the pathogenesis and natural course of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and skeletal muscle dysfunction is increasingly recognized. These obesity-associated disorders originate primarily from sustained caloric excess, gradually disrupting cellular and molecular mechanisms of the adipose-muscle-liver axis resulting in end-stage tissue injury exemplified by cirrhosis and sarcopenia. These major clinical phenotypes develop through complex organ-tissue interactions from the earliest stages of NAFLD. While the role of adipose tissue expansion and remodeling is well established in the development of NAFLD, less is known about the specific interplay between skeletal muscle and the liver in this process. Here, the relationship between skeletal muscle and liver in various stages of NAFLD progression is reviewed. Current knowledge of the pathophysiology is summarized with the goal of better understanding the natural history, risk stratification, and management of NAFLD.

**Citation of this article:** Altajar S, Baffy G. Skeletal muscle dysfunction in the development and progression of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):414–423. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00065.

#### Introduction

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) has become the most prevalent liver disorder of our time, affecting more

than one billion people worldwide and with an estimated 30% prevalence in the adult US population, representing a significant global healthcare burden.<sup>1,2</sup> NAFLD is a manifestation of metabolic syndrome in the liver, having complex pathobiology. Its clinical outcomes are strongly linked to visceral obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, and endothelial dysfunction.<sup>3</sup> The original term of NAFLD includes a spectrum of disease, ranging from simple steatosis to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), which also features hepatocellular injury, inflammation, and a variable degree of fibrosis.<sup>4</sup> NAFLD may progress to cirrhosis, and it confers an increased risk of hepatocellular carcinoma.<sup>4,5</sup> However, prediction of clinical outcomes in NAFLD has proven challenging as environmental and genetic drivers of its progression are not fully identified.<sup>6,7</sup>

Inter-tissue crosstalk of the liver with adipose tissue and skeletal muscle plays a fundamental role in the pathobiology and natural course of NAFLD.<sup>8-10</sup> Cellular and molecular mechanisms governing the interplay of these organs in health and disease are therefore of significant interest.<sup>11-13</sup> Escalating dysfunction in the adipose–muscle–liver triangle results in increasingly severe pathophenotypes and clinical outcomes (Fig. 1). Skeletal muscle disorders in the form of myosteatosis, sarcopenia, and sarcopenic obesity are associated with this process.<sup>10,14,15</sup> Disruption of the complex physiological relationship between skeletal muscle and the liver is mutually detrimental and promotes the progression of NAFLD.<sup>13,16–18</sup>

This paper reviews the association between skeletal muscle dysfunction and the liver in various stages of NAFLD. We also summarize the pertinent aspects of NAFLD pathophysiology, which may help prognostication and identify new therapeutic targets.

### Assessment of skeletal muscle mass and performance in metabolic dysfunction

### Definition of myosteatosis, sarcopenia, and sarcopenic obesity

Myosteatosis is characteristically associated with liver steatosis in NAFLD, resulting from ectopic fat accumulation in skeletal muscle when available lipids exceed the disposal capacity of adipose tissue.<sup>13</sup> Depending on the type of fat deposition, myosteatosis may feature microscopic and macroscopic changes in muscle composition and architecture.<sup>19</sup> Intramyocellular fat is not necessarily abnormal as it serves as an energy source to fuel muscle contraction.<sup>8,20</sup> The

Copyright: © 2020 Authors. This article has been published under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0), which permits noncommercial unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided that the following statement is provided. "This article has been published in *Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology* at DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00065 and can also be viewed on the Journal's website at http://www.jcthnet.com".

**Keywords:** Myosteatosis; Sarcopenia; Myokines; Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; Cirrhosis; Adipose–muscle–liver axis.

Abbreviations: 12,13-diHOME, 12,13-dihydroxy-9Z-octadecenoic acid; AMPK, 5'adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; ASM, appendicular skeletal muscle mass; BAT, brown adipose tissue; BCAA, branched chain amino acid: BIA, bioimpedance analysis: BMI, body mass index: CT, computer tomography; DXA, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry; EGF, epidermal growth factor; EWGSOP, European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People; FFA, free fatty acid; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; GH, growth hormone; HR, hazard ratio; IGF, insulin-like growth factor; IL, interleukin; IRF, insulin regulatory factor; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; LXR, liver X receptor; MAFLD, metabolic dysfunctionassociated fatty liver disease; MELD, Model for End-stage Liver Disease; MR, magnetic resonance; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; NASH, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis; Nrg, neuregulin; OR, odds ratio; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase; PKC, protein kinase C; PPAR, peroxisome proliferator activating receptor; SMI, skeletal mass index; SPPB, Short Physical Performance Battery; SREBP, sterol regulatory element-binding protein; TACE, transarterial chemoembolization; TCA, tricarboxylic acid; TGF, transforming growth factor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

Received: 14 July 2020; Revised: 8 September 2020; Accepted: 21 September 2020 \*Correspondence to: Gyorgy Baffy, Section of Gastroenterology, VA Boston Healthcare System, 150 South Huntington Avenue, Room A6-46, Boston, MA 12130, USA. Tel/Fax: +1-857-364-4327, E-mail: gbaffy@bwh.harvard.edu



accumulation of excess fat in extramyocellular compartments is mostly pathologic. It can be defined as intramuscular (between muscle fibers) or intermuscular (between muscle fascicles) (Fig. 2). Myosteatosis may affect many individuals who do not meet the anthropometric criteria for sarcopenia or obesity. However, it is associated with lower muscle function and strength, muscle atrophy, and physical disabilities.<sup>21</sup> Myosteatosis has been described in many cirrhotic patients undergoing liver transplant evaluation, and studies have associated it with more complications and poor survival.<sup>22</sup>

As the name implies, sarcopenia is a condition with diminished skeletal muscle mass, first associated with older age.<sup>23</sup> Today, sarcopenia has a complex meaning as a progressive and generalized disorder seen in various chronic illnesses.<sup>15</sup> Sarcopenia may affect up to 70% of patients with cirrhosis and is an independent predictor of morbidity and mortality in this population.<sup>13,24</sup> In 2010, the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP) recommended using both low muscle mass and low muscle function (strength or performance) to diagnose sarcopenia.<sup>25</sup> In 2018, the EWGSOP updated the definition of sarcopenia so that the primary parameter is low muscle strength, the diagnosis is confirmed by the evidence of low muscle mass, and the disease state is characterized as severe if low physical performance is also present.19

Sarcopenic obesity is a term used to denote the simultaneous presence of skeletal muscle loss and excess body fat. Sarcopenia and obesity continue to be independently defined by their respective criteria, and there is no consensus on whether sarcopenic obesity impacts clinical outcomes more than the sum of its components.<sup>10</sup> Importantly, sarcopenia, obesity, and obesity-related disorders, including NAFLD, share several pathophenotypes, such as systemic low-grade inflammation and insulin resistance via overlapping cellular and molecular mechanisms.<sup>10,26</sup> Sarcopenic obesity reaches a prevalence of 20% to 35% among patients with cirrhosis and is associated with increased mortality.<sup>21</sup>



**Fig. 2. Skeletal muscle and fat deposition.** (A) Skeletal muscle is made up of intramyocellular myofibrils, muscle fibers and fascicles bound together by successively thicker connective tissue layers as endomysium, perimysium, and epimysium. (B) Skeletal muscle fat may be classified as intramyocellular (lipid droplets filling the cytoplasm between myofibrils of elongated myocytes) and extramyocellular components. Adipocytes may infiltrate muscle fibers (intra-muscular fat), fascicles (intermuscular fat), or exist around the epimysium as extramuscular fat depots of adipose tissue.

### Methods of analyzing skeletal muscle mass and function

There are many methods to measure skeletal muscle mass and many ways to report the findings, creating challenges in the literature.<sup>27</sup> A commonly used parameter is appendicular skeletal muscle mass (also referred to as ASM) adjusted for height to yield appendicular skeletal muscle index (also referred to as SMI).<sup>28</sup> Skeletal muscle cross-sectional imaging with magnetic resonance (MR) or computed tomography (CT) has become the gold standard, focusing on specific muscle groups or body locations, such as the psoas muscle or third lumbar (L3) region.<sup>29</sup> Multiple studies found that using CT imaging to assess skeletal muscle index at the L3 level is the most accurate method to evaluate sarcopenia in cirrhosis.<sup>30</sup> However, MR and CT imaging may not be widely available and/or expose patients to radiation.

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is another instrument available to measure skeletal muscle mass. It uses multiple low-dose X-rays to create a 3-D compartmental model and is highly accurate at differentiating fat, fat-free mass, and bone mineral mass.<sup>12</sup> The benefits of DXA are that it is inexpensive, widely available, and carries low radiation exposure. However, a disadvantage to using this method is that different instrument brands may not give consistent results, and it is less sensitive than CT in case-finding.<sup>19,31</sup> Further limitation of DXA is its inability to differentiate muscle from water; thus, ascites can distort muscle mass readings, a major concern in cirrhosis. However, this concern may be resolved by using appendicular lean mass to measure skeletal muscle indices.<sup>32</sup>

Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) is a simple, affordable, non-invasive, and portable tool that has been used to estimate total body skeletal muscle mass or ASM. BIA measurements are indirect as they use whole-body electrical conductivity and a conversion equation that is calibrated with a reference of DXA-measured lean body mass in a specific population.<sup>33</sup> The disadvantages of BIA include that its accuracy is affected by hydration status and may both underestimate or overestimate fat-free mass. Additionally, prediction equations used to derive muscle mass from BIA may require adjustment for different ethnic populations.<sup>34</sup> Ultrasound is another tool available to evaluate muscle mass by measuring the thickness of muscles in the leg and/or the arm.<sup>33</sup> Assessment of the quadriceps femoris can detect muscle thickness and the cross-sectional area within a short period. Ultrasound is safe, inexpensive, portable, and has the advantage of assessing both muscle quality and quantity, while its disadvantages are that it is highly operator dependent and there is no standardized technique among examiners for measuring muscle thickness by ultrasound.35

In line with EWGSOP recommendations, functional assays of muscle strength and performance are now increasingly utilized to assess myosteatosis and sarcopenia. Muscle strength can be conveniently measured by grip strength using a calibrated handheld dynamometer.<sup>36,37</sup> In several studies, grip strength is defined as the maximum value of three serial attempts using the non-dominant hand.<sup>38</sup> Another method to measure muscle strength is the chair stand test (chair rise test), which uses the leg muscles instead and measures the time it takes for a patient to rise five times from a seated position without using their arms.<sup>39</sup> Tools available to assess physical performance related to skeletal muscle dysfunction include the Short Physical

Performance Battery (SPPB), gait speed, get-up-and-go test, 6-m (i.e. minute) walk test, and stair climb power test. SPPB is a test that involves evaluating gait speed, balance, and a chair stand test. Gait speed is widely used in practice since it is easy to measure and highly reliable. A widely accepted gait speed test is the 4-m (i.e. meter) usual walking speed test. EWGSOP recommendation is a cut-off of 0.8 m/s (i.e. meter per second) for gait speed when defining severe sarcopenia.<sup>19</sup>

While myosteatosis is essentially a histological diagnosis, biopsy remains a rare option to assess excess fat deposition in skeletal muscle.<sup>40</sup> Similar to assessing hepatic fat content, non-invasive measurements of myosteatosis include CT, MR spectroscopy, and MR imaging.<sup>41,42</sup> Skeletal muscle attenuation measured by CT shows good correlation with intramyocellular fat content compared to MR spectroscopy findings or percutaneous muscle biopsy.<sup>41,42</sup> Further clinical studies may be necessary before assessing myosteatosis becomes part of the routine evaluation in NAFLD.

### Clinical evidence of skeletal muscle dysfunction in NAFLD

### Population-based and targeted studies on sarcopenia and NAFLD

There have been relatively few studies that have aimed at analyzing the relationship between myosteatosis and NAFLD. Instead, many studies have focused on the relationship between NAFLD and sarcopenia or sarcopenic obesity; this association has been extensively studied in several cohorts from Asian-Pacific countries. In a prospective observational cohort of 452 healthy adults from the Korean Sarcopenic Obesity Study, individuals with sarcopenia (defined by having a DXA-estimated skeletal muscle mass index 1 standard deviation below the reference) had significantly greater body mass index (BMI), waist circumference, total body fat mass, HOMA-IR score, and adverse cardiovascular indices compared to the non-sarcopenic group.<sup>43</sup> In a retrospective analysis of the Korean National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (2008-2011), sarcopenia was diagnosed by DXA in 337 (12.2%) of 2,761 participants with NAFLD.44 That study found that sarcopenia carries an approximately 2-fold risk of significant fibrosis, independent of obesity and insulin resistance [odds ratio (OR)=1.76 to 2.68].44 In a South Korean cohort of 309 subjects with biopsy-proven NAFLD, the prevalence of sarcopenia increased as liver disease progressed from the absence of NAFLD (8.7%) to steatosis (17.9%) and NASH (35.0%).45 Moreover, significant fibrosis ( $\geq$  F2) was more prevalent in subjects with sarcopenia than in those without (45.7% vs. 24.7%).<sup>45</sup>

In a large, longitudinal cohort study that followed 15,567 subjects from Seoul over 7 years, an inverse association was found between SMI (identified by BIA) and incident NAFLD (determined by the hepatic steatosis index) that developed in 1,864 of the 12,624 subjects (14.8%) without baseline NAFLD [adjusted hazard ratio (HR)=0.44].<sup>46</sup> In this study, a positive association between higher skeletal muscle mass index and the resolution of NAFLD was observed in 79 of the 2,943 subjects (2.7%) with baseline NAFLD (adjusted HR=2.09). These relationships persisted even after adjusting for baseline skeletal muscle mass index, suggesting that skeletal muscle mass impacts NAFLD's natural history.<sup>46</sup> In a prospective cross-sectional cohort study from China with 5,132 participants aged 18 to 80 years, sonographically-diagnosed

NAFLD was increasingly found among individuals with low SMI identified by DXA (OR=2.57) and low muscle strength based on weight-adjusted handgrip strength (OR=1.47). This association was even more robust with sarcopenia (OR=3.91) and sarcopenic obesity (OR=10.42 when defined by BMI and OR=11.64 when defined by waist circumference), indicating that the concurrence of sarcopenia and obesity represents an exceptionally high risk of NAFLD.<sup>47</sup>

Clinical evidence for the link between skeletal muscle dysfunction and NAFLD is not confined to the Asia-Pacific region. SMI defined sarcopenia based on BIA ( $\leq$  37 in men and  $\leq$  28 in women) in a retrospective study of 225 Italian adults with biopsy-proven NASH, and its prevalence increased with the severity of liver fibrosis from 20.4% ( $\leq$ F2) to 48.3% ( $\geq$  F3). Multivariate regression analysis indicated that sarcopenia is associated with an OR of 2.88 for having at least F3 fibrosis in this cohort.<sup>48</sup> In the Rotterdam Study, a large ongoing population-based cohort of participants aged 45 years or older in the Netherlands, 161 lean, and 1,462 overweight or obese participants with NAFLD were analyzed for the prevalence of pre-sarcopenia and sarcopenia, which was relatively low (5.9% and 4.5%, respectively). SMI calculated from DXA measurements showed an inverse relationship with NAFLD in normal-weight women (OR=0.48).<sup>38</sup> In general, fat mass rather than lean mass was a predictor for NAFLD in this cohort, and the androidfat-to-gynoid-fat ratio was the best performing predictor for NAFLD prevalence (ORs ranging from 1.97 in lean men to 4.81 in lean women), suggesting that android fat is more likely to cause NAFLD.<sup>38</sup> Cross-sectional data analysis of 11,325 American participants of the third NHANES found that NAFLD was more prevalent with sarcopenia than without (46.7% vs. 27.5%). After adjustment for confounders, the association of sarcopenia with NAFLD remained significant (OR=1.24). Moreover, advanced liver fibrosis was more common in participants with sarcopenia than in those without (7.8 vs. 1.6%). The data indicate that sarcopenia in NAFLD represents a risk factor of advanced fibrosis independent of metabolic risk factors (OR=1.79).4

### Sarcopenia in patients with established cirrhosis

Sarcopenia is a common feature of cirrhosis, and the transition from normal body composition to sarcopenia and from obesity to sarcopenic obesity has been repeatedly observed with the progression of liver disease. In contrast, healthier skeletal muscle indices are associated with long-term survival in patients with cirrhosis.<sup>22,50,51</sup> There have been few studies focusing on the specific relationship between skeletal muscle dysfunction and advanced liver disease associated with NAFLD. Recently, a study done at Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota (USA), evaluated the presence of sarcopenia and myosteatosis in patients awaiting liver transplant with a primary diagnosis of NASH (n=136) vs. alcohol-associated liver disease (n=129).<sup>52</sup> This study showed that while NASH patients had a higher Rockwood frailty score (49% vs. 34%, p=0.03), sarcopenia was less frequent in this group than among patients with alcohol-associated liver disease (22% vs. 47%, p<0.001). Moreover, myosteatosis (diagnosed by CT) was present to a similar degree in both groups and showed no association with adverse events such as increased length of stay or poor survival.52

The presence of myosteatosis, sarcopenia, and sarcopenic obesity was analyzed in a cohort study of 678 patients with

cirrhosis in Edmonton (Canada). The etiology of cirrhosis was primarily chronic hepatitis C (40%), alcohol (23%), and NASH or cryptogenic (14%). Myosteatosis was found in 353 patients (52%), while 292 patients had sarcopenia (43%), and 135 had sarcopenic obesity (20%). The median survival of patients with myosteatosis, sarcopenia, and sarcopenic obesity was significantly worse than those without muscular abnormalities (28±5, 22±3 and 22±3 vs. 95±22 months, respectively). Multivariate analysis indicated an increased risk of mortality associated with myosteatosis and sarcopenia (HR=1.42 and 2.00, respectively).<sup>22</sup> Another retrospective analysis done in Kentucky (USA) focused on 207 adult patients who received liver transplantation (male, 68%; mean age, 54±8 years) due to cirrhosis from alcoholrelated liver disease (38.6%), chronic hepatitis C (38.2%), and NASH (21.7%) or based on hepatocellular carcinoma (24.6%). In this cohort, 48% of patients were obese, 59% had sarcopenia, and 41.7% had sarcopenic obesity during transplant evaluation. Additionally, it was observed that sarcopenia was still present in 56 out of 59 (95%) patients who received CT scan at 6 months posttransplant.<sup>53</sup> Multivariate analysis found that obesity was an independent predictor of pretransplant sarcopenia and NASH was associated with a 6fold increased risk of having sarcopenic obesity in cirrhotic patients.53

#### Pathogenesis of skeletal muscle dysfunction in NAFLD

### Key mediators of adipose-muscle-liver crosstalk

Cellular and molecular mechanisms provide a complex interplay between adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and the liver (Fig. 3). Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ secretes many bioactive substances termed adipokines that relay information to other metabolically active organs, including skeletal muscle and the liver.<sup>54</sup> Adiponectin, a major adipokine with many beneficial properties, activates 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK), a master regulator of energy metabolism. Adiponectin receptor type 1 is highly expressed in skeletal muscle, while type 2 is mostly expressed in the liver, allowing for separate regulatory mechanisms.<sup>55</sup> Adiponectin promotes insulin sensitivity via cellular uptake and processing of glucose and fatty acids.<sup>56</sup> Adiponectin negatively regulates cell apoptosis via the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)/caspase 3 pathways.<sup>57</sup> Moreover, adiponectin binding may activate ceramidases that degrade harmful ceramide and its derivatives.9 Leptin is another major adipokine with beneficial effects, such as regulation of appetite, energy metabolism, and body weight.<sup>58</sup> Circulating leptin is believed to exert anabolic effects and decrease the impact of atrophy-related factors in skeletal muscle.<sup>59</sup> Obesity-associated leptin resistance results in hyperleptinemia, promoting insulin resistance by upregulating pro-inflammatory cyto-kines IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ).<sup>60</sup> High leptin levels diminish the anabolic actions of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) in skeletal muscle and may increase frailty.<sup>34</sup> Moreover, high leptin levels promote inflammation and fibrogenesis in the liver and have been linked to the progression of NAFLD in experimental and clinical studies.<sup>61,62</sup>

Hormonally-active substances secreted by skeletal muscle cells are termed myokines, with remote actions on adipose tissue, liver, pancreatic beta cells, and the gut microbiota.<sup>63,64</sup> The growing list of myokines includes myostatin,

### Altajar S. et al: Myosteatosis, sarcopenia, and NAFLD



Fig. 3. Adipose-muscle-liver crosstalk in NAFLD: Mechanisms and mediators of pathogenesis. Schematic depiction of major structural and functional changes in adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and the liver (blue) due to sustained energy surplus with key molecular mediators and mechanisms of interplay (black arrows). Input from other body components, such as pancreatic beta cells (hyperinsulinemia due to insulin resistance) and gut microbiota (dysbiosis), may affect all elements of the adipose-muscle-liver triangle (blue arrows). See details in the main text.

Abbreviation: 12,13-diHOME, 12,13-dihydroxy-9Z-octadecenoic acid; ANGPTL4, angiopoietin-like 4; BAT, brown adipose tissue; BCAA, branchedchain amino acids; FFA, free fatty acids; GH, growth hormone; HSC, hepatic stellate cell; IGF-1, insulin-like growth factor 1; IL-6, interleukin 6; IRF-4, interferon regulatory factor 4; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; TNFα, tumor necrosis factor-alpha.

irisin, myonectin, and various interleukins (IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, and IL-15). Myostatin is a TGF- $\beta$  superfamily member and a negative regulator of skeletal muscle mass.<sup>63</sup> Myostatin interferes with mTOR signaling and activates skeletal muscle proteolysis through autophagy and the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway.<sup>65</sup> Myostatin promotes liver inflammation and fibrosis via activin IIbr receptors on hepatic stellate cells.<sup>66</sup> Irisin is an exercise-inducible myokine with the ability to increase total body energy expenditure by stimulating "browning" and uncoupling protein-1 expression in subcutaneous white adipose tissue and thus improving insulin sensitivity <sup>67</sup> One of the molecular targets of irisin is the nuclear hormone receptor PPAR- $\alpha$ , which explains its stimulatory impact on fatty acid oxidation.<sup>68</sup> Myonectin, another exercise-inducible myokine, promotes the uptake of free fatty acids in adipose tissue and the liver.63 Also, myonectin activates the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway and inhibits autophagy.<sup>69</sup> It has been suggested that myonectin is a nutrient-sensing myokine, coordinating nutrient uptake and storage among various tissues.67

Brown adipose tissue (BAT) is an increasingly recognized player in the adipose-muscle-liver triangle. BAT is a key regulator of energy homeostasis, due to its abundance of uncoupling protein-1 which enables the breakdown of lipids and other nutrient substrates at high rates by dissipating biochemical energy as heat rather than capturing it through ATP synthesis.<sup>70</sup> This profound thermogenic and energywasting ability of BAT may lower the risk of obesity-associated disorders, such as NAFLD.<sup>71</sup> Several molecular links between BAT, skeletal muscle, and the liver have been recently identified. 12,13-dihydroxy-9Z-octadecenoic acid (12,13-diHOME), an exercise-induced lipokine released by BAT, promotes fatty acid uptake and oxidation in skeletal muscle.72 Moreover, interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4) in BAT prevents loss of exercise capacity by repressing the transcription of muscle function inhibitor myostatin.73 IRF4 regulates exercise capacity, mitochondrial function, ribosomal protein synthesis, and mTOR signaling in skeletal muscle.<sup>73</sup> Finally, neuregulin 4 (Nrg4), a member of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) family, is highly expressed in BAT under physiological conditions and has reduced levels during obesity. Nrg4 has a beneficial impact on NAFLD by controlling the activity of liver X receptor (LXR) and sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c (SREBP-1c), key regulators of de novo lipogenesis in the liver.<sup>7</sup>

### Disruption of the adipose-liver-muscle axis in NAFLD

Expansion and remodeling of white adipose tissue in obesity leads to the development of prominent visceral fat depots,

### Altajar S. et al: Myosteatosis, sarcopenia, and NAFLD

which result in lipotoxicity, inflammation and altered neuroendocrine function.9 Increased triglyceride storage and reduced lipid turnover leads to accumulation of potentially toxic lipid molecules, such as ceramides, diacylglycerol and long-chain acyl CoA.75 Lipotoxicity promotes infiltration of adipose tissue with macrophages and other immune cells causing chronic, low-grade inflammation.<sup>76</sup> This injury is aggravated by oxidative stress on mitochondria, which process the breakdown of excess lipids, and by reduced tissue perfusion, leading to hypoxia in fat depots grown out of proportion.<sup>75</sup> Adipocytes in enlarged visceral fat depots have an altered adipokine secretion profile, characterized by diminished levels of adiponectin and increased secretion of leptin as well as other potentially harmful adipokines. like chemerin and resistin.<sup>10</sup> Adipocyte injury results in recruitment of macrophages and other immune cells associated with inflammation and the release of IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1.77 Liver-derived fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21) has also been implicated in regulating energy metabolism in adipose tissue. Serum FGF21 levels increase in NAFLD but its effect may be lost due to peripheral resistance.78

Since adipose tissue has limited expandability, surplus lipids that are associated with obesity accumulate in nonadipose tissues, such as the liver and skeletal muscle.9 Steatosis in the liver and skeletal muscle has complex pathophysiology, and its cause and consequence is challenging to distinguish.<sup>26</sup> Physiological amounts of intramyocellular lipids are stored as triglycerides in lipid droplets and used as a fuel source during exercise.<sup>8</sup> Lipid droplets are highly dynamic organelles involved in cell signaling and vesicle trafficking.<sup>79</sup> Intramyocellular lipid droplets are more abundant in type I compared to type II fibers, reflecting the greater oxidative capacity of type I fibers.<sup>80</sup> Perilipins are proteins associated with the surface of lipid droplets; they regulate lipid traffic and composition.<sup>11</sup> High levels of perilipin 2 have been detected in patients with sarcopenia and hepatic steatosis.<sup>81</sup> Physical exercise may increase intramuscular triglycerides' turnover and prevent the accumulation of lipotoxic intermediates, thus reducing the risk of insulin resistance.<sup>11</sup> Low-grade inflammation and excess lipid deposition in skeletal muscle results in mitochondrial dysfunction, myocellular apoptosis, and an adverse secretory pattern of myokines, which further disrupts endocrine interactions with adipose tissue and the liver.<sup>10</sup>

Insulin resistance is the most consequential biochemical pathophenotype associated with obesity, leading to progressive dysfunction of the adipose-muscle-liver axis.82 Insulin resistance in obesity develops from the combined impact of toxic lipid molecules and pro-inflammatory mediators. Diacylglycerol, ceramides, and long-chain acetyl coenzyme A interfere with physiological insulin signaling by activating atypical isoforms of protein kinase C (PKC), setting off a series of deleterious molecular events in the liver and skeletal muscle.83 PKC-mediated serine phosphorylation of insulinreceptor substrates in skeletal muscle and liver inhibits PI-3-kinase/Akt signaling. In contrast, PKC-mediated activation of protein phosphatase 2A dephosphorylates Akt at a key serine residue.<sup>84</sup> These changes prevent glucose uptake in skeletal muscle and lead to diminished glycogen synthesis and increased gluconeogenesis rates in the liver.<sup>75</sup> Peripheral insulin signaling is also weakened by additional serine/threonine kinases or 'stress kinases,' such as c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), p38-mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38-MAPK), and I<sub>K</sub>B kinase (IKK), activated by TNF- $\alpha$  and other pro-inflammatory cytokines.<sup>82</sup> Compensatory hyperinsulinemia further promotes steatosis. Critical regulators of lipid metabolism, like SREBP-1c, remain responsive to insulin; they stimulate *de novo* lipogenesis and inhibit  $\beta$ -oxidation in the liver, creating a vicious cycle between lipotoxicity and insulin resistance.<sup>75,82</sup>

Disruption in the composition and function of gut microbiota (dysbiosis) may occur in response to various environmental factors.<sup>85</sup> Sustained nutrient excess has been linked to dysbiosis with an essential role in the pathophysiology of obesity-associated disorders.<sup>86</sup> Aberrant host-microbiome interactions may contribute to all NAFLD stages by altering intestinal bile acid metabolism, weakening of the intestinal epithelial barrier, and compromising innate immunity of the gut mucosa as fundamental underlying mechanisms.87,88 Dysbiosis promotes chronic inflammation and insulin resistance, at least in part via modulation of the skeletal muscle composition and function.<sup>89</sup> Although there is no direct evidence of a link between human gut microbiota composition and sarcopenia, experimental studies indicate that administration of Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, a bacterial strain known for its beneficial effects through abundant production of short-chain fatty acids, increases gastrocnemius muscle mass and mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation capacity in mice fed with a high-fat diet.90

### Adipose–muscle–liver axis dysfunction in advanced stages of NAFLD

The adipose-muscle-liver axis becomes increasingly disrupted as NAFLD progresses into cirrhosis, and it is characterized by end-organ damage, frailty, infections, and oncogenesis. The relationship between cirrhosis and sarcopenia has a complex pathophysiology.<sup>13,91</sup> Liver dysfunction and reduced skeletal muscle mass intensify insulin resistance, which advances to type 2 diabetes and possibly leads to pancreatic β-cell failure.<sup>12,92</sup> Nutrient intake is reduced in cirrhosis due to anorexia, nausea, and malabsorption, which results from the congestion of gastrointestinal mucosa due to portal hypertension, impaired gut motility, and altered enterohe-patic biliary physiology.<sup>13</sup> Cirrhotic patients have insufficient hepatic glycogen reserves due to the impaired synthetic capacity of hepatic cells.<sup>91</sup> Due to reduced hepatic ability to store, synthesize and mobilize carbohydrate stores, even after an overnight fast, patients with cirrhosis quickly shift their energy source to fat and protein catabolism, leading to rapid muscle breakdown.<sup>21</sup> Ongoing mitochondrial dysfunction, generation of reactive oxygen species, and impaired bioenergetics in skeletal muscle may all contribute to impaired protein synthesis and activate autophagy as a metabolic adaptive response.13 Reduced cellular amino acid concentrations activate adaptive responses, including increased skeletal muscle autophagy, which has been reported in cirrhosis.91

Increasing hepatocellular dysfunction in cirrhosis may also result in decreased levels of potent anabolic factors, such as testosterone, and a relative lack of follistatin, a natural antagonist myostatin and activin(s) antagonist that contributes to skeletal muscle wasting by lowering protein synthesis and inducing myostatin expression.<sup>93</sup> High levels of FFA, in turn, inhibit the growth hormone (GH)/ IGF-1 axis, which generally plays a protective role in age-related muscle loss and muscle regeneration.<sup>12</sup> Decreased hepatic production of IGF-1 has been associated with sarcopenia in experimental

NAFLD.<sup>94</sup> Additionally, cirrhosis is associated with systemic inflammation that directly promotes muscle wasting.<sup>13,91</sup> Testosterone increases muscle protein synthesis by increasing amino acid utilization in skeletal muscle and increasing androgen receptor expression.<sup>95</sup> Gut barrier function in cirrhosis is compromised due to dysbiosis and portal hypertension, allowing the translocation of bacterial products recognized as pathogen-associated molecular patterns by immune cells in the gut and the liver leading to activation of pro-inflammatory state.<sup>88,91</sup>

Additionally, there are specific metabolic changes seen in cirrhosis that may worsen sarcopenia. Hepatocellular dysfunction and portosystemic shunting impair the rate of ureagenesis, which is a key metabolic pathway for ammonia disposal.<sup>13</sup> In order to compensate for this, skeletal muscle converts excess ammonia into glutamate by removing  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate from the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, which weakens myocellular ATP production capacity, leading to reduced myocellular protein synthesis and increased autophagy.<sup>96</sup> Due to branched-chain keto-dehydrogenase availability, skeletal muscle cells can channel branchedchain amino acids (BCAA) into the TCA cycle and sustain mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation.<sup>97</sup> However, BCAA levels are already decreased in cirrhosis and may be further reduced due to increased utilization for ammonia disposal in the skeletal muscle, whereby reduced muscle mass contributes to hyperammonemia.<sup>13</sup> Sarcopenia is also worsened by a deficiency in vitamin D since it is a ligand of the nuclear vitamin D receptor, which regulates the expression of genes involved in cell proliferation and differentiation and affects myogenesis and muscle inflammation.<sup>12,98</sup> Lower levels of vitamin D are typically seen in the elderly but may get worse when absorption and metabolism of vitamin D become impaired in severe liver disease.10,99

Cirrhotic patients are increasingly prone to frailty and infections. Frailty, a condition distinct from disability, has been defined as a biological syndrome of decreased reserve and resistance to stressors. It is characterized by a cumulative decline across multiple physiologic systems and increased vulnerability to adverse outcomes.<sup>100</sup> Frailty that predates a patient's stated age significantly affects clinical performance in cirrhosis and is closely associated with sarcopenia. Physical exercise dramatically improves components of frailty, which is much more challenging with the coexistence of sarcopenia.<sup>101</sup> Susceptibility to infections is another major determinant of clinical outcomes in cirrhosis. Dysbiosis and breakdown of the intestinal barrier combined with portosystemic shunting promote bacterial infections in cirrhosis.<sup>102</sup> Immune functions in cirrhosis are further compromised by malnutrition and alcohol drinking.<sup>103</sup> Finally, myosteatosis and sarcopenia predict increased risk and worse prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis associated with NAFLD and other liver diseases, although the precise molecular mechanisms of this process are not entirely understood. 104,105

### Prevention and management of skeletal muscle dysfunction in NAFLD

It is now clearly established that progression and clinical outcomes in NAFLD are affected by skeletal muscle health, which in turn may benefit from effective treatment of liver disease.<sup>13</sup> Finding therapeutic strategies that address the pathobiology of both organs in metabolic dysfunction is

therefore desirable. The main clinical objectives and specific treatment targets in this effort may differ depending on the stage of liver disease. Effective management of non-cirrhotic NAFLD is expected to diminish myosteatosis and prevent cellular and molecular mechanisms that would ultimately result in sarcopenia with or without concomitant obesity. In NAFLD patients with established cirrhosis, halting the progression of skeletal muscle dysfunction may be a more appropriate role than reversing the course of the disease. However, improved muscle function is likely to have a positive impact on liver disease progression and outcomes in all stages of NAFLD.<sup>12,17,18,106</sup>

# Lifestyle modification approaches to skeletal muscle dysfunction in NAFLD

There are multiple lines of evidence that lifestyle interventions aimed at improving skeletal muscle mass, strength, and function positively impact the course of NAFLD.34,106,107 These approaches, such as sustained physical activity, adequate nutrition, monitored weight loss, control of diabetes, and alcohol abstinence, usually promote whole health with combined benefits, and it may be challenging to decipher specific effects on skeletal muscle or the liver. Nevertheless, skeletal muscle is a major energy expenditure site and a key component in balancing excess nutrient intake to limit the buildup of adipose tissue and lipid spillover with ectopic deposition. Moreover, aerobic exercise has been associated with lower levels of circulating pro-inflammatory mediators, such as IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and C-reactive protein, thus reducing systemic low-grade inflammation, restoring adipokine and myokine balance, and improving insulin resistance. 34,106,107 Regular exercise is known to modulate the composition and function of gut microbiota, improving bacterial richness and balance towards health-promoting taxa.<sup>108</sup>

Physical activity is also critical to mitigate the potential drawbacks of weight management strategies in metabolic dysfunction.<sup>10,12</sup> Even if it is controlled and incremental, weight loss induced by caloric restriction alone may lead to sarcopenia or make it worse since it usually results in the loss of both fat tissue (75%) and fat free mass (25%).<sup>109</sup> Fortunately, however, several studies indicate that these concerns are not necessarily substantiated. In a North American study, nondiabetic, severely obese individuals were enrolled in a 6month lifestyle modification interventional trial to analyze the association between NAFLD and body composition before and after weight loss.<sup>110</sup> Subjects with NAFLD had greater visceral adiposity and experienced more significant improvements in visceral fat mass, waist circumference, hepatic insulin sensitivity, and serum transaminases than those without NAFLD. However, there was no baseline difference in muscle mass between the two groups. Perhaps more importantly, no disproportionate loss of lean mass and skeletal muscle mass occurred among participants with NAFLD resolution, suggesting that weight loss interventions may be accomplished with muscle preservation.<sup>110</sup> Initial reports about the impact of bariatric surgery on skeletal muscle mass are also promising. In a retrospective European study from a single center analyzing 69 patients who underwent bariatric surgery (gastric bypass or sleeve gastrectomy), the percentage of BMI loss and improvement in comorbidities were similar in the sarcopenic and non-sarcopenic subgroups, with no significant differences in skeletal muscle mass indices at 1-year postoperative follow-up.<sup>111</sup>

Altajar S. et al: Myosteatosis, sarcopenia, and NAFLD

### Pharmacotherapy in skeletal muscle dysfunction associated with advanced liver disease

Lifestyle interventions represent a logical approach to improve liver disease and metabolic comorbidities that result from increased caloric intake and physical inactivity. However, there are immense efforts to find efficient and safe pharmacotherapy for obesity-associated disorders, such as NAFLD, and restore homeostasis within the adipose-muscleliver triangle.<sup>112</sup> Several phase III clinical trials for NAFLD aim to find drugs that target lipid accumulation, lipotoxicity, insulin resistance, liver inflammation, and fibrosis alone and in combination.<sup>113,114</sup> By contrast, less advanced are therapeutic efforts to improve myosteatosis and sarcopenia associated with metabolic dysfunction through molecular targets. Vitamin D supplementation to correct low levels to improve the liver-muscle interplay and reduce NAFLD's progression and severity has yielded controversial results.<sup>12,99</sup> Similarly, additional clinical evidence is needed to support the use of testosterone and GH to counteract the effects of myostatin in advanced liver disease.<sup>12,91</sup> In a proof-of-concept multicenter clinical trial, 24-week treatment of patients aged 75 years and older with a humanized monoclonal antibody against myostatin significantly increased lean mass and improved skeletal muscle performance measured by fast gait speed, chair stand tests, and other functional assays.<sup>115</sup> The impact of targeted molecular interventions on skeletal muscle dysfunction associated with NAFLD remains to be seen.

As discussed above, hyperammonemia in end-stage liver disease represents harm to skeletal muscle homeostasis as it interferes with myocellular energy metabolism and promotes protein breakdown and autophagy.96 Ammonia-lowering measures, such as lactulose or rifaximin, and supplementation with protein-based calories or BCAA provide an opportunity to mitigate the loss of sarcopenia in cirrhosis by reducing the rate of protein catabolism and improving muscle mass.91,116 However, nutritional parameters and quality of life do not necessarily follow the improvement in hepatic encephalopathy, and slow skeletal muscle turnover has been considered as an explanation for the apparent need of long-term management of hyperammonemia to affect sarcopenia in cirrhosis.<sup>12</sup> Liver transplantation may be the ultimate solution to eliminate the impact of diseased liver on skeletal muscle dysfunction; although, it is essential to realize that pre-existing sarcopenia may significantly hamper postoperative recovery after liver transplantation, and the adverse impact of immunosuppressive therapies on skeletal muscle is not negligible.18,91

### Conclusions

We have come a long way in understanding NAFLD's pathophysiology since its original description 40 years ago. There is emerging interest in renaming NAFLD to metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (also referred to as MAFLD) and recognizing this liver condition as part of a multisystem metabolic disorder that represents a continuum, beginning at early changes due to sustained caloric excess to severe outcomes from end-stage organ damage.<sup>117</sup> Since so many people are affected by this highly prevalent condition, risk assessment and prognostication is critically important and may be enhanced by better understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms governing the relationship between skeletal muscle and the liver.

### Funding

None to declare.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

### **Author contributions**

Study concept and design (GB), writing of the manuscript (SA and GB).

### References

- Loomba R, Sanyal AJ. The global NAFLD epidemic. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013;10:686–690. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2013.171.
- [2] Younossi ZM. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease A global public health perspective. J Hepatol 2019;70:531–544. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.10.033.
- [3] McCullough AJ. Pathophysiology of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2006;40 Suppl 1:S17–S29. doi: 10.1097/01.mcg.0000168645. 86658.22.
- [4] Angulo P. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. N Engl J Med 2002;346:1221-1231. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra011775.
- [5] Anstee QM, Reeves HL, Kotsiliti E, Govaere O, Heikenwalder M. From NASH to HCC: current concepts and future challenges. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019;16:411–428. doi: 10.1038/s41575-019-0145-7.
- [6] Anstee QM, Day CP. The genetics of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: spotlight on PNPLA3 and TM6SF2. Semin Liver Dis 2015;35:270–290. doi: 10. 1055/s-0035-1562947.
- [7] Cheung A, Figueredo C, Rinella ME. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Identification and management of high-risk patients. Am J Gastroenterol 2019; 114:579–590. doi: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000058.
- [8] Coen PM, Goodpaster BH. Role of intramyocelluar lipids in human health. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2012;23:391–398. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2012.05. 009.
- [9] Sam S, Mazzone T. Adipose tissue changes in obesity and the impact on metabolic function. Transl Res 2014;164:284–292. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl. 2014.05.008.
- [10] Polyzos SA, Margioris AN. Sarcopenic obesity. Hormones (Athens) 2018;17: 321–331. doi: 10.1007/s42000-018-0049-x.
- [11] Laurens C, Moro C. Intramyocellular fat storage in metabolic diseases. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig 2016;26:43–52. doi: 10.1515/hmbci-2015-0045.
- [12] Bhanji RA, Narayanan P, Allen AM, Malhi H, Watt KD. Sarcopenia in hiding: The risk and consequence of underestimating muscle dysfunction in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology 2017;66:2055–2065. doi: 10. 1002/hep.29420.
- [13] Nachit M, Leclercq IA. Emerging awareness on the importance of skeletal muscle in liver diseases: time to dig deeper into mechanisms! Clin Sci (Lond) 2019;133:465-481. doi: 10.1042/CS20180421.
- [14] Addison O, Marcus RL, Lastayo PC, Ryan AS. Intermuscular fat: a review of the consequences and causes. Int J Endocrinol 2014;2014:309570. doi: 10. 1155/2014/309570.
- [15] Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Sayer AA. Sarcopenia. Lancet 2019;393:2636–2646. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31138-9.
- [16] De Fré CH, De Fré MA, Kwanten WJ, Op de Beeck BJ, Van Gaal LF, Francque SM. Sarcopenia in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: is it a clinically significant entity? Obes Rev 2019;20:353–363. doi: 10. 1111/obr.12776.
- [17] Kim JA, Choi KM. Sarcopenia and fatty liver disease. Hepatol Int 2019;13: 674–687. doi: 10.1007/s12072-019-09996-7.
- [18] Hsu CS, Kao JH. Sarcopenia and chronic liver diseases. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;12:1229–1244. doi: 10.1080/17474124.2018. 1534586.
- [19] Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Bruyère O, Cederholm T, et al. Sarcopenia: revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age Ageing 2019;48:16–31. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afy169.

- [20] Hausman GJ, Basu U, Du M, Fernyhough-Culver M, Dodson MV. Intermuscular and intramuscular adipose tissues: Bad vs. good adipose tissues. Adipocyte 2014;3:242–255. doi: 10.4161/adip.28546.
- [21] Eslamparast T, Montano-Loza AJ, Raman M, Tandon P. Sarcopenic obesity in cirrhosis-The confluence of 2 prognostic titans. Liver Int 2018;38:1706– 1717. doi: 10.1111/liv.13876.
- [22] Montano-Loza AJ, Angulo P, Meza-Junco J, Prado CM, Sawyer MB, Beaumont C, et al. Sarcopenic obesity and myosteatosis are associated with higher mortality in patients with cirrhosis. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2016;7: 126–135. doi: 10.1002/jcsm.12039.
- [23] Rosenberg IH. Sarcopenia: origins and clinical relevance. J Nutr 1997;127: 990S-991S. doi: 10.1093/jn/127.5.990S.
- [24] Dasarathy S. Consilience in sarcopenia of cirrhosis. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2012;3:225–237. doi: 10.1007/s13539-012-0069-3.
- [25] Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Age Ageing 2010; 39:412–423. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq034.
- [26] Zhai Y, Xiao Q. The common mechanisms of sarcopenia and NAFLD. Biomed Res Int 2017;2017:6297651. doi: 10.1155/2017/6297651.
- [27] Walowski CO, Braun W, Maisch MJ, Jensen B, Peine S, Norman K, et al. Reference values for skeletal muscle mass - Current concepts and methodological considerations. Nutrients 2020;12:755. doi: 10. 3390/nu12030755.
- [28] Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, Romero L, Heymsfield SB, Ross RR, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. Am J Epidemiol 1998;147:755–763. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje. a009520.
- [29] Heymsfield SB, Martin-Nguyen A, Fong TM, Gallagher D, Pietrobelli A. Body circumferences: clinical implications emerging from a new geometric model. Nutr Metab (Lond) 2008;5:24. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-5-24.
- [30] Bunchorntavakul C, Reddy KR. Review article: malnutrition/sarcopenia and frailty in patients with cirrhosis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2020;51:64–77. doi: 10.1111/apt.15571.
- [31] Giusto M, Lattanzi B, Albanese C, Galtieri A, Farcomeni A, Giannelli V, et al. Sarcopenia in liver cirrhosis: the role of computed tomography scan for the assessment of muscle mass compared with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and anthropometry. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;27:328–334. doi: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000274.
- [32] Sinclair M, Gow PJ, Grossmann M, Angus PW. Review article: sarcopenia in cirrhosis-aetiology, implications and potential therapeutic interventions. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2016;43:765–777. doi: 10.1111/apt.13549.
- [33] Heymsfield SB, Gonzalez MC, Lu J, Jia G, Zheng J. Skeletal muscle mass and quality: evolution of modern measurement concepts in the context of sarcopenia. Proc Nutr Soc 2015;74:355–366. doi: 10. 1017/S0029665115000129.
- [34] Batsis JA, Villareal DT. Sarcopenic obesity in older adults: aetiology, epidemiology and treatment strategies. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2018;14:513– 537. doi: 10.1038/s41574-018-0062-9.
- [35] Harris-Love MO, Monfaredi R, Ismail C, Blackman MR, Cleary K. Quantitative ultrasound: measurement considerations for the assessment of muscular dystrophy and sarcopenia. Front Aging Neurosci 2014;6:172. doi: 10. 3389/fnagi.2014.00172.
- [36] Stark T, Walker B, Phillips JK, Fejer R, Beck R. Hand-held dynamometry correlation with the gold standard isokinetic dynamometry: a systematic review. PM R 2011;3:472–479. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2010.10.025.
- [37] Tandon P, Raman M, Mourtzakis M, Merli M. A practical approach to nutritional screening and assessment in cirrhosis. Hepatology 2017;65:1044– 1057. doi: 10.1002/hep.29003.
- [38] Alferink LJM, Trajanoska K, Erler NS, Schoufour JD, de Knegt RJ, Ikram MA, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the rotterdam study: about muscle mass, sarcopenia, fat mass, and fat distribution. J Bone Miner Res 2019;34: 1254–1263. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.3713.
- [39] Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Simonsick EM, Salive ME, Wallace RB. Lowerextremity function in persons over the age of 70 years as a predictor of subsequent disability. N Engl J Med 1995;332:556–561. doi: 10. 1056/NEJM199503023320902.
- [40] Bhanji RA, Moctezuma-Velazquez C, Duarte-Rojo A, Ebadi M, Ghosh S, Rose C, et al. Myosteatosis and sarcopenia are associated with hepatic encephalopathy in patients with cirrhosis. Hepatol Int 2018;12:377–386. doi: 10. 1007/s12072-018-9875-9.
- [41] Goodpaster BH, Kelley DE, Thaete FL, He J, Ross R. Skeletal muscle attenuation determined by computed tomography is associated with skeletal muscle lipid content. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2000;89:104–110. doi: 10. 1152/jappl.2000.89.1.104.
- [42] Larson-Meyer DE, Smith SR, Heilbronn LK, Kelley DE, Ravussin E, Newcomer BR. Muscle-associated triglyceride measured by computed tomography and magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2006; 14:73–87. doi: 10.1038/oby.2006.10.

- [43] Hong HC, Hwang SY, Choi HY, Yoo HJ, Seo JA, Kim SG, et al. Relationship between sarcopenia and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the Korean Sarcopenic Obesity Study. Hepatology 2014;59:1772–1778. doi: 10.1002/hep. 26716.
- [44] Lee YH, Kim SU, Song K, Park JY, Kim DY, Ahn SH, et al. Sarcopenia is associated with significant liver fibrosis independently of obesity and insulin resistance in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Nationwide surveys (KNHANES 2008-2011). Hepatology 2016;63:776–786. doi: 10. 1002/hep.28376.
- [45] Koo BK, Kim D, Joo SK, Kim JH, Chang MS, Kim BG, et al. Sarcopenia is an independent risk factor for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and significant fibrosis. J Hepatol 2017;66:123–131. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.08.019.
- [46] Kim G, Lee SE, Lee YB, Jun JE, Ahn J, Bae JC, et al. Relationship between relative skeletal muscle mass and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: A 7-year longitudinal study. Hepatology 2018;68:1755–1768. doi: 10.1002/hep. 30049.
- [47] Gan D, Wang L, Jia M, Ru Y, Ma Y, Zheng W, et al. Low muscle mass and low muscle strength associate with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Nutr 2020;39:1124–1130. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2019.04.023.
- [48] Petta S, Ciminnisi S, Di Marco V, Cabibi D, Cammà C, Licata A, et al. Sarcopenia is associated with severe liver fibrosis in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2017;45:510–518. doi: 10. 1111/apt.13889.
- [49] Wijarnpreecha K, Panjawatanan P, Aby E, Ahmed A, Kim D. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the over-60s: Impact of sarcopenia and obesity. Maturitas 2019;124:48–54. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2019.03.016.
- [50] Hara N, Iwasa M, Sugimoto R, Mifuji-Moroka R, Yoshikawa K, Terasaka E, et al. Sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity are prognostic factors for overall survival in patients with cirrhosis. Intern Med 2016;55:863–870. doi: 10. 2169/internalmedicine.55.5676.
- [51] Kim G, Kang SH, Kim MY, Baik SK. Prognostic value of sarcopenia in patients with liver cirrhosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2017;12:e0186990. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186990.
- [52] Bhanji RA, Narayanan P, Moynagh MR, Takahashi N, Angirekula M, Kennedy CC, et al. Differing impact of sarcopenia and frailty in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and alcoholic liver disease. Liver Transpl 2019;25:14–24. doi: 10. 1002/lt.25346.
- [53] Carias S, Castellanos AL, Vilchez V, Nair R, Dela Cruz AC, Watkins J, et al. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis is strongly associated with sarcopenic obesity in patients with cirrhosis undergoing liver transplant evaluation. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016;31:628–633. doi: 10.1111/jgh.13166.
- [54] Luo L, Liu M. Adipose tissue in control of metabolism. J Endocrinol 2016; 231:R77–R99. doi: 10.1530/JOE-16-0211.
- [55] Kaser S, Moschen A, Cayon A, Kaser A, Crespo J, Pons-Romero F, et al. Adiponectin and its receptors in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Gut 2005; 54:117–121. doi: 10.1136/gut.2003.037010.
- [56] Dalamaga M, Diakopoulos KN, Mantzoros CS. The role of adiponectin in cancer: a review of current evidence. Endocr Rev 2012;33:547–594. doi: 10.1210/er.2011-1015.
- [57] Luo Z, Saha AK, Xiang X, Ruderman NB. AMPK, the metabolic syndrome and cancer. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2005;26:69–76. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2004.12. 011.
- [58] Tsochatzis E, Papatheodoridis GV, Archimandritis AJ. The evolving role of leptin and adiponectin in chronic liver diseases. Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2629–2640. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00848.x.
- [59] Martín AI, Priego T, López-Calderón A. Hormones and muscle atrophy. Adv Exp Med Biol 2018;1088:207–233. doi: 10.1007/978-981-13-1435-3\_9.
- [60] Shulman GI. Ectopic fat in insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and cardiometabolic disease. N Engl J Med 2014;371:1131–1141. doi: 10. 1056/NEJMra1011035.
- [61] Aleffi S, Petrai I, Bertolani C, Parola M, Colombatto S, Novo E, et al. Upregulation of proinflammatory and proangiogenic cytokines by leptin in human hepatic stellate cells. Hepatology 2005;42:1339–1348. doi: 10. 1002/hep.20965.
- [62] Angulo P, Alba LM, Petrovic LM, Adams LA, Lindor KD, Jensen MD. Leptin, insulin resistance, and liver fibrosis in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol 2004;41:943–949. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2004.08.020.
- [63] Pedersen BK, Febbraio MA. Muscles, exercise and obesity: skeletal muscle as a secretory organ. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2012;8:457–465. doi: 10. 1038/nrendo.2012.49.
- [64] Suriano F, Van Hul M, Cani PD. Gut microbiota and regulation of myokineadipokine function. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2020;52:9–17. doi: 10.1016/j. coph.2020.03.006.
- [65] Han HQ, Zhou X, Mitch WE, Goldberg AL. Myostatin/activin pathway antagonism: molecular basis and therapeutic potential. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2013;45:2333–2347. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2013.05.019.
- [66] Yndestad A, Haukeland JW, Dahl TB, Bjøro K, Gladhaug IP, Berge C, et al. A complex role of activin A in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104:2196–2205. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2009.318.
## Altajar S. et al: Myosteatosis, sarcopenia, and NAFLD

- [67] Gamas L, Matafome P, Seiça R. Irisin and myonectin regulation in the insulin resistant muscle: Implications to adipose tissue: Muscle crosstalk. J Diabetes Res 2015;2015:359159. doi: 10.1155/2015/359159.
- [68] Zhang HJ, Zhang XF, Ma ZM, Pan LL, Chen Z, Han HW, et al. Irisin is inversely associated with intrahepatic triglyceride contents in obese adults. J Hepatol 2013;59:557–562. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.04.030.
- [69] Seldin MM, Lei X, Tan SY, Stanson KP, Wei Z, Wong GW. Skeletal musclederived myonectin activates the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway to suppress autophagy in liver. J Biol Chem 2013;288:36073– 36082. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.500736.
- [70] Cypess AM, Lehman S, Williams G, Tal I, Rodman D, Goldfine AB, et al. Identification and importance of brown adipose tissue in adult humans. N Engl J Med 2009;360:1509–1517. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0810780.
- [71] Yilmaz Y, Ones T, Purnak T, Ozguven S, Kurt R, Atug O, et al. Association between the presence of brown adipose tissue and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in adult humans. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2011;34:318–323. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04723.x.
- [72] Stanford KI, Lynes MD, Takahashi H, Baer LA, Arts PJ, May FJ, et al. 12,13diHOME: An exercise-induced lipokine that increases skeletal muscle fatty acid uptake. Cell Metab 2018;27:1111–1120.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet. 2018.03.020.
- [73] Kong X, Yao T, Zhou P, Kazak L, Tenen D, Lyubetskaya A, et al. Brown adipose tissue controls skeletal muscle function via the secretion of myostatin. Cell Metab 2018;28:631–643.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.07.004.
- [74] Wang GX, Zhao XY, Meng ZX, Kern M, Dietrich A, Chen Z, et al. The brown fat-enriched secreted factor Nrg4 preserves metabolic homeostasis through attenuation of hepatic lipogenesis. Nat Med 2014;20:1436–1443. doi: 10. 1038/nm.3713.
- [75] Rui L. Energy metabolism in the liver. Compr Physiol 2014;4:177–197. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c130024.
- [76] Unger RH, Clark GO, Scherer PE, Orci L. Lipid homeostasis, lipotoxicity and the metabolic syndrome. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010;1801:209–214. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.10.006.
- [77] Ahima RS, Flier JS. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2000;11:327–332. doi: 10.1016/s1043-2760(00)00301-5.
- [78] Li X. The FGF metabolic axis. Front Med 2019;13:511–530. doi: 10. 1007/s11684-019-0711-y.
- [79] Glatz JF, Luiken JJ, Bonen A. Membrane fatty acid transporters as regulators of lipid metabolism: implications for metabolic disease. Physiol Rev 2010; 90:367–417. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00003.2009.
- [80] Coen PM, Dubé JJ, Amati F, Stefanovic-Racic M, Ferrell RE, Toledo FG, et al. Insulin resistance is associated with higher intramyocellular triglycerides in type I but not type II myocytes concomitant with higher ceramide content. Diabetes 2010;59:80–88. doi: 10.2337/db09-0988.
- [81] Conte M, Franceschi C, Sandri M, Salvioli S. Perilipin 2 and age-related metabolic diseases: A new perspective. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2016; 27:893–903. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.09.001.
- [82] Qatanani M, Lazar MA. Mechanisms of obesity-associated insulin resistance: many choices on the menu. Genes Dev 2007;21:1443–1455. doi: 10.1101/gad.1550907.
- [83] Unger RH, Orci L. Lipotoxic diseases of nonadipose tissues in obesity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000;24 Suppl 4:S28–S32. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo. 0801498.
- [84] Copps KD, White MF. Regulation of insulin sensitivity by serine/threonine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate proteins IRS1 and IRS2. Diabetologia 2012;55:2565–2582. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2644-8.
- [85] Boursier J, Diehl AM. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and the gut microbiome. Clin Liver Dis 2016;20:263–275. doi: 10.1016/j.cld.2015.10.012.
- [86] Arab JP, Martin-Mateos RM, Shah VH. Gut-liver axis, cirrhosis and portal hypertension: the chicken and the egg. Hepatol Int 2018;12:24–33. doi: 10.1007/s12072-017-9798-x.
- [87] Leung C, Rivera L, Furness JB, Angus PW. The role of the gut microbiota in NAFLD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016;13:412–425. doi: 10. 1038/nrgastro.2016.85.
- [88] Baffy G. Potential mechanisms linking gut microbiota and portal hypertension. Liver Int 2019;39:598–609. doi: 10.1111/liv.13986.
- [89] Ticinesi A, Nouvenne A, Cerundolo N, Catania P, Prati B, Tana C, et al. Gut microbiota, muscle mass and function in aging: A focus on physical frailty and sarcopenia. Nutrients 2019;11:1633. doi: 10.3390/nu11071633.
- [90] Munukka E, Pekkala S, Wiklund P, Rasool O, Borra R, Kong L, et al. Gutadipose tissue axis in hepatic fat accumulation in humans. J Hepatol 2014; 61:132–138. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.02.020.
- [91] Anand AC. Nutrition and muscle in cirrhosis. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2017;7: 340–357. doi: 10.1016/j.jceh.2017.11.001.
- [92] Grancini V, Trombetta M, Lunati ME, Zimbalatti D, Boselli ML, Gatti S, et al. Contribution of β-cell dysfunction and insulin resistance to cirrhosis-associated diabetes: Role of severity of liver disease. J Hepatol 2015;63:1484– 1490. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.08.011.
- [93] Patel K. Follistatin. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1998;30:1087–1093. doi: 10. 1016/s1357-2725(98)00064-8.

- [94] Cabrera D, Ruiz A, Cabello-Verrugio C, Brandan E, Estrada L, Pizarro M, et al. Diet-induced nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with sarcopenia and decreased serum insulin-like growth factor-1. Dig Dis Sci 2016; 61:3190-3198. doi: 10.1007/s10620-016-4285-0.
- [95] Kadi F. Cellular and molecular mechanisms responsible for the action of testosterone on human skeletal muscle. A basis for illegal performance enhancement. Br J Pharmacol 2008;154:522–528. doi: 10.1038/bjp. 2008.118.
- [96] Marchesini G, Zoli M, Angiolini A, Dondi C, Bianchi FB, Pisi E. Muscle protein breakdown in liver cirrhosis and the role of altered carbohydrate metabolism. Hepatology 1981;1:294–299. doi: 10.1002/hep.1840010403.
- [97] Davuluri G, Allawy A, Thapaliya S, Rennison JH, Singh D, Kumar A, et al. Hyperammonaemia-induced skeletal muscle mitochondrial dysfunction results in cataplerosis and oxidative stress. J Physiol 2016;594:7341– 7360. doi: 10.1113/JP272796.
- [98] Pang Q, Qu K, Liu C, Zhang JY, Liu SS. Sarcopenia and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: New evidence for low vitamin D status contributing to the link. Hepatology 2016;63:675. doi: 10.1002/hep.28010.
- [99] Keane JT, Elangovan H, Stokes RA, Gunton JE. Vitamin D and the livercorrelation or cause? Nutrients 2018;10:496. doi: 10.3390/nu10040496.
- [100] Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2001;56:M146–M156. doi: 10.1093/gerona/56.3.m146.
- [101] Williams FR, Berzigotti A, Lord JM, Lai JC, Armstrong MJ. Review article: impact of exercise on physical frailty in patients with chronic liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2019;50:988–1000. doi: 10.1111/apt.15491.
- [102] Giannelli V, Di Gregorio V, Iebba V, Giusto M, Schippa S, Merli M, et al. Microbiota and the gut-liver axis: bacterial translocation, inflammation and infection in cirrhosis. World J Gastroenterol 2014;20:16795–16810. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i45.16795.
- [103] Gomez F, Ruiz P, Schreiber AD. Impaired function of macrophage Fc gamma receptors and bacterial infection in alcoholic cirrhosis. N Engl J Med 1994; 331:1122–1128. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199410273311704.
- [104] Iritani S, Imai K, Takai K, Hanai T, Ideta T, Miyazaki T, et al. Skeletal muscle depletion is an independent prognostic factor for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastroenterol 2015;50:323–332. doi: 10.1007/s00535-014-0964-9.
- [105] Fujiwara N, Nakagawa H, Kudo Y, Tateishi R, Taguri M, Watadani T, et al. Sarcopenia, intramuscular fat deposition, and visceral adiposity independently predict the outcomes of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2015;63: 131–140. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.02.031.
- [106] Merli M, Dasarathy S. Sarcopenia in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: Targeting the real culprit? J Hepatol 2015;63:309–311. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2015.05.014.
- [107] Woods JA, Wilund KR, Martin SA, Kistler BM. Exercise, inflammation and aging. Aging Dis 2012;3:130–140.
- [108] Allen JM, Mailing LJ, Niemiro GM, Moore R, Cook MD, White BA, et al. Exercise alters gut microbiota composition and function in lean and obese humans. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2018;50:747–757. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 000000000001495.
- [109] Villareal DT, Apovian CM, Kushner RF, Klein S. Obesity in older adults: technical review and position statement of the American Society for Nutrition and NAASO, The Obesity Society. Obes Res 2005;13:1849–1863. doi: 10. 1038/oby.2005.228.
- [110] Rachakonda V, Wills R, DeLany JP, Kershaw EE, Behari J. Differential impact of weight loss on nonalcoholic fatty liver resolution in a North American cohort with obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2017;25:1360–1368. doi: 10. 1002/oby.21890.
- [111] Mastino D, Robert M, Betry C, Laville M, Gouillat C, Disse E. Bariatric surgery outcomes in sarcopenic obesity. Obes Surg 2016;26:2355–2362. doi: 10. 1007/s11695-016-2102-7.
- [112] Friedman SL, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Rinella M, Sanyal AJ. Mechanisms of NAFLD development and therapeutic strategies. Nat Med 2018;24:908– 922. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0104-9.
- [113] Qureshi K, Neuschwander-Tetri BA. The molecular basis for current targets of NASH therapies. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2020;29:151–161. doi: 10. 1080/13543784.2020.1703949.
- [114] Johnston MP, Patel J, Byrne CD. Multi-drug approaches to NASH: what's in the development pipeline? Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2020;29:143–150. doi: 10.1080/13543784.2020.1668926.
- [115] Becker C, Lord SR, Studenski SA, Warden SJ, Fielding RA, Recknor CP, et al. Myostatin antibody (LY2495655) in older weak fallers: a proof-of-concept, randomised, phase 2 trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2015;3:948–957. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00298-3.
- [116] Hanai T, Shiraki M, Nishimura K, Ohnishi S, Imai K, Suetsugu A, et al. Sarcopenia impairs prognosis of patients with liver cirrhosis. Nutrition 2015;31:193–199. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2014.07.005.
- [117] Eslam M, Newsome PN, Sarin SK, Anstee QM, Targher G, Romero-Gomez M, et al. A new definition for metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease: An international expert consensus statement. J Hepatol 2020; 73:202–209. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.03.039.



## **Macrophage Phenotypes and Hepatitis B Virus Infection**

Yujia Li<sup>1</sup>, Shilin Li<sup>1</sup>, Xiaoqiong Duan<sup>1</sup>, Chunhui Yang<sup>1</sup>, Min Xu<sup>1</sup> and Limin Chen<sup>1,2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Blood Transfusion, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Chengdu, Sichuan, China; <sup>2</sup>Toronto General Research Institute, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON M5G 1L6, Canada

## Abstract

Globally, hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection and its related liver diseases account for 780,000 deaths every year. Outcomes of HBV infection depend on the interaction between the virus and host immune system. It is becoming increasingly apparent that Kupffer cells (KCs), the largest population of resident and monocyte-derived macrophages in the liver, contribute to HBV infection in various aspects. These cells play an important role not only in the anti-HBV immunity including virus recognition, cytokine production to directly inhibit viral replication and recruitment and activation of other immune cells involved in virus clearance but also in HBV outcome and progression, such as persistent infection and development of end-stage liver diseases. Since liver macrophages play multiple roles in HBV infection, they are directly targeted by HBV to benefit its life cycle. In the present review, we briefly outline the current advances of research of macrophages, especially the studies of their phenotypes, in chronic HBV infection.

**Citation of this article:** Li Y, Li S, Duan X, Yang C, Xu M, Chen L. Macrophage phenotypes and hepatitis B virus infection. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):424–431. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00046.

## Introduction

As a major world health problem, hepatitis B virus (HBV) infects 257 million people, representing about 3% of the

world's population (https://www.who.int/en/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/hepatitis-b). While approximately 95% of HBV infections acquired during adulthood are resolved, the virus cannot be cleared in most individuals infected in perinatal period or early childhood.<sup>1</sup> It is widely accepted that the virus-host interaction, which is affected by age, transmission route, immune status and other factors, determines the outcome of infection.<sup>2,3</sup>

Both adaptive and innate immunity are involved in anti-HBV immune response. On one hand, antigen-presenting cells (APCs), including macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs), initialize the virus-specific adaptive immunity characterized by activation of T helper lymphocytes and secretion of various cytokines, which then mobilize the cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) to kill the HBV-infected cells. Additionally, HBVspecific antibodies are developed by the humoral immune system to neutralize the virus and facilitate its clearance.<sup>4</sup> On the other hand, the essential role of non-specific defense, especially the function of the liver macrophages (i.e. KCs), has gained growing attention (reviewed in Faure-Dupuy et al.<sup>5</sup>), albeit the precise mechanism remains incompletely elucidated because of the difficulty in identifying asymptomatic early infections in human studies.<sup>6</sup> Unlike hepatitis C virus (HCV), HBV was once considered as a "stealth virus", due to the fact that HBV could not induce significant innate immune response in an acute HBV-infected chimpanzee model.<sup>7</sup> Limited evidence from clinical study<sup>8</sup> also showed that no intense cytokine storm, such as type I interferon (IFN) and type III IFN production, occurs in patients with acute HBV infection. Nevertheless, one typical characteristic of HBV infection is macrophage hyperplasia in the liver,  $^{9,10}$ suggesting an important role of macrophages in HBV pathogenesis. It has been demonstrated that some effecter molecules, such as interleukin (IL)-6,<sup>11</sup> were produced by KCs to replace IFNs to control HBV infection.<sup>11</sup> Another interesting study<sup>12</sup> showed that HBV DNA in the liver and blood were cleared before the adaptive immune response was elicited, indicating that innate immune response is much more than a simple branch to control virus invasion until onset of the adaptive response.

Herein, we will review the effects of liver macrophages on HBV infection, focusing on macrophage phenotypes in HBV persistent infections.

## **Macrophages: Functions and phenotypes**

In the healthy liver, the compartment of liver macrophages is dichotomic, involving tissue-resident macrophages (i.e. KCs) and monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs). KCs, as well as the liver DCs and sinusoidal endothelial cells (LSECs), are mainly localized in the sinusoids of the liver and they form the

Keywords: Hepatitis B virus; Chronic HBV infection; Macrophage; Phenotype. Abbreviations: ALT, alanine aminotransferase; APC, antigen-presenting cell; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; CHB, chronic HBV infection; CHC, chronic hepatitis C virus; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocyte; CXCL, chemokine (C-C motif) ligand, CCL, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand; DC, dendritic cell; GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; HBV, hepatitis B virus; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HCV, hepatitis C virus; HSPG, heparan sulfate proteoglycan; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; IRF3, interferon regulatory factor 3; ISGs, IFN-stimulated genes; KC, Kupffer cell; LBP, LPS binding protein; LCMV, lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; LSEC, liver sinusoidal endothelial cell; M-CSF, macrophage-colony stimulating factor; MDM, monocyte-derived macrophage; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; MHV, murine hepatitis virus; MIF, macrophage migration inhibitory factor; MR, mannose receptor; MxA, myxovirus resistance gene; NF- $\kappa$ B, nuclear factor kappa-B; NK, natural killer; NKT, natural killer T; NTCP, sodium taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide; OXPHOS, oxidative phosphorylation; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cell; PEM, peritoneal exudative macrophage; PGE2, prostaglandin E2; PTH, primary tupaia hepatocytes; ROS, reactive oxygen species; STING, stimulator of IFN genes; TLR, toll-like receptor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; TRAIL, TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand.

Received: 14 May 2020; Revised: 20 August 2020; Accepted: 6 September 2020 \*Correspondence to: Limin Chen, Institute of Blood Transfusion, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Peking Union Medical College, 26 Huacai Street, Chengdu, Sichuan 610052, China. Tel: +86-28-61648530, E-mail: limin\_chen\_99@126.com or limin.chen@ibt.pumc.edu.cn

#### Li Y. et al: Macrophages and HBV infection

first line of defense to diverse antigens and toxic components contained in portal venous blood.<sup>13</sup> MDMs are mainly localized near the portal triad. When the KCs are depleted experimentally or pathologically, the MDMs can be infiltrated from the peritoneal cavity, replacing KCs by acquiring virtually the same phenotype.<sup>14</sup> In fact, the liver macrophages (i.e. KCs and MDMs) are very plastic and no specific marker is used to discriminate KCs from MDMs in human.<sup>5</sup>

As an important component of innate immunity, liver macrophages can function as: 1) phagocytes to remove dead cells, debris and pathogens;<sup>15</sup> 2) effective APCs, with their expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and co-stimulatory molecules; 3) immune mediators involved in immune suppression and allograft tolerance of liver; and, 4) key players in rapid erythrocyte removal and iron recycling (mainly the MDMs).<sup>16</sup>

Polarization, which is equally vague as activation, is indispensable before the macrophages achieve their different functions. Generally speaking, macrophages can be polarized into two major subsets with different combinations of stimuli:17 M1 macrophages of classical activation, which induce inflammation and cause tissue damage by facilitating Th1 response, and M2 macrophages of alternative activation, which maintain tissue integrity by promoting the Type 2 T helper cell response (Fig. 1). M1 and M2 type cytokines or surface markers are referred to, to differentiate different macrophage activation phenotypes. There are other subsets, such as M2a, M2b, M2c, etc. What has been overlooked, however, is that polarization is a process which changes continuously<sup>18</sup> and various mixtures of M1 and M2 type macrophages may result in confusion. As a matter of fact, much more effort is required to define the criteria for assessing phenotypes. However, for the rest of this review, we will discuss the association between macrophages and HBV infection on the basis of the current understanding of M1/M2 type macrophages.

## Do liver macrophages sense HBV infection?

First of all, although the exact interaction between liver macrophages and HBV is still unclear, nonhepatic cell surface presentations of molecules interacting with PreS or hepatitis B core antigen have been documented. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), the monocytic cell line THP-1 and  $U937^{19-23}$  were reported to express the PreSbinding receptor of HBV. Lipoprotein lipase (LPL), which can be produced by THP-1 macrophages,<sup>24,25</sup> has an linear motif for PreS binding and may interact with HBV particles during infection.<sup>23</sup> Additional candidate Pre-S receptors, which can be expressed by KCs,<sup>26</sup> are lipopolysaccharide (LPS) binding protein (LBP), the LPS receptor CD14,<sup>22</sup> and mannose receptor (MR). 27,28 These receptors are involved in the binding of hepatitis B surface antigen to macrophages, monocytes or DCs. Hepatitis B core antigen was also reported to bind to PBMCs and trigger the release of IL-18.<sup>29</sup> Consistently, Cooper et al.<sup>30</sup> demonstrated that hepatitis B core antigen could bind to receptor(s), like the Toll-like receptor (TLR)2 and heparan sulfate proteoglycan (HSPG), on THP-1 macrophages by its arginine-rich domain at the C-terminal and effectively induce expression of pro-inflammatory molecules. Given the fact that hepatitis B core antigen mainly exists within the hepatocytes and viral particles, whether liver macrophages interact with hepatitis B core antigen during HBV infection in patients is still not clear. Accordingly, although

there is a probable involvement of HBV antigen receptors in initializing viral infection, it is more likely that these receptors only mediate cellular recognition or internalization of HBV/ HBV antigens. Little work has addressed the expression of the recently identified HBV functional receptor sodium taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide (NTCP)<sup>31,32</sup> in liver macrophages. In an interesting study, Neurath et al.<sup>20</sup> reported that HUT-78 and MOLT3 cells (both T cell lines) could covalently attach to PreS-cellulose or hepatitis B surface antigencellulose after treatment with concanavalin A linked with a peptide of HBV PreS1. This result suggests a similar possibility that HBV receptors could be induced by appropriate stimulations in liver macrophages or monocytes. Moreover, HBV antigens and nucleic acid have been detected in macrophages and monocytes, <sup>21,33-35</sup> raising the possibility that HBV might be "taken into" the macrophages or monocytes.

Secondly, the ability of macrophages to produce cytokines upon exposure to HBV potentially renders them as indispensable immune cells sensing and discriminating invading HBV. Hösel's group11 observed an early-time, nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-KB)-dependent induction of inflammatory mediators in primary human KCs stimulated with HBV inoculum generated from the HepG2.2.15 cell line. This cluster of soluble inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, IL-8, IL-1B and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  but no type I IFN, inhibited HBV replication significantly. In a more recent study,<sup>21</sup> KCs isolated from patients with persistent HBV infection showed a higher activation status (characterized by elevated expressions of CD40, HLA-ABC and HLA-DR) than those of healthy control. And, in accordance with previous report, their experiments<sup>21</sup> also revealed obvious inductions of IL-6, IL-15, TNF, chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 4 (CCL4), C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 8 (CXCL8), as well as IL-10 in human primary KCs and PBMC-generated macrophages cultured with patient plasma-derived hepatitis B surface antigen. Most recently,



Fig. 1. Characteristic products and functions of M1 and M2 macrophages. Macrophages can metabolize arginine with the inducible nitric oxide synthase enzyme into nitric oxide and citrulline or with arginase into ornithine and urea which is the biochemical basis of the M1 or M2 macrophage responses, respectively (a). M1- or M2-dominant macrophages stimulate the Type 1 T helper cell or Type 2 T helper cell responses (b). Also shown are the major molecules involved, including cell surface molecules, cytokines, chemokines and so on, which are closely associated with the M1 or M2 phenotypes (c). Phagocytosis and pinocytosis are general properties of macrophages, which are not dependent on M1 or M2 type responses (d).

Cheng *et al.*<sup>36</sup> reported that human macrophages showed an inflammatory cytokine storm when stimulated with high level HBV, while the hepatocytes sensed HBV DNA poorly. Other *in vitro* studies demonstrated that HBV antigens (e.g., HBV envelop protein, PreS and HBV core antigen) were able to induce cytokine secretion in monocytes and MDMs after binding to the receptors (see below).

## M1 and M2 macrophages involved in HBV infection

As a major source of cytokines and immune regulators, macrophages are involved in HBV infection in at least two aspects: (1) antiviral effects, mainly mediated by M1 type molecules (Fig. 2a); and, (2) immunotolerance, mediated by M2 type molecules (Fig. 2b).

## Antiviral effects

Activation of M1-type macrophages and production of proinflammatory cytokines usually indicate a robust immune response to HBV infection. CD16+ is one of the M1-like phenotype markers. Zhang's group<sup>37</sup> investigated 110 hepatitis B e antigen-negative chronic hepatitis B (CHB) patients and found that the immune-activated group was characterized by lower HBV DNA and that high alanine aminotransferase (ALT) is associated with more CD16+ monocytes and/or macrophages in the peripheral blood and liver, when compared with the immune tolerant group. High level of M1-like CD16+ macrophages was an indicator for immune activation that helped patients to defend against the virus.

**Direct antiviral effects:** Agonists of TLRs<sup>38-41</sup> and HBV antigens (as discussed above) can induce macrophages to express soluble inflammatory mediators and other effective molecules, which are the major effectors to assume direct antiviral activity of macrophages. With diverse mechanisms, these effective molecules can either control HBV without obvious cytotoxicity or result in injury or apoptosis of the infected hepatocytes.

Type I IFN, for example, one of the key cytokines potently inhibiting HBV replication in hepatocytes, is routinely used in the clinic to treat HBV patients. Despite plenty of work having addressed the anti-HBV mechanisms of type I IFN, there is limited clinical or *in vivo* evidence for the idea that after the lag phase of HBV replication with negligible release of type I IFN, liver macrophage-synthesized IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  may act as essential controller for HBV. Fortunately, circumstantial evidence is



Fig. 2. Macrophage involvement in HBV infection. The anti-HBV effect of macrophages is mediated mainly by pro-inflammatory cytokines inducing a direct antiviral response or molecules recruiting or activating other immune cells. Meanwhile, another group of M1 KCs produces molecules that may result in injury or apoptosis of the hepatocytes (a). Immunomodulatory mediators, such as IL-10 and TGF-B, are closely associated with suppressed antiviral T cell responses and/or end-stage HBV liver disease (b).Macrophages may also contribute to the inflammatory or anti-inflammatory liver microenvironment and, consequently, alter hepatic response to IFN treatment (c). The phenotype and function of macrophages can be modified by either HBV itself (d) or the microenvironment (e). Thus, the therapeutic strategies targeting macrophages in an HBV infection may aim at modulating macrophage polarization/phenotype, monocyte recruitment/activation and so on (f).

## Li Y. et al: Macrophages and HBV infection

available. First of all, type I IFNs induced by *in vitro* activated KCs effectively suppress HBV production. Injections of diverse TLR (TLR3/4/5/7/9) agonists could control HBV replication, which is IFN  $\alpha/\beta$ -dependent in transgenic mice.  $^{40}$  Wu's group  $^{38}$  confirmed and extended these findings by collecting the supernatants of primary C57BL/6 mouse KCs after stimulation with ligands specific for TLR1 to TLR9 and evaluating their effects on HBV-Met cells. Their study showed a significant TLR3- or TLR4-mediated suppression of HBV replication, which can be abolished, or at least partially abolished, by IFN- $\beta$  antibodies.

Another study<sup>42</sup> using KCs activated by the agonist of stimulator of IFN genes (STING) revealed a predominant type I IFN production and subsequent inhibition of HBV replication in the AML12HBV10 cell line. The anti-HBV effect of STING agonist was further confirmed in the HBV DNA hydrodynamic NOD/SCID mouse model.<sup>42</sup> Secondly, unrelated viral infection may activate KCs and noncytopathically inhibit HBV production via IFN  $\alpha/\beta$ . Guidotti *et al.*<sup>43</sup> used lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) to infect HBV transgenic mice and assayed the production of HBV. They found that 3.5- and 2.1-kb HBV mRNAs were decreased or even absent, as well as HBV DNA replication forms. Similar results were found in HBV transgenic mouse model with malaria infection.44 Recruitment of macrophages and subsequently elevated expressions of IFN  $\alpha/\beta/\gamma$  suppressed HBV gene expression and replication in vivo. Thirdly, HBV has evolved some strategies specifically targeting IFN production in KCs, indicating the potential anti-HBV effects of macrophage-derived IFNs. Using the murine nonparenchymal liver cells, Wu's group<sup>45</sup> demonstrated that hepatitis b surface antigen, hepatitis B e antigen, as well as HBV virion, could suppress TLR3-mediated IFN- $\beta$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and IFN-stimulated gene (ISG) production by interfering with the activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 and NF-KB.

Activated macrophages are the major source of TNF- $\alpha$ ,<sup>46</sup> which has been identified as a potent anti-HBV molecule. It has been well established that TNF- $\alpha$  production increases in the primary KCs<sup>47</sup> or PBMCs<sup>48</sup> isolated from CHB patients. *In vitro* studies also demonstrated that the expression levels of TNF- $\alpha$  in primary KCs,<sup>11,21</sup> MDMs<sup>21</sup> and THP-1<sup>30</sup> cells were up-regulated in response to HBV challenge. In addition, HBV replication in primary tupaia hepatocytes (PTHs) was partially inhibited by recombinant tupaia TNF- $\alpha$ .<sup>49</sup> In transgenic mice, TNF- $\alpha$  produced by macrophages during LCMV,<sup>43</sup> adenovirus or cytomegalovirus<sup>50</sup> infection inhibited HBV gene expression and DNA replication noncytopathically. Furthermore, substantial clinical data also raised the importance of TNF- $\alpha$  in HBV infection.

Elimination of hepatitis B e antigen and suppression of HBV replication in patients receiving IFN $\alpha$  treatment was accompanied by spontaneously induced TNF- $\alpha$  in PBMCs.<sup>51</sup> Anti-TNF- $\alpha$  therapy in patients with chronic inflammatory diseases was associated with higher risk of HBV activation, reactivation and hepatotoxicity,<sup>52–55</sup> which may be attributed to the setting of immune suppression. Accumulating evidence also suggests an important role of TNF- $\alpha$  gene polymorphisms in HBV infection.<sup>56</sup> These clinical studies, together with the data from basic research and animal models, mirror the fact that TNF- $\alpha$ , as well as the macrophages, is one of the prerequisites for virus clearance and permanent control of HBV.

Other macrophage-derived anti-HBV cytokines include IL-1 $\beta,^{11,51}$  IL-6, $^{11,21,30}$  IL-12, $^{57}$  IL-15, $^{21}$  and macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), $^{58}$  some of which may perform

synergistic actions with each other.<sup>59</sup> Meanwhile, another group of KCs produced molecules, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS),<sup>10</sup> Fas-ligand,<sup>60</sup> TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL),<sup>61</sup> granzyme B and perforin,<sup>62</sup> may result in injury or apoptosis of the hepatocytes.

Indirect antiviral effects through recruiting or activating other immune cells: Liver macrophages synthesize several cytokines and chemokines to activate or recruit inflammatory cells involved in the anti-HBV roles. IL-18, an inflammatory cytokine belonging to the IL-1 family, is mainly expressed by liver macrophages.<sup>63</sup> Previous studies have demonstrated that IL-18 plays a powerful anti-HBV role by inducing cytokine production (e.g. IFN- $\gamma$ , IFN  $\alpha/\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ )<sup>64</sup> in some immune cells. Kakimi *et al.*<sup>65</sup> showed that IL-18 was a type I- and type II-IFN inducing factor, acting on both intrahepatic natural killer (NK) and natural killer T (NKT) cells in a transgenic mouse model, resulting in suppressed HBV replication. Interestingly, this inhibitory effect of IL-18 on HBV replication is dependent on IL-12, which is able to be released by activated macrophages. Boltjes et al.<sup>21</sup> analyzed the function of human primary KCs and in vitro-generated MDMs. They found both could be activated by exposure to patient-derived hepatitis B surface antigen, resulting in activation of NK cells characterized by up-regulation of CD69 and IFN- $\gamma$ .

It has been well established that Type 1 T helper cells, B cells and DCs can also produce IFN- $\gamma$  in response to IL-18 stimulation.<sup>66-68</sup> In addition, activated liver macrophages also produce CXCL, CXCL-9 and CXCL-10, which assist in trafficking of lymphocytes and monocyte/macrophages into the tissue.<sup>69,70</sup> Another study from Kakimi group<sup>71</sup> demonstrated that CXCL-9 and CXCL-10 derived from nonparenchymal cells (including KCs) chemoattracted lymphomononuclear inflammatory cells into the liver in a transgenic murine model.

#### Immunotolerance/immunosuppressive activity

Constantly exposed to diverse antigens derived from food or microbial products, the immune cells, in addition to other cells<sup>72</sup> in the liver, develop some mechanisms to prevent excessive activation and continuous pathology, known as inherent tolerogenicity of the liver. KCs are involved in the well-known tolerogenic milieu by secreting soluble immunor-egulators (e.g., IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ , and amphiregulin) or expressing inhibitory molecules on the membrane, both of which could be exploited by HBV for their favorable immunosuppressive microenvironment.

For instance, IL-10 could depress inflammation response by inhibiting Type 1 T helper cell cytokine expression. An HBVcarrier mouse model showed no significant immune response to hepatitis B surface antigen vaccination, which could be reversed by KC depletion or IL-10 deficiency.<sup>73</sup> Clinical data<sup>74</sup> also revealed an association between CHB and elevated plasma IL-10 level, though it was uncertain whether the increased IL-10 was derived mainly from macrophages or not. Consistently, Li's group<sup>75</sup> also reported that the increased production of IL-10 by KCs, which was stimulated by HBV core antigen, resulted in inhibition of the antiviral function of CD8+ T cells in mice.

Interestingly, IL-10 gene promoter polymorphisms were reported to be associated with HBV progression.<sup>76</sup> It was reported that murine KCs preferred to produce TGF- $\beta$ , which is able to restrain immune response and to develop tolerance towards self-antigens,<sup>77</sup> rather than functioning as a

pro-inflammatory cytokine in response to HBV infection.<sup>78</sup> Although the precise mechanism remains unclear, the tolerogenic role of HBV by modulating liver macrophage polarization should not be ignored, since IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  are typical cytokines of M2 macrophages. Previous studies also suggested that KCs were primarily immunosuppressive, mediated by prostaglandin E2 (PGE2);<sup>13</sup> accordingly, HBV may maintain or even promote this immunosuppressive status by regulating macrophage polarization and/or PGE2 production to benefit its replication.

Bility and colleagues<sup>79</sup> found that CHB patients with fibrosis and/or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and patients with acute HBV-associated liver failure experienced a M2 phenotype, including increased M2 macrophages in the liver infiltration and predominate M2-type gene expression profile in the liver. The authors developed a humanized mouse model, supporting HBV replication to investigate the HBV-associated immunopathogenesis. They found that impaired immune response in parallel with robust M2-type macrophage activation in the liver contributed to the development of persistent HBV infection, indicating the M2 macrophages might act as immune suppressors. Nowadays, accumulating evidence indicates that macrophages play an important role in HBVinduced immune suppression, not only in persistent infection establishment but also in the development of the end-stage liver diseases, such as liver fibrosis and HCC.80

# Potential role of macrophages in response to $\text{IFN}\alpha$ treatment in CHB patients

Type I IFN is still one of the most important therapies for CHB infection or chronic hepatitis C virus (CHC). However, only a subset of the patients respond. Our previous studies showed that cell-type specific ISGs' expression in the liver predicts whether a given patient will respond to IFN treatment among CHC<sup>81</sup> or CHB<sup>82</sup> patients. We analyzed the pre-treatment gene expression in 38 CHB livers by immunohistochemical staining and found that in the treatment responders, increased ISG15 and myxovirus resistance gene (MxA) protein expression was more pronounced in macrophages than that in hepatocytes. In contrast, in the non-responders, elevated expression of ISG15 and MxA was more pronounced in hepatocytes compared with that in macrophages. A similar result was found in CHC patients before receiving pegylated-IFN/ribavirin treatment, indicating that the liver macrophages might be involved in mediating patients' response to IFN and other anti-viral therapy.

Many studies correlated IFN and a subset of typical ISGs (e.g., ISG15, USP18) with macrophage phenotypes and functions. Fleetwood *et al.*<sup>83</sup> reported that the type I IFN signaling pathway played an essential role in regulating phenotype and function of macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF)- or granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)-treated bone marrow-derived macrophages in mice. ISG15, a typical ISG, may play an important role in macrophage polarization and function. Macrophage polarization is characterized by mitochondrial functions regulated by different metabolic patterns, and the lack of ISG15 was responsible for mitochondrial dysfunction, including diminished oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), depressed oxygen consumption rate, as well as reduced adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and ROS production in bone marrow-derived macrophages in mice.<sup>84</sup> Macrophages from the ISG15-deficient mice have been shown to have depressed phagocytic capacity, which is dependent on protein kinase AKT.<sup>85</sup> Moreover, we previously described USP18, another typical ISG, as a modulator of macrophage activity in mice. Compared with wild type control, both primary KCs or peritoneal exudative macrophages (PEMs) from USP18-/- preferred to polarize to the M2-like phenotype, producing more anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-10 and IL-4) and less inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-12) in response to murine hepatitis virus (MHV)-3 infection (unpublished data).

The inflammation microenvironment may be changed by macrophages, influencing the response of hepatocytes to IFN treatment. Our previous study<sup>86</sup> found that pre-treatment with TNF- $\alpha$  or LPS led to an IFN $\alpha$  refractory state in human hepatoma cells and primary murine hepatocytes. We have also investigated the response of primary murine hepatocytes to IFN $\alpha$  after co-culturing with the primary murine hepatocytes and the primary murine USP18-/- (M2 like) or wide type (M1-like) PEMs, using the Transwell co-culture system. We found that hepatocytes co-cultured with USP18-/- PEMs experienced much higher expression of ISGs (including of ISG15, USP18 and MxA) with IFN $\alpha$  stimulation (unpublished data).

We therefore hypothesize that liver macrophages regulate inflammatory and anti- inflammatory responses, contributing to the liver microenvironment and, consequently, alter hepatic response to IFN treatment. However, more in-depth investigations are needed to uncover the underlying molecular mechanism (Fig. 2c).

#### Effect of HBV on macrophage phenotype

The distinct roles of M1 and M2 macrophages involved in HBV infection raise the possibility that HBV may promote M2 polarization of macrophages to impair the Type 1 T helper cell immune response, resulting in persistent infection and disease progression. A most recent study<sup>87</sup> supported the hypothesis that HBV suppresses M1 macrophage cytokine (IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$ ) expression and promotes M2 macrophage cytokine (IL-10) expression to favor HBV infection. Although the precise mechanism remains unclear, several in vitro studies have revealed that either hepatitis B surface antigen or hepatitis B e antigen may make a contribution. Expression of M1-type cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1b and IL-8, was inhibited by hepatitis B surface antigen in PBMCs,<sup>19</sup> while the expression of IL-10 was not affected or even promoted.<sup>19,88</sup> Similar results were observed in THP-1-derived macrophages: hepatitis B surface antigen acted as a potent suppressor of M1-type cytokines, including IL-12, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL- $1\beta$  and IL-6.<sup>88–90</sup> Moreover, Yu *et al.*<sup>91</sup> reported a decreased IL-1 $\beta$  secretion in liver macrophages induced by hepatitis B e antigen. However, it has been reported that pro-inflammatory macrophages and monocytes expressing TNF- $\alpha$  and GM-CSF accumulated in chronic HBV or HCV-related liver disease.92 Moreover, high level of IL-23 (as well as IL-1B, IL-6 and IL-17) expression in liver inflammatory macrophages was demonstrated to be associated with HCC development.93 These contradictory lines of evidence have indicated the complicated association between different macrophage phenotypes and disease progression of hepatitis B virus infection (Fig. 2d). In addition, the microenvironment altered by HBV infection may also contribute to the activation, differentiation and polarization of macrophages (Fig. 2e).

### Li Y. et al: Macrophages and HBV infection

## Conclusions

Although our knowledge about the exact immunological pathogenesis during chronic HBV infection is limited, the remarkable heterogeneity of liver macrophages concerning not only the defense but also the homeostasis and metabolism make it a promising option for treating HBV infection<sup>14</sup> (Fig. 2f). Binding and/or up-taking virus/ viral antigens, as well as the signaling from infected hepatocytes, may result in the activation of liver macrophages. The activated liver macrophages, on one hand, enforce virus clearance by producing pro-inflammatory cytokines targeting hepatocytes to suppress HBV directly or recruiting, interacting or activating other immune cells to get rid of the virus, and on the other hand, modulating immunotolerance as a negative feedback to avoid unchecked inflammation. This functional diversity or contrary action makes it possible that liver macrophages may be exploited by HBV.

HBV is a stealth virus which "hides" itself in the early stage of life cycle to escape macrophage defenses, and may then manipulate the polarization/phenotype of macrophages to benefit its persistent infection. It is important to note that the response of liver macrophages to HBV infection is not only limited to innate defense but also links the innate immunity with acquired immunity. However, whether macrophages resolve virus, worsen liver immunopathogenesis, promote persistent infection or modulate the response to IFN $\alpha$  therapy depends on a combination of various factors and is finely tuned. This is indeed a complicated process and the interaction between macrophages and HBV deserves further study.

#### Funding

Some of the studies summarized in this review were financially supported by grants from the Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences (CAMS) Initiative for Innovative Medicine (CAMS-2016-I2M-3-025 and CAMS-2017-I2M-B&R-15), the National Key Research Development Program of China (2018YFE0107500 to Professor Limin Chen), and the Science & Technology Department of Sichuan Province (2020YFH0070 to Yujia Li).

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Contributed to original draft writing (YL), review & editing (SL, XD), literature research (CY, MX), and conceptualization and funding acquisition (LC).

#### References

- Aspinall EJ, Hawkins G, Fraser A, Hutchinson SJ, Goldberg D. Hepatitis B prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care: a review. Occup Med (Lond) 2011;61:531–540. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqr136.
- [2] Publicover J, Jespersen JM, Johnson AJ, Nishimura SL, Goodsell A, Wakil AE, et al. Liver capsule: Age-influenced hepatic immune priming determines HBV infection fate: Implications from mouse to man. Hepatology 2016;63:260. doi: 10.1002/hep.28284.

- [3] Stevens CE, Beasley RP, Tsui J, Lee WC. Vertical transmission of hepatitis B antigen in Taiwan. N Engl J Med 1975;292:771–774. doi: 10. 1056/NEJM197504102921503.
- [4] Bertoletti A, Gehring AJ. The immune response during hepatitis B virus infection. J Gen Virol 2006;87:1439–1449. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.81920-0.
- [5] Faure-Dupuy S, Durantel D, Lucifora J. Liver macrophages: Friend or foe during hepatitis B infection? Liver Int 2018;38:1718–1729. doi: 10. 1111/liv.13884.
- [6] Webster GJ, Reignat S, Maini MK, Whalley SA, Ogg GS, King A, et al. Incubation phase of acute hepatitis B in man: dynamic of cellular immune mechanisms. Hepatology 2000;32:1117–1124. doi: 10.1053/jhep.2000.19324.
- [7] Wieland S, Thimme R, Purcell RH, Chisari FV. Genomic analysis of the host response to hepatitis B virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101: 6669–6674. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401771101.
- [8] Dunn C, Peppa D, Khanna P, Nebbia G, Jones M, Brendish N, et al. Temporal analysis of early immune responses in patients with acute hepatitis B virus infection. Gastroenterology 2009;137:1289–1300. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2009.06.054.
- [9] Chisari FV, Ferrari C. Hepatitis B virus immunopathogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol 1995;13:29–60. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.13.040195.000333.
- [10] Hagen TM, Huang S, Curnutte J, Fowler P, Martinez V, Wehr CM, et al. Extensive oxidative DNA damage in hepatocytes of transgenic mice with chronic active hepatitis destined to develop hepatocellular carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994;91:12808–12812. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.26.12808.
- [11] Hösel M, Quasdorff M, Wiegmann K, Webb D, Zedler U, Broxtermann M, et al. Not interferon, but interleukin-6 controls early gene expression in hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatology 2009;50:1773–1782. doi: 10.1002/hep.23226.
- [12] Guidotti LG, Rochford R, Chung J, Shapiro M, Purcell R, Chisari FV. Viral clearance without destruction of infected cells during acute HBV infection. Science 1999;284:825–829. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5415.825.
- [13] Crispe IN. The liver as a lymphoid organ. Annu Rev Immunol 2009;27: 147–163. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132629.
- [14] Tacke F. Targeting hepatic macrophages to treat liver diseases. J Hepatol 2017;66:1300-1312. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.02.026.
- [15] Naito M, Hasegawa G, Ebe Y, Yamamoto T. Differentiation and function of Kupffer cells. Med Electron Microsc 2004;37:16–28. doi: 10.1007/s00795-003-0228-x.
- [16] Theurl I, Hilgendorf I, Nairz M, Tymoszuk P, Haschka D, Asshoff M, et al. Ondemand erythrocyte disposal and iron recycling requires transient macrophages in the liver. Nat Med 2016;22:945–951. doi: 10.1038/nm.4146.
- [17] Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. F1000Prime Rep 2014;6:13. doi: 10.12703/P6-13.
- [18] Murray PJ. Macrophage polarization. Annu Rev Physiol 2017;79:541–566. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034339.
- [19] Vanlandschoot P, Van Houtte F, Roobrouck A, Farhoudi A, Leroux-Roels G. Hepatitis B virus surface antigen suppresses the activation of monocytes through interaction with a serum protein and a monocyte-specific receptor. J Gen Virol 2002;83:1281–1289. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-83-6-1281.
- [20] Neurath AR, Strick N, Sproul P. Search for hepatitis B virus cell receptors reveals binding sites for interleukin 6 on the virus envelope protein. J Exp Med 1992;175:461–469. doi: 10.1084/jem.175.2.461.
- [21] Boltjes A, van Montfoort N, Biesta PJ, Op den Brouw ML, Kwekkeboom J, van der Laan LJ, et al. Kupffer cells interact with hepatitis B surface antigen in vivo and in vitro, leading to proinflammatory cytokine production and natural killer cell function. J Infect Dis 2015;211:1268–1278. doi: 10. 1093/infdis/iu599.
- [22] Vanlandschoot P, Van Houtte F, Roobrouck A, Farhoudi A, Stelter F, Peterson DL, et al. LPS-binding protein and CD14-dependent attachment of hepatitis B surface antigen to monocytes is determined by the phospholipid moiety of the particles. J Gen Virol 2002;83:2279–2289. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-83-9-2279.
- [23] Deng Q, Zhai JW, Michel ML, Zhang J, Qin J, Kong YY, et al. Identification and characterization of peptides that interact with hepatitis B virus via the putative receptor binding site. J Virol 2007;81:4244–4254. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 01270-06.
- [24] Li L, Beauchamp MC, Renier G. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha and gamma agonists upregulate human macrophage lipoprotein lipase expression. Atherosclerosis 2002;165:101–110. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9150 (02)00203-4.
- [25] Makoveichuk E, Castel S, Vilaró S, Olivecrona G. Lipoprotein lipase-dependent binding and uptake of low density lipoproteins by THP-1 monocytes and macrophages: possible involvement of lipid rafts. Biochim Biophys Acta 2004;1686:37–49. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2004.08.015.
- [26] Ono K, Nishitani C, Mitsuzawa H, Shimizu T, Sano H, Suzuki H, et al. Mannose-binding lectin augments the uptake of lipid A, Staphylococcus aureus, and Escherichia coli by Kupffer cells through increased cell surface expression of scavenger receptor A. J Immunol 2006;177:5517–5523. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.8.5517.
- [27] Op den Brouw ML, Binda RS, Geijtenbeek TB, Janssen HL, Woltman AM. The mannose receptor acts as hepatitis B virus surface antigen receptor

mediating interaction with intrahepatic dendritic cells. Virology 2009;393: 84–90. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2009.07.015.

- [28] Wang Q, Zhou J, Zhang B, Tian Z, Tang J, Zheng Y, et al. Hepatitis B virus induces IL-23 production in antigen presenting cells and causes liver damage via the IL-23/IL-17 axis. PLoS Pathog 2013;9:e1003410. doi: 10. 1371/journal.ppat.1003410.
- [29] Manigold T, Böcker U, Chen J, Gundt J, Traber P, Singer MV, et al. Hepatitis B core antigen is a potent inductor of interleukin-18 in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of healthy controls and patients with hepatitis B infection. J Med Virol 2003;71:31–40. doi: 10.1002/jmv.10445.
- [30] Cooper A, Tal G, Lider O, Shaul Y. Cytokine induction by the hepatitis B virus capsid in macrophages is facilitated by membrane heparan sulfate and involves TLR2. J Immunol 2005;175:3165–3176. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 175.5.3165.
- [31] Iwamoto M, Watashi K, Tsukuda S, Aly HH, Fukasawa M, Fujimoto A, et al. Evaluation and identification of hepatitis B virus entry inhibitors using HepG2 cells overexpressing a membrane transporter NTCP. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2014;443:808–813. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.12.052.
- [32] Watashi K, Urban S, Li W, Wakita T. NTCP and beyond: opening the door to unveil hepatitis B virus entry. Int J Mol Sci 2014;15:2892–2905. doi: 10. 3390/ijms15022892.
- [33] Oquendo J, Karray S, Galanaud P, Petit MA. Effect of hepatitis B virus on tumour necrosis factor (TNF alpha) gene expression in human THP-1 monocytic and Namalwa B-cell lines. Res Immunol 1997;148:399–409. doi: 10. 1016/s0923-2494(97)82873-8.
- [34] Oquendo J, Dubanchet S, Capel F, Mabit H, Petit MA. Suppressive effect of hepatitis B virus on the induction of interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-6 gene expression in the THP-1 human monocytic cell line. Eur Cytokine Netw 1996; 7:793–800.
- [35] Bouffard P, Lamelin JP, Zoulim F, Pichoud C, Trepo C. Different forms of hepatitis B virus DNA and expression of HBV antigens in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in chronic hepatitis B. J Med Virol 1990;31:312–317. doi: 10. 1002/jmv.1890310413.
- [36] Cheng X, Xia Y, Serti E, Block PD, Chung M, Chayama K, et al. Hepatitis B virus evades innate immunity of hepatocytes but activates cytokine production by macrophages. Hepatology 2017;66:1779–1793. doi: 10.1002/hep. 29348.
- [37] Zhang JY, Zou ZS, Huang A, Zhang Z, Fu JL, Xu XS, *et al*. Hyper-activated pro-inflammatory CD16 monocytes correlate with the severity of liver injury and fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis B. PLoS One 2011;6:e17484. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017484.
- [38] Wu J, Lu M, Meng Z, Trippler M, Broering R, Szczeponek A, et al. Toll-like receptor-mediated control of HBV replication by nonparenchymal liver cells in mice. Hepatology 2007;46:1769–1778. doi: 10.1002/hep.21897.
- [39] Zhang E, Lu M. Toll-like receptor (TLR)-mediated innate immune responses in the control of hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection. Med Microbiol Immunol 2015;204:11–20. doi: 10.1007/s00430-014-0370-1.
- [40] Isogawa M, Robek MD, Furuichi Y, Chisari FV. Toll-like receptor signaling inhibits hepatitis B virus replication in vivo. J Virol 2005;79:7269–7272. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.11.7269-7272.2005.
- [41] Lin Z, Liao W, Ren J. Physicochemical characterization of a polysaccharide fraction from platycladus orientalis (L.) franco and its macrophage immunomodulatory and anti-hepatitis B virus activities. J Agric Food Chem 2016;64: 5813–5823. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.6b01387.
- [42] Guo F, Han Y, Zhao X, Wang J, Liu F, Xu C, et al. STING agonists induce an innate antiviral immune response against hepatitis B virus. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2015;59:1273–1281. doi: 10.1128/AAC.04321-14.
- [43] Guidotti LG, Borrow P, Hobbs MV, Matzke B, Gresser I, Oldstone MB, et al. Viral cross talk: intracellular inactivation of the hepatitis B virus during an unrelated viral infection of the liver. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:4589– 4594. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.10.4589.
- [44] Pasquetto V, Guidotti LG, Kakimi K, Tsuji M, Chisari FV. Host-virus interactions during malaria infection in hepatitis B virus transgenic mice. J Exp Med 2000;192:529–536. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.4.529.
- [45] Wu J, Meng Z, Jiang M, Pei R, Trippler M, Broering R, et al. Hepatitis B virus suppresses toll-like receptor-mediated innate immune responses in murine parenchymal and nonparenchymal liver cells. Hepatology 2009;49:1132– 1140. doi: 10.1002/hep.22751.
- [46] Bradham CA, Plümpe J, Manns MP, Brenner DA, Trautwein C. I. TNF-induced liver injury. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 1998;275:G387–G392. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.1998.275.3.G387.
- [47] González-Amaro R, García-Monzón C, García-Buey L, Moreno-Otero R, Alonso JL, Yagüe E, et al. Induction of tumor necrosis factor alpha production by human hepatocytes in chronic viral hepatitis. J Exp Med 1994;179:841– 848. doi: 10.1084/jem.179.3.841.
- [48] Sheron N, Lau J, Daniels H, Goka J, Eddleston A, Alexander GJ, et al. Increased production of tumour necrosis factor alpha in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Hepatol 1991;12:241–245. doi: 10.1016/0168-8278(91) 90945-8.

- [49] Xu Y, Köck J, Lu Y, Yang D, Lu M, Zhao X. Suppression of hepatitis B virus replication in Tupaia hepatocytes by tumor necrosis factor alpha of Tupaia belangeri. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 2011;34:361–368. doi: 10. 1016/j.cimid.2011.05.003.
- [50] Cavanaugh VJ, Guidotti LG, Chisari FV. Inhibition of hepatitis B virus replication during adenovirus and cytomegalovirus infections in transgenic mice. J Virol 1998;72:2630–2637. doi: 10.1128/JVI.72.4.2630-2637.1998.
- [51] Daniels HM, Meager A, Eddleston AL, Alexander GJ, Williams R. Spontaneous production of tumour necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-1 beta during interferon-alpha treatment of chronic HBV infection. Lancet 1990;335: 875–877. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(90)90475-k.
- [52] Pérez-Alvarez R, Díaz-Lagares C, García-Hernández F, Lopez-Roses L, Brito-Zerón P, Pérez-de-Lis M, et al. Hepatitis B virus (HBV) reactivation in patients receiving tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-targeted therapy: analysis of 257 cases. Medicine (Baltimore) 2011;90:359–371. doi: 10.1097/MD. 0b013e3182380a76.
- [53] Murdaca G, Spanò F, Contatore M, Guastalla A, Penza E, Magnani O, *et al.* Infection risk associated with anti-TNF- $\alpha$  agents: a review. Expert Opin Drug Saf 2015;14:571–582. doi: 10.1517/14740338.2015.1009036.
- [54] French JB, Bonacini M, Ghabril M, Foureau D, Bonkovsky HL. Hepatotoxicity associated with the use of anti-TNF- $\alpha$  agents. Drug Saf 2016;39:199–208. doi: 10.1007/s40264-015-0366-9.
- [55] Temel T, Cansu DÜ, Korkmaz C, Kaşifoğlu T, Özakyol A. The long-term effects of anti-TNF- $\alpha$  agents on patients with chronic viral hepatitis C and B infections. Int J Rheum Dis 2015;18:40–45. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.12467.
- [56] Sawhney R, Visvanathan K. Polymorphisms of toll-like receptors and their pathways in viral hepatitis. Antivir Ther 2011;16:443–458. doi: 10. 3851/IMP1820.
- [57] Cavanaugh VJ, Guidotti LG, Chisari FV. Interleukin-12 inhibits hepatitis B virus replication in transgenic mice. J Virol 1997;71:3236–3243. doi: 10. 1128/JVI.71.4.3236-3243.1997.
- [58] Moudi B, Heidari Z, Mahmoudzadeh-Sagheb H, Hashemi M. Gene polymorphisms of macrophage migration inhibitory factor affect susceptibility to chronic hepatitis B virus infection in an Iranian cohort. Microbiol Immunol 2016;60:390–396. doi: 10.1111/1348-0421.12382.
- [59] Ebrahim M, Bagheri K, Arababadi MK. Potential roles played by IL-6 in hepatitis B infection. Future Virology 2014;9:431–438. doi: 10.2217/fvl.14.21.
- [60] Tang TJ, Kwekkeboom J, Laman JD, Niesters HG, Zondervan PE, de Man RA, et al. The role of intrahepatic immune effector cells in inflammatory liver injury and viral control during chronic hepatitis B infection. J Viral Hepat 2003;10:159–167. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2893.2003.00412.x.
- [61] Boltjes A, Movita D, Boonstra A, Woltman AM. The role of Kupffer cells in hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus infections. J Hepatol 2014;61:660–671. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.04.026.
- [62] Tordjmann T, Soulie A, Guettier C, Schmidt M, Berthou C, Beaugrand M, et al. Perforin and granzyme B lytic protein expression during chronic viral and autoimmune hepatitis. Liver 1998;18:391–397. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0676.1998.tb00823.x.
- [63] Nakanishi K, Yoshimoto T, Tsutsui H, Okamura H. Interleukin-18 is a unique cytokine that stimulates both Th1 and Th2 responses depending on its cytokine milieu. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2001;12:53–72. doi: 10. 1016/s1359-6101(00)00015-0.
- [64] Revill P, Yuan Z. New insights into how HBV manipulates the innate immune response to establish acute and persistent infection. Antivir Ther 2013;18: 1–15. doi: 10.3851/IMP2542.
- [65] Kimura K, Kakimi K, Wieland S, Guidotti LG, Chisari FV. Interleukin-18 inhibits hepatitis B virus replication in the livers of transgenic mice. J Virol 2002; 76:10702–10707. doi: 10.1128/jvi.76.21.10702-10707.2002.
- [66] Nakanishi K, Yoshimoto T, Tsutsui H, Okamura H. Interleukin-18 regulates both Th1 and Th2 responses. Annu Rev Immunol 2001;19:423–474. doi: 10. 1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.423.
- [67] Okamura H, Kashiwamura S, Tsutsui H, Yoshimoto T, Nakanishi K. Regulation of interferon-gamma production by IL-12 and IL-18. Curr Opin Immunol 1998;10:259–264. doi: 10.1016/s0952-7915(98)80163-5.
- [68] Okamura H, Tsutsui H, Kashiwamura S, Yoshimoto T, Nakanishi K. Interleukin-18: a novel cytokine that augments both innate and acquired immunity. Adv Immunol 1998;70:281–312. doi: 10.1016/s0065-2776(08)60389-2.
- [69] Zlotnik A, Yoshie O. Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. Immunity 2000;12:121–127. doi: 10.1016/s1074-7613(00) 80165-x.
- [70] Rossi D, Zlotnik A. The biology of chemokines and their receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 2000;18:217–242. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.18.1.217.
- [71] Kakimi K, Lane TE, Chisari FV, Guidotti LG. Cutting edge: Inhibition of hepatitis B virus replication by activated NK T cells does not require inflammatory cell recruitment to the liver. J Immunol 2001;167:6701–6705. doi: 10. 4049/jimmunol.167.12.6701.
- [72] Buonaguro L, Tagliamonte M, Petrizzo A, Damiano E, Tornesello ML, Buonaguro FM. Cellular prognostic markers in hepatocellular carcinoma. Future Oncol 2015;11:1591–1598. doi: 10.2217/fon.15.39.

#### Li Y. et al: Macrophages and HBV infection

- [73] Xu L, Yin W, Sun R, Wei H, Tian Z. Kupffer cell-derived IL-10 plays a key role in maintaining humoral immune tolerance in hepatitis B virus-persistent mice. Hepatology 2014;59:443–452. doi: 10.1002/hep.26668.
- [74] Sandler NG, Koh C, Roque A, Eccleston JL, Siegel RB, Demino M, et al. Host response to translocated microbial products predicts outcomes of patients with HBV or HCV infection. Gastroenterology 2011;141:1220-1230, 1230. e1-3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.06.063.
- [75] Li M, Sun R, Xu L, Yin W, Chen Y, Zheng X, et al. Kupffer cells support hepatitis B virus-mediated CD8+ T cell exhaustion via hepatitis B core antigen-TLR2 interactions in mice. J Immunol 2015;195:3100–3109. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500839.
- [76] Miyazoe S, Hamasaki K, Nakata K, Kajiya Y, Kitajima K, Nakao K, et al. Influence of interleukin-10 gene promoter polymorphisms on disease progression in patients chronically infected with hepatitis B virus. Am J Gastroenterol 2002;97:2086–2092. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.05926.x.
- [77] Taylor AW. Review of the activation of TGF-beta in immunity. J Leukoc Biol 2009;85:29–33. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0708415.
- [78] Li H, Zheng HW, Chen H, Xing ZZ, You H, Cong M, *et al.* Hepatitis B virus particles preferably induce Kupffer cells to produce TGF-β1 over pro-inflammatory cytokines. Dig Liver Dis 2012;44:328–333. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2011. 11.005.
- [79] Bility MT, Cheng L, Zhang Z, Luan Y, Li F, Chi L, et al. Hepatitis B virus infection and immunopathogenesis in a humanized mouse model: induction of human-specific liver fibrosis and M2-like macrophages. PLoS Pathog 2014; 10:e1004032. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004032.
- [80] Li TY, Yang Y, Zhou G, Tu ZK. Immune suppression in chronic hepatitis B infection associated liver disease: A review. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25:3527–3537. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i27.3527.
- [81] Chen L, Borozan I, Sun J, Guindi M, Fischer S, Feld J, et al. Cell-type specific gene expression signature in liver underlies response to interferon therapy in chronic hepatitis C infection. Gastroenterology 2010;138:1123–1133.e1-3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.10.046.
- [82] Zhu Y, Qin B, Xiao C, Lu X, Chen L. Cell-type specific interferon stimulated gene staining in liver underlies response to interferon therapy in chronic HBV infected patients. Dig Dis Sci 2012;57:2355–2361. doi: 10.1007/s10620-012-2169-5.
- [83] Fleetwood AJ, Dinh H, Cook AD, Hertzog PJ, Hamilton JA. GM-CSF- and M-CSF-dependent macrophage phenotypes display differential dependence on type I interferon signaling. J Leukoc Biol 2009;86:411–421. doi: 10. 1189/jlb.1108702.

- [84] Baldanta S, Fernández-Escobar M, Acín-Perez R, Albert M, Camafeita E, Jorge I, et al. ISG15 governs mitochondrial function in macrophages following vaccinia virus infection. PLoS Pathog 2017;13:e1006651. doi: 10. 1371/journal.ppat.1006651.
- [85] Yángüez E, García-Culebras A, Frau A, Llompart C, Knobeloch KP, Gutierrez-Erlandsson S, et al. ISG15 regulates peritoneal macrophages functionality against viral infection. PLoS Pathog 2013;9:e1003632. doi: 10. 1371/journal.ppat.1003632.
- [86] MacParland SA, Ma XZ, Chen L, Khattar R, Cherepanov V, Selzner M, et al. Lipopolysaccharide and tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibit interferon signaling in hepatocytes by increasing ubiquitin-like protease 18 (USP18) expression. J Virol 2016;90:5549–5560. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02557-15.
- [87] Faure-Dupuy S, Delphin M, Aillot L, Dimier L, Lebossé F, Fresquet J, et al. Hepatitis B virus-induced modulation of liver macrophage function promotes hepatocyte infection. J Hepatol 2019;71:1086–1098. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2019.06.032.
- [88] Vanlandschoot P, Roobrouck A, Van Houtte F, Leroux-Roels G. Recombinant HBsAg, an apoptotic-like lipoprotein, interferes with the LPS-induced activation of ERK-1/2 and JNK-1/2 in monocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002;297:486–491. doi: 10.1016/s0006-291x(02)02243-x.
- [89] Cheng J, Imanishi H, Morisaki H, Liu W, Nakamura H, Morisaki T, et al. Recombinant HBsAg inhibits LPS-induced COX-2 expression and IL-18 production by interfering with the NFkappaB pathway in a human monocytic cell line, THP-1. J Hepatol 2005;43:465-471. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2005.02.033.
- [90] Wang S, Chen Z, Hu C, Qian F, Cheng Y, Wu M, et al. Hepatitis B virus surface antigen selectively inhibits TLR2 ligand-induced IL-12 production in monocytes/macrophages by interfering with JNK activation. J Immunol 2013;190: 5142–5151. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201625.
- [91] Yu X, Lan P, Hou X, Han Q, Lu N, Li T, *et al*. HBV inhibits LPS-induced NLRP3 inflammasome activation and IL-1 $\beta$  production via suppressing the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway and ROS production. J Hepatol 2017;66:693–702. doi: 10. 1016/j.jhep.2016.12.018.
- [92] Tan-Garcia A, Wai LE, Zheng D, Ceccarello E, Jo J, Banu N, et al. Intrahepatic CD206<sup>+</sup> macrophages contribute to inflammation in advanced viral-related liver disease. J Hepatol 2017;67:490–500. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.04. 023.
- [93] Zang M, Li Y, He H, Ding H, Chen K, Du J, et al. IL-23 production of liver inflammatory macrophages to damaged hepatocytes promotes hepatocellular carcinoma development after chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 2018;1864:3759–3770. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis. 2018.10.004.



## Nontumoral Portal Vein Thrombosis: A Challenging Consequence of Liver Cirrhosis

Manus Rugivarodom and Phunchai Charatcharoenwitthaya\*

Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand

#### Abstract

Nontumoral portal vein thrombosis (PVT) is an increasingly recognized complication in patients with cirrhosis. Substantial evidence shows that portal flow stasis, complex thrombophilic disorders, and exogenous factors leading to endothelial dysfunction have emerged as key factors in the pathogenesis of PVT. The contribution of PVT to hepatic decompensation and mortality in cirrhosis is debatable; however, the presence of an advanced PVT increases operative complexity and decreases survival after transplantation. The therapeutic decision for PVT is often determined by the duration and extent of thrombosis, the presence of symptoms, and liver transplant eligibility. Evidence from several cohorts has demonstrated that anticoagulation treatment with vitamin K antagonist or low molecular weight heparin can achieve recanalization of the portal vein, which is associated with a reduction in portal hypertension-related events and improved survival in cirrhotic patients with PVT. Consequently, interest in direct oral anticoagulants for PVT is increasing, but clinical data in cirrhosis are limited. Although the most feared consequence of anticoagulation is bleeding, most studies indicate that anticoagulation therapy for PVT in cirrhosis appears relatively safe. Interestingly, the data showed that transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt represents an effective adjunctive therapy for PVT in cirrhotic patients with symptomatic portal hypertension if anticoagulation is ineffective. Insufficient evidence regarding the optimal timing, modality, and duration of therapy makes nontumoral PVT a challenging consequence of cirrhosis. In this review, we summarize the current literature and provide a potential algorithm for the management of PVT in patients with cirrhosis.

**Citation of this article:** Rugivarodom M, Charatcharoenwitthaya P. Nontumoral portal vein thrombosis: A challenging consequence of liver cirrhosis. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):432–444. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00067.

Abbreviations: AASLD, American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases; CI, confidence interval; CT, computed tomography; CTP, Child-Turcotte-Pugh; DOAC, direct oral anticoagulant; EASL, European Association for the Study of the Liver; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HR, hazard ratio; LMWH, low molecular weight heparin; MELD, model for end-stage liver disease; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; MTHFR, methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase; OD, odds ratio; PVT, portal vein thrombosis; SMV, superior mesenteric vein; TEG, thromboelastography; TIPS, transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt; VKA, vitamin K antagonist. *Received: 16 July 2020; Revised: 27 September 2020; Accepted: 18 October 2020* **\*Correspondence to:** Phunchai Charatcharoenwitthaya, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Siriaj Hospital, Mahidol University, Wang-Lang Road, Bangkoknoi, Bangkok 10700, Thailand. Tel: +662-

419-7282, Fax: +662-411-5013, E-mail: phunchai@yahoo.com

#### Introduction

Portal vein thrombosis (PVT) is characterized by thrombus formation within the trunk of the portal vein or its main branches, which may extend to the splenic or superior mesenteric veins (SMVs).<sup>1-3</sup> It is further classified according to site, degree, extent, and functional relevance of the thrombosis, as well as the presence of underlying liver disease (Supplementary Table 1). $^{4-12}$  Recently, an "anatomico-functional classification system" that incorporates anatomic descriptors, timing of the thrombosis, and the relationship to clinical sequelae, was proposed (Supplementary Fig. 1).<sup>12</sup> PVT represents a well-known complication during the natural history of patients with liver cirrhosis. Evidence is accumulating that the rebalanced hemostasis system in cirrhosis is prone to hypercoagulability.<sup>13</sup> In patients with cirrhosis, the development of PVT is a milestone in the progression of advanced liver disease and increases the risk of death.<sup>14</sup> The complex hemostatic state in chronic liver disease makes it challenging to manage PVT in cirrhotic patients. The international guidelines provide brief recommendations on many aspects of treating PVT.<sup>2,3,11,15</sup> This review aims to address the essential knowledge for the management of PVT in patients with cirrhosis.

## Epidemiology

The prevalence of nontumoral PVT increases with severity of the liver disease, being approximately 1% in patients with compensated cirrhosis and 8-25% in candidates for liver transplantation.<sup>16-21</sup> Different types of diagnostic approaches used in various studies may be responsible for heterogeneity in the reported prevalence, ranging from 0.6–16% using angiography or surgery to 10–25% using ultrasonography.<sup>22</sup>

The incidence of nontumoral PVT in liver cirrhosis has been reported in a limited number of studies. Among patients with virus-related cirrhosis, the cumulative incidence of *de novo* PVT was 12.8%, 20%, and 38.7% at 1, 5, and 8-10 years, respectively.<sup>20</sup> A longitudinal assessment of PVT in 1,243 cirrhotic patients with Doppler ultrasonography revealed that overall 1-, 3- and 5-year cumulative incidence rates of PVT were 4.6%, 8.2%, and 10.7%, respectively.<sup>23</sup> The incidence of nontumoral PVT in liver transplant candidates was reported as 2.1-23.3% per year.<sup>5,24-30</sup> Part of these differences may be due to different transplant policies. Nearly half of the non-tumoral PVT was discovered at the time of liver transplantation.<sup>31</sup> Of these, 58.3% was partial, and 41.7% was complete PVT.<sup>24</sup> Recently, a multicenter prospective study PRO-LIVER (PVT Relevance On Liver cirrhosis: Italian Venous thrombotic Events Registry) involving 753 cirrhotic patients assessed

Copyright: © 2020 Authors. This article has been published under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0), which permits noncommercial unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided that the following statement is provided. "This article has been published in *Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology* at DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00067 and can also be viewed on the Journal's website at http://www.jcthnet.com".

Keywords: Portal vein thrombosis; Liver cirrhosis; Clinical course; Anticoagulation; Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt.

with Doppler ultrasound reported the incidence rate of PVT as  $6.05 \text{ per } 100 \text{ patient-years.}^{32}$  The incidence of PVT was higher in patients with a history of PVT, indicating that PVT per se carries a risk for recurrence.

#### Pathophysiology

In general, the predisposing factors of PVT are categorized into local and systemic factors.<sup>33</sup> The portal venous system in cirrhosis represents a local environmental factor particularly prone to thrombus formation by reduced blood flow from portal hypertension and the inflammatory milieu secondary to hepatic injury and gut translocation of bacteria or their by-products. A wide variety of systemic factors are described, including inherited and acquired thrombophilic disorder, extra-abdominal cancer, hormonal therapy, and autoimmune disorder.<sup>34</sup> The risk of a thrombotic event is substantial with the presence of any components of Virchow's triad, including venous stasis, hypercoagulability, and endothelial dysfunction. The role of the three components contributing to PVT development has been extensively investigated in cirrhosis (Fig. 1).

Portal venous stasis secondary to the liver architectural derangement and the splanchnic vasodilatation seems to be the most crucial local factor responsible for the development of PVT in the setting of cirrhosis.<sup>35</sup> Reduced portal flow velocity was identified as an independent factor associated with the development of PVT.<sup>18</sup> This finding was supported by the evidence that a portal flow velocity of less than 15 cm/s at Doppler ultrasonography is the most important risk factor for developing PVT in patients with cirrhosis.<sup>36</sup> The flow in the portal vein becomes further decreased by a "steal

effect" due to a spontaneous portosystemic shunt. The presence of collateral vessels, with flow volume of more than 400 mL/min and a flow velocity of more than 10 cm/s, was found to be a significant predictive factor for the occurrence of PVT in cirrhosis.<sup>20</sup>

The decreased levels of most coagulation factors, except factor VIII and von Willebrand factor, are characteristic hall-marks of hemostasis in cirrhosis.<sup>37,38</sup> Also, a parallel reduction of natural anticoagulant factors, such as protein C and S, is observed. However, the contribution of hemostatic alterations to PVT development is challenging to evaluate because these may be due to co-existing liver dysfunction in advanced cirrhosis, rather than a primary disturbance.<sup>15</sup> The conventional coagulation assays reflect only the clot formation time in a plasma environment. The tests do not include thrombomodulin measurement; therefore, they are unsuitable for investigating acquired deficiency of both pro- and anticoagulants, as occurs in cirrhotic patients.<sup>13</sup> Thromboelastography (TEG), known as the viscoelastic test, can offer a global assessment of the hemostatic pathways.<sup>39</sup> This whole blood test allows a dynamic assessment of clot formation and dissolution that might help assess the relative contribution of the coagulation components to overall clot formation and dissolution in cirrhotic patients.<sup>39</sup> It has been solidly demonstrated to be useful in guiding transfusion for gastrointestinal bleeding and high-risk liver invasive procedures.<sup>40,41</sup> Few studies use TEG as the reference method for the function evaluation of multiple clotting components in patients with PVT.<sup>42-44</sup> A recent study evaluated thromboelastographic parameters among cirrhotic patients with variceal bleeding.44 TEG showed a shortening of initial fibrin formation time in cirrhotic patients with PVT, indicating activation of plasma clotting



Fig. 1. Pathogenesis of nontumoral portal vein thrombosis (PVT) in liver cirrhosis. Both local and systemic factors have been involved in the development of PVT in patients with cirrhosis. The portal venous system in cirrhosis represents a local predisposing factor prone to thrombus formation by reduced portal blood flow from portal hypertension and increased intrahepatic vascular resistance with the inflammatory milieu secondary to gut-derived bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Cirrhotics have been traditionally considered prone to bleeding due to thrombocytopenia, defects of procoagulant factors, and fibrinolysis. However, there is growing evidence that hyper-coagulability is an important part of the hematological spectrum in cirrhosis. The unstable coagulation balance can be tiled toward thrombosis if any acute insult ensues.

factors and inhibiting circulating inhibitors in this population. However, further studies are needed to define the appropriate TEG-guided approach to managing PVT in cirrhotic patients.

An early study revealed the high possibility of 69.5% to detect at least one thrombophilic genotype, including factor V Leiden, 20210A prothrombin gene mutation, and methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) gene mutation associated with high plasma homocysteine, in cirrhotic patients with PVT.<sup>45</sup> This homeostatic profile was not consistent with a later study demonstrating that thrombophilic mutation was present in only 12% of cirrhotic patients with PVT.46 Among various inherited thrombophilic disorders, the G20210A prothrombin gene variant is the most common underlying hypercoagulable disorder in cirrhotic patients and carrying an odds ratio (OR) of 5.94 for the development of PVT.<sup>17</sup> Myeloproliferative disorder secondary to the JAK2 V617F mutation was found in a significant proportion of cirrhotic patients with PVT.<sup>47</sup> Other thrombophilic conditions, such as low level of ADAMTS13 (known as von Willebrand factor-cleaving protease) and resistance to the anticoagulant action of thrombomodulin, were observed in cirrhotic patients with PVT.48,49 The results of studies investigating the role of inherited thrombophilic disorder were summarized in Supplementary Table 2.17,45-49

The unstable coagulation balance can be tilted toward bleeding or thrombosis if any acute insult ensues. "Low-grade" endotoxemia may play a pivotal role in activating the clotting system in the portal and systemic circulation and could represent an underlying mechanism for PVT in advanced liver disease. Lipopolysaccharide derived from gut microbiota has been shown to increase the systemic levels of factor VIII via stimulating its release by endothelial cells.<sup>50</sup> Endotoxemia may be a determinant for splanchnic vasodilatation, which is a key factor for portal venous stasis.<sup>51</sup> Together these findings indicate that endotoxemia is a plausible mechanism accounting for the increased risk of thrombosis in the portal circulation of cirrhotic patients.

## **Risk factors of PVT other than thrombophilia**

The unbalanced hemostasis and alteration in splanchnic hemodynamic are more apparent in patients with advanced liver disease. An experimental study showed that factor II, antithrombin, and protein C decreased progressively from Child-Turcotte-Pugh (CTP) class A to C.<sup>38</sup> Furthermore, the decreasing plasma level of protein C and antithrombin was well correlated with an increase in the model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) score.<sup>18</sup> Additionally, cirrhotic patients with higher CTP scores are possibly more likely to have reduced portal vein flow associated with steal syndrome.<sup>20</sup> Data from a recent large prospective study showed that the severity of liver disease at baseline was a significant predisposing factor associated with the development of PVT.<sup>23</sup> Moreover, CTP class C was a significant predictor of mortality (hazard ratio [HR] 11.5, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 6.95-18.9).<sup>32</sup>

The etiology of liver disease also influences the occurrence of PVT. According to a study of 885 cirrhotic patients who underwent liver transplantation, PVT was found in 3.6% of patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis, 8% with primary biliary cholangitis, 16% with alcoholic and hepatitis B virusrelated cirrhosis, and mounting to 35% in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).<sup>5</sup> Emerging information from large transplant registries suggests that nonalcoholic steatohepatitis may be an independent risk factor for the development of nontumoral PVT in patients with decompensated cirrhosis.<sup>29,30</sup> A recent cohort in the United States also showed that nonalcoholic steatohepatitis-related liver cirrhosis was significantly associated with the development of PVT (HR of 5.34, 95% CI: 1.53-18.7).<sup>36</sup>

Intraabdominal surgery (hepatectomy, shunt surgery) and local regional therapy for HCC have been reported as determinants of PVT, due to venous injury and disturbance of blood flow after intervention.<sup>33</sup>

#### **Clinical manifestations of PVT in patients with cirrhosis**

The clinical presentation of PVT is variable. PVT in patients with cirrhosis is frequently asymptomatic due to splanchnic decompression through an existing spontaneous portosystemic shunt. In the completely acute occlusion of the portal vein, PVT may develop acute abdominal pain, which raises a concern of the extension to the SMV and mesenteric arches, causing intestinal ischemia and, ultimately, bowel infarction. In a previously stable cirrhotic patient, new onset of symptoms related to worsening portal hypertension, such as the development of variceal bleeding and refractory ascites, may suggest the development of PVT and should be thoroughly evaluated.

After a few weeks, the obstructed part of the portal vein is bypassed through the formation of venous collaterals that bring blood — in a hepatopetal manner — around the area of obstruction, known as portal cavernoma. The network of collateral portal veins characterizes chronic PVT. In most cirrhotic patients, chronic PVT is asymptomatic and discovered incidentally during abdominal imaging for HCC surveillance. Patients with chronic PVT frequently have esophageal or gastric varices, and the most common clinical presentation is gastrointestinal bleeding.<sup>17</sup> Patients may have symptoms related to cirrhosis or other conditions, such as HCC, that predispose the development of PVT. Portal cholangiopathy, which compresses the large bile ducts by the paracholedochal collaterals, is also common in cirrhotic patients with longstanding chronic PVT.<sup>52</sup> Some patients with portal cholangiopathy develop biliary complications, including pruritus, obstructive jaundice, and cholangitis.<sup>53,54</sup>

#### **Natural history of PVT in cirrhosis**

Spontaneous resolution of PVT has been described from 45% to 70% of cases in different cohorts.<sup>29,55,56</sup> The spontaneous recanalization was reported to occur after a median follow-up of 5 months.<sup>1</sup> To date, data regarding predictors of spontaneous recanalization is limited. In cohort studies evaluating the natural course of PVT, spontaneous recanalization was not associated with thrombus age, degree of PVT, location of thrombosis, and portal cavernoma.<sup>55,57</sup> Only a cohort study by Maruyama *et al.*<sup>20</sup> demonstrated that the diameter and flow volume in the largest collateral vessel at diagnosis of PVT was inversely associated with spontaneous improvement of PVT; however, the data require confirmation.

Recurrence of PVT after spontaneous recanalization has been reported in some cohorts, ranging from 21.3% during the mean follow-up of 47 months in the prospective cohort<sup>23</sup> to 45% over an average follow-up of 63.3 months in the retrospective study.<sup>20</sup> Hence, continuous monitoring of portal vein patency after spontaneous recanalization should be maintained at regular intervals.

## **Clinical impact of PVT in cirrhosis**

The impact of PVT on the natural course of cirrhosis is still debatable. PVT is generally thought to have a negative effect on prognosis because of a further increase in portal hypertension and worsening liver function caused by decreased liver perfusion and parenchymal atrophy. In particular, intrahepatic microvascular thrombosis secondary to liver necroinflammation may lead to liver ischemia, cell death, loss of functioning hepatic mass, and enhanced fibrogenesis through a process termed as "parenchymal extinction". 58 This hypothesis has been supported by evidence that has indicated that primary prophylaxis of PVT with low dose low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) was effective in reducing mortality and risk of hepatic decompensation in patients with advanced cirrhosis.<sup>59</sup> A recent meta-analysis involving 2436 cirrhotic patients demonstrated a significant association of PVT with both mortality and ascitic decompensation; it did not, however, evaluate the pooled effect of PVT on other features of hepatic decompensation, such as variceal bleeding.<sup>14</sup> A prospective study by D'Amico et al.<sup>60</sup> showed a more than 3-fold higher risk of failure to control active variceal bleeding in cirrhotic patients with PVT, irrespective of treatment modality. Subsequently, a retrospective analysis by Dell'Era et al.<sup>61</sup> highlighted that PVT was associated with a longer time to eradicate esophageal varies. Contrarily, a large prospective multicenter study following the incidence of PVT in cirrhosis overtime did not find a prognostic role of PVT, but mainly partial PVT on mortality and hepatic decompensation.<sup>23</sup> Furthermore, Luca et al.<sup>55</sup> found that spontaneous improvement of PVT did not provide any benefit in terms of the development of cirrhotic complications and survival. Based on these findings, it has been speculated that the progression or regression of partial PVT has no impact on the natural history of cirrhotic patients. However, evidence from a systematic review of the literature concluded that the presence of PVT might be associated with the long-term mortality in nontransplant patients with liver cirrhosis but not with the short-term mortality.<sup>62</sup> Considering heterogeneity in data reporting and lengths of follow-up among studies, the reproducibility of these findings remains to be confirmed.

Historically, PVT poses relevant challenges during liver transplantation due to an increase in operative technical complexity, transfusion requirements and re-interventions, and lowers it the survival rate.<sup>63</sup> According to the results of many transplant centers, the survival rates in the transplant setting mainly depend on PVT type and surgical technique.<sup>64,65</sup> In particular, the presence of PVT, especially complete occlusion, negatively affected the 1-year survival of liver transplant recipients with no impact on 5-year survival.<sup>64</sup> Furthermore, several alternative surgical techniques, other than conventional portal vein end-to-end anastomosis, were found to be associated with low survival rates.<sup>65,66</sup> In an analysis of the registry of transplant recipients in the USA during 2001-2007, PVT was found to be associated with significantly higher posttransplant mortality but to not affect waiting list mortality.<sup>24,28,67</sup> This finding was further extended by a recent analysis of the USA's transplant registry, which demonstrated that preexisting PVT significantly increased liver allograft failure and risk of death after liver transplant at 90 days, 1 year, 3 years, and 5 years.<sup>27</sup>

#### **Diagnosis**

The diagnosis of PVT includes abdominal imaging to demonstrate portal vein occlusion. As such, patients should undergo an evaluation to identify conditions that may predispose to PVT formation. In acute PVT, there will be evidence of portal vein occlusion without radiographic signs suggestive of chronic PVT, such as cavernous portal transformation. A Doppler ultrasound is a reasonable initial approach. The characteristic ultrasound findings are the presence of solid echo within the portal vein or branches combined with the absence of portal flow (Fig. 2A-B). The ultrasound has a reported overall sensitivity of 89-93% and specificity of 92-99% for the detection of PVT.<sup>68,69</sup> However, it is not sensitive for determining the extent of thrombus, especially in the SMV.<sup>70</sup>

If the ultrasound suggests PVT, an abdominal computed tomography (CT) scan can then be obtained. The classic feature of acute PVT is the presence of hyperattenuating material in the portal vein in a CT scan without contrast. Imaging after intravenous contrast injection may reveal a lack of luminal enhancement, increased hepatic enhancement in the arterial phase, and decreased hepatic enhancement in the portal phase.<sup>71</sup> However, it is observed when the imaging study is done within 30 days after the onset of symptoms.<sup>72</sup> Chronic thrombosis is characterized by the presence of portal cavernoma, reportedly seen as soon as 6 days after portal vein occlusion (Fig. 2C-D).<sup>70</sup> However, chronic PVT may be difficult to define accurately because enlarged collateral vessels may preexist as a consequence of cirrhosis.<sup>73</sup>

Contrast-enhanced CT and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are excellent modalities to evaluate the extension of thrombus and may detect predisposing conditions or intestinal ischemia. CT angiography has a reported 90% sensitivity and 99% specificity for the diagnosis of PVT, according to operative findings being used as a reference.<sup>69</sup> MRI has 100% sensitivity and 98% specificity for detecting PVT.<sup>74,75</sup> Overall, various imaging modalities have higher sensitivity in detecting complete PVT when compared to partial PVT (65% and 39%, respectively) with comparable specificity (99% and 97%, respectively).<sup>76</sup>

A new probability assessment tool for the development or presence of PVT in patients with cirrhosis was recently proposed.<sup>12</sup> Three major criteria include CTP class B or C cirrhosis, prior history of resolved PVT, and presence of thrombophilic disorder. In contrast, seven minor criteria are the evidence of portosystemic shunt, active hepatocellular malignancy, history of systemic venous thrombosis or abortion, recent abdominal intervention, reduced portal flow velocity <15 cm/s, and clinical presentation with acute abdomen or worsening of portal hypertension in cirrhotic patients. The presence of two major, or one major and two minor or four minor criteria indicates a high probability. However, further validation from a prospective study is needed.

Accurate differentiation between nontumoral and malignant PVT in cirrhotic patients is of paramount importance. Visualized thrombus in the portal vein is considered nontumoral PVT when all of the following characteristics are present: lack of enhancement of endoluminal material during the arterial phase of contrast administration, absence of mass forming features, and absence of wall disruption of portal vein or tumor encroaching on the portal vein.<sup>77</sup> The presence of neovascularization or main portal vein diameter >23 mm showed a sensitivity of 86% and specificity of 100%



Fig. 2. Imaging findings of nontumoral portal vein thrombosis (PVT) in liver cirrhosis. (A) Ultrasound of the abdomen shows an echogenic material within the dilated portal vein, indicating PVT. (B) Doppler ultrasound of the abdomen shows decreased color flow within the main portal vein and demonstrates color-filled dilated collateral vessels around the porta hepatis consistent with cavernous transformation. (C) Computed tomography of the abdomen on portal venous phase shows a filling defect in the right branch of the portal vein (arrow), indicating thrombus. (D) Contrast-enhanced computed tomography depicts cavernous transformation (arrow) following portal venous thrombosis.

for the diagnosis of malignant PVT.<sup>78</sup> If uncertainty persists, a CT-guided biopsy for histological examination may be required.

## Management

The optimal management of PVT in the setting of liver cirrhosis regarding the appropriate strategies, the magnitude of PVT (occlusive versus nonocclusive, acute versus chronic), type and timing of anticoagulation, and the role of a transjugular intrahepatic portal shunt (TIPS) are lacking. In 2009, the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD) published guidelines for the management of PVT in cirrhosis. They did not provide specific anticoagulation guidance for PVT but recommended clinical decisions be made on a case-by-case basis depending on the presence of thrombophilic conditions, symptoms, or extension to the SMV.<sup>2</sup> The European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) published guidelines on vascular disorders of the liver in 2016 and recommended evaluating for the presence of at-risk varices and initiating therapy with band ligation or nonselective  $\beta$  blocker before initiation of anticoagulation treatment for PVT in cirrhosis.<sup>3</sup> According to the EASL guideline, anticoagulation treatment is advised for at least 6 months in cirrhotic patients with PVT and should be continued for some months after portal vein repermeation or until transplant in candidates for liver transplantation.<sup>3</sup> Like AASLD and

EASL guidelines, the Baveno VI consensus statement does not make recommendations on the choice of anticoagulation therapy for PVT due to limited data.<sup>11</sup> The indication, contraindication, and currently available therapeutic agents are summarized in Supplementary Table 3.<sup>1–3,11,25,46,79–93</sup>

#### Anticoagulation

Anticoagulation is the primary management of acute PVT, with supporting evidence of high efficacy and a favorable safety profile (Table 1). The objective is to achieve recanalization of the portal vein and prevent the extension of the thrombus to decrease the notorious consequences of portal hypertension and mesenteric ischemia and allow conventional end-to-end portal vein anastomosis to be technically possible in transplant candidates.<sup>35</sup> Currently, available guidelines recommend that anticoagulation should be considered in liver transplantation candidates with thrombosis of the main portal vein trunk or progressive PVT.<sup>2,3,11</sup> For noncandidates to liver transplantation, no recommendation regarding anticoagulation treatment has been made. However, anticoagulation could be considered in selected cases with symptomatic acute occlusive PVT, the extension to the SMV, or known strong prothrombophilic conditions.<sup>11</sup>

Clinical data suggest that anticoagulation and recanalization of the portal vein are associated with reduced portal hypertension-related events and improved survival.<sup>80</sup> Anticoagulation therapy in cirrhotic patients with PVT has shown the variability in the resolution of thrombosis. The degree of PVT at diagnosis does not predict the likelihood of response to anticoagulation,<sup>81,94</sup> but extensive PVT before treatment decreases the likelihood of recanalization.<sup>46,57</sup> The successful management of PVT in cirrhosis is strongly associated with early diagnosis and initiation of anticoagulation within the first 6 months.<sup>46</sup> The presence of portal cavernoma indicates a long-standing PVT that is unlikely to recanalize completely with anticoagulation. A relatively low recanalization rate of complete PVT after anticoagulation therapy suggests its limited usefulness in cirrhotic patients with complete PVT. Anticoagulants evaluated in these studies included vitamin K antagonist (VKA), LMWH, and direct oral anticoagulant (DOAC).<sup>1,25,46,57,79-86,94-97</sup>

In the acute setting of PVT, LMWH is the preferred agent, typically followed by VKA. LMWH has the advantage of a fixeddose regimen without laboratory monitoring; however, daily subcutaneous administration may reduce compliance and require dose adjustment according to renal function that is relatively fragile in patients with advanced liver cirrhosis. VKA is generally considered for long-term anticoagulation therapy, but maintaining the international normalized ratio in the therapeutic range throughout treatment and interference with the MELD score makes its use challenging. The risk and benefits of treatment with anticoagulants for PVT in cirrhosis have been debated. Compelling evidence from two meta-analyses showed that traditional anticoagulants significantly increased the rate of PVT recanalization (71% vs. 42%) with the OR of 4.16 (95% CI: 1.88-9.20) and lower the rate of PVT progression (9% vs. 33%) compared with no anticoagulation therapy.<sup>98,99</sup> Both LMWH and warfarin were effective in preventing the progression of thrombosis. However, LMWH, not warfarin, was significantly associated with complete PVT resolution.98 Recurrence after discontinuation of anticoagulation therapy following clot resolution was found to be up to 38%.79 The most feared consequence of anticoagulation is bleeding. However, major and minor bleeding risk related to anticoagulation therapy for PVT in cirrhosis ranges from 3.3% to 11%, which is not different from that of no treatment.98,99

DOACs are more widely used in clinical practice for treatment and prevention of venous thromboembolic events due to an acceptable safety profile and availability of antidotes without the need for drug monitoring. Studies examining the pharmacodynamics of DOAC in patients with cirrhosis showed that the anticoagulant effect might be altered in advanced cirrhosis.<sup>100,101</sup> Data regarding the efficacy and safety of DOACs for treatment of PVT in cirrhosis are emerging but remain limited, as shown in Table 1.<sup>85,86,96,97</sup> Nagaoki *et al.*<sup>86</sup> randomized 50 cirrhotic patients with variable CTP scores and PVT to receive either warfarin or edoxaban for 6 months after 2 weeks of daparinoid sodium therapy. They reported a significantly higher rate of complete resolution of PVT with the slower progression of PVT in patients receiving edoxaban and no difference in adverse effects among both treatment groups.

Furthermore, Hanafy *et al.*<sup>85</sup> reported a randomized controlled trial of rivaroxaban versus warfarin for the management of acute PVT in 80 patients with hepatitis C cirrhosis who had undergone splenectomy due to symptomatic hypersplenism. Patients receiving rivaroxaban achieved a higher frequency of recanalization of the portal vein with better short-term survival rates than patients receiving warfarin. Complications such as major bleeding, abnormal liver functions, or death did not occur in the rivaroxaban group, while the warfarin group experienced ascites, gastrointestinal bleeding, encephalopathy, and death. Although the results are promising, rivaroxaban is not the ideal DOAC for patients with cirrhosis due to higher reported rates of hepatotoxicity with rivaroxaban than other DOACs.<sup>102</sup> Given the small sample size and heterogeneous population of each study, the safety and efficacy of DOACs for PVT in patients with cirrhosis need to be further ascertained.

## Transjugular portosystemic shunt

The advantages of TIPS for the treatment of PVT in patients with cirrhosis are to recanalize the thrombosed portal vein using endovascular techniques effectively and simultaneously resolve symptomatic portal hypertension and prevent thrombus recurrence or extension by the creation of a portosystemic shunt.<sup>103</sup> Nowadays, TIPS represents an effective adjunctive therapy for PVT if anticoagulation is ineffective or inappropriate. Transplenic TIPS placement is feasible in patients with complete obliterative PVT to recanalize the portal vein in anticipation of transplantation.<sup>90,93</sup> The technical success rate for TIPS is relatively high in experienced centers.<sup>9,90-93</sup> In a recent meta-analysis of 13 studies including 399 patients (92% cirrhosis; PVT: complete 46%, chronic 87%, portal cavernoma 15%), TIPS was technically feasible in 95% of cases, carried a moderate risk of significant complication (10%), and was highly effective in achieving sustained recanalization of PVT (79%), even in cases with the cavernous transformation.<sup>89</sup> This result means that TIPS can be effective in maintaining long-term portal vein patency, allowing avoidance of anticoagulation therapy. Regarding the clinical outcome of this procedure in the management of PVT, the pooled 12month survival rate was 89%. This finding supports previous reports suggesting that TIPS likely confers survival benefit in patients with advanced liver cirrhosis.<sup>104–106</sup> A retrospective analysis of 57 cirrhotic patients with nontumoral PVT undergoing TIPS and subsequent systemic anticoagulation showed that the independent factors associated with technical success were SMV involvement (OR: 42.8; 95% CI: 1.43-1282) and presence of portal cavernoma (OR: 37.5; 95% CI: 1.96-720).<sup>92</sup> Therefore, careful consideration is needed, especially in patients with these negative predictive factors. Given the heterogeneity of published data, adequately powered clinical trials comparing TIPS to anticoagulation are required to guide clinical decision-making in this field.

## Challenges of liver transplantation in cirrhotic patients with nontumoral PVT

Currently, the presence of PVT is no longer an absolute contraindication for liver transplantation. The first successful liver transplantation in a patient with PVT was reported in 1985.<sup>107</sup> Since then, the advancement of surgical techniques has allowed end-to-end anastomosis to be performed in the majority of cases.<sup>26</sup> Physiological portal inflow is defined when splanchnic venous blood from splanchnic vessels or large portosystemic shunt can be redirected to the liver graft.<sup>108</sup> Previous studies showed no significant differences in survival between patients with complete and partial PVT, given that physiological portal flow was established.<sup>65</sup> However, liver transplantation in patients with extensive thrombosis remains technically challenging.<sup>31</sup> A recent

of anticoagulation	er gastrointestinal ing (not related to pagulation therapy)	d anemia form portal tensive gastropathy (not ed to anticoagulation py)	staxis, 1 hematuria, 1 tomatic cerebral orrhage and 1 heparin- ed thrombocytopenia	ı-variceal bleeding iceal bleeding	ificant vaginal bleeding	i-variceal bleeding tion site, epistaxis or ituria)	ivariceal bleeding (injection epistaxis or hematuria)	trointestinal bleeding staxis or gingival bleeding	nically relevant bleeding al bleeding	tal hypertensive opathy acranial bleeding	major bleeding event minor bleeding event
Risk e	1 upp bleed antico	2 mil hyper relate thera	1 epis symp hemo induo	5 nor 6 var	1 sigr	8 nor (injec hema	2 non site, e	4 gas 4 epis	13 cli 2 fata	1 por gastr 1 intr	24% 29%
Recanalization and progression of thrombosis	42% complete 53% unchanged 5% progression	33% after 6-month 75% after 12-month 2 of 5 nonresponders had progression	36% complete 27% partial 21% unchanged 15% progression	45% complete 15% partial 40% unchanged	39% complete 43% partial 18% unchanged	23.5% complete 53% partial 23.5% unchanged	29% complete 52% partial 19% unchanged	50% complete/partial 13% stable 10% progression	22% complete 40% partial 31% unchanged 4.4% progression	43% complete 29% partial 28% unchanged	49% complete 21% partial 30% unchanged
Duration of follow-up	Mean 8.1 months	Median 6.5 months (range 1- 17)	Mean 21.6±8.5 months	Median 6.8 months (range 1- 56)	Mean 302 days (range 54-1,213)	6 months	6 months	Median 7.6 months	Median 5.7 months (range 1- 34.6)	Median 4.4 months	Mean 23.3±16.2 months
Type of anticoagulation	LMWH followed by VKA ( <i>n</i> = 19)	Enoxaparin ( <i>n</i> = 28)	Nadroparin ( <i>n</i> = 33)	LMWH ( <i>n</i> = 47) VKA ( <i>n</i> = 8)	VKA ( <i>n</i> = 28)	LMWH 1.5 mg/kg daily ( <i>n</i> = 34)	LMWH 1 mg/kg bid ( <i>n</i> = 31)	VKA ( <i>n</i> = 30)	Dalteparin ( $n = 82$ ) enoxaparin ( $n = 9$ )	Enoxaparin ( <i>n</i> = 65)	VKA ( <i>n</i> = 63)
Characteristics of nontumoral PVT	18 partial PVT 1 complete PVT	23 partial PVT 5 complete PVT	24 partial PVT 11 complete PVT	41 partial PVT 14 complete PVT	All transplant candidates with PVT	30 partial PVT 4 complete PVT	24 partial PVT 7 complete PVT	10 partial PVT 20 complete PVT	77 partial PVT 14 complete PVT	47 partial PVT 18 complete PVT	48 partial PVT 15 complete PVT
u	19	28	33	55	28	34	31	30	91	65	63
Author, year	Francoz <i>et al.</i> , 2005 <sup>25</sup>	Amitrano <i>et al.</i> , 2010 <sup>84</sup>	Senzolo <i>et al.</i> , 2012 <sup>83</sup>	Delgado et <i>al.</i> , 2012 <sup>79</sup>	Werner <i>et al.</i> , 2013 <sup>81</sup>	Cui <i>et al.,</i> 2015 <sup>94</sup>	Cui <i>et al.,</i> 2015 <sup>94</sup>	Chen <i>et al.</i> , 2016 <sup>57</sup>	Kwon et al., 2018 <sup>95</sup>	Rodriguez- Castro <i>et al.</i> , 2019 <sup>46</sup>	La Mura <i>et al.</i> , 2018 <sup>80</sup>

Table 1. Efficacy and safety of anticoagulation therapy for nontumoral portal vein thrombosis in patients with cirrhosis

438

Rugivarodom M. et al: Portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis

(continued)

	Risk of anticoagulation	21.8% bleeding complication (only 4 related to anticoagulation therapy)	10.8% bleeding complication	3 gastrointestinal bleeding with edoxaban 2 gastrointestinal bleeding with warfarin	1 portal hypertensive gastropathy bleeding	No difference in bleeding rates between DOAC and LMW	8 deaths with warfarin No death with rivaroxaban
	Recanalization and progression of thrombosis	38.3% complete	51.4% complete/partial	Edoxaban had more complete resolution (70% vs. 20%) and less progression (5% vs. 47%) compared with warfarin	20% with resolution of PVT 80% with stable of cavernoma	No difference in the recurrence rate of thrombosis between groups	85% recanalization with rivaroxaban 45% recanalization with warfarin
	Duration of follow-up	Mean 13.4±14.0 months	Mean 20.6±11.9 months	6 months	Median 12.0 months (range 8.7- 29.0)	Mean follow-up 0.9 year (range 0.01-4.18)	Mean 20.4±2.2 months
	Type of anticoagulation	LMWH ( <i>n</i> = 56) Fondaparinox ( <i>n</i> = 15) VKA ( <i>n</i> =10)	VKA ( <i>n</i> = 22) LMWH ( <i>n</i> = 15)	Danaparoid sodium for 2 weeks followed by edoxaban ( $n = 20$ ) or warfarin ( $n = 30$ )	Edoxaban $(n = 4)$ Apixaban $(n = 3)$ Rivaroxaban $(n = 2)$ Dabigatran $(n = 1)$	Rivaroxaban or apixaban (n = 26) Enoxaparin (n = 23)	Enoxaparin for 3 days followed by rivaroxaban (n = 40) or warfarin $(n =40)$
	Characteristics of nontumoral PVT	<ol> <li>51 partial PVT</li> <li>8 complete PVT</li> <li>19 extension to superior</li> <li>mesenteric vein</li> <li>4 cavernoma</li> </ol>	66.3% portal vein trunk 33.7% extension to splenic or superior mesenteric veins 12.5% cavernoma	75% portal vein trunk 15% intrahepatic portal branch 10% superior mesenteric or splenic vein	53% partial PVT 47% complete PVT	Splanchnic vein thrombosis	Acute PVT after splenectomy or portal pyemia
nued)	Ľ	81	37	20	10	26	80
Table 1. (conti	Author, year	Pettinari <i>et al.</i> , 2019 <sup>1</sup>	Noronha Ferreira <i>et al.</i> , 2019 <sup>82</sup>	Nagaoki <i>et al.</i> , 2018 <sup>86</sup>	Scheiner <i>et al.</i> , 2018 <sup>96</sup>	Janczak <i>et al.</i> , 2018 <sup>97</sup>	Hanafy <i>et al.</i> , 2019 <sup>85</sup>

Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology **2020** vol. 8 | 432–444

Abbreviations: LMWH, low molecular weight heparin; PVT, portal vein thrombosis; VKA, vitamin K antagonists.

meta-analysis showed that 30-day mortality was higher in recipients with complete PVT than in those with partial thrombosis.<sup>109</sup> Of note, the survival rate is decreased in those with nonphysiologic portal anastomosis.<sup>35,65</sup> In patients with grade I-III PVT, according to Yerdel classification,<sup>6</sup> the thrombus was removed by eversion thrombectomy or thromboendovenectomy (removal of clot and attached intimal laver). If the portal flow is insufficient, various surgical options can be considered to increase the inflow, including ligation of the portosystemic collaterals, portal vein arterialization, interposition graft between patent splanchnic vessels, and portal vein or a jump graft from SMV to donor portal vein.<sup>31</sup> In grade IV PVT with the presence of portosystemic shunt, using systemic veins as the inflow vessels including renoportal anastomosis, left gastric vein to portal vein anastomosis and pericholedochal varix to portal vein anastomosis allows restoration of physiologic portal hemodynamic.<sup>108</sup> In the absence of portosystemic collaterals, surgical alternatives are reno-portal anastomosis, cavoportal hemitransposition, and multivisceral transplantation.<sup>108</sup> Cautiously, these nonphysiologic anastomoses, except reno-portal anastomosis in patients with patent surgical splenorenal shunt, do not reverse portal hypertension.<sup>35</sup> Multivisceral transplantation, including liver and small bowel, was theoretically the best option to restore physiologic portal flow and reverse portal hypertension in a patient with extensive PVT. However, the experience is very limited. The initial report of 25 patients with grade IV PVT who underwent multivisceral transplantation showed the relatively favorable 1-, 3- and 5-survival rates of 80%, 72%, and 72%, respectively.<sup>110</sup>

PVT is not considered a MELD exception; therefore, patients with PVT do not receive additional points for organ allocation.<sup>35</sup>

Rugivarodom M. et al: Portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis

However, cirrhotic patients with PVT should be transplanted before reaching a MELD score of 30.<sup>111</sup> The living donor liver transplantation in patients with PVT poses characteristic obstacles. The restricted availability of a vein graft is the main technical challenge. In addition, the safety of the donor is of paramount importance. Contrarily, considering living donor liver transplantation in patients with grade I-III PVT may be reasonable in highly experienced centers.<sup>112,113</sup>

After liver transplantation, the hemodynamic alteration of splanchnic circulation was restored, resulting in a low rate of rethrombosis (less than 5%); therefore, long term anticoagulation is not justified.<sup>35,112</sup> However, the consideration of systemic anticoagulation therapy patients with extensive thrombosis and nonphysiologic reconstruction who carry a high risk of rethrombosis needs to be done on a case-by-case basis.

# Potential algorithm for the management of PVT in cirrhosis

Based on existing data and international society recommendations, we propose a potential algorithm for the management of PVT in liver cirrhosis (Fig. 3). First, patients with cirrhosis awaiting liver transplantation should be screened for PVT at least every 6 months with Doppler ultrasound. Detection of PVT before transplantation would help in surgical planning and allow potential preoperative therapy to recanalize the portal vein. It seems logical that cirrhotic patients with risk factors for PVT (especially those with portal flow velocity <15 cm/s or decompensated cirrhosis) should be screened for the development of PVT every 6 months. Second, patients with cirrhosis diagnosed with PVT by Doppler ultrasound should be assessed with contrast-enhanced imaging to confirm and stage



**Fig. 3.** Potential algorithm for the management of nontumoral portal vein thrombosis (PVT) in liver cirrhosis. \*Lupus anticoagulant, anticardiolipin, anti-β2glycoprotein 1 antibody, factor V Leiden, 20210A prothrombin gene mutation, methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase gene mutation, JAK2 V617F mutation and work-up for paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. \*\*Limited technical feasibility in low-volume center, superior mesenteric vein (SMV) thrombosis and portal cavernoma.

the extent of nontumoral thrombosis. Third, evaluation for liver transplantation should be considered once cirrhotic patients have experienced an index complication, such as ascites, hepatic encephalopathy, or variceal hemorrhage or hepatocellular dysfunction resulting in a MELD score  $\geq$ 15. Fourth, testing for acquired and inherited thrombophilic disorders can be considered in cirrhotic patients with PVT on an individual basis, but universal screening is not currently recommended. Fifth, the assessment of bleeding risk and the benefit of anticoagulation therapy is crucial. Patients should undergo an upper endoscopy to assess for portal hypertension or other mucosal lesions. Subsequent prophylaxis with endoscopic band ligation or pharmacotherapy with nonselective  $\beta$  blockers should be utilized for highrisk varices. Sixth, anticoagulation therapy should be considered for liver transplantation candidates, patients with symptomatic acute PVT, or progression of PVT or extension into the SMV. In cirrhotic patients with nonocclusive thrombosis of the trunk or a single branch of portal vein left untreated, imaging surveillance should be carried out every 3-6 months to evaluate for thrombosis progression. Seventh, the selection of the type of anticoagulation should be individualized. The limitation and benefits of each medication (LMWH, VKA, or DOACs) should be reviewed with the patients. Eighth, the optimal duration of anticoagulation may be at least 6 months to achieve the successful recanalization of the portal vein. In cases of underlying hypercoagulability or liver transplantation candidates, indefinite anticoagulation or treatment until liver transplantation may be considered. If anticoagulation treatment is stopped, close follow-up with abdominal imaging every 3-6 months is advised to evaluate for PVT recurrence. Lastly, TIPS should be considered for the treatment of PVT in patients with cirrhosis requiring treatment for clinically significant portal hypertension, patients with symptomatic and complete occlusion of the main portal vein, or those with progressive PVT despite adequate anticoagulation.

## Conclusions

Nontumoral PVT is a challenging consequence of cirrhosis. Existing data have greatly expanded our knowledge of pathophysiology, natural history, and treatment of PVT in cirrhosis. Several case series have shown the efficacy and safety of the anticoagulation treatment and TIPS for the management of PVT in cirrhosis. However, research remains limited to mainly retrospective cohort studies so that any firm conclusions for clinical practice cannot be achieved. The potential risk and benefit of various treatment modalities should be evaluated in prospective and randomized trials. Treatment for nontumoral PVT in liver cirrhosis must be decided on a case-by-case basis.

#### Funding

None to declare.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Drafted the first version of the manuscript (MR), edited and revised the manuscript, and contributed to conceptual development of the study (PC).

## References

- Pettinari I, Vukotic R, Stefanescu H, Pecorelli A, Morelli M, Grigoras C, *et al.* Clinical impact and safety of anticoagulants for portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2019;114:258–266. doi: 10.1038/s41395-018-0421-0.
- [2] DeLeve LD, Valla DC, Garcia-Tsao G. Vascular disorders of the liver. Hepatology 2009;49:1729–1764. doi: 10.1002/hep.22772.
- [3] EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Vascular diseases of the liver. J Hepatol 2016;64:179–202. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.07.040.
- [4] Stieber AC, Zetti G, Todo S, Tzakis AG, Fung JJ, Marino I, *et al*. The spectrum of portal vein thrombosis in liver transplantation. Ann Surg 1991;213:199– 206. doi: 10.1097/0000658-199103000-00003.
- [5] Nonami T, Yokoyama I, Iwatsuki S, Starzl TE. The incidence of portal vein thrombosis at liver transplantation. Hepatology 1992;16:1195–1198.
- [6] Yerdel MA, Gunson B, Mirza D, Karayalçin K, Olliff S, Buckels J, et al. Portal vein thrombosis in adults undergoing liver transplantation: risk factors, screening, management, and outcome. Transplantation 2000;69:1873– 1881. doi: 10.1097/00007890-200005150-00023.
- [7] Jamieson NV. Changing perspectives in portal vein thrombosis and liver transplantation. Transplantation 2000;69:1772–1774. doi: 10. 1097/00007890-200005150-00006.
- [8] Charco R, Fuster J, Fondevila C, Ferrer J, Mans E, García-Valdecasas JC. Portal vein thrombosis in liver transplantation. Transplant Proc 2005;37: 3904–3905. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2005.09.120.
- [9] Bauer J, Johnson S, Durham J, Ludkowski M, Trotter J, Bak T, et al. The role of TIPS for portal vein patency in liver transplant patients with portal vein thrombosis. Liver Transpl 2006;12:1544–1551. doi: 10.1002/lt.20869.
- [10] Ma J, Yan Z, Luo J, Liu Q, Wang J, Qiu S. Rational classification of portal vein thrombosis and its clinical significance. PLoS One 2014;9:e112501. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0112501.
- [11] de Franchis R. Expanding consensus in portal hypertension: Report of the Baveno VI Consensus Workshop: Stratifying risk and individualizing care for portal hypertension. J Hepatol 2015;63:743–752. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2015.05.022.
- [12] Sarin SK, Philips CA, Kamath PS, Choudhury A, Maruyama H, Nery FG, et al. Toward a comprehensive new classification of portal vein thrombosis in patients with cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2016;151:574–577.e3. doi: 10. 1053/j.gastro.2016.08.033.
- [13] Tripodi A, Mannucci PM. The coagulopathy of chronic liver disease. N Engl J Med 2011;365:147–156. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1011170.
- [14] Stine JG, Shah PM, Cornella SL, Rudnick SR, Ghabril MS, Stukenborg GJ, et al. Portal vein thrombosis, mortality and hepatic decompensation in patients with cirrhosis: A meta-analysis. World J Hepatol 2015;7:2774– 2780. doi: 10.4254/wjh.v7.i27.2774.
- [15] Intagliata NM, Argo CK, Stine JG, Lisman T, Caldwell SH, Violi F. Concepts and controversies in haemostasis and thrombosis associated with liver disease: Proceedings of the 7th International Coagulation in Liver Disease Conference. Thromb Haemost 2018;118:1491–1506. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1666861.
- [16] Okuda K, Ohnishi K, Kimura K, Matsutani S, Sumida M, Goto N, et al. Incidence of portal vein thrombosis in liver cirrhosis. An angiographic study in 708 patients. Gastroenterology 1985;89:279–286. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(85)90327-0.
- [17] Amitrano L, Guardascione MA, Brancaccio V, Margaglione M, Manguso F, Iannaccone L, et al. Risk factors and clinical presentation of portal vein thrombosis in patients with liver cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2004;40:736–741. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2004.01.001.
- [18] Zocco MA, Di Stasio E, De Cristofaro R, Novi M, Ainora ME, Ponziani F, et al. Thrombotic risk factors in patients with liver cirrhosis: correlation with MELD scoring system and portal vein thrombosis development. J Hepatol 2009;51:682–689. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2009.03.013.
- [19] Tsochatzis EA, Senzolo M, Germani G, Gatt A, Burroughs AK. Systematic review: portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010; 31:366–374. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2009.04182.x.
- [20] Maruyama H, Okugawa H, Takahashi M, Yokosuka O. De novo portal vein thrombosis in virus-related cirrhosis: predictive factors and long-term outcomes. Am J Gastroenterol 2013;108:568–574. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2012. 452.
- [21] Violi F, Corazza GR, Caldwell SH, Perticone F, Gatta A, Angelico M, et al. Portal vein thrombosis relevance on liver cirrhosis: Italian Venous Thrombotic Events Registry. Intern Emerg Med 2016;11:1059–1066. doi: 10. 1007/s11739-016-1416-8.
- [22] Violi F, Ferro D. Clotting activation and hyperfibrinolysis in cirrhosis: implication for bleeding and thrombosis. Semin Thromb Hemost 2013;39:426– 433. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1334144.
- [23] Nery F, Chevret S, Condat B, de Raucourt E, Boudaoud L, Rautou PE, et al. Causes and consequences of portal vein thrombosis in 1,243 patients with

- [24] Suarez Artacho G, Barrera Pulido L, Alamo Martinez JM, Serrano Diez-Canedo J, Bernal Bellido C, Marín Gomez LM, *et al*. Outcomes of liver transplantation in candidates with portal vein thrombosis. Transplant Proc 2010; 42:3156–3158. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2010.05.057.
- [25] Francoz C, Belghiti J, Vilgrain V, Sommacale D, Paradis V, Condat B, et al. Splanchnic vein thrombosis in candidates for liver transplantation: usefulness of screening and anticoagulation. Gut 2005;54:691–697. doi: 10. 1136/gut.2004.042796.
- [26] Rodríguez-Castro KI, Porte RJ, Nadal E, Germani G, Burra P, Senzolo M. Management of nonneoplastic portal vein thrombosis in the setting of liver transplantation: a systematic review. Transplantation 2012;94: 1145–1153. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31826e8e53.
- [27] Ghabril M, Agarwal S, Lacerda M, Chalasani N, Kwo P, Tector AJ. Portal vein thrombosis is a risk factor for poor early outcomes after liver transplantation: Analysis of risk factors and outcomes for portal vein thrombosis in waitlisted patients. Transplantation 2016;100:126–133. doi: 10.1097/TP. 00000000000785.
- [28] Englesbe MJ, Kubus J, Muhammad W, Sonnenday CJ, Welling T, Punch JD, et al. Portal vein thrombosis and survival in patients with cirrhosis. Liver Transpl 2010;16:83–90. doi: 10.1002/lt.21941.
- [29] Stine JG, Shah NL, Argo CK, Pelletier SJ, Caldwell SH, Northup PG. Increased risk of portal vein thrombosis in patients with cirrhosis due to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Liver Transpl 2015;21:1016–1021. doi: 10. 1002/lt.24134.
- [30] Stine JG, Argo CK, Pelletier SJ, Maluf DG, Caldwell SH, Northup PG. Advanced non-alcoholic steatohepatitis cirrhosis: A high-risk population for pre-liver transplant portal vein thrombosis. World J Hepatol 2017;9: 139–146. doi: 10.4254/wjh.v9.i3.139.
- [31] Chen H, Turon F, Hernández-Gea V, Fuster J, Garcia-Criado A, Barrufet M, et al. Nontumoral portal vein thrombosis in patients awaiting liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2016;22:352–365. doi: 10.1002/lt.24387.
- [32] Violi F, Corazza GR, Caldwell SH, Talerico G, Romiti GF, Napoleone L, et al. Incidence and recurrence of portal vein thrombosis in cirrhotic patients. Thromb Haemost 2019;119:496–499. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1676981.
- [33] Intagliata NM, Caldwell SH, Tripodi A. Diagnosis, development, and treatment of portal vein thrombosis in patients with and without cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2019;156:1582–1599.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.01. 265.
- [34] Rajani R, Björnsson E, Bergquist A, Danielsson A, Gustavsson A, Grip O, et al. The epidemiology and clinical features of portal vein thrombosis: a multicentre study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010;32:1154–1162. doi: 10. 1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04454.x.
- [35] Francoz C, Valla D, Durand F. Portal vein thrombosis, cirrhosis, and liver transplantation. J Hepatol 2012;57:203–212. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011. 12.034.
- [36] Stine JG, Wang J, Shah PM, Argo CK, Intagliata N, Uflacker A, et al. Decreased portal vein velocity is predictive of the development of portal vein thrombosis: A matched case-control study. Liver Int 2018;38:94– 101. doi: 10.1111/liv.13500.
- [37] Tripodi A, Primignani M, Lemma L, Chantarangkul V, Dell'Era A, Iannuzzi F, et al. Detection of the imbalance of procoagulant versus anticoagulant factors in cirrhosis by a simple laboratory method. Hepatology 2010;52: 249–255. doi: 10.1002/hep.23653.
- [38] Tripodi A, Primignani M, Chantarangkul V, Dell'Era A, Clerici M, de Franchis R, et al. An imbalance of pro- vs anti-coagulation factors in plasma from patients with cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2009;137:2105–2111. doi: 10.1053/j.qastro.2009.08.045.
- [39] O'Leary JG, Greenberg CS, Patton HM, Caldwell SH. AGA clinical practice update: Coagulation in cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2019;157:34–43.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.03.070.
- [40] Kumar M, Ahmad J, Maiwall R, Choudhury A, Bajpai M, Mitra LG, et al. Thromboelastography-guided blood component use in patients with cirrhosis with nonvariceal bleeding: A randomized controlled trial. Hepatology 2020;71:235–246. doi: 10.1002/hep.30794.
- [41] De Pietri L, Bianchini M, Montalti R, De Maria N, Di Maira T, Begliomini B, et al. Thrombelastography-guided blood product use before invasive procedures in cirrhosis with severe coagulopathy: A randomized, controlled trial. Hepatology 2016;63:566–573. doi: 10.1002/hep.28148.
- [42] Kapoor S, Pal S, Sahni P, Chattopadhyay TK. Thromboelastographic evaluation of coagulation in patients with extrahepatic portal vein thrombosis and non-cirrhotic portal fibrosis: a pilot study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009;24: 992–997. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2008.05761.x.
- [43] Wu L, Zhang G, Guo C. Thromboelastography detects possible coagulation disturbance in pediatric patients with portal cavernoma. Transfus Med Hemother 2020;47:135–143. doi: 10.1159/000501229.
- [44] Huang X, Fan X, Zhang R, Jiang S, Yang K, Chen S. Systemic inflammation and portal vein thrombosis in cirrhotic patients with gastroesophageal

varices. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020;32:401-405. doi: 10. 1097/MEG.00000000001526.

- [45] Amitrano L, Brancaccio V, Guardascione MA, Margaglione M, Iannaccone L, D'Andrea G, et al. Inherited coagulation disorders in cirrhotic patients with portal vein thrombosis. Hepatology 2000;31:345–348. doi: 10.1002/hep. 510310213.
- [46] Rodriguez-Castro KI, Vitale A, Fadin M, Shalaby S, Zerbinati P, Sartori MT, et al. A prediction model for successful anticoagulation in cirrhotic portal vein thrombosis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019;31:34–42. doi: 10. 1097/MEG.00000000001237.
- [47] Saugel B, Lee M, Feichtinger S, Hapfelmeier A, Schmid RM, Siveke JT. Thrombophilic factor analysis in cirrhotic patients with portal vein thrombosis. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2015;40:54–60. doi: 10.1007/s11239-014-1124-z.
- [48] La Mura V, Tripodi A, Tosetti G, Cavallaro F, Chantarangkul V, Colombo M, et al. Resistance to thrombomodulin is associated with de novo portal vein thrombosis and low survival in patients with cirrhosis. Liver Int 2016;36: 1322–1330. doi: 10.1111/liv.13087.
- [49] Lancellotti S, Basso M, Veca V, Sacco M, Riccardi L, Pompili M, et al. Presence of portal vein thrombosis in liver cirrhosis is strongly associated with low levels of ADAMTS-13: a pilot study. Intern Emerg Med 2016;11:959– 967. doi: 10.1007/s11739-016-1467-x.
- [50] Carnevale R, Raparelli V, Nocella C, Bartimoccia S, Novo M, Severino A, et al. Gut-derived endotoxin stimulates factor VIII secretion from endothelial cells. Implications for hypercoagulability in cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2017;67: 950–956. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.07.002.
- [51] Violi F, Lip GY, Cangemi R. Endotoxemia as a trigger of thrombosis in cirrhosis. Haematologica 2016;101:e162–e163. doi: 10.3324/haematol. 2015.139972.
- [52] Dhiman RK, Behera A, Chawla YK, Dilawari JB, Suri S. Portal hypertensive biliopathy. Gut 2007;56:1001–1008. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.103606.
- [53] Khuroo MS, Yattoo GN, Zargar SA, Javid G, Dar MY, Khan BA, et al. Biliary abnormalities associated with extrahepatic portal venous obstruction. Hepatology 1993;17:807–813.
- [54] Condat B, Vilgrain V, Asselah T, O'Toole D, Rufat P, Zappa M, et al. Portal cavernoma-associated cholangiopathy: a clinical and MR cholangiography coupled with MR portography imaging study. Hepatology 2003;37:1302– 1308. doi: 10.1053/jhep.2003.50232.
- [55] Luca A, Caruso S, Milazzo M, Marrone G, Mamone G, Crinò F, et al. Natural course of extrahepatic nonmalignant partial portal vein thrombosis in patients with cirrhosis. Radiology 2012;265:124–132. doi: 10. 1148/radiol.12112236.
- [56] Girleanu I, Stanciu C, Cojocariu C, Boiculese L, Singeap AM, Trifan A. Natural course of nonmalignant partial portal vein thrombosis in cirrhotic patients. Saudi J Gastroenterol 2014;20:288–292. doi: 10.4103/1319-3767.141687.
- [57] Chen H, Liu L, Qi X, He C, Wu F, Fan D, et al. Efficacy and safety of anticoagulation in more advanced portal vein thrombosis in patients with liver cirrhosis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016;28:82–89. doi: 10.1097/MEG. 00000000000482.
- [58] Wanless IR, Wong F, Blendis LM, Greig P, Heathcote EJ, Levy G. Hepatic and portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis: possible role in development of parenchymal extinction and portal hypertension. Hepatology 1995;21:1238– 1247.
- [59] Villa E, Cammà C, Marietta M, Luongo M, Critelli R, Colopi S, et al. Enoxaparin prevents portal vein thrombosis and liver decompensation in patients with advanced cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2012;143:1253–1260.e4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.07.018.
- [60] D'Amico G, De Franchis R. Upper digestive bleeding in cirrhosis. Post-therapeutic outcome and prognostic indicators. Hepatology 2003;38:599–612. doi: 10.1053/jhep.2003.50385.
- [61] Dell'Era A, Iannuzzi F, Fabris FM, Fontana P, Reati R, Grillo P, et al. Impact of portal vein thrombosis on the efficacy of endoscopic variceal band ligation. Dig Liver Dis 2014;46:152–156. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2013.08.138.
- [62] Qi X, Dai J, Yang M, Ren W, Jia J, Guo X. Association between portal vein thrombosis and survival in non-liver-transplant patients with liver cirrhosis: A systematic review of the literature. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2015;2015: 480842. doi: 10.1155/2015/480842.
- [63] Lendoire J, Raffin G, Cejas N, Duek F, Barros Schelotto P, et al. Liver transplantation in adult patients with portal vein thrombosis: risk factors, management and outcome. HPB (Oxford) 2007;9:352–356. doi: 10. 1080/13651820701599033.
- [64] Qi X, Dai J, Jia J, Ren W, Yang M, Li H, et al. Association between portal vein thrombosis and survival of liver transplant recipients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis 2015; 24:51–59. doi: 10.15403/jgld.2014.1121.qix.
- [65] Hibi T, Nishida S, Levi DM, Selvaggi G, Tekin A, Fan J, et al. When and why portal vein thrombosis matters in liver transplantation: a critical audit of 174 cases. Ann Surg 2014;259:760–766. doi: 10.1097/SLA. 00000000000252.

- [66] Selvaggi G, Weppler D, Nishida S, Moon J, Levi D, Kato T, et al. Ten-year experience in porto-caval hemitransposition for liver transplantation in the presence of portal vein thrombosis. Am J Transplant 2007;7:454–460. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01649.x.
- [67] Montenovo M, Rahnemai-Azar A, Reyes J, Perkins J. Clinical impact and risk factors of portal vein thrombosis for patients on wait list for liver transplant. Exp Clin Transplant 2018;16:166–171. doi: 10.6002/ect.2016.0277.
- [68] Tessler FN, Gehring BJ, Gomes AS, Perrella RR, Ragavendra N, Busuttil RW, et al. Diagnosis of portal vein thrombosis: value of color Doppler imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1991;157:293–296. doi: 10.2214/ajr.157.2. 1853809.
- [69] Bach AM, Hann LE, Brown KT, Getrajdman GI, Herman SK, Fong Y, et al. Portal vein evaluation with US: comparison to angiography combined with CT arterial portography. Radiology 1996;201:149–154. doi: 10.1148/radiology.201.1.8816536.
- [70] Loudin M, Ahn J. Portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2017;51:579–585. doi: 10.1097/MCG.00000000000834.
- [71] Hidajat N, Stobbe H, Griesshaber V, Felix R, Schroder RJ. Imaging and radiological interventions of portal vein thrombosis. Acta Radiol 2005;46: 336–343. doi: 10.1080/02841850510021157.
- [72] Plessier A, Rautou PE, Valla DC. Management of hepatic vascular diseases. J Hepatol 2012;56 Suppl 1:S25–S38. doi: 10.1016/S0168-8278(12)60004-X.
- [73] Mantaka A, Augoustaki A, Kouroumalis EA, Samonakis DN. Portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis: diagnosis, natural history, and therapeutic challenges. Ann Gastroenterol 2018;31:315–329. doi: 10.20524/aog.2018. 0245.
- [74] Shah TU, Semelka RC, Voultsinos V, Elias J Jr, Altun E, Pamuklar E, et al. Accuracy of magnetic resonance imaging for preoperative detection of portal vein thrombosis in liver transplant candidates. Liver Transpl 2006; 12:1682–1688. doi: 10.1002/lt.20873.
- [75] Kreft B, Strunk H, Flacke S, Wolff M, Conrad R, Gieseke J, et al. Detection of thrombosis in the portal venous system: comparison of contrast-enhanced MR angiography with intraarterial digital subtraction angiography. Radiology 2000;216:86–92. doi: 10.1148/radiology.216.1.r00jl2386.
- [76] Ravaioli M, Zanello M, Grazi GL, Ercolani G, Cescon M, Del Gaudio M, et al. Portal vein thrombosis and liver transplantation: evolution during 10 years of experience at the University of Bologna. Ann Surg 2011;253:378–384. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e318206818b.
- [77] Piscaglia F, Gianstefani A, Ravaioli M, Golfieri R, Cappelli A, Giampalma E, et al. Criteria for diagnosing benign portal vein thrombosis in the assessment of patients with cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma for liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2010;16:658–667. doi: 10.1002/lt.22044.
- [78] Tublin ME, Dodd GD 3rd, Baron RL. Benign and malignant portal vein thrombosis: differentiation by CT characteristics. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1997;168: 719–723. doi: 10.2214/ajr.168.3.9057522.
- [79] Delgado MG, Seijo S, Yepes I, Achécar L, Catalina MV, García-Criado A, et al. Efficacy and safety of anticoagulation on patients with cirrhosis and portal vein thrombosis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012;10:776–783. doi: 10. 1016/j.cgh.2012.01.012.
- [80] La Mura V, Braham S, Tosetti G, Branchi F, Bitto N, Moia M, et al. Harmful and beneficial effects of anticoagulants in patients with cirrhosis and portal vein thrombosis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;16:1146–1152.e4. doi: 10. 1016/j.cgh.2017.10.016.
- [81] Werner KT, Sando S, Carey EJ, Vargas HE, Byrne TJ, Douglas DD, et al. Portal vein thrombosis in patients with end stage liver disease awaiting liver transplantation: outcome of anticoagulation. Dig Dis Sci 2013;58: 1776–1780. doi: 10.1007/s10620-012-2548-y.
- [82] Noronha Ferreira C, Reis D, Cortez-Pinto H, Tato Marinho R, Gonçalves A, Palma S, et al. Anticoagulation in cirrhosis and portal vein thrombosis is safe and improves prognosis in advanced cirrhosis. Dig Dis Sci 2019;64:2671– 2683. doi: 10.1007/s10620-019-05572-z.
- [83] Senzolo M, Sartori TM, Rossetto V, Burra P, Cillo U, Boccagni P, et al. Prospective evaluation of anticoagulation and transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt for the management of portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis. Liver Int 2012;32:919–927. doi: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2012.02785.x.
- [84] Amitrano L, Guardascione MA, Menchise A, Martino R, Scaglione M, Giovine S, et al. Safety and efficacy of anticoagulation therapy with low molecular weight heparin for portal vein thrombosis in patients with liver cirrhosis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2010;44:448–451. doi: 10.1097/MCG. 0b013e3181b3ab44.
- [85] Hanafy AS, Abd-Elsalam S, Dawoud MM. Randomized controlled trial of rivaroxaban versus warfarin in the management of acute non-neoplastic portal vein thrombosis. Vascul Pharmacol 2019;113:86–91. doi: 10. 1016/j.vph.2018.05.002.
- [86] Nagaoki Y, Aikata H, Daijyo K, Teraoka Y, Shinohara F, Nakamura Y, et al. Efficacy and safety of edoxaban for treatment of portal vein thrombosis following danaparoid sodium in patients with liver cirrhosis. Hepatol Res 2018;48:51–58. doi: 10.1111/hepr.12895.

- [87] De Gottardi A, Trebicka J, Klinger C, Plessier A, Seijo S, Terziroli B, et al. Antithrombotic treatment with direct-acting oral anticoagulants in patients with splanchnic vein thrombosis and cirrhosis. Liver Int 2017;37:694–699. doi: 10.1111/liv.13285.
- [88] Faccia M, Ainora ME, Ponziani FR, Riccardi L, Garcovich M, Gasbarrini A, et al. Portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis: Why a well-known complication is still matter of debate. World J Gastroenterol 2019;25:4437–4451. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i31.4437.
- [89] Rodrigues SG, Sixt S, Abraldes JG, De Gottardi A, Klinger C, Bosch J, et al. Systematic review with meta-analysis: portal vein recanalisation and transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt for portal vein thrombosis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2019;49:20–30. doi: 10.1111/apt.15044.
- [90] Salem R, Vouche M, Baker T, Herrero JI, Caicedo JC, Fryer J, et al. Pretransplant portal vein recanalization-transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt in patients with complete obliterative portal vein thrombosis. Transplantation 2015;99:2347–2355. doi: 10.1097/TP.000000000000729.
- [91] Luca A, Miraglia R, Caruso S, Milazzo M, Sapere C, Maruzzelli L, *et al*. Shortand long-term effects of the transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt on portal vein thrombosis in patients with cirrhosis. Gut 2011;60:846–852. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.228023.
- [92] Han G, Qi X, He C, Yin Z, Wang J, Xia J, et al. Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt for portal vein thrombosis with symptomatic portal hypertension in liver cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2011;54:78–88. doi: 10.1016/j. jhep.2010.06.029.
- [93] Thornburg B, Desai K, Hickey R, Hohlastos E, Kulik L, Ganger D, et al. Pretransplantation portal vein recanalization and transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt creation for chronic portal vein thrombosis: Final analysis of a 61-patient cohort. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2017;28:1714–1721.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jvii.2017.08.005.
- [94] Cui SB, Shu RH, Yan SP, Wu H, Chen Y, Wang L, et al. Efficacy and safety of anticoagulation therapy with different doses of enoxaparin for portal vein thrombosis in cirrhotic patients with hepatitis B. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;27:914–919. doi: 10.1097/MEG.000000000000351.
- [95] Kwon J, Koh Y, Yu SJ, Yoon JH. Low-molecular-weight heparin treatment for portal vein thrombosis in liver cirrhosis: Efficacy and the risk of hemorrhagic complications. Thromb Res 2018;163:71–76. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres. 2018.01.032.
- [96] Scheiner B, Stammet PR, Pokorny S, Bucsics T, Schwabl P, Brichta A, et al. Anticoagulation in non-malignant portal vein thrombosis is safe and improves hepatic function. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2018;130:446–455. doi: 10.1007/s00508-018-1351-y.
- [97] Janczak DT, Mimier MK, McBane RD, Kamath PS, Simmons BS, Bott-Kitslaar DM, et al. Rivaroxaban and apixaban for initial treatment of acute venous thromboembolism of atypical location. Mayo Clin Proc 2018;93:40–47. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2017.10.007.
- [98] Loffredo L, Pastori D, Farcomeni A, Violi F. Effects of anticoagulants in patients with cirrhosis and portal vein thrombosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 2017;153:480–487.e1. doi: 10. 1053/j.gastro.2017.04.042.
- [99] Qi X, De Stefano V, Li H, Dai J, Guo X, Fan D. Anticoagulation for the treatment of portal vein thrombosis in liver cirrhosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Eur J Intern Med 2015;26:23–29. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2014.12.002.
- [100] Kubitza D, Roth A, Becka M, Alatrach A, Halabi A, Hinrichsen H, et al. Effect of hepatic impairment on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of a single dose of rivaroxaban, an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2013;76:89–98. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12054.
- [101] Graff J, Harder S. Anticoagulant therapy with the oral direct factor Xa inhibitors rivaroxaban, apixaban and edoxaban and the thrombin inhibitor dabigatran etexilate in patients with hepatic impairment. Clin Pharmacokinet 2013;52:243–254. doi: 10.1007/s40262-013-0034-0.
- [102] Raschi E, Poluzzi E, Koci A, Salvo F, Pariente A, Biselli M, et al. Liver injury with novel oral anticoagulants: assessing post-marketing reports in the US Food and Drug Administration adverse event reporting system. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2015;80:285–293. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12611.
- [103] Riggio O, Ridola L, Lucidi C, Angeloni S. Emerging issues in the use of transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS) for management of portal hypertension: time to update the guidelines? Dig Liver Dis 2010;42:462– 467. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2009.11.007.
- [104] Salerno F, Cammà C, Enea M, Rössle M, Wong F. Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt for refractory ascites: a meta-analysis of individual patient data. Gastroenterology 2007;133:825–834. doi: 10.1053/j. qastro.2007.06.020.
- [105] Bureau C, Thabut D, Oberti F, Dharancy S, Carbonell N, Bouvier A, et al. Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunts with covered stents increase transplant-free survival of patients with cirrhosis and recurrent ascites. Gastroenterology 2017;152:157–163. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2016.09.016.

- [106] García-Pagán JC, Caca K, Bureau C, Laleman W, Appenrodt B, Luca A, et al. Early use of TIPS in patients with cirrhosis and variceal bleeding. N Engl J Med 2010;362:2370–2379. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0910102.
- [107] Shaw BW Jr, Iwatsuki S, Bron K, Starzl TE. Portal vein grafts in hepatic transplantation. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1985;161:66–68.
- [108] Bhangui P, Lim C, Levesque E, Salloum C, Lahat E, Feray C, et al. Novel classification of non-malignant portal vein thrombosis: A guide to surgical decision-making during liver transplantation. J Hepatol 2019;71:1038– 1050. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2019.08.012.
- [109] Zanetto A, Rodriguez-Kastro KI, Germani G, Ferrarese A, Cillo U, Burra P, et al. Mortality in liver transplant recipients with portal vein thrombosis - an updated meta-analysis. Transpl Int 2018;31:1318–1329. doi: 10.1111/tri. 13353.
- [110] Vianna RM, Mangus RS, Kubal C, Fridell JA, Beduschi T, Tector AJ. Multivisceral transplantation for diffuse portomesenteric thrombosis. Ann Surg 2012;255:1144–1150. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31825429c0.
- [111] Kaltenborn A, Hartmann C, Salinas R, Ramackers W, Kleine M, Vondran FW, et al. Risk factors for short- and long-term mortality in liver transplant recipients with MELD score ≥30. Ann Transplant 2015;20:59–69. doi: 10. 12659/AOT.892322.
- [112] Bhangui P, Fernandes ESM, Di Benedetto F, Joo DJ, Nadalin S. Current management of portal vein thrombosis in liver transplantation. Int J Surg 2020; 82S:122–127. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.04.068.
- [113] Sharshar M, Yagi S, Iida T, Yao S, Miyachi Y, Macshut M, et al. Liver transplantation in patients with portal vein thrombosis: A strategic road map throughout management. Surgery 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2020.07.023.

## Elastography for Longitudinal Assessment of Liver Fibrosis after Antiviral Therapy: A Review

Hong Wei and Bin Song\*

Department of Radiology, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, Chengdu, Sichuan, China

#### Abstract

Chronic hepatitis B or C viral infection is a common cause of liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Fibrosis regression can be achieved after long-term antiviral therapy (AVT). Monitoring of dynamic changes in liver fibrosis after treatment is essential for establishing prognosis and formulation of a follow-up surveillance program. Routine surveillance of fibrosis after AVT by liver biopsy, the gold standard for fibrosis assessment, is hindered by its invasive nature, sampling error and observer variability. Elastography is a noninvasive quantitative alternative that has been widely used and validated for the staging of liver fibrosis prior to treatment. Recently, increasing research interest has been focused on the role of elastography in longitudinal assessment of liver fibrosis after AVT. In this review, the basic principles, acquisition techniques, diagnostic performances, and strengths and limitations of ultrasound elastography and magnetic resonance elastography are presented. Emerging evidence regarding the use of elastography techniques for the monitoring of liver fibrosis after AVT is summarized. Current challenges and future directions are also discussed, designed to optimize the application of these techniques in clinical practice.

**Citation of this article:** Wei H, Song B. Elastography for longitudinal assessment of liver fibrosis after antiviral therapy: A review. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):445–453. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00033.

## Introduction

Liver fibrosis is a progressive disease that can evolve into cirrhosis, ultimately resulting in liver failure or the development of hepatocellular carcinoma.<sup>1,2</sup> The main etiologies of liver fibrosis include chronic hepatitis B or C (CHB or CHC) viral infection, alcoholic steatohepatitis, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, and autoimmune and biliary diseases.<sup>3</sup> Increasing evidence indicates that liver fibrosis, even at the cirrhotic stage, is reversible if the major liver diseases and stimulus of liver injury are eliminated.<sup>4,5</sup> This has been shown in both CHB and CHC populations who underwent long-term antiviral therapy (AVT) with virus suppression or clearance,<sup>6–9</sup> and in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis patients after lifestyle changes, predominantly loss of weight.<sup>10</sup> The beneficial effects, particularly of cirrhosis regression, can partly reduce the increased risk of liver-related events, yet, notably, may not eliminate the high risk of hepatocellular carcinoma development.<sup>9,11</sup> Hence, monitoring of liver fibrosis status after treatment is of clinical significance for establishing prognosis and formulating a follow-up surveillance program.

To date, liver biopsy has been the gold standard for fibrosis assessment. However, routine assessment and surveillance of fibrosis after treatment by liver biopsy are hampered by its invasive nature, sampling error, and observer variability.<sup>12,13</sup> Therefore, noninvasive alternatives to liver biopsy are being developed, such as serum markers and imaging examinations, among which elastography has emerged as the leading candidate in clinical development. Quantitative elastography modalities include ultrasound (US) elastography and magnetic resonance elastography (MRE); the US elastography can be further divided into vibration controlled transient elastography (VCTE), point shear-wave elastography (pSWE) and two-dimensional shear-wave elastography (2D SWE).14,15 Assessment of fibrosis stage prior to treatment by elastography techniques has been a common practice in the clinic setting. More recently, increasing research attention has been put on the role of elastography in longitudinal assessment of liver fibrosis in patients who underwent AVT.

Here, the authors review the current knowledge on US elastography and MRE in terms of their basic principles, acquisition techniques, diagnostic performances, and strengths and weaknesses, highlighting the utility of elastography techniques in monitoring of liver fibrosis among CHB and CHC populations who received AVT and discussing current challenges and future directions to explore the optimization of elastography techniques in practice.

#### **Basic concepts of elastography**

Elastography provides a quantitative method to assess liver stiffness, which is a mechanical property of tissue related to the degree of liver fibrosis. In general, liver stiffness values increase with higher fibrosis stages.<sup>16</sup> Hence, liver stiffness is regarded as an "indirect" marker of fibrosis. Notably, despite hepatic fibrosis being the predominant element influencing stiffness of the liver, there are numerous factors that may



**Keywords:** Liver fibrosis; Elastography; Chronic hepatitis B; Chronic hepatitis C; Antiviral therapy.

Abbreviations: ALT, alanine aminotransferase; ARFI, acoustic radiation force impulse; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; AUCs, area under curves; AVT, antiviral therapy; CHB, chronic hepatitis B; CHC, chronic hepatitis C; FIB-4, fibrosis-4 score; GRE, gradient-recalled echo-based; ICC, intraclass correlation coefficient; LSM, liver stiffness measurement; MR, magnetic resonance; MRE, magnetic resonance elastography; pSWE, point shear-wave elastography; ROI, region of interest; SE-EPI, spin-echo-based echo-planar imaging; SVR, sustained virological response; 2D SWE, two-dimensional shear-wave elastography; US, ultrasound; VCTE, vibration controlled transient elastography.

Received: 18 April 2020; Revised: 23 July 2020; Accepted: 10 August 2020 \*Correspondence to: Bin Song, Department of Radiology, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, No. 37, Guoxue Alley, Chengdu, Sichuan 610041, China. Tel: +86-28-85423680, Fax: +86-28-85582499, E-mail: songlab\_radiology@163.com

exert an impact on liver stiffness, e.g. inflammation, blood flow, and portal pressure.<sup>17</sup> Therefore, interpretation of liver stiffness measurement (LSM) should take into account potential confounding factors. A comparison of quantitative elastography techniques is presented in Table 1.

## **Ultrasound elastography**

## VCTE

#### Principles

One-dimensional VCTE (Fibroscan; Echosens), introduced in France in 2003, is the first Food and Drug Administrationapproved elastography technique. For VCTE, three different probes are available, namely, a 3.5-MHz "M" probe (for standard examinations), a 2.5-MHz "XL" probe (for obese patients), and a 5.0-MHz "S" probe (for children). Using a US transducer probe, a low-frequency (50-Hz) mechanical impulse is transmitted to the skin surface, inducing an elastic shear wave that traverses the liver. A pulse echo measures the velocity of shear wave through the liver. Higher shear wave speed indicates greater liver fibrosis. Results are typically recorded as the Young' modulus (E, in kilopascals).<sup>15,16</sup>

#### Reliability and failure rate

In general, a valid estimation of VCTE encompasses the following three points: (a) at least 10 valid shots; (b) the success rate (number of valid shots of the total number of shots) greater than 60%; and, (c) the interquartile range-tomedian LSM ratio less than 30%.15 In a study of 13,369 patients with chronic liver diseases, the largest prospective study of VCTE to date, technical failure occurred in 3.1% of cases, whereas unreliable measurements were acquired in 15.8% of cases.<sup>18</sup> Obesity (body mass index >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and ascites are major factors contributing to failed measurements of VCTE.<sup>14</sup> In obese patients, low-frequency shear waves can be attenuated by the thickened body wall, resulting in a poor signal-to-noise ratio that influences the elasticity measurement algorithm. In these cases, hence, region of interest (ROI) requires being moved deeper below the skin surface so as to avoid fatty tissue. Additionally, in patients with ascites, low-frequency shear waves are unable to propagate through liquids, leading to failed LSM.<sup>16</sup>

#### Diagnostic performance for the staging of liver fibrosis

Previous meta-analyses have confirmed the excellent diagnostic performance of VCTE for the detection of cirrhosis (area under curves [AUCs], 0.92–0.96), superior to that for diagnosing significant liver fibrosis (AUCs, 0.83–0.88).<sup>19–27</sup> In a study of 916 patients with chronic viral hepatitis (567 CHB and 349 CHC), the accuracy of VCTE to predict significant fibrosis, advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis was 0.79, 0.86 and 0.90, respectively.<sup>28</sup> These results indicate that VCTE is more useful for ruling-out instead of ruling-in cirrhosis, with negative predictive value higher than 90%.<sup>14</sup> Considering the low cost and wide availability, VCTE can be used as a costeffective technique for liver fibrosis screening.

#### Longitudinal assessment of liver fibrosis after AVT

**Screening of advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis.** In contrast with the setting of treatment-naïve CHB and CHC populations, in whom the performance of VCTE for the staging of liver fibrosis has been widely validated,<sup>14,29</sup> data on the use of this method for screening of advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis after AVT are still lacking. According to the data available currently, VCTE has shown approximately good-to-excellent accuracy in diagnosing advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis after AVT, with AUCs of 0.78–0.94 for advanced fibrosis and of 0.86–0.92 for cirrhosis.<sup>30–33</sup> These findings are of clinical significance given that VCTE can be used as a reliable tool to identify patients who should be monitored for liver-related complications after sustained virological response (SVR). The best cutoff values of LSM, however, varied across published studies, which need to be further determined.

Monitoring of dynamic changes of liver stiffness measurement. It has been demonstrated that liver stiffness values decrease during ongoing AVT (Table 2).<sup>34-40</sup> However, it remains to be illuminated whether the improvement of liver stiffness after AVT indicates the regression of fibrosis or merely the alleviation of necroinflammation due to virus sup-pression or clearance.<sup>31,34</sup> As assumed by some researchers, it might reflect both necroinflammation alleviation and fibrosis regression, as supported by the findings that improvements of liver stiffness values were in concordance with that of biochemical markers and serum fibrosis scores, such as alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), gamma-glutamyl transferase, AST-platelet ratio index score, and fibrosis-4 (commonly known as FIB-4) score.<sup>34,35</sup> Furthermore, it was considered that the stiffness decline during AVT might be more a result of necroinflammation alleviation than a consequence of fibrosis regression, given that the regression of fibrosis is a relatively slower process as compared with the remission of inflammation.<sup>35</sup> To further clarify the clinical implication of the decrease in liver stiffness values, a rapid-to-slow pattern of LSM kinetics during 2-year AVT was proposed by a multicenter, randomized and controlled trial of 534 CHB patients, which may reflect a mixed remission of both necroinflammation and fibrosis during the initial 24 weeks and the regression of fibrosis during longterm AVT, particularly, following ALT normalization.<sup>11</sup> To be specific, from baseline to week 24 after the initiation of AVT, liver stiffness manifested as rapid decrease (-2.2 kPa/24 weeks) in parallel with ALT; intriguingly, from week 24 to week 104, liver stiffness displayed slow but persisting declination (-0.3 kPa/24 weeks), whereas ALT levels remained stable within the normal range.<sup>11</sup> In other words, significant correlation between the decline in ALT and LSM showed in the first 24 weeks but diminished thereafter. Similar findings were reported in another prospective study of 120 CHB patients, in which a rapid-to-slow pattern of LSM kinetics during 78 weeks of entecavir treatment was noted.31

**Predicting of fibrosis regression.** Correlations between dynamic changes in LSM and histologically-proven fibrosis regression have been assessed in a few studies (Table 3).<sup>11,30,31</sup> In a cohort of 112 HCV-infected liver transplantation recipients who achieved SVR after long-term AVT, a decrease of 50% in baseline LSM could correctly predict 55% of patients achieving fibrosis regression, with a positive predictive value of 78% and a negative predictive value of 44%. Moreover, baseline LSM seems to be useful to predict the possibilities of fibrosis regression after treatment. A LSM

Table 1. C	omparisor	ם of quantitative פ	lastography t	echniques <sup>14,15</sup>	5,29						
				Anatomic	ROI		Renorted	Major causes for failure	Accuracy		
Modality	Cost	Availability	Evidence	imaging	Size	Placement	parameter	of LSM	SF	AF	Cirrhosis
VCTE	Low	Widespread	+ + + +	None	$\sim$ 3 cm <sup>3</sup>	No image guidance	Young modulus (kPa)	Obesity; ascites	Good	Good to excellent	Excellent
pSWE	Low	Moderate	+ + + + +	Yes (B- mode US)	$\sim$ 1 cm <sup>3</sup>	US guidance	Wave speed (m/s) or Young modulus (kPa)	Obesity	Good	Excellent	Excellent
2D SWE	Low	Moderate	+ + + + +	Yes (B- mode US)	Flexible (≥20 cm³)	US guidance	Young modulus (kPa)	Obesity	Good to excellent	Excellent	Excellent
MRE	High	Limited	+	Yes (MRI)	≥250 cm <sup>3#</sup>	MRI guidance	Complex shear modulus (kPa)	Hepatic iron overload; large ascites; obesity*; 3 T (2D GRE)	Good to excellent	Excellent	Excellent
* Conflicting #Up to 1/3	results rej of the total	oorted regarding ma liver volume.	gnetic resonan	ice elastography	/ failure in patier.	nts with obesity;					
Abbreviatio MRI, magne	1s: 2D GRE itic resonar	<li>two-dimensional g nce imaging; pSWE,</li>	Iradient recallec point shear wa	d echo; 2D SWE we elastography	;, two-dimension y; ROI, region of	al shear wave ela interest; SF, sign	stography; AF, advanced ifficant fibrosis; US, ultra	fibrosis; LSM, liver stiffness measu sound; VCTE, vibration-controlled	urement; MRE, m transient elastog	agnetic resonanc Iraphy.	e elastography;

cutoff of 21 kPa can be used to accurately predict the probability of cirrhosis regression, with a regression rate of 23% and 57% for patients with baseline LSM  $\geq$ 21 kPa and <21 kPa, respectively (p=0.005).<sup>30</sup> Similar findings have been reported by other studies on CHB populations.<sup>11,31</sup> For instance, a decline of 40% in liver stiffness from baseline to week 78 has been suggested as a significant determinant of fibrosis regression in CHB patients after AVT, with an AUC of 0.69, a sensitivity of 69% and a specificity of 68%.<sup>31</sup> These promising results indicate that VCTE may be useful for predicting fibrosis regression after AVT. Likewise, further studies are warranted to standardize cutoff values in different etiologies.

#### Strengths and weaknesses

VCTE is a well validated technique with excellent repeatability and reproducibility, which has been widely used in clinical practice for its portability, cost-effectiveness and patient acceptance.<sup>14,29</sup> However, the application of VCTE is limited by the following: (a) the lack of gray-scale image guidance to determine the ROI placement; (b) the incapacity to identify and avoid large vessels and masses; (c) the difficulty of application in obese patients and the inability to be performed in patients with ascites; (d) the difficulty in imaging between narrow intercostal spaces; (e) the relatively high technical failure rate and limited precision; and, (f) the requirement for recalibration of the spring in the device every 6~12months.<sup>14,15,29</sup>

## **pSWE**

## Principles

Unlike VCTE, which adopts A-mode imaging, pSWE is incorporated into a standard B-mode US imaging that enables the operator to visualize the liver tissue and define the best area for reliable measurements. In pSWE, an acoustic radiation force impulse (ARFI) method is used to generate shear waves in a small ROI (~1 cm<sup>3</sup>) within the liver. Tracking US pulses are then used to measure the velocity of shear waves, which is proportional to the square root of the liver stiffness or elasticity. The "stiffness" values are reported as shear-wave speed (in m/s) or converted into Young's modulus (E, in kilopascals) by using the following mathematical equation: E =  $3\rho c^2$ , where c is the shear wave speed and  $\rho$  is the density of the tissue in homogeneous.<sup>14,29</sup>

## Reliability and failure rate

pSWE has shown excellent repeatability and reproducibility, with both reported intraobserver and interobserver intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) higher than 0.85.<sup>41,42</sup> The technique failure rate is low (1-2%).<sup>43</sup> Obesity is the main cause of failed or unreliable measurements of pSWE.<sup>14</sup> As mentioned previously, the low-frequency elastic waves can be attenuated by the fatty tissue, leading to a poor signal-to-noise ratio that influences the LSM.

## Diagnostic performance for the staging of liver fibrosis

pSWE performs well for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis stages (F3-4).<sup>29</sup> A meta-analysis comprising 21 studies with 2691 CHB or CHC patients reported the AUCs of pSWE for

	Predictors for improvement in LSM	AN	High PLT at baseline	Low ALT, low PLT count, diabetes**	NA	NA	NA	Baseline viral load	NA	AN	Higher inflammatory activity at baseline; fibrosis at fibrosis at baseline <sup>‡‡</sup>
	Biochemical or other markers	NA	AN	NA	AN	AST, ALT, GGT↓	NA	AST, ALT, PLT ↓	AST, ALT ↓	NA	NA
	Fibrosis markers	LSM values ↓ FIB-4, APRI ↓	LSM values ↓	LSM values ↓	LSM values	LSM values ↓	LSM values ↓ LFI ↓	LSM values ↓	LSM values↓ FIB-4, APRI ↓	LSM values ↓	LSM values ↓
	No. of patients	392	260	749	2934	294	26	58	165	87	176
	Etiology	НСИ	НС	HCV	НСV	HCV	НС	НС	НСИ	HCV	нсү
c changes of fibrosis after antiviral therap	Examination time	At baseline, within 18 months after therapy	At baseline, EOT, 24 weeks after EOT	At baseline, EOT, SVR12 <sup>†</sup>	At baseline, different timepoints after AVT depending on the included studies	At baseline, EOT, 1 and 2 years after EOT	At baseline, 2 years after treatment	At baseline, SVR24*	At baseline, EOT, week 24 and week 36	At baseline, EOT, 1 and 2 years after EOT	At baseline, EOT, 24 weeks after EOT
of dynamic cl	Method	VCTE	VCTE	VCTE	VCTE	VCTE	VCTE	VCTE pSWE	pSWE	pSWE	pSWE
raphy for monitoring	Study design	AN	Prospective	Prospective	Systematic review and meta-analysis	Prospective	NA	Prospective	Prospective	NA	Prospective
studies of elastog	Region	Switzerland	Germany	Italy	NSA	Italy	Japan	Egypt	Egypt	Japan	Japan
Table 2. Recent	Study	Bachofner <i>et al.</i> 2017 <sup>34</sup>	Knop <i>et al.</i> 2020 <sup>35</sup>	Persico <i>et al.</i> 2018 <sup>36</sup>	Singh et <i>al.</i> 2017 <sup>37</sup>	Stasi <i>et al.</i> 2020 <sup>38</sup>	Yada <i>et al.</i> 2014 <sup>39</sup>	Alem <i>et al.</i> 2018 <sup>40</sup>	Kohla <i>et al.</i> 2020 <sup>45</sup>	Osakabe <i>et al.</i> 2015 <sup>46</sup>	Tachi <i>et al.</i> 2018 <sup>47</sup>

(continued)

448

Table 2. (continu	( <i>p</i> ə.								
Study	Region	Study design	Method	Examination time	Etiology	No. of patients	Fibrosis markers	Biochemical or other markers	Predictors for improvement in LSM
Korda et <i>al.</i> 2019 <sup>64</sup>	Hungary	Prospective	2D SWE	At baseline, EOT	нсv	23	LSM values ↓ FIB-4, APRI ↓	AST, ALT, GGT ↓ INR ↑	NA
Tada <i>et al.</i> 2017 <sup>53</sup>	Japan	Retrospective	2D SWE	At baseline, EOT, SVR24*	НСЛ	210	LSM values ↓	ALT ↓	NA
Tada <i>et al.</i> 2018 <sup>60</sup>	Japan	Prospective	MRE	At baseline, SVR24*	НСV	198	LSM values ↓	PDFF values ↓	NA
*24 weeks after E 24 weeks atter E liver stiffness at tl Abbreviations: 2D 4, fibrosis-4 score resonance elastog	0T; <sup>1</sup> 12 weeks after Ed ne EOT; <sup>#*</sup> Significant SWE, two-dimension c; GGT, gamma-glutai raphy; NA, not availa	OT; **Low ALT, low plate fibrosis at baseline was al shear-wave elastogra myl transferase; HBV, f ible; PDFF, proton densi	elet count, diab : associated wit aphy; ALT, alani nepatitis B viru; ity fat fraction;	etes were inversely associated with the LSM ir th an improvement in liver stiffness at 24 wer ne aminotransferase; APRI, aspartate aminot s: HCV, hepatitis C virus; INN, international PLT, platelet; pSWE, point shear-wave elasto	improvement; *Hi eks after the EO1 transferase-plate normalized ratio ography; SVR, su	igher inflammatx T. !let ratio index; A '; LFI, liver fibro ıstained virologi	ory activity at ba ST, aspartate ar sis index; LSM, cal response.	seline was associatec ninotransferase; EOT liver stiffness measu	l with an improvement in , end-of-treatment; FIB- irement; MRE, magnetic

detecting significant fibrosis, advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis were 0.88, 0.94, and 0.91, respectively.<sup>44</sup> Therefore, pSWE is recommended for differentiating patients with advanced fibrosis to cirrhosis from those with no to minimal fibrosis.<sup>29,44</sup>

## Longitudinal assessment of liver fibrosis after antiviral treatment

pSWE represents a reliable and reproducible ARFI method for assessing liver fibrosis, however, available data on pSWE for fibrosis surveillance after AVT are still lacking. Similar to VCTE, significant decrease in LSM by pSWE after AVT have been reported, yet, merely in few CHC patients.<sup>40,45,46</sup> It was considered that reduction of pSWE values indicates not only the improvement of fibrosis but also the resolution of liver inflammation,<sup>40</sup> as an early decline in liver stiffness after SVR was associated with the grade of histological inflammation at baseline.47

## Strengths and weaknesses

As compared with VCTE, strengths of pSWE include the following: (a) it is incorporated into a standard B-mode US that can achieve the real-time imaging and guide the ROI placement; (b) large vessels and masses can be detected and avoided; (c) it allows for sampling at different segments of the liver; and, (d) ascites is not a limitation for pSWE, enabling its performance in decompensated liver cirrhosis for fibrosis assessment.<sup>29</sup>

Limitations of pSWE include the following: (a) difficulty in delineating intermediate fibrosis stages, owing to prominent overlap in shear wave speeds; (b) susceptibility to liver motion (e.g. deep breath or using the Valsalva maneuver) or physiologic motion (e.g. vascular pulsatility), which may influence the LSM; and, (c) measurement dependence upon the operator's expertise, necessitating operators being properly trained. 14,29,48

## **2D SWE**

## Principles

2D-SWE, similar to pSWE, induces shear waves by using the ARFI to deform hepatic tissues. Nevertheless, in contrast to pSWE, which emits a single push pulse to a focal point, 2D SWE generates shear waves at multiple points, producing a cone-shaped shear wave front. The shear wave propagation is tracked by conventional compressive US waves and depicted as a color-coded elasticity map - elastogram. Using the B-mode US image, a flexible ROI is delineated within the elastogram. The mean shear wave speed (in m/s) within the ROI is obtained from multiple measurements, which can be converted into the Young modulus and reported in kPa.14,29,48

## Reliability and failure rate

2D SWE has demonstrated excellent repeatability and reproducibility, with reported intraobserver ICC greater than 0.90 and interobserver ICC of 0.88.49 The failure rate of 2D SWE is low (~5%).<sup>50</sup> Failed measurement is predominantly attributed to obesity.<sup>14</sup> The mechanism underlying the relationship between high body mass index and failed LSM has been discussed.

							Fibrosis I	regression*	
Study	Region	Study design	Method	Examination time	Etiology	No. of patients	Rate % ( <i>n</i> /N)	Reference standard	Predictors
Liang <i>et al.</i> 2018 <sup>11</sup>	China	Prospective	VCTE	At baseline and every 24-28 weeks during follow-up of 104 weeks	HBV	534	60% (98/ 164)	LB (Ishak score)	Baseline Ishak score; percentage change of LSM values from baseline to week 52
Mauro <i>et al.</i> 2018 <sup>30</sup>	Spain	NA	VCTE	At baseline and 12 months post-SVR	HCV	112	67% (75/ 112)	LB (METAVIR system)	Baseline HVPG; LSM; decompensations at baseline
Wu <i>et al.</i> 2018 <sup>31</sup>	China	Prospective	VCTE	At baseline, 26 week, 52 week and 78 week of treatment	HBV	120	45% (54/ 120)	LB (METAVIR system)	Percentage decline of LSM values from baseline to week 52 and week 78

Table 3. Recent studies of elastography for the prediction of histologically-proven fibrosis regression after antiviral therapy

\*fibrosis regression was defined as  $\geq$  1 stage decrease in the METAVIR score or  $\geq$  1-point decrease in Ishak at follow-up biopsy score.

Abbreviations: HBV, hepatitis B virus; HCV, hepatitis C virus; HVPG, hepatic venous pressure gradient; LB, liver biopsy; LSM, liver stiffness measurement; NA, not available; SVR, sustained virological response; VCTE, vibration-controlled transient elastography.

#### Diagnostic performance for the staging of liver fibrosis

2D SWE has shown good-to-excellent performance for the diagnosis of significant fibrosis stages (F2-4). In a previous meta-analysis based on 13 studies with 2303 patients, the reported AUCs of 2D SWE for detecting significant fibrosis, advanced fibrosis, and cirrhosis were 0.87 (95% CI: 0.84–0.90), 0.93 (95% CI: 0.91–0.95), and 0.94 (95% CI: 0.92–0.96), respectively.<sup>51</sup> In addition, our recent meta-analysis involving 1977 CHB patients found AUC of 0.92 (95 % CI: 0.89–0.94) for detecting significant fibrosis.<sup>52</sup> Hence, diagnostic accuracy of 2D SWE for fibrosis assessment might be equivalent or possibly superior to that of VCTE or pSWE. However, further validations regarding the diagnostic performance of 2D SWE are warranted. In addition, thresholds for the staging of liver fibrosis remain to be established.

# Longitudinal assessment of liver fibrosis after antiviral treatment

2D SWE is a highly accurate ARFI method for fibrosis estimation in CHB and CHC populations; yet, it is less well investigated than either pSWE or VCTE.14 In a preliminary study of 210 hepatitis C virus-infected patients undergoing AVT, an early decline of LSM by 2D SWE occurred in those who achieved SVR, and a pronounced decrease in LSM was found particularly in those with progressive liver fibrosis.53 Evidence from this study indicates that the improvement of liver fibrosis may be a gradual process that initiated at the end of AVT. Concretely, it was considered that the significant decline of ALT levels from baseline to end-of-treatment was strongly correlated with improvement of liver stiffness. Intriguingly, despite ALT levels having decreased to low levels at both end-of-treatment and SVR at week 24, suggesting the remission of liver inflammation, hepatic stiffness decreased persistently and significantly from baseline to end-of-treatment and from end-of-treatment to SVR at week 24.53

#### Strengths and weaknesses

2D SWE, as a new US elastography technique, has the following strengths. First, 2D SWE incorporates conventional B-mode US image with colorized elastogram, which can provide real-time imaging and enables accurate ROI placement for high-quality measurements. In addition, under the guidance of B-mode US, 2D SWE can also be used to depict liver masses, estimate hepatic morphological alterations and monitor changes in blood flow. Similar to pSWE, 2D-SWE is insusceptible to ascites.<sup>29</sup>

2D SWE also has several limitations. Compared with VCTE and pSWE, the sampling time of 2D SWE may be extended since shear waves are slow-moving and 2D SWE makes more measurements over a larger tissue volume. Moreover, like pSWE, 2D SWE is susceptible to motion and therefore requires breath-holding. Additionally, LSM values of 2D SWE derived from different manufacturers are not directly comparable, which complicates the disease-tracking process if machines from different vendors were used. This is because not only tissue stiffness but the applied frequency of the shear waves would exert an influence on the inferred stiffness. On the assumption that all other parameters are equal, the LSM values are larger when the shear waves are employed at higher frequency. Furthermore, similar to pSWE, 2D SWE should be performed by trained sonographers since the technique is operator-dependent. 14,29,48

## MRE

#### Principles

MRE, approved by the Food and Drug Administration in 2009, is currently considered the most accurate noninvasive elastography technique for fibrosis assessment.<sup>48</sup> In general, during an MRE scan, 60 Hz (ranging from 20-200 Hz) mechanical vibrations generated by an active driver [located outside the MR scanner room] are transmitted via flexible

Wei H. et al: Elastography for liver fibrosis assessment

plastic tubing to a passive driver (placed on the patient's body wall), which then transmits the acoustic pressure into the liver as shear waves. The shear wave propagation is imaged by a MR phase-contrast sequence modified with motionencoding gradients. The common MRE sequences include the 2D gradient-recalled echo-based (GRE) sequence and 2D spin-echo-based echo-planar imaging (SE-EPI) sequence. Raw data on shear waves acquired from the MRE sequence are postprocessed by an automated inversion algorithm into a color-coded map of liver stiffness, known as an elastogram. Calculating liver stiffness from the elastogram requires delineating ROIs. During this process, anatomical regions that may disrupt the propagation of shear wave, such as lesions, large (>3 mm) vessels, edge artifact and fossae or fissures, need be avoided.<sup>29,48</sup>

## Reliability and failure rate

MRE can provide reliable examinations even in pediatric patients and in those with obesity or hepatic steatosis.<sup>14</sup> MRE has shown high repeatability and excellent reproducibility.<sup>54,55</sup> The technical failure rate of MRE is low. In a study of 1377 consecutive MRE examinations, technical failure occurred in 5.6% of cases when using a 2D GRE sequence.<sup>56</sup> The most frequent reason for failed measurement in MRE is hepatic iron deposition, which decreases the liver signal intensity and results in a poor signal-to-noise ratio that influences the elastographic calculation.<sup>56</sup>

## Diagnostic performance for the staging of liver fibrosis

MRE has shown good-to-excellent performance for the staging of liver fibrosis in chronic liver diseases. A metaanalysis comprising 12 studies (697 patients) with mixed chronic liver diseases reported AUCs of 2D MRE for detecting any fibrosis, significant fibrosis, advanced fibrosis, and cirrhosis were 0.84 (95% CI: 0.76-0.92), 0.88 (95% CI: 0.84-0.91), 0.93 (95% CI: 0.90-0.95), and 0.92 (95% CI: 0.90-0.94), respectively.<sup>57</sup> In addition, a recent meta-analysis based on 26 studies (3200 patients) with mixed chronic liver diseases found that there were no significant differences between the GRE sequence and SE-EPI sequence in terms of the pooled sensitivity and specificity for the staging of liver fibrosis; the reported AUCs of GRE-MRE and SE-EPI-MRE for diagnosing any fibrosis, significant fibrosis, advanced fibrosis, and cirrhosis were 0.93 vs. 0.94, 0.95 vs. 0.94, 0.94 vs. 0.95, and 0.92 vs. 0.93, respectively. $^{58}$  Similar diagnostic accuracy as that with 2D MRE and 3D MRE have been reported in a few prospective studies with mixed chronic liver diseases.54,59 Based on these observations, MRE is recommended for asymptomatic patients who may have mild fibrosis to accurately define fibrosis stages and guide therapeutic interventions. In addition, for symptomatic patients with advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis, MRE combined with routine magnetic resonance imaging scan can help to establish the fibrosis stages, assess morphologic alterations of the liver, and detect intraor extra-hepatic complications.

# Longitudinal assessment of liver fibrosis after antiviral treatment

Given its limited availability and recent clinical introduction, data on MRE for longitudinal assessment of fibrosis after AVT are scarce. In a prospective cohort of 198 CHC patients, liver stiffness values assessed by MRE significantly decreased from baseline to SVR at week 24.<sup>60</sup> Likewise, it was considered that the reduction of liver stiffness after SVR was associated with both fibrosis regression and inflammation remission, given that elevated ALT levels, corresponding to the presence of necroinflammation, also declined significantly from baseline to SVR at week 24.<sup>60</sup> MRE holds promise to illuminate the underlying mechanisms of liver stiffness improvement following AVT, as the use of MR T1 mapping of diffusion and perfusion may be able to differentiate a real fibrosis regression from a mere reduction of interstitial edema.<sup>34</sup>

## Strengths and weaknesses

Unlike US elastography with localized spot measurements at limited depth in the liver, MRE provides a quantitative map of tissue stiffness over a large area of coverage of the liver, which can produce a more reliable LSM and higher accuracy for fibrosis assessment. In addition, MRE is much less operator-dependent and has a lower technical failure rate than US elastography. More importantly, MRE can be incorporated into a routine abdominal magnetic resonance imaging scan protocol, providing a comprehensive estimation of the liver, such as evaluation of liver fat content, diagnosis of focal liver diseases, and detection of complications of cirrhosis, like hepatocellular carcinoma, splenomegaly, varices, and ascites.<sup>61</sup>

Despite these advantages, MRE also has several limitations. First, the presence of hepatic iron overload and motion artifacts result in failed examinations. In addition, a minority of patients cannot tolerate MR examinations, owing to claustrophobia. Moreover, MRE might be contraindicated in patients with incompatible implantable devices, or those who cannot fit into the MR scanner bore.<sup>14,29</sup> Finally, MRE is costlier and less available compared with US elastography,<sup>14</sup> which may limit its clinical use to a certain extent.

## **Current challenges and future directions**

To date, available data on the use of elastography-based methods, particularly of MRE or AFRI methods, for longitudinal assessment of liver fibrosis after AVT are limited. However, it is apparent that only when sufficient evidence has been obtained to validate these novel techniques will they be recommended for monitoring strategies. Moreover, prospective studies comparing the performance of MRE and US elastography for fibrosis evaluation in patients with AVT, particularly for detecting those with advanced fibrosis after SVR, are warranted.

It is still controversial whether a decline in LSM after AVT reflects a real regression of fibrosis, or merely a resolution of hepatic necroinflammation due to virus eradication, or mixed remission of both fibrosis and inflammation. Therefore, robust evidence remains to be provided that will elucidate the correlation of a decline in liver stiffness values with histological changes after SVR.

Despite emerging lines of evidences showing the potential of changes in LSM for the prediction of histological fibrosis regression after long-term AVT,<sup>11,30,31</sup> further validations in different populations are required. More importantly, standardization of cutoff values for these promising biomarkers is urgently needed.

It is clear that liver stiffness is an "indirect" marker of fibrosis; thus, LSM may not be sensitive enough to monitor

subtle changes in fibrosis after AVT or antifibrotic treatment. Recently, molecular imaging probes targeting fibrosis-specific cells or molecules (e.g. hepatic stellate cells, collagen and elastin) might become novel, noninvasive, promising biomarkers for fibrosis.<sup>62,63</sup> These "direct" markers hold promise for a reliable assessment of fibrosis and monitoring of its dynamics during a long-term follow-up period, which can be used to predict the antifibrotic potential of new drugs and to select responders to antifibrotic therapies. These molecular markers could serve as a complementary method to elastography in the future. The combination of these techniques may produce increased accuracy for fibrosis evaluation.

#### Conclusions

Liver fibrosis is a dynamic process with potential for regression if the underlying causes of chronic liver injury are removed. Fibrosis regression can be achieved after longterm AVT. Monitoring of dynamic changes in liver fibrosis after AVT is of strategic importance for the prediction of prognosis and the surveillance of liver-related events. Routine surveillance of liver fibrosis after AVT by liver biopsy, the gold standard for fibrosis assessment, is hindered by its invasive nature, sampling error, and observer variability. Elastography represents an noninvasive alternative that has been widely used and validated for fibrosis assessment prior to treatment. Emerging evidence indicates that quantitative elastography methods can be used to monitor fibrosis status after longterm AVT, with great potential for screening advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis, monitoring dynamic changes in LSM and predicting histologically-proven fibrosis regression. Future research on elastography is required to elucidate the correlations between liver stiffness improvement and histological changes after AVT, to standardize the cutoffs for both screening and predicting strategies, and to develop noninvasive molecular markers as complementary tools to LSM.

### Funding

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81771797) and the 1.3.5 project for disciplines of excellence, West China Hospital, Sichuan University (Grant No. ZYJC18008).

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Study concept and design (BS), literature research (HW), drafting of the manuscript (HW), critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content (BS, HW), and approval of final version of submitted manuscript (BS, HW).

#### References

 Terrault NA, Lok ASF, McMahon BJ, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, et al. Update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of chronic hepatitis B: AASLD 2018 hepatitis B guidance. Hepatology 2018;67:1560–1599. doi: 10.1002/hep.29800.

## Wei H. et al: Elastography for liver fibrosis assessment

- [2] El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology 2012;142:1264–1273.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.12. 061.
- [3] Schuppan D, Kim YO. Evolving therapies for liver fibrosis. J Clin Invest 2013; 123:1887–1901. doi: 10.1172/JCI66028.
- [4] Lee YA, Wallace MC, Friedman SL. Pathobiology of liver fibrosis: a translational success story. Gut 2015;64:830–841. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-306842.
- [5] Bataller R, Brenner DA. Liver fibrosis. J Clin Invest 2005;115:209–218. doi: 10.1172/JCI24282.
- [6] Marcellin P, Gane E, Buti M, Afdhal N, Sievert W, Jacobson IM, et al. Regression of cirrhosis during treatment with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate for chronic hepatitis B: a 5-year open-label follow-up study. Lancet 2013;381: 468–475. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61425-1.
- [7] Schiff ER, Lee SS, Chao YC, Kew Yoon S, Bessone F, Wu SS, *et al*. Long-term treatment with entecavir induces reversal of advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011;9:274– 276. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.11.040.
- [8] D'Ambrosio R, Aghemo A, Rumi MG, Ronchi G, Donato MF, Paradis V, et al. A morphometric and immunohistochemical study to assess the benefit of a sustained virological response in hepatitis C virus patients with cirrhosis. Hepatology 2012;56:532–543. doi: 10.1002/hep.25606.
- [9] Mallet V, Gilgenkrantz H, Serpaggi J, Verkarre V, Vallet-Pichard A, Fontaine H, et al. Brief communication: the relationship of regression of cirrhosis to outcome in chronic hepatitis C. Ann Intern Med 2008;149:399–403. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-149-6-200809160-00006.
- [10] Schuppan D, Surabattula R, Wang XY. Determinants of fibrosis progression and regression in NASH. J Hepatol 2018;68:238–250. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2017.11.012.
- [11] Liang X, Xie Q, Tan D, Ning Q, Niu J, Bai X, et al. Interpretation of liver stiffness measurement-based approach for the monitoring of hepatitis B patients with antiviral therapy: A 2-year prospective study. J Viral Hepat 2018;25: 296–305. doi: 10.1111/jvh.12814.
- [12] Rockey DC, Caldwell SH, Goodman ZD, Nelson RC, Smith AD. Liver biopsy. Hepatology 2009;49:1017–1044. doi: 10.1002/hep.22742.
- [13] Rousselet MC, Michalak S, Dupré F, Croué A, Bedossa P, Saint-André JP, et al. Sources of variability in histological scoring of chronic viral hepatitis. Hepatology 2005;41:257–264. doi: 10.1002/hep.20535.
- [14] Kennedy P, Wagner M, Castéra L, Hong CW, Johnson CL, Sirlin CB, et al. Quantitative elastography methods in liver disease: Current evidence and future directions. Radiology 2018;286:738–763. doi: 10.1148/radiol. 2018170601.
- [15] Barr RG, Ferraioli G, Palmeri ML, Goodman ZD, Garcia-Tsao G, Rubin J, et al. Elastography assessment of liver fibrosis: Society of radiologists in ultrasound consensus conference statement. Radiology 2015;276:845–861. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2015150619.
- [16] Sandrin L, Fourquet B, Hasquenoph JM, Yon S, Fournier C, Mal F, et al. Transient elastography: a new noninvasive method for assessment of hepatic fibrosis. Ultrasound Med Biol 2003;29:1705–1713. doi: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2003.07.001.
- [17] Mueller S, Sandrin L. Liver stiffness: a novel parameter for the diagnosis of liver disease. Hepat Med 2010;2:49–67. doi: 10.2147/hmer.s7394.
- [18] Castéra L, Foucher J, Bernard PH, Carvalho F, Allaix D, Merrouche W, et al. Pitfalls of liver stiffness measurement: a 5-year prospective study of 13,369 examinations. Hepatology 2010;51:828–835. doi: 10.1002/hep.23425.
- [19] Qi X, An M, Wu T, Jiang D, Peng M, Wang W, et al. Transient elastography for significant liver fibrosis and cirrhosis in chronic hepatitis B: A meta-analysis. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;2018:3406789. doi: 10. 1155/2018/3406789.
- [20] Njei B, McCarty TR, Luk J, Ewelukwa O, Ditah I, Lim JK. Use of transient elastography in patients with HIV-HCV coinfection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016;31:1684–1693. doi: 10. 1111/jgh.13337.
- [21] Li Y, Huang YS, Wang ZZ, Yang ZR, Sun F, Zhan SY, et al. Systematic review with meta-analysis: the diagnostic accuracy of transient elastography for the staging of liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2016;43:458–469. doi: 10.1111/apt.13488.
- [22] Chon YE, Choi EH, Song KJ, Park JY, Kim DY, Han KH, et al. Performance of transient elastography for the staging of liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis B: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2012;7:e44930. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0044930.
- [23] Tsochatzis EA, Gurusamy KS, Ntaoula S, Cholongitas E, Davidson BR, Burroughs AK. Elastography for the diagnosis of severity of fibrosis in chronic liver disease: a meta-analysis of diagnostic accuracy. J Hepatol 2011;54: 650–659. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.07.033.
- [24] Stebbing J, Farouk L, Panos G, Anderson M, Jiao LR, Mandalia S, et al. A meta-analysis of transient elastography for the detection of hepatic fibrosis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2010;44:214–219. doi: 10.1097/MCG. 0b013e3181b4af1f.

#### Wei H. et al: Elastography for liver fibrosis assessment

- [25] Friedrich-Rust M, Ong MF, Martens S, Sarrazin C, Bojunga J, Zeuzem S, et al. Performance of transient elastography for the staging of liver fibrosis: a meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 2008;134:960–974. doi: 10.1053/j. gastro.2008.01.034.
- [26] Talwalkar JA, Kurtz DM, Schoenleber SJ, West CP, Montori VM. Ultrasoundbased transient elastography for the detection of hepatic fibrosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007;5:1214–1220. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2007.07.020.
- [27] Shaheen AA, Wan AF, Myers RP. FibroTest and FibroScan for the prediction of hepatitis C-related fibrosis: a systematic review of diagnostic test accuracy. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:2589–2600. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01466.x.
- [28] Seo YS, Kim MY, Kim SU, Hyun BS, Jang JY, Lee JW, et al. Accuracy of transient elastography in assessing liver fibrosis in chronic viral hepatitis: A multicentre, retrospective study. Liver Int 2015;35:2246–2255. doi: 10. 1111/liv.12808.
- [29] Zhang YN, Fowler KJ, Ozturk A, Potu CK, Louie AL, Montes V, et al. Liver fibrosis imaging: A clinical review of ultrasound and magnetic resonance elastography. J Magn Reson Imaging 2020;51:25–42. doi: 10.1002/jmri.26716.
- [30] Mauro E, Crespo G, Montironi C, Londoño MC, Hernández-Gea V, Ruiz P, et al. Portal pressure and liver stiffness measurements in the prediction of fibrosis regression after sustained virological response in recurrent hepatitis C. Hepatology 2018;67:1683–1694. doi: 10.1002/hep.29557.
- [31] Wu SD, Liu LL, Cheng JL, Liu Y, Cheng LS, Wang SQ, et al. Longitudinal monitoring of liver fibrosis status by transient elastography in chronic hepatitis B patients during long-term entecavir treatment. Clin Exp Med 2018; 18:433–443. doi: 10.1007/s10238-018-0501-x.
- [32] Huang R, Rao H, Yang M, Gao Y, Wang J, Jin Q, et al. Noninvasive measurements predict liver fibrosis well in hepatitis C virus patients after directacting antiviral therapy. Dig Dis Sci 2020;65:1491–1500. doi: 10. 1007/s10620-019-05886-y.
- [33] Wong GL, Wong VW, Choi PC, Chan AW, Chim AM, Yiu KK, et al. On-treatment monitoring of liver fibrosis with transient elastography in chronic hepatitis B patients. Antivir Ther 2011;16:165–172. doi: 10.3851/IMP1726.
- [34] Bachofner JA, Valli PV, Kröger A, Bergamin I, Künzler P, Baserga A, et al. Direct antiviral agent treatment of chronic hepatitis C results in rapid regression of transient elastography and fibrosis markers fibrosis-4 score and aspartate aminotransferase-platelet ratio index. Liver Int 2017;37:369– 376. doi: 10.1111/liv.13256.
- [35] Knop V, Mauss S, Goeser T, Geier A, Zimmermann T, Herzer K, et al. Dynamics of liver stiffness by transient elastography in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection receiving direct-acting antiviral therapy-Results from the German Hepatitis C-Registry. J Viral Hepat 2020;27:690–698. doi: 10. 1111/jvh.13280.
- [36] Persico M, Rosato V, Aglitti A, Precone D, Corrado M, De Luna A, et al. Sustained virological response by direct antiviral agents in HCV leads to an early and significant improvement of liver fibrosis. Antivir Ther 2018;23:129–138. doi: 10.3851/IMP3186.
- [37] Singh S, Facciorusso A, Loomba R, Falck-Ytter YT. Magnitude and kinetics of decrease in liver stiffness after antiviral therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis C: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;16:27–38.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.04.038.
- [38] Stasi C, Sadalla S, Carradori E, Monti M, Petraccia L, Madia F, et al. Longitudinal evaluation of liver stiffness and outcomes in patients with chronic hepatitis C before and after short- and long-term IFN-free antiviral treatment. Curr Med Res Opin 2020;36:245–249. doi: 10.1080/03007995.2019.1691517.
- [39] Yada N, Sakurai T, Minami T, Arizumi T, Takita M, Inoue T, et al. Ultrasound elastography correlates treatment response by antiviral therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Oncology 2014;87 Suppl 1:118–123. doi: 10. 1159/000368155.
- [40] Alem SA, Said M, Anwar I, Abdellatif Z, Elbaz T, Eletreby R, et al. Improvement of liver stiffness measurement, acoustic radiation force impulse measurements, and noninvasive fibrosis markers after direct-acting antivirals for hepatitis C virus G4 recurrence post living donor liver transplantation: Egyptian cohort. J Med Virol 2018;90:1508–1515. doi: 10.1002/imv.25210.
- [41] Han A, Labyed Y, Sy EZ, Boehringer AS, Andre MP, Erdman JW Jr, et al. Intersonographer reproducibility of quantitative ultrasound outcomes and shear wave speed measured in the right lobe of the liver in adults with known or suspected non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Eur Radiol 2018;28:4992–5000. doi: 10.1007/s00330-018-5541-9.
- [42] Balakrishnan M, Souza F, Muñoz C, Augustin S, Loo N, Deng Y, et al. Liver and spleen stiffness measurements by point shear wave elastography via acoustic radiation force impulse: Intraobserver and interobserver variability and predictors of variability in a US population. J Ultrasound Med 2016;35:2373– 2380. doi: 10.7863/ultra.15.10056.
- [43] Ferraioli G, Tinelli C, Lissandrin R, Zicchetti M, Bernuzzi S, Salvaneschi L, et al. Ultrasound point shear wave elastography assessment of liver and spleen stiffness: effect of training on repeatability of measurements. Eur Radiol 2014;24:1283–1289. doi: 10.1007/s00330-014-3140-y.
- [44] Hu X, Qiu L, Liu D, Qian L. Acoustic Radiation Force Impulse (ARFI) Elastography for non-invasive evaluation of hepatic fibrosis in chronic hepatitis B

and C patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Med Ultrason 2017; 19:23–31. doi: 10.11152/mu-942.

- [45] Kohla MAS, Fayoumi AE, Akl M, Abdelkareem M, Elsakhawy M, Waheed S, et al. Early fibrosis regression by shear wave elastography after successful direct-acting anti-HCV therapy. Clin Exp Med 2020;20:143–148. doi: 10. 1007/s10238-019-00597-0.
- [46] Osakabe K, Ichino N, Nishikawa T, Sugiyama H, Kato M, Shibata A, et al. Changes of shear-wave velocity by interferon-based therapy in chronic hepatitis C. World J Gastroenterol 2015;21:10215–10223. doi: 10.3748/wjg. v21.i35.10215.
- [47] Tachi Y, Hirai T, Kojima Y, Ishizu Y, Honda T, Kuzuya T, et al. Liver stiffness reduction correlates with histological characteristics of hepatitis C patients with sustained virological response. Liver Int 2018;38:59–67. doi: 10. 1111/liv.13486.
- [48] Srinivasa Babu A, Wells ML, Teytelboym OM, Mackey JE, Miller FH, Yeh BM, et al. Elastography in chronic liver disease: Modalities, techniques, limitations, and future directions. Radiographics 2016;36:1987–2006. doi: 10.1148/rg. 2016160042.
- [49] Ferraioli G, Tinelli C, Zicchetti M, Above E, Poma G, Di Gregorio M, et al. Reproducibility of real-time shear wave elastography in the evaluation of liver elasticity. Eur J Radiol 2012;81:3102–3106. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad. 2012.05.030.
- [50] Woo H, Lee JY, Yoon JH, Kim W, Cho B, Choi BI. Comparison of the reliability of acoustic radiation force impulse imaging and supersonic shear imaging in measurement of liver stiffness. Radiology 2015;277:881–886. doi: 10. 1148/radiol.2015141975.
- [51] Jiang T, Tian G, Zhao Q, Kong D, Cheng C, Zhong L, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of 2D-shear wave elastography for liver fibrosis severity: A meta-analysis. PLoS One 2016;11:e0157219. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157219.
- [52] Wei H, Jiang HY, Li M, Zhang T, Song B. Two-dimensional shear wave elastography for significant liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis B: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Radiol 2020;124:108839. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2020.108839.
- [53] Tada T, Kumada T, Toyoda H, Mizuno K, Sone Y, Kataoka S, et al. Improvement of liver stiffness in patients with hepatitis C virus infection who received direct-acting antiviral therapy and achieved sustained virological response. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017;32:1982–1988. doi: 10.1111/jgh.13788.
- [54] Shi Y, Xia F, Li QJ, Li JH, Yu B, Li Y, et al. Magnetic resonance elastography for the evaluation of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis B and C by using both gradient-recalled echo and spin-echo echo planar imaging: A prospective study. Am J Gastroenterol 2016;111:823–833. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2016.56.
- [55] Hoodeshenas S, Yin M, Venkatesh SK. Magnetic resonance elastography of liver: Current update. Top Magn Reson Imaging 2018;27:319–333. doi: 10. 1097/RMR.00000000000177.
- [56] Yin M, Glaser KJ, Talwalkar JA, Chen J, Manduca A, Ehman RL. Hepatic MR elastography: Clinical performance in a series of 1377 consecutive examinations. Radiology 2016;278:114–124. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2015142141.
- [57] Singh S, Venkatesh SK, Wang Z, Miller FH, Motosugi U, Low RN, et al. Diagnostic performance of magnetic resonance elastography in staging liver fibrosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;13:440–451.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014. 09.046.
- [58] Kim YS, Jang YN, Song JS. Comparison of gradient-recalled echo and spin-echo echo-planar imaging MR elastography in staging liver fibrosis: a meta-analysis. Eur Radiol 2018;28:1709–1718. doi: 10.1007/s00330-017-5149-5.
- [59] Morisaka H, Motosugi U, Glaser KJ, Ichikawa S, Ehman RL, Sano K, et al. Comparison of diagnostic accuracies of two- and three-dimensional MR elastography of the liver. J Magn Reson Imaging 2017;45:1163–1170. doi: 10. 1002/jmri.25425.
- [60] Tada T, Kumada T, Toyoda H, Sone Y, Takeshima K, Ogawa S, et al. Viral eradication reduces both liver stiffness and steatosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection who received direct-acting anti-viral therapy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018;47:1012–1022. doi: 10.1111/apt. 14554.
- [61] Venkatesh SK, Yin M, Ehman RL. Magnetic resonance elastography of liver: technique, analysis, and clinical applications. J Magn Reson Imaging 2013; 37:544–555. doi: 10.1002/jmri.23731.
- [62] Ehling J, Bartneck M, Fech V, Butzbach B, Cesati R, Botnar R, et al. Elastinbased molecular MRI of liver fibrosis. Hepatology 2013;58:1517–1518. doi: 10.1002/hep.26326.
- [63] Zhu B, Wei L, Rotile N, Day H, Rietz T, Farrar CT, et al. Combined magnetic resonance elastography and collagen molecular magnetic resonance imaging accurately stage liver fibrosis in a rat model. Hepatology 2017;65: 1015–1025. doi: 10.1002/hep.28930.
- [64] Korda D, Lenard ZM, Gerlei Z, Jakab Z, Haboub-Sandil A, Wagner L, et al. Shear-wave elastography for the assessment of liver fibrosis in liver transplant recipients treated for hepatitis C virus recurrence. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;30:27–32. doi: 10.1097/MEG.0000000000001003.



## Chronic Liver Disease and Silymarin: A Biochemical and Clinical Review

Sean P. Tighe<sup>1</sup>, Daud Akhtar<sup>2</sup>, Umair Iqbal\*<sup>3</sup> and Aijaz Ahmed<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Department of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada; <sup>3</sup>Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Geisinger Commonwealth School of Medicine, Danville, PA, USA; <sup>4</sup>Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA

## Abstract

Chronic liver disease (CLD) is an under-recognized epidemic that continues to increase in prevalence and is a major health concern. Silymarin, the active compound of Silybum marianum (Milk thistle), has historically been used in CLD. A significant barrier to silymarin use is its poor bioavailability. Attempts at improving the bioavailability of silymarin have led to a better understanding of formulation methods, pharmacokinetics, dosing, and associated drug interactions. Clinically, silymarin exerts its hepatoprotective effects through antioxidative, antifibrotic, anti-inflammatory, antitoxin, and anticancerous mechanisms of actions. Despite the use of silymarin being extensively studied in alcoholic liver disease, metabolic-associated fatty liver disease, viral hepatitis, and drug-induced liver injury, the overall efficacy of silymarin remains unclear and more research is warranted to better elucidate the role of silymarin in CLD, specifically regarding its anti-inflammatory effects. Here, we review the current biochemical and clinical evidence regarding silymarin in CLD.

**Citation of this article:** Tighe SP, Akhtar D, Iqbal U, Ahmed A. Chronic liver disease and silymarin: A biochemical and clinical review. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):454–458. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00012.

## Introduction

Over the last decade, there has been a significant increase in the burden of chronic liver disease (CLD) due to the growing prevalence of metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD), with CLD now a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide.<sup>1</sup> The increasing numbers of patients at risk for cirrhosis and in need of liver transplantation have become important economic and health concerns, with studies showing hospitalizations due to CLD having doubled in number over the last decade.<sup>2,3</sup> Therefore, there is a need for affordable and effective treatment modalities to reduce the morbidity and mortality associated with CLD.<sup>4</sup> Certain medicinal plants, such as *Silybum marianum*, more commonly known as milk thistle, have historically been used for the treatment and prevention of liver disorders. Specifically, silymarin has shown promising protective effects in preclinical studies using a number of formulations, including Legalon which contains the Eurosil 85 formulation.<sup>5–8</sup> The aim of this article is elaborate on the biochemistry of silymarin pertaining to its formulation, pharmacokinetics, dosing, drug interactions, mechanism of action, while also reviewing the current evidence of silymarin use in chronic liver disease.

#### **Biochemistry**

#### Formulation

Silymarin is a complex mixture that includes an array of different flavonolignan isomers. Silybin, one of these isomers, composes up to 50% of the silymarin mixture and plays an important role in the antioxidative effects of silymarin. These antioxidant effects are a result of silybin diastereomers that undergo biotransformation, leading to the formation of glucuronide derivatives (Fig. 1).<sup>9</sup>

A significant barrier to the clinical use of silymarin is its poor bioavailability, due to its lipophilic nature, and subsequent poor solubility.<sup>9</sup> Attempts at improving the solubility of silymarin formulations has led to the development of many different commercially tested forms of silymarin, which differ in their composition of silybin. Moreover, approximately 75 silymarin brands have been developed in various dosage forms, such as tablets like Carsil, syrups like Alrin-B, and capsules like



Fig. 1. Chemical structure of silybin.

**Keywords:** Silymarin; Chronic liver disease; *Silybum marianum*; MAFLD; ALD; Pharmacokinetics.

**Abbreviations:** ALD, alcoholic liver disease; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; CLD, chronic liver disease; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HCV, hepatitis C virus; MAFLD, metabolic-associated fatty liver disease; RCT, randomized control trials.

Received: 27 February 2020; Revised: 20 May 2020; Accepted: 8 September 2020

<sup>\*</sup>Correspondence to: Umair Iqbal, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Geisinger Commonwealth School of Medicine, Danville, PA 17821, USA. Tel: +1-570-271-6211, E-mail: uiqbal@geisinger.edu

Tighe S.P. et al: Silymarin in chronic liver disease

Legalon.<sup>9</sup> Legalon contains Eurosil 85<sup>o</sup>, which is a standardized preparation method that contains 60% of silybin and has been used in studies examining the effects of silymarin.

Despite standardized preparation methods, the bioavailability of silymarin can further be affected by genetic polymorphisms and the presence of liver disease. Specifically, the plasma half-life of silvbin, the bioactive component in silvmarin formulations, is 6 hours, while peak plasma concentrations are usually reached 2-4 hours after administration. Genetic polymorphisms, such as ABCB1 C3435T, however, can affect silybin bioavailability, with one study in healthy patients illustrating varying peak and half times for oral doses of 80 mg of silvbin equivalents when compared to plain silymarin capsules.<sup>10</sup> In addition to genetic polymorphisms, the bioavailability of silymarin can also be significantly affected by the presence of liver disease due to alterations in liver metabolism. Studies have also shown that the effectiveness of silymarin varies between MAFLD and hepatitis C virus (HCV)infected patients. This is a result of higher flavonolignan plasma concentrations and more extensive enterohepatic cycling.11

## Dosing

Presently, silymarin is available in a variety of different forms, including capsules and tablets of different strength, with a recommended daily dosage between 420 mg to 600 mg. Clinical studies have been conducted with varying doses, ranging as low as 80 mg and as high as 1600 mg. One study tested various amounts (160, 240, and 360 mg/day) and found statistically significant decreases in liver enzymes in the 240 and 360 mg/ day groups in patients with alcoholic liver disease (ALD) and chronic viral hepatitis.<sup>12</sup> Another study on HCV-decompensated cirrhotic patients concluded that higher doses of silymarin (1.05 g/day) is superior to a standard dose (420 mg/day).<sup>13</sup> Although the data from some studies point towards a link between higher concentrations of silymarin and better treatment results and patient outcomes, certain patient populations, such as those with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), have not shown the same signal.<sup>14</sup> Dosage adjustments may, therefore, be necessary to exert a similar effect in patients with liver disease.

## Drug interactions

The drug interaction profile of silymarin has been studied extensively both in laboratory/animal models and clinical trials.<sup>15,16</sup> Studies with human hepatocytes demonstrate negligible inhibition of CYP450 enzymes at supratherapeutic silymarin concentrations, suggesting that at therapeutic doses silymarin is unlikely to cause hepatocyte related drug-drug interactions.<sup>15</sup> Silymarin may be indirectly implicated in this reduction, as an additive effect secondary to interactions with antihyperglycemic agents. Furthermore, studies have shown that silymarin can theoretically interfere and effect the clearance of other drugs, such as statins, glucorinidated drugs, and immunosuppressants, such as sirolimus.

## **Mechanism of action**

The hepatoprotective effects of silymarin are due to its antioxidative, antifibrotic, regenerative, choleretic, immuno-modulatory, and anti-inflammatory properties, as illustrated in Fig.  $2.^{17}$ 



Fig. 2. Hepatoprotective mechanisms of action of silymarin.

#### Antioxidative effect

The antioxidant properties of silymarin arise from its ability to utilize scavengers, allowing for the elimination of free radicals. Silymarin's antioxidant activities have different potential mechanisms. These include the inhibition of reactive oxygen speciesproducing enzymes that prevent free radical formation, scavenging of said free radicals, intestinal ion chelation, promoting protective molecule synthesis, and antioxidant enzyme activation.<sup>18</sup> The antioxidant properties of silvmarin have been demonstrated to restore NAD+ homeostasis, sirtuin 1 activity, and the AMP-activated protein kinase  $\alpha$  pathway to improve poly-(ADP-ribose)-polymerase function (all-important regulatory pathways linked with oxidative stress).<sup>19</sup> Furthermore, the antioxidant capabilities of silymarin improve the hepatic lipid homeostasis by decreasing de novo lipogenesis via the downregulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma_r$ acetyl-CoA carboxylase, and fatty acid synthase.<sup>19–22</sup>

## Antifibrotic effect

The antifibrotic activity of silymarin is primarily due to its ability to inhibit the conversion of hepatic stellate cells into myofibroblasts through the inhibition of fibrogenic pathways, such as those implicated in cytoskeletal formation, profibrogenic collagen, and electron transfer chains. Specifically, silymarin down-regulates TGF-B1 mRNA, inhibits NF-kB, and prevents the stimulation of hepatic stellate cells. These findings are supported by studies in animal models, whereby silymarin was shown to slow down the progression of early fibrosis.<sup>23,24</sup>

## Anti-inflammatory effect

The immunomodulatory activity of silymarin exerts an antiinflammatory effect by preventing the activation of the inflammasomes, and NF- $\kappa$ B, which are important in regulating the immune response in inflammatory states.<sup>17</sup> Silymarin can also restore a pathway known as insulin receptor substrate-1/PI3K/Akt, which can reduce MAFLD-induced insulin resistance and steatosis, as well as activate the farnesyl X receptor, which in turn can diminish hepatic inflammation.<sup>20,25,26</sup> Silymarin's anti-inflammatory and antioxidant capabilities have also been shown to reduce virus-related damage to the liver in chronic HCV infection.<sup>27</sup>

## Antitoxin effect

In cases of drug/toxin-related hepatic injury, the primary mechanisms by which silymarin protects against further damage is through the regulation of membrane permeability and the competitive inhibition of toxins at specific binding sites. This prevents the absorption of these harmful substances, particularly in the hepatic phalloidin-transporting system.<sup>28,29</sup>

#### Anticancerous effect

Silymarin also demonstrates anticancerous effects believed to be linked to the inhibition of oxidative stress, promotion of apoptosis, cell cycle arresting, and mitochondrial pathway inhibition.<sup>14</sup> *In vitro* and *in vivo* assays, as well as animal models with HCC treated with silymarin, have showcased the antitumoral effects at varying stages of hepatocarcinogenesis (initiation, promotion, and progression).<sup>17</sup> Silymarin's ability to aid in hepatic regeneration is also an important characteristic that makes it well suited as a potential therapy in patients with CLD. Specifically, there is an association with ribosomal RNA synthesis, possibly through the stimulation of polymerase I.<sup>17</sup>

## **Current evidence of silymarin in CLD**

The clinical applications of silymarin encompass a broad range of CLD. These include ALD, MAFLD, drug-and toxininduced liver disease, cholestasis (both pregnancy and nonpregnancy related), primary liver malignancies (including both cholangiocarcinoma and HCC), and viral hepatitis.<sup>17</sup>

## ALD

Alcohol is a key risk factor for liver diseases and is responsible for about half of all liver-related cirrhosis. Significant alcohol consumption initially leads to a fatty liver, which can progress to cirrhosis.<sup>30</sup> The use of silymarin in ALD is limited, due to the poor design of initial studies. A recent systematic review assessing the role of silymarin in patients with ALD suggested that better clinical trials are indicated in order to determine whether or not there is a role for silymarin in ALD management.<sup>31</sup>

## MAFLD

On the contrary, the use of silymarin for MAFLD, appears to better supported with multiple randomized control trials (commonly referred to as RCTs) showing benefit from silymarin use.<sup>32</sup> MAFLD is a clinical spectrum that can manifest with hepatic fibrosis and inflammation. This is due to the associations between MAFLD and the aforementioned, "anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, antifibrotic, and proregenerative effects of silymarin, in conjunction with its metabolic actions on insulin resistance and hyperlipidemia".<sup>17,33,34</sup> With a recent meta-analysis involving 587 patients suggesting an improvement in liver function in patients with MAFLD, the use of silymarin for the treatment of MAFLD is promising but still requires further analysis with larger standardized RCTs.<sup>32</sup>

#### Viral hepatitis

The advent of antiviral therapy has dramatically changed the landscape of viral hepatitis management. Despite this, high treatment costs and issues with accessibility has created a possible niche for other treatment modalities, such as silymarin. Unfortunately, the efficacy of silymarin when compared to placebo in a well-designed double-blinded trial by Fried *et al.*<sup>35</sup> did not significantly reduce serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels. A systematic meta-analysis further demonstrated slightly reduced ALT and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels in HCV patients taking silymarin, but these effects were proven to be too variable to provide any concrete clinical significance.<sup>36</sup>

## Drug-induced liver injury

Drug- and toxin-induced liver injury can result from harmful increases in oxidative stress from exposure to various chemicals.37 Normally, a balance exists between free radical production and the human body's ability to produce counter-acting antioxidants as a corresponding defense mechanism. However, in drug- and toxin-induced liver injury, the pathogenesis is associated with an imbalance between these two, which explains why silymarin, with its antioxidant effects, is a considerable treatment option for CLDs including jaundice, cirrhosis, and hepatitis.<sup>38</sup> Studies examining CCl<sub>4</sub>-hepatotoxicity in rats showed the prevention of hepatic dysfunction and the restoration of normal liver functionality with silymarin use.<sup>39,40-44</sup> Silymarin aids as an antioxidant, not only by scavenging for free radicals but also by preventing the loss of the antioxidant glutathione.<sup>18</sup> One study known as Hep573 demonstrated that an intervention of silymarin and antioxidants in a complex naturopathic mixture might lead to normal ALT levels in HCV patients as well as an overall improved quality of life, which includes treating comorbidities that are not always properly treated with the antiviral 'cure'.<sup>45</sup> These results were mostly found in patients with the specific HCV genotype 1, which can be explained by these individuals lacking endogenous antioxidants, like glutathione.46 These findings could be applied to any of the aforementioned liver diseases that result from antioxidant deficiencies and/or free-radical surpluses. Although, various studies have shed a positive light on the beneficial effects of silymarin in different liver diseases, these studies are limited by the volume of data and thus are not adequate for robust conclusions. This, therefore, warrants the need for more quality studies examining silymarin before it can be used as an official clinical treatment in CLD.

#### Conclusions

Silymarin is a potent inhibitor of inflammation, fibrosis and oxidative stress that is safe and has low risks of drug interactions. Although some evidence of efficacy exists in a subset of patients with CLD, such as those with ALD and MAFLD, the overall efficacy of silymarin remains unclear, with a recent multiple meta-analysis showing no clinically substantial benefit in the management of CLD. Silymarin may have a role in combination with antioxidants; however, more research is warranted to better elucidate the role of silymarin in the management of CLD. Tighe S.P. et al: Silymarin in chronic liver disease

## Funding

None to declare.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

### **Author contributions**

Study concept and design (AA, ST, DA and UI), literature search and drafting of the manuscript (ST, UI and DA), critical revision of manuscript for important intellectual content, senior authorship guidance and supervision (AA). All authors agreed with the final version of the manuscript

#### References

- Iqbal U, Perumpail BJ, Akhtar D, Kim D, Ahmed A. The epidemiology, risk profiling and diagnostic challenges of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Medicines (Basel) 2019;6:41. doi: 10.3390/medicines6010041.
- [2] Asrani SK, Hall L, Hagan M, Sharma S, Yeramaneni S, Trotter J, et al. Trends in chronic liver disease-related hospitalizations: A population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol 2019;114:98–106. doi: 10.1038/s41395-018-0365-4.
- [3] Kim D, Li AA, Gadiparthi C, Khan MA, Cholankeril G, Glenn JS, Ahmed A. Changing trends in etiology-based annual mortality from chronic liver disease, from 2007 through 2016. Gastroenterology 2018;155:1154– 1163.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.008.
- [4] Dennis BB, Akhtar D, Cholankeril G, Kim D, Sanger N, Hillmer A, et al. The impact of chronic liver disease in patients receiving active pharmacological therapy for opioid use disorder: One-year findings from a prospective cohort study. Drug Alcohol Depend 2020;209:107917. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep. 2020.107917.
- [5] Song Z, Deaciuc I, Song M, Lee DY, Liu Y, Ji X, et al. Silymarin protects against acute ethanol-induced hepatotoxicity in mice. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2006;30: 407–413. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2006.00063.x.
- [6] Dehmlow C, Erhard J, de Groot H. Inhibition of Kupffer cell functions as an explanation for the hepatoprotective properties of silibinin. Hepatology 1996;23:749–754. doi: 10.1053/jhep.1996.v23.pm0008666328.
- [7] Perumpail BJ, Li AA, Iqbal U, Sallam S, Shah ND, Kwong W, et al. Potential therapeutic benefits of herbs and supplements in patients with NAFLD. Diseases 2018;6:80. doi: 10.3390/diseases6030080.
- [8] Valenzuela A, Garrido A. Biochemical bases of the pharmacological action of the flavonoid silymarin and of its structural isomer silibinin. Biol Res 1994; 27:105–112.
- [9] Javed S, Kohli K, Ali M. Reassessing bioavailability of silymarin. Altern Med Rev 2011;16:239–249.
- [10] Gatti G, Perucca E. Plasma concentrations of free and conjugated silybin after oral intake of a silybin-phosphatidylcholine complex (silipide) in healthy volunteers. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 1994;32:614–617.
- [11] Schrieber SJ, Hawke RL, Wen Z, Smith PC, Reddy KR, Wahed AS, et al. Differences in the disposition of silymarin between patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and chronic hepatitis C. Drug Metab Dispos 2011;39:2182– 2190. doi: 10.1124/dmd.111.040212.
- [12] Vailati A, Aristia L, Sozze E, Milani F, Inglese V, Galenda P, et al. Randomized open study of the dose-effect relationship of a short course of IdB 1016 in patients with viral or alcoholic hepatitis. Fitoterapia 1993;64:219–231.
- [13] Fathalah WF, Abdel Aziz MA, Abou El Soud NH, El Raziky MES. High dose of silymarin in patients with decompensated liver disease: A randomized controlled trial. J Interferon Cytokine Res 2017;37:480–487. doi: 10.1089/jir. 2017.0051.
- [14] Mastron JK, Siveen KS, Sethi G, Bishayee A. Silymarin and hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic, comprehensive, and critical review. Anticancer Drugs 2015;26:475–486. doi: 10.1097/CAD.00000000000211.
- [15] Doehmer J, Tewes B, Klein KU, Gritzko K, Muschick H, Mengs U. Assessment of drug-drug interaction for silymarin. Toxicol In Vitro 2008;22:610–617. doi: 10.1016/j.tiv.2007.11.020.
- [16] Fazzi AJ. Natural medicines comprehensive database. J Consum Health Internet 2008;9:79–85. doi: 10.1300/J381v09n02\_09.
- [17] Abenavoli L, Aviello G, Capasso R, Milic N, Capasso F. Milk thistle for treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatitis Monthly 2011;11: 173–177.

- [18] Surai PF. Silymarin as a natural antioxidant: An overview of the current evidence and perspectives. Antioxidants (Basel) 2015;4:204–247. doi: 10. 3390/antiox4010204.
- [19] Salomone F, Barbagallo I, Godos J, Lembo V, Currenti W, Cinà D, et al. Silibinin restores NAD□ levels and induces the SIRT1/AMPK pathway in nonalcoholic fatty liver. Nutrients 2017;9:1086. doi: 10.3390/nu9101086.
- [20] Akhtar DH, Iqbal U, Vazquez-Montesino LM, Dennis BB, Ahmed A. Pathogenesis of insulin resistance and atherogenic dyslipidemia in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2019;7:362–370. doi: 10.14218/JCTH. 2019.00028.
- [21] Ni X, Wang H. Silymarin attenuated hepatic steatosis through regulation of lipid metabolism and oxidative stress in a mouse model of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Am J Transl Res 2016;8:1073–1081.
- [22] Cui CX, Deng JN, Yan L, Liu YY, Fan JY, Mu HN, et al. Silibinin Capsules improves high fat diet-induced nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in hamsters through modifying hepatic de novo lipogenesis and fatty acid oxidation. J Ethnopharmacol 2017;208:24–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2017.06.030.
- [23] Lieber CS, Leo MA, Cao Q, Ren C, DeCarli LM. Silymarin retards the progression of alcohol-induced hepatic fibrosis in baboons. J Clin Gastroenterol 2003;37:336–339. doi: 10.1097/00004836-200310000-00013.
- [24] Trappoliere M, Caligiuri A, Schmid M, Bertolani C, Failli P, Vizzutti F, et al. Silybin, a component of sylimarin, exerts anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrogenic effects on human hepatic stellate cells. J Hepatol 2009;50:1102–1111. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2009.02.023.
- [25] Zhang Y, Hai J, Cao M, Zhang Y, Pei S, Wang J, et al. Silibinin ameliorates steatosis and insulin resistance during non-alcoholic fatty liver disease development partly through targeting IRS-1/PI3K/Akt pathway. Int Immunopharmacol 2013;17:714–720. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2013.08.019.
- [26] Gu M, Zhao P, Huang J, Zhao Y, Wang Y, Li Y, et al. Silymarin ameliorates metabolic dysfunction associated with diet-induced obesity via activation of farnesyl X receptor. Front Pharmacol 2016;7:345. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2016. 00345.
- [27] Federico A, Dallio M, Loguercio C. Silymarin/silybin and chronic liver disease: A marriage of many years. Molecules 2017;22:191. doi: 10. 3390/molecules22020191.
- [28] Serviddio G, Bellanti F, Stanca E, Lunetti P, Blonda M, Tamborra R, et al. Silybin exerts antioxidant effects and induces mitochondrial biogenesis in liver of rat with secondary biliary cirrhosis. Free Radic Biol Med 2014;73: 117–126. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.05.002.
- [29] Trakulsrichai S, Sriapha C, Tongpoo A, Udomsubpayakul U, Wongvisavakorn S, Srisuma S, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcome of toxicity from Amanita mushroom poisoning. Int J Gen Med 2017;10:395–400. doi: 10. 2147/IJGM.S141111.
- [30] Abenavoli L, Masarone M, Federico A, Rosato V, Dallio M, Loguercio C, et al. Alcoholic hepatitis: Pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment. Rev Recent Clin Trials 2016;11:159–166. doi: 10.2174/1574887111666160724183409.
- [31] Ghorbani Z, Hajizadeh M, Hekmatdoost A. Dietary supplementation in patients with alcoholic liver disease: a review on current evidence. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 2016;15:348–360. doi: 10.1016/s1499-3872(16) 60096-6.
- [32] Zhong S, Fan Y, Yan Q, Fan X, Wu B, Han Y, et al. The therapeutic effect of silymarin in the treatment of nonalcoholic fatty disease: A meta-analysis (PRISMA) of randomized control trials. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017;96: e9061. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000000061.
- [33] Cacciapuoti F, Scognamiglio A, Palumbo R, Forte R, Cacciapuoti F. Silymarin in non alcoholic fatty liver disease. World J Hepatol 2013;5:109–113. doi: 10.4254/wjh.v5.i3.109.
- [34] Milosević N, Milanović M, Abenavoli L, Milić N. Phytotherapy and NAFLD-from goals and challenges to clinical practice. Rev Recent Clin Trials 2014;9:195– 203. doi: 10.2174/1574887109666141216110337.
- [35] Fried MW, Navarro VJ, Afdhal N, Belle SH, Wahed AS, Hawke RL, et al. Effect of silymarin (milk thistle) on liver disease in patients with chronic hepatitis C unsuccessfully treated with interferon therapy: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2012;308:274–282. doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.8265.
- [36] de Avelar CR, Pereira EM, de Farias Costa PR, de Jesus RP, de Oliveira LPM. Effect of silymarin on biochemical indicators in patients with liver disease: Systematic review with meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol 2017;23: 5004–5017. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i27.5004.
- [37] Williams R. Global challenges in liver disease. Hepatology 2006;44:521– 526. doi: 10.1002/hep.21347.
- [38] Javed S, Ahsan W, Kohli K. Pharmacological influences of natural products as bioenhancers of silymarin against carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatotoxicity in rats. Clin Phytosci 2018;4:18. doi: 10.1186/s40816-018-0079-6.
- [39] Gu HR, Park SC, Choi SJ, Lee JC, Kim YC, Han CJ, et al. Combined treatment with silibinin and either sorafenib or gefitinib enhances their growth-inhibiting effects in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Clin Mol Hepatol 2015;21: 49–59. doi: 10.3350/cmh.2015.21.1.49.
- [40] Wafay H, El-Saeed G, El-Toukhy S, Youness E, Ellaithy N, Agaibi M, et al. Potential effect of garlic oil and silymarin on carbon tetrachloride-induced liver injury. Aust J Basic Appl Sci 2012;6:409–414.

## Tighe S.P. et al: Silymarin in chronic liver disease

- [41] Tsai JH, Liu JY, Wu TT, Ho PC, Huang CY, Shyu JC, et al. Effects of silymarin on the resolution of liver fibrosis induced by carbon tetrachloride in rats. J Viral Hepat 2008;15:508–514. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2893.2008.00971.x.
- [42] Abrol S, Trehan A, Katare OP. Comparative study of different silymarin formulations: formulation, characterisation and in vitro/in vivo evaluation. Curr Drug Deliv 2005;2:45–51. doi: 10.2174/1567201052772870.
- [43] El-Samaligy MS, Afifi NN, Mahmoud EA. Evaluation of hybrid liposomesencapsulated silymarin regarding physical stability and in vivo performance. Int J Pharm 2006;319:121–129. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2006.04.023.
- [44] Yadav NP, Pal A, Shanker K, Bawankule DU, Gupta AK, Darokar MP, et al. Synergistic effect of silymarin and standardized extract of Phyllanthus

amarus against CCl4-induced hepatotoxicity in Rattus norvegicus. Phytomedicine 2008;15:1053–1061. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2008.08.002.

- [45] Salmond SJ, George J, Strasser SI, Byth K, Rawlinson B, Mori TA, et al. Hep573 study: A randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of silymarin alone and combined with antioxidants to improve liver function and quality of life in people with chronic hepatitis C. Aust J Herb Naturop Med 2018;30:12–24.
- [46] Barbaro G, Di Lorenzo G, Soldini M, Parrotto S, Bellomo G, Belloni G, et al. Hepatic glutathione deficiency in chronic hepatitis C: quantitative evaluation in patients who are HIV positive and HIV negative and correlations with plasmatic and lymphocytic concentrations and with the activity of the liver disease. Am J Gastroenterol 1996;91:2569–2573.


Catherine Choi<sup>1</sup>, Youssef Botros<sup>2</sup>, Jamil Shah<sup>3</sup>, Pei Xue<sup>4</sup>, Anja Jones<sup>5</sup>, Mark Galan<sup>5</sup>, Raquel Olivo<sup>6</sup>, Mumtaz Niazi<sup>6</sup>, Flavio Paterno<sup>7</sup>, James Guarrera<sup>7</sup> and Nikolaos T. Pyrsopoulos<sup>\*6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA; <sup>2</sup>Division of Gastroenterology, St. Joseph's University Medical Center, Paterson, NJ, USA; <sup>3</sup>Division of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, The Brooklyn Hospital Center, Brooklyn, NY, USA; <sup>4</sup>Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA; <sup>5</sup>Department of Pathology, Immunology & Laboratory Medicine, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA; <sup>6</sup>Division of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Department of Medicine, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA; <sup>7</sup>Division of Liver Transplantation & Hepatobiliary Surgery, Department of Surgery, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA; <sup>7</sup>Division of Liver Transplantation & Hepatobiliary Surgery,

## Abstract

Direct-acting antiviral (DAA) therapy is often well-tolerated, and adverse events from DAA therapy are uncommon. We report a case of a woman who underwent orthotopic liver transplant for chronic hepatitis C infection and later developed alloimmune hepatitis shortly after starting DAA therapy for recurrent hepatitis C infection. The patient developed acute alloimmune hepatitis approximately 2 weeks after starting treatment with sofosbuvir, velpatasvir, and voxilaprevir. This case report proposes a dysregulation of immune surveillance due to the DAA stimulation of host immunity and rapid elimination of hepatitis C viral load as a precipitating factor for the alloimmune process, leading to alloimmune hepatitis in a post-transplant patient who starts on DAA.

**Citation of this article:** Choi C, Botros Y, Shah J, Xue P, Shah A, Galan M, *et al.* A case report of alloimmune hepatitis after direct-acting antiviral treatment in a liver transplant patient. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):459–462. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00062.

#### Introduction

Previous studies have shown the link between hepatitis C infection and autoimmune diseases<sup>1</sup>, and its presumed mechanism is an excessive immune response against hepatitis C virus (HCV). Direct-acting antiviral (DAA) therapy is well tolerated in liver transplant patients, and serious adverse events from DAA are uncommon. *De novo* autoimmune hepatitis or alloimmune hepatitis are clinical entities that occur in patients who have undergone transplantation and are characterized by biochemical hepatitis, circulating autoantibodies, elevated IgG levels, and an inflammatory infiltration with interface hepatitis.<sup>2</sup> Cases of alloimmune hepatitis induced after DAA

Keywords: Autoimmune hepatitis; Hepatitis C; Liver transplant.

in patients undergoing treatment for HCV infection have been reported in the literature. This is a case report of alloimmune hepatitis in a post-liver transplant patient shortly after starting DAA treatment for recurrent hepatitis C in the graft.

### **Case report**

The patient is a woman of Arabic background in her mid to late 50s with a history of vitiligo and end-stage liver disease (induced by chronic HCV infection, genotype 4; treatmentexperienced), complicated with hepatocellular carcinoma, who presented to the emergency department with jaundice and elevated liver enzymes. She underwent liver transplantation (LT) 3 months prior.

The patient has a 14-year history of HCV infection and had been diagnosed with cirrhosis 3 years prior to the LT. She had received treatment for HCV 2 years prior to the LT with ombitasvir, paritaprevir, ritonavir, and ribavirin, but the treatment was discontinued after 2 months due to the development of hemolytic anemia. Unfortunately, she failed to achieve a sustained virologic response. She underwent orthotopic LT with a hepatitis B core antibody-positive and hepatitis C antibody-positive graft. Prior to the current admission, the patient had been admitted to the hospital for investigation of elevated serum aminotransferase levels (aspartate aminotransferase of 227 U/L, alanine aminotransferase of 219 U/L) and HCV viral load of 734,703 IU/mL (Table 1). A liver biopsy showed portal inflammatory infiltrates, compatible with severe hepatitis, and features that were suggestive of recurrent HCV infection. DAA treatment was started with sofosbuvir, velpatasvir, and voxilaprevir. The patient responded to treatment with DAA, and the biochemical profile was significantly improved (Table 1).

Two weeks later, the patient complained of a 2-day experience of jaundice, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. The review of systems revealed subjective fevers, chills, and fatigue. She denied consumption of alcohol or use of other medications. Her vital signs were unremarkable. On examination, scleral icterus, jaundice, and moderate tenderness in the left upper quadrant and right upper quadrant, without guarding, were noted. The laboratory evaluation revealed a white blood cell count of 3,300 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> with a normal differential, aspartate aminotransferase of 1,395 U/L, alanine aminotransferase of 1,359 U/L, alkaline phosphatase of

**Abbreviations:** AIH, autoimmune hepatitis; DAA, direct-acting antiviral; HCV, hepatitis C virus; IgG, immunoglobulin; LT, liver transplantation; Tregs, regulatory T cells.

Received: 7 July 2020; Revised: 12 August 2020; Accepted: 24 August 2020 \*Correspondence to: Nikolaos T. Pyrsopoulos, Division of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Department of Medicine, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Medical Science Building, Room I-506, 185 South Orange Avenue, Newark, NJ 07103, USA. Tel: +1-973-972-5252, E-mail: pyrsopni@njms.rutgers.edu

Table 1. Laboratory findings prior to and after DAA treatment	Table 1.	Laboratory	findings	prior to and	after DAA	treatment
---	----------	------------	----------	--------------	-----------	-----------

Lab finding	Prior to DAA treatment	At week 1 of DAA treatment	Post-DAA treatment
Alkaline phosphatase, U/L	84	579	79
Aspartate aminotransferase, U/L	227	1,201	24
Alanine aminotransferase, U/L	490	1,215	24
Total bilirubin, mg/dL	0.3	11.5	0.5
Direct bilirubin, mg/dL	0.1		0.2
Hepatitis C viral load, IU/mL	734,703	537	Not detected
Hepatitis B viral load, IU/mL	Not detected	Not detected	Not detected
Tacrolimus level, ng/mL	8	9	7

Elevated aminotransferase levels and other biochemical profiles improved after the treatment of DAA.

601 U/L, total bilirubin of 12.2 mg/dL, direct bilirubin of 9.6 mg/dL, and international normalized ratio of 1.5. The tacrolimus level was 7 ng/mL. Anti-nuclear antibody test was negative, but an elevated immunoglobulin G (IgG) level of 2,477 mg/dL was noted (Table 2). Other autoimmune serologies were unremarkable, including rheumatoid factor, anti-centromere antibody, anti-double stranded DNA, cyclic citrullinated peptide, liver-kidney microsomal antibody, Sjogren's antibodies SS-A and SS-B, anti-smooth muscle antibody, and anti-mitochondrial antibody.

A liver biopsy showed severe hepatitis with abundant plasma cells and interface activity, compatible with an alloimmune process (Figs. 1 and 2). C4D immunostaining was negative. The immunosuppressive and prophylactic therapies consisted of tacrolimus, mycophenolate, atovaquone, and entecavir. The patient was placed on 1 g of IV methylprednisolone and N-acetyl cysteine infusion, which elicited subsequent clinical improvement. The patient was discharged on a steroid taper, in addition to her immunosuppression regimen. Hepatitis B infection was ruled out as hepatitis B surface antibody, hepatitis B surface antibody tests were all negative, and hepatitis B viral load was not detected by PCR. Human immunodeficiency virus screening test was also negative. Hepatitis E IgM antibody test was negative.

Test	Normal range	Result
Anti-nuclear antibody	No range	Not detected
Anti-mitochondrial antibody	Negative <20 U	5
Anti-smooth muscle antibody	Negative <20 U	8.7
IgG	700-1,600 mg/dL	2,477
Immunoglobulin M	40-230 mg/ dL	113
Liver-kidney microsomal antibody	Negative <20 U	Not detected

Serological testing for alloimmune hepatitis performed includes elevated IgG level, but anti-nuclear antibody, anti-mitochondrial antibody, and anti-smooth muscle antibody tests were negative. Of note, rheumatoid factor was negative initially but became positive approximately 16 months after the diagnosis of alloimmune hepatitis.

The patient ultimately completed a 12-week course of DAA treatment. At her 3-month follow-up visit, the hepatic enzymes were found to be normalized by the maintenance steroid therapy with methylprednisolone 8 mg PO daily. The patient was determined to have achieved a sustained virological response (Table 1). Repeat liver biopsy was conducted for elevated liver enzymes at 5 months after the initial liver biopsy (approximately 3 months after the completion of DAA treatment). The histopathologic findings of repeat liver biopsy again showed marked portal and lobular mixed inflammatory infiltrate comprised of lymphocytes, abundant plasma cells, and numerous eosinophils and neutrophils with interface activity, consistent with alloimmune hepatitis rather than acute cellular rejection. Hepatitis C viral load was again undetectable. Of note, a repeat testing for rheumatoid factor was positive, approximately 16 months after the diagnosis of alloimmune hepatitis.

## Discussion

Alloimmune hepatitis is a rare cause for graft dysfunction that can occur among patients who have undergone LT for reasons



Fig. 1. Both portal and lobular regions demonstrate a mixed inflammatory infiltrate with abundant plasma cells.

Interface activity is present. The portal tract demonstrates extensive necrosis.

Choi C. et al: Alloimmune hepatitis following DAA treatment



**Fig. 2. High-power microscopy shows parenchymal collapse and necrosis.** Plasmacytic infiltration is demonstrated.

other than autoimmune hepatitis (AIH).<sup>3-5</sup> Several studies have demonstrated that DAA treatments are well tolerated in liver transplant patients and are successful at achieving sustained virologic response in more than 95% of patients.<sup>6</sup> Serious adverse events can occur, however, including rashes, cytopenia, allograft rejection, severe anemia, and mortality, but these were only reported in 4% of cases' and thus our case is an unusual presentation following DAA therapy. The exact pathogenesis is not fully understood but believed to share similar histological and clinical findings with classical AIH.<sup>3</sup> Interferon-based antiviral treatments have been described to precipitate or exacerbate alloimmune hepatitis in the liver transplant population.<sup>8,9</sup> Apart from its antiviral effects, interferon is a potent immunomodulator, and therefore it is not surprising that immune-mediated phenomena, including alloimmune hepatitis, is reported with interferon-based therapy of HCV infection.<sup>10</sup> A possible mechanism for such immune-mediated complications is based on interferon therapy's effects on T-cell activation, which ultimately intensifies pro-inflammatory activity and enhances the presentation and release of antigens.<sup>10</sup>

We made our diagnosis of alloimmune hepatitis based on both histological and immunopathological findings from the liver biopsy, which showed marked portal and lobular mixed inflammatory infiltrate with interface activity. On the liver biopsy, C4D immunostaining was negative, and findings on repeat liver biopsy obtained 5 months after the completion of DAA were again consistent with alloimmune hepatitis rather than acute cellular rejection. We ruled out other causes that may mimic alloimmune hepatitis, such as rejection and viral hepatitis. The patient had a history of vitiligo, which is considered an autoimmune disease. Given the acute onset of the patient's presentation and the lack of evidence of graft rejection or co-infection on liver biopsy, the occurrence of alloimmune hepatitis was likely related to the immune system imbalance induced by a DAA regimen the occurrence of alloimmune hepatitis was likely related to the immune system imbalance induced by a DAA regimen. HCV viral load at the time of diagnosis of alloimmune hepatitis was 537 IU/mL, and the mechanism appeared to be different from an HCV infectioninduced autoimmune reaction or drug-induced liver injury.

Repeat testing for hepatitis B and C viral loads were all negative. The ImmuKnow<sup>™</sup> assay is an immune monitoring test, and the higher test value indicates a greater risk of rejection.<sup>11</sup> In our patient, the ImmuKnow<sup>™</sup> assay result was negative.

As the anti-HCV activity of DAA therapy has the potential to stimulate host immunity, activation of the immune system in the setting of rapid elimination of HCV might favor a dysregulation of immune surveillance.<sup>12–14</sup> Although the exact pathogenesis of classic AIHs is not clear, one possible etiology is an imbalance between regulatory T cells and proinflammatory cells.<sup>15–18</sup> Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are a subpopulation of T cells that have been demonstrated to suppress pathology in multiple autoimmune diseases. Reduction in frequency and function of Tregs has been reported in peripheral blood in patients with AIH in several studies.<sup>16,17</sup> On the contrary, there is a parallel increase in Treg frequency in the inflamed liver tissue<sup>19</sup> but a decline in the functional capacity of the Tregs in AIH.<sup>21</sup> The functional capacity of Tregs in the liver is essential to control ongoing hepatitis by suppressing the effector cells in the inflamed liver in AIH.<sup>21</sup>

Previous studies showed that IgG4 can down-modulate the immune system, and IgG4-rich infiltrates were more elevated in allograft recipients with *de novo* AIH compared with AIH in native liver or kidney allograft recipients with plasma-cell-rich rejection.<sup>22</sup> In our patient, serological IgG (2,447 mg/dL) was elevated but an IgG4 level was not tested. With a better understanding of the underlying mechanism behind Treg activity in alloimmune hepatitis, further advancements in targeting the Tregs may become alternative treatments to immunosuppressive therapies for treating alloimmune hepatitis. In summary, we report a case of alloimmune hepatitis in a liver transplant patient with recurrent HCV responding to DAA therapy. A thorough follow up of patients undergoing DAA therapy after LT for alloimmune hepatitis might be warranted.

### Funding

None to declare.

## **Conflict of interest**

Dr. Pyrsopoulos is a recipient of research grants from Bayer, Beigene, Intercept, Mallinckrodt, Eisai, Novartis, Resusix, Saro, Valeant, Gilead, Genfit, Grifols, Prometheus, and Zydus. Dr. Pyrsopoulos has also served as a consultant for Bayer and Eisai. Dr. Guarrera is a recipient of research grants from and has served a consultant for Organ Recovery Systems Inc for work in Organ Preservation. The other authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Review of the literature (CC, YB, JS, PX), drafting of the manuscript (CC, YB, PX), review of the manuscript (RO, MN, FP, JG), providing figures and descriptions (AJ, MG), critical revision of the manuscript (NTP).

#### References

 De Maria C, Ghidotti I, Grillo F, Giannini EG. Successful DAA Treatment and Global Improvement in a Cirrhotic Patient with Concomitant HCV Infection and Autoimmune Hepatitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 2019;64(2):591-593.

- [2] Dooley J, Pinzani M, Lok ASF, Garcia-Tsao G. Sherlock's diseases of the liver and biliary system. Thirteenth edition. ed.
- [3] Guido M, Burra P. De novo autoimmune hepatitis after liver transplantation. Semin Liver Dis 2011;31(1):71–81.
- [4] Liberal R, Longhi MS, Grant CR, Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D. Autoimmune hepatitis after liver transplantation. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012;10(4): 346–353.
- [5] Neil DA, Hubscher SG. Current views on rejection pathology in liver transplantation. *Transpl Int.* 2010;23(10):971–983.
- [6] Hull MW, Yoshida EM, Montaner JS. Update on Current Evidence for Hepatitis C Therapeutic Options in HCV Mono-infected Patients. *Curr Infect Dis Rep* 2016;18(7):22.
- [7] Liu J, Ma B, Cao W, et al. Direct-acting antiviral agents for liver transplant recipients with recurrent genotype 1 hepatitis C virus infection: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Transpl Infect Dis* 2019;21(2):e13047.
- [8] Kerkar N, Dugan C, Rumbo C, et al. Rapamycin successfully treats posttransplant autoimmune hepatitis. Am J Transplant. 2005;5(5):1085–1089.
- [9] Kontorinis N, Agarwal K, Elhajj N, Fiel MI, Schiano TD. Pegylated interferoninduced immune-mediated hepatitis post-liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2006;12(5):827–830.
- [10] Selzner N, Guindi M, Renner EL, Berenguer M. Immune-mediated complications of the graft in interferon-treated hepatitis C positive liver transplant recipients. J Hepatol 2011;55(1):207–217.
- [11] Crespo-Leiro MG, Barge-Calballero E, Paniagua-Martin MJ, Barge-Calballero G, Suarez-Fuentetaja N. Update on Immune Monitoring in Heart Transplatation. *Current Transplantation Reports* 2015;2:329–337.
- [12] Debes JD, van Tilborg M, Groothuismink ZMA, et al. Levels of Cytokines in Serum Associate With Development of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Patients With HCV Infection Treated With Direct-Acting Antivirals. Gastroenterology 2018;154(3):515–517 e513.

## Choi C. et al: Alloimmune hepatitis following DAA treatment

- [13] Grandhe S, Frenette CT. Occurrence and Recurrence of Hepatocellular Carcinoma After Successful Direct-Acting Antiviral Therapy for Patients With Chronic Hepatitis C Virus Infection. *Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y)* 2017;13 (7):421–425.
- [14] Tatsumi T, Takehara T. Impact of natural killer cells on chronic hepatitis C and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatol Res* 2016;46(5):416–422.
- [15] Liberal R, Grant CR, Longhi MS, Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D. Regulatory T cells: Mechanisms of suppression and impairment in autoimmune liver disease. *IUBMB Life* 2015;67(2):88–97.
- [16] Longhi MS, Hussain MJ, Mitry RR, et al. Functional study of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in health and autoimmune hepatitis. J Immunol 2006; 176(7):4484-4491.
- [17] Longhi MS, Ma Y, Bogdanos DP, Cheeseman P, Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D. Impairment of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T-cells in autoimmune liver disease. J Hepatol 2004;41(1):31–37.
- [18] Longhi MS, Ma Y, Mitry RR, et al. Effect of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T-cells on CD8 T-cell function in patients with autoimmune hepatitis. J Autoimmun 2005;25(1):63–71.
- [19] Oo YH, Weston CJ, Lalor PF, et al. Distinct roles for CCR4 and CXCR3 in the recruitment and positioning of regulatory T cells in the inflamed human liver. J Immunol 2010;184(6):2886–2898.
- [20] Chen YY, Jeffery HC, Hunter S, et al. Human intrahepatic regulatory T cells are functional, require IL-2 from effector cells for survival, and are susceptible to Fas ligand-mediated apoptosis. *Hepatology* 2016;64(1):138–150.
- [21] Than NN, Jeffery HC, Oo YH. Autoimmune Hepatitis: Progress from Global Immunosuppression to Personalised Regulatory T Cell Therapy. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016;2016:7181685
- [22] Castillo-Rama M, Sebagh M, Sasatomi E, et al. "Plasma cell hepatitis" in liver allografts: identification and characterization of an IgG4-rich cohort. Am J Transplant 2013;13(11):2966–2977.



## Alcoholic Liver Disease and COVID-19 Pneumonia: A Case Series

Devika Kapuria\*<sup>1</sup>, Shubhra Upadhyay<sup>2</sup>, Rahul Shekhar<sup>2</sup> and Euriko Torrazza-Perez<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Gastroenterology, University of New Mexico Health Science Center, Albuquerque, NM, USA; <sup>2</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, University of New Mexico Health Science Center, Albuquerque, NM, USA

#### Abstract

The novel coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) was reported by the World Health Organization in December 2019, and since then it has progressed into a worldwide pandemic, causing significant morbidity and mortality. Gastrointestinal symptoms of COVID-19 and elevated liver chemistries are seen in up to 50% of infected patients. Recent reports have suggested a high mortality rate for COVID-19 in patients with pre-existing liver disease, having an associated mortality of 39.8%. Alcoholic liver disease is a significant cause of morbidity and mortality in New Mexico (USA), and we report here the clinical course and characteristics of three cases of patients with alcoholic cirrhosis who were admitted to our hospital with COVID-19.

**Citation of this article:** Kapuria D, Upadhyay S, Shekhar R, Torrazza-Perez E. Alcoholic liver disease and COVID-19 pneumonia: A case series. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):463– 466. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00053.

#### Introduction

The first case of novel coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) in the USA was reported on January 20, 2020.<sup>1</sup> The USA now has the largest number of confirmed cases in the world; as of July 15, 2020, there were 3,448,625 cases of coronavirus diagnosed in the country, with 136,699 deaths.<sup>2</sup> While liver abnormalities have been reported in patients with coronavirus, most of the related biomarker elevations are mild, with a predominantly hepatocellular elevation ranging from 14-53% and slightly elevated bilirubin in 14-53% of patients.<sup>3,4</sup>

There is limited evidence on the outcomes of COVID-19 in patients with alcoholic liver disease. A meta-analysis showed 3% prevalence of chronic liver disease in patients with COVID-19.<sup>5</sup> Bangash *et al.*<sup>6</sup> considered that abnormal liver biochemistries do not necessarily arise from the liver alone; in fact, several other reasons, such as COVID-19-induced myositis as well as collateral liver damage from induction of a dysregulated immune response and drug-related liver injury, are more likely to explain deranged liver biochemistries in COVID-19.

In data collected from seven Chinese studies, mortality occurred in only 0-2% of patients with chronic liver disease; however, the nature and severity of the liver disease were unknown.<sup>6</sup> The SECURE-Cirrhosis registry and COVID-HEP reported on 334 patients with cirrhosis, out of which 102 (31%) patients had alcoholic cirrhosis; however, outcomes were not defined by etiology of cirrhosis.<sup>7</sup> Our hospital is a tertiary care center in a state with disproportionately excessive alcohol use and alcohol-related liver disease deaths (22 per 100,000 population)<sup>8</sup> compared with other USA states. In this case series, we describe the clinical presentation, management, and outcomes of patients with alcoholic cirrhosis and COVID-19.

#### **Case report**

A retrospective chart search was performed (under institutional IRB 20-186) for patients with a past medical history of alcoholic cirrhosis and diagnosis of COVID-19. The patients had been consecutively admitted to the University of New Mexico Hospital from December 1, 2019, to April 23, 2020. Informed consent was waived as part of the institutional IRB. Only patients with a laboratory-confirmed (reverse transcription-PCR-positive) diagnosis for COVID-19 were included.

Information was collected regarding comorbidities, social history, vital signs, demographics, clinical characteristics, symptomatology, alcohol use, lab results, imaging characteristics, and clinical management details. The authors manually analyzed the data.

## Case 1

A 32-year-old male with a past medical history of alcoholic cirrhosis, and class I obesity [body mass index (BMI) of 30.5], presented intubated and sedated after he was found unresponsive at home. Baseline model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) labs were not available; however, per his family, the patient was a heavy drinker and was actively drinking alcohol up to 2 days before.

On evaluation, the patient was in multiorgan failure, attributed to septic shock due to COVID pneumonia. He required significant vasopressor support, acute hypoxemic respiratory failure due to acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), requiring mechanical ventilation, and acute kidney injury (AKI) requiring continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT). His physical exam was significant for bruising on his

**Keywords:** COVID-19; Alcoholic liver disease; ARDS; Acute kidney injury. **Abbreviations:** AKI, acute kidney injury; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; ARDS, adult respiratory distress syndrome; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; BMI, body mass index; CK, creatinine kinase; COVID-19, novel coronavirus 2019; CRRT, continuous renal replacement therapy; Fio2, fraction of inspired oxygen; INR, international normalized ratio; MELD-Na, model for end-stage liver disease, sodium; Na, sodium; PEEP, positive end-expiratory pressure; PT, prothrombin time.

Received: 7 June 2020; Revised: 16 July 2020; Accepted: 1 October 2020 \*Correspondence to: Devika Kapuria, Department of Gastroenterology, University of New Mexico Health Science Center. 1 University Drive, Albuquerque, NM 87106, USA. Tel: +1-505-925-6000, E-mail: devika.kapuria@salud.unm.edu

extremities, diffuse anasarca, and jaundice. Liver biochemistries on presentation were an aspartate aminotransferase (AST) level of 276 U/L, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) level of 60 U/L, and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) level of 269 U/L. Total bilirubin was elevated to 15 mg/dL and direct bilirubin to 10.4 mg/dL. MELD-sodium (MELD-Na) on presentation was 36, and Child-Pugh class was C. Coagulation profile was deranged as well, with a prothrombin time (PT) 29s and international normalized ratio (INR) of 2.4. D-dimer was elevated at 6951  $\mu$ g/mL, and platelet count was 92,000/mL. He was also severely hyponatremic, with serum sodium of 116 mg/dL, and anuric, with serum creatinine of 4.81 mg/dL. Lactate dehydrogenase was elevated to 609 U/L. A nasopharyngeal swab returned positive for COVID-19. Serologies for hepatitis A, B, and C were performed and were negative.

The elevated INR, D-dimer, ferritin, lactate dehydrogenase and C-reactive protein were thought to be due the increased inflammatory response seen with COVID-19, and the patient's respiratory deterioration was thought to be due to the effects of COVID-19. Therapeutic-dose heparin was, therefore, not started. Computed tomography scans of the chest and abdomen were performed at day 12 of his hospitalization, and while this was not arterially gated, no large pulmonary embolus was noted. A bedside echogram was also performed, which did not show evidence of right heart strain. A peripheral blood smear did not show any evidence of schistocytes.

On day 3 of hospitalization, the patient's cardiopulmonary status began to improve, with decreased fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO2) and positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) requirements. Unfortunately, he continued to be oliguric and in hepatic failure, with an AST of 317 U/L, ALT of 110 U/L, bilirubin of 17.8 mg/dL, and INR of 1.64 (Table 1). Also, he experienced an acute gastrointestinal bleed, with a drop in hemoglobin from 12.4 g/dL on admission to 7 g/dL, with coffee-ground contents in his nasogastric tube on suction and melena requiring 3 U of packed red blood cells as well as vitamin K administration. Octreotide and proton pump inhibitor infusions were started, and on day 2, overt bleeding had stopped, and no endoscopic intervention was performed. He also received a 10-day course of azithromycin and hydroxychloroquine, according to an ongoing hospital-based clinical trial (unpublished data). A computed tomography scan of his abdomen showed extensive ascites and a nodular-appearing liver as well as dilated bowel loops suggestive of shock bowel. Unfortunately, his septic shock continued to worsen with leukocytosis, poor oxygenation, and elevated lactate levels, and care was withdrawn per family wishes on day 13.

#### Case 2

A 34-year-old male with a known history of alcoholic cirrhosis, Class II obesity (BMI of 35) and active alcohol use was brought into the hospital intubated and sedated, after

#### Table 1. Characteristics of cases

	Case 1	Case 2	Case 3
Age in years	32	34	44
Sex	Male	Male	Male
BMI in kg/m <sup>2</sup>	30.5	35	41.7
Symptoms reported	Chills, myalgias, and encephalopathy	Dyspnea, abdominal pain, and encephalopathy	Dyspnea, cough
Comorbidities	Alcohol use disorder Obesity Tobacco abuse disorder	Alcohol use disorder Obesity	Alcohol use disorder History of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis Hypertension Pulmonary hypertension Obesity
Anticoagulation administered	Heparin (deep vein thrombosis prophylaxis)	None	Heparin (deep vein thrombosis prophylaxis)
Length of stay in days	13	2	6
Na, 134-144 mmol/L	116	132	134
PT, 9.4- 15.4 s/INR, 0.8 - 1.3 ratio	29.2/2.43	16.8/1.41	15.3/1.29
Total protein/albumin, 6.1-8.1/ 3.4-4.7 g/dL	5.6/2.3	4.8/1.8	5.1/1.0
Cr, 0.62-1.66 mg/dL	4.81	4.25	1.71
AST, 6-58 U/L	276	4969	73
ALT, 14-67 U/L	60	6350	39
ALP, 38-150 U/L	269	160	147
Total bilirubin/direct bilirubin, 0.3-1.2/0.1-0.4 mg/dL	15.1/10.4	5.1/3.6	2.7/ 1.4
Procalcitonin, <0.10 ng/mL/ lactate, 0.4-2.0 mmol/L	1.59/2.2	1.58/13.3	0.12/1.7

### Kapuria D. et al: COVID-19 and alcoholic cirrhosis

presenting to a peripheral hospital with abdominal pain and shortness of breath. His physical exam was unremarkable. He had severely deranged liver biochemistries, with an AST of 4969 U/L, ALT of 6350 U/L, ALP of 160 U/L, and bilirubin of 5.1 mg/dL. MELD-Na on presentation was 32 and Child-Pugh class was C. Creatinine kinase (CK) was elevated to 2095 U/L and lactate was elevated to 13 m/g/dL, suggesting ischemic hepatitis in the setting of shock. Platelet count was low at 54,000/dL, and his coagulation panel was abnormal, with an INR of 1.4. A nasopharyngeal swab was positive for COVID-19. Tests for markers of acute and chronic hepatitis A, B and C were negative. During the day, his hemodynamic instability worsened, requiring the addition of a fourth pressor and stress-dose hydrocortisone. CRRT was initiated, and inhaled nitric oxide was administered due to persistent hypoxemia. Despite all interventions, he continued to deteriorate and died of septic shock, presumed due to COVID-19 pneumonia.

#### Case 3

A 44-year-old man with Class III obesity (BMI of 41.7) and alcoholic cirrhosis complicated by esophageal varices, as well as a history of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis and pulmonary hypertension was transferred to our hospital for acute hypoxemic respiratory failure secondary to COVID-19, requiring intubation and vasopressor support. His physical exam was significant for diffuse anasarca and jaundice.

Liver biochemistries on admission showed an AST of 73 U/ L, ALT of 19 U/L, ALP of 147 U/L, and bilirubin of 2.7 mg/dL. MELD-Na on presentation was 21 and Child-Pugh class was C. The patient's INR was 1.29, with a PT of 15.3 s and creatinine of 1.71 mg/dL. Platelet count was low at 88,000 /mL. He was started on CRRT due to oliguric AKI, azithromycin, and hydroxychloroquine were administered per an ongoing clinical trial (unpublished data). While his liver biochemistries remained stable, he developed severe encephalopathy, and his cardiopulmonary status continued to worsen. Due to his poor prognosis and lack of improvement, his family decided to withdraw care, and he died 6 days after admission.

#### Discussion

Our cases represent the only patients presenting with alcoholic cirrhosis and COVID-19 to our tertiary hospital through the study period,<sup>9</sup> representing a 100% mortality rate. The severity of liver disease at baseline was not known in cases 1 and 2, as they were transferred from an outside facility with no available medical records; however, case 3 had decompensated cirrhosis with varices as well as a history of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. All patients were obese, with an average BMI of 35.7 (BMI >30 in all) and were actively drinking before symptom onset. All patients required critical care with aggressive cardiopulmonary resuscitation. All three patients experienced a profound cardiopulmonary collapse, suggestive of septic shock due to COVID-19 pneumonia; however, with the presence of elevated inflammatory markers, COVID-19-induced cytokine storm cannot be ruled out.

Two patients had elevated hepatocellular biochemistries, up to 10 times the upper limit of normal (case 2 likely due to ischemic hepatitis); however, all three patients had disproportional direct hyperbilirubinemia, likely due to the hepatic decompensation in the setting of alcoholic cirrhosis. Two out of the three patients (case 1 and case 3) were started on prophylactic heparin for increased thromboembolic risk. No gastrointestinal bleeding was seen in case 3, although he had known esophageal varices. Case 1 had coffee ground-like material in his nasogastric tube as well as melena, and required blood transfusions. An endoscopy was deferred due to his clinical condition. His bleeding stopped with octreotide administration.

The severity of illness in these cases ( three men below the age of 45 (with alcoholic cirrhosis and COVID-19 corroborates with the high percentage of deaths reported by Moon *et al.*<sup>7</sup> In addition to obesity, which is already a known risk factor for poor outcomes,<sup>10</sup> a history of alcoholic cirrhosis and active drinking points towards hepatic decompensation worsening morbidity. Direct kidney involvement in COVID-19 was reported to be low, at only 4.5%;<sup>11</sup> however, subsequent analyses from Italy showed the prevalence to be as high as 15%,  $^{12}$ especially in patients with severe disease in the Intensive Care Unit setting. All three of our patients required CRRT to address oliguric AKI. While other reasons, including cytokine damage, organ crosstalk and systemic effects, have been cited,<sup>13</sup> dysfunction of the hepatorenal axis should also be considered. The requirement of mechanical ventilation is yet another poor prognostic factor in patients with COVID-19, which may have also contributed to the outcomes in our case series.<sup>14</sup>

We believe these cases are an example of a unique set of problems faced by hepatologists and critical care teams managing COVID-19 patients with decompensated liver disease. Recognition and discussion of a poor prognosis should be considered early on in these patients. Gastrointestinal bleeding, as well as secondary infections, should be recognized and managed promptly. Finally, as a preventative measure, hepatologists should reinforce the importance of abstinence during outpatient visits in patients with alcoholic liver disease.

## Funding

None to declare.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Conception of the study, writing of the paper (DK, RS), data collection (SU, RS), critical review and writing of the paper (ET, DK).

#### References

- Holshue ML, DeBolt C, Lindquist S, Lofy KH, Wiesman J, Bruce H, et al. First case of 2019 novel coronavirus in the United States. N Engl J Med 2020;382: 929–936. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001191.
- [2] Coronavirus resource center. Available from: https://coronavirus.jhu. edu/map.html.
- [3] Jin X, Lian JS, Hu JH, Gao J, Zheng L, Zhang YM, et al. Epidemiological, clinical and virological characteristics of 74 cases of coronavirus-infected disease 2019 (COVID-19) with gastrointestinal symptoms. Gut 2020;69: 1002–1009. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320926.
- [4] Xu L, Liu J, Lu M, Yang D, Zheng X. Liver injury during highly pathogenic human coronavirus infections. Liver Int 2020;40:998–1004. doi: 10. 1111/liv.14435.
- [5] Mantovani A, Beatrice G, Dalbeni A. Coronavirus disease 2019 and prevalence of chronic liver disease: A meta-analysis. Liver Int 2020;40:1316– 1320. doi: 10.1111/liv.14465.

## Kapuria D. et al: COVID-19 and alcoholic cirrhosis

- [6] Bangash MN, Patel J, Parekh D. COVID-19 and the liver: little cause for concern. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020;5:529–530. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(20) 30084-4.
- [7] Moon AM, Webb GJ, Aloman C, Armstrong MJ, Cargill T, Dhanasekaran R, et al. High mortality rates for SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients with pre-existing chronic liver disease and cirrhosis: Preliminary results from an international registry. J Hepatol 2020;73:705–708. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.05.013.
- [8] Deparment of Health. NM-IBIS Health Indicator Report Alcohol-Related Chronic Liver Disease Deaths. Available from: https://ibis.health. state.nm.us/indicator/view/AlcoholRelatedDthLiver.Year.NM\_US.html.
- [9] Shekhar R, Sheikh AB, Upadhyay S, Atencio J, Kapuria D. Early experience with COVID-19 patients at academic hospital in Southwestern United States. Infect Dis (Lond) 2020;52:596–599. doi: 10.1080/23744235.2020. 1774645.
- [10] Simonnet A, Chetboun M, Poissy J, Raverdy V, Noulette J, Duhamel A, et al. High prevalence of obesity in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavi-

rus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) requiring invasive mechanical ventilation. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2020;28:1195–1199. doi: 10.1002/oby.22831.

- [11] Wu C, Chen X, Cai Y, Xia J, Zhou X, Xu S, et al. Risk factors associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome and death in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA Intern Med 2020;180:934– 943. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.0994.
- [12] Webinar: COVID19. for the nephrologist: Real-life experience from Italy. Available from: https://academy.theisn.org/isn/2020/covid-19/290431/prof. vivekanand.jha.doctor.francesco.iannuzzella.26.doctor.arvind.canchi.html? f=menu%3D13%2Abrowseby%3D8%2Asortby%3D2%2Alabel%3D19791.
- [13] Ronco C, Reis T. Kidney involvement in COVID-19 and rationale for extracorporeal therapies. Nat Rev Nephrol 2020;16:308–310. doi: 10. 1038/s41581-020-0284-7.
- [14] Shalimar, Elhence A, Vaishnav M, Kumar R, Pathak P, Soni KD, et al. Poor outcomes in patients with cirrhosis and Corona Virus Disease-19. Indian J Gastroenterol 2020;39:285-291. doi: 10.1007/s12664-020-01074-3.



## COVID-19 in Liver Transplant Recipients - A Series with Successful Recovery

Ashok Choudhury<sup>1</sup>, Golamari Srinivasa Reddy<sup>1</sup>, Shantan Venishetty<sup>1</sup>, Viniyendra Pamecha<sup>2</sup>, Saggere Muralikrishna Shasthry<sup>1</sup>, Arvind Tomar<sup>3</sup>, Lalita Gauri Mitra<sup>4</sup>, Venkata Siva Tez Prasad<sup>5</sup>, Rajendra Prasad Mathur<sup>5</sup>, Debajyoti Bhattacharya<sup>3</sup> and Shiv Kumar Sarin<sup>\*1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Hepatology and Liver Transplant, Institute of Liver and Biliary Sciences, New Delhi, India; <sup>2</sup>Department of HPB Surgery and Liver Transplant, Institute of Liver and Biliary Sciences, New Delhi, India; <sup>3</sup>Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Institute of Liver and Biliary Sciences, New Delhi, India; <sup>4</sup>Department of Critical Care Medicine, Institute of Liver and Biliary Sciences, New Delhi, India; <sup>5</sup>Department of Nephrology, Institute of Liver and Biliary Sciences, New Delhi, India

## Abstract

The severe acute respiratory syndrome corona virus-2 (referred to as SARS-CoV-2) pandemic had a great impact on public life in general as well as on populations with preexisting disease and co-morbidities. Liver transplant and immunosuppressant medication predisposes to more severe disease and is often associated with poor outcome. The clinical features, disease course, treatment and process of modulating the immunosuppression is challenging. Here, we describe the clinical presentation, treatment and outcomes in six liver transplant recipients. Out of those six patients, three had mild, one had moderate and one had severe COVID-19, and one was asymptomatic. The immunosuppression minimization or withdrawal was done based upon the clinical severity. Consideration of tocilizumab and/or convalescent plasma as well as antivirals i.e. remdesvir done in severe cases. The routine practice of prophylactic anticoagulation, consideration of repurposed drugs (i.e. teicoplanin and doxycycline), and watchful monitoring of asymptomatic recipients helped to achieve an uneventful recovery.

**Citation of this article:** Choudhury A, Reddy GS, Venishetty S, Pamecha V, Shasthry SM, Tomar A, *et al.* COVID-19 in liver transplant recipients - A series with successful recovery. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):467–473. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00061.

#### Introduction

A cumulative total of nearly 25 million cases and 800 000 deaths have been reported since the start of the outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome corona virus-2

(SARS-CoV-2).<sup>1</sup> The majority of cases often present with mild symptoms, like fever, cough and shortness of breath; however, the severity of symptoms increases with presence of co-morbidities and pre-existing diseases, such as the presence of chronic liver disease.<sup>2</sup> The data on immunosuppression therapy, post-transplant status and impact of SARS-CoV-2 infection on a liver graft as well as the overall survival in liver graft recipients is largely inadequate. A similar lack of information is present regarding the treatment, drug interaction and overall outcome with solid organ transplant and corona virus disease 2019 (COVID-19).

Recently published data from the European Liver Transplant Registry (ELTR) of 103 cases showed high mortality (i.e. 16%), with a much higher rate among those on ventilator support (44%), above 60 years of age, and transplanted at 2 years or more before the COVID-19 disease.<sup>3</sup> To publication, more than 540,000 confirmed cases of COVID-19, with 16,475 deaths, have been reported from India.<sup>1</sup> Every year, on average more than 1500 liver transplants (LTs) are carried out in India, but the effects of infection with SARS-CoV-2 and the implications of such are not yet reported.<sup>4</sup> One study was conducted on patients admitted to Institute of Liver and Biliary Sciences (ILBS) New Delhi, India, which is a highvolume transplant center (>100 cases per year), working with live donors mainly. Today, there is a pandemic situation, with nearly 150,000 active cases and a seroprevalence of COVID-19 at 23% in the population.<sup>5</sup>

This present series of six LT recipients, all within the spectrum of presentation (i.e. asymptomatic, mild, moderate and severe cases), were managed well and recovered successfully.

#### **Case series**

The present series of six cases include one severe, one moderate and three mild COVID-19 diseases, and one asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection. The clinical characteristics (Table 1) and laboratory data (Table 2), along with the timeline for maintenance immunosuppression and COVID-19-specific treatments and outcome are shown. Diagnosis was performed by nasopharyngeal swab test with RT-PCR. Chest radiography and high-resolution computed tomography were performed selectively, upon diagnosis of moderate

**Keywords:** Liver transplant; COVID-19; SARS-CoV-2; Liver injury; Remdesivir; Convalescent plasma.

**Abbreviations:** COVID-19, corona virus disease 2019; LDLT, live donor liver transplant; LT, liver transplant; SARS-CoV-2, severe acute respiratory syndrome corona virus-2.

Received: 7 July 2020; Revised: 28 August 2020; Accepted: 29 August 2020 \*Correspondence to: Shiv Kumar Sarin, Department of Hepatology and Liver Transplant, Institute of Liver and Biliary Sciences, New Delhi 110070, India.

E-mail: shivsarin@gmail.com

and severe COVID-19 disease as per World Health Organization definition. All the patients were managed in a dedicated COVID-19 ward with intensive care unit facility at Institute of Liver and Biliary Sciences.

#### Severe COVID-19 in a post-LT recipient

A 52 year-old gentleman, post-live donor (LD)LT for decompensated nonalcoholic steatohepatitis cirrhosis (8 months back) presented with high-grade fever, cough (for 4 days), and increasing shortness of breath (for 1 day). At admission, he was febrile with temperature of 99°F, oxygen saturation of 92% at room air, respiratory rate of 22 breaths/m, blood pressure of 120/80 mmHg, and pulse rate of 112/min. Chest X-ray showed bilateral lower lobe infiltrations. Chest computed tomography revealed mixed diffuse ground-glass opacities with multifocal patchy consolidations involving both lungs, consistent with atypical infection likely due to SARS-CoV-2 (Fig. 1). The laboratory results (Table 2) reflected total normal leukocyte count with lymphopenia (8%), high neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio 10 and thrombocytopenia  $(82 \times 10^3)$ cc) with nearly normal bilirubin, aspartate transaminase, Alanine transaminase, serum alkaline phosphatase and gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase. After admission to the intensive care unit, his hypoxia required support by noninvasive ventilation and he was started on dexamethasone (6 mg once daily), loading dosage of tocilizumab (8 mg/kg, 400 mg), hydroxychloroguine (400 mg twice daily), antibiotics (piperacillin-tazobactam and teicoplanin), and prophylactic enoxaparin. Tacrolimus as well as mycophenolate was kept on-hold, temporarily. The dexamethasone at low dose helped in low-dose maintenance for the LT status, in addition to its role in COVID-19. In view of persistent hypoxia (oxygen saturation of <94%), tachypnoea and fever, remdesivir was started (200 mg bolus, followed by 100 mg once daily) on the third day with a second dose of tocilizumab, and hydroxychloroquine was stopped. However, on day 7, he again experienced respiratory distress (oxygen saturation of 90%), requiring10 L/m of oxygen on high-flow nasal cannula. The convalescent plasma was planned at admission but deferred due to resource constraint; however, it was able to be transfused on day 8 (delayed, but considered as rescue therapy), along with remdesivir being continued for 10 days. The patient improved over time, his oxygen requirement was maintained with 2 L of oxygen. X-ray showed improvement, and the fever, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, and thrombocytopenia improved by the 10<sup>th</sup> day (Fig. 2). As of day 14, he was maintaining oxygen saturation at room air, and the tacrolimus with prednisolone treatment was reintroduced without mycophenolate.

## Moderate COVID-19 in post-LT recipient

A 39 year-old gentleman, 6 years from LDLT for decompensated ethanol-related cirrhosis with diabetes, hypertension, obesity and biliary anastomotic stricture (stent-free for 2 years), presented with 3-day history of fever and dry cough. At presentation, he was febrile with temperature of  $100^{\circ}$ F, oxygen saturation of 96% under ambient air, respiratory rate of 22 breaths/m, blood pressure of 136/84 mmHg, and pulse rate of 102/m. Chest X-ray showed bilateral lower lobe infiltrations. Chest computed tomography revealed features atypical of pneumonia or viral pneumonia (Fig. 3). The previous immunosuppression regimen (i.e. tacrolimus and mycophenolate) was stopped and the patient was maintained on prednisolone (20 mg once daily) and 2 L/m oxygen by nasal canula. He received hydroxychloroquine (400 mg twice daily) and prophylactic anticoagulation. However on day 8 of the hospital stay, he had a spiking fever [up to 102°F, worsening leukopenia (of 2.4×10<sup>3</sup>/cc), increasing neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (to 4.8), and respiratory distress with oxygen saturation of 90%, requiring 8 L/m of oxygen by high-flow nasal cannula]. Therapy with remdesivir, tocilizumab or convalescent plasma was unavailable, so he was started on teicoplanin and doxycycline (100 mg twice daily), with antibiotics upgraded upon suspicion of nosocomial pneumonia, despite culture and procalcitonin showing non-contributory roles. The patient became afebrile with improvement in clinical symptoms in the next 72 h. He was discharged with low-dose tacrolimus (0.5 mg twice daily) and prednisolone (5 mg, once daily starting on the 15<sup>th</sup> day), and with a plan for resuming previous immunosuppression on follow-up.

## Mild COVID-19 in post-LT recipients

We successfully managed three mild COVID-19 patients with mild disease, and all had a separate background of disease in addition to their post-transplant status. The first one was a 48 year-old male with pre-transplant hypertension, hypothyroidism and receipt of a deceased donor graft 6 years back. He presented with a 2-day history of fever and cough. At admission, he was febrile, oxygen saturation of 98% under ambient air, respiratory rate of 18/m, with normal chest X-ray findings. The second was a 50 year-old gentleman, who was 7 months post-LDLT with biliary anastomotic stricture and a Percutaneous Transhepatic Billiary Drainage (PTBD) catheter in situ. He presented with a 2-day history of fever and a sore throat. At presentation, his temperature was 99.6°F, oxygen saturation was 95% under ambient air, and respiratory rate was 22 breaths/m. Initial suspicion of cholangitis was kept; however, in view of the current pandemic as well his sore throat, we tested for SARS-CoV-2 and obtained a positive result. Antibiotic coverage with meropenem and fluconazole continued, due to deranged Liver function parameters (cholestatic pattern, prolonged PTBD, but a negative bile culture). The tacrolimus was stopped, and the patient was maintained on prednisolone (20 mg once daily). The third patient was a 38 year-old gentleman, being 5 years' post-LDLT, who presented with a 2-day history fever and dry cough and a 1day history of shortness of breath. He had a bad post-transplant course with recidivism, graft failure, development of cirrhosis after transplant and chronic kidney disease due to immunoglobulin A nephropathy and maintenance dialysis. At presentation, he was febrile (99.4°F), oxygen saturation of 92% under ambient air, respiratory rate of 22/m, and blood pressure of 170/90 mmHg. Chest X-ray was suggestive of central prominence suggestive of fluid overload, and testing for SARS-CoV-2 gave positive result. Urgent hemodialysis was performed to address metabolic acidosis, high creatinine, anuria and respiratory distress.

All these patients, managed in the COVID-19 ward, received hydroxychloroquine and prophylactic enoxaparin, stoppage of immunosuppression, and were maintained on low-dose prednisolone (10-20 mg per day). The previous immunosuppression was started on day 14 and all had a negative throat swab result for SARS-CoV-2 at discharge.

Table 1. Baseline characteris	ttics					
	Patient 1, Severe	Patient 2, Moderate	Patient 3, Mild	Patient 4, Mild	Patient 5, Mild	Patient 6, Asymptomatic
Age in year	52	39	48	50	38	48
Gender	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male
Co-morbidity	Diabetes	Diabetes	Hypertension Diabetes, Hypothyroid	None	Hypertension Chronic Kidney Disease	Diabetes, Hypertension
Time from LT in months	16	72	72	17	60	24
Etiology	Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis	Ethanol	Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis	Ethanol	Ethanol	Ethanol
Post-LT events, if any	Moderate acute cellular rejection (>5 months back)	Biliary anastomotic stricture (stent-free), early chronic Rejection	Severe acute cellular rejection	Biliary anastomotic stricture with PTBD <i>in situ</i>	Recidivism with cirrhosis	None
Immunosuppressive regimen	Tacrolimus 2 mg/day and mycophenolate 2 g/day	Tacrolimus 1 mg/day and mycophenolate 2 g/day	Tacrolimus 2 mg/day	Tacrolimus 2 mg/day	Steroids only, maintenance dialysis	Everolimus 2 mg/day
Symptoms of COVID-19	Fever, cough, shortness of breath	Fever, cough	Fever, cough	Fever, sore throat	Fever, diarrhea	Asymptomatic
Anticoagulation prophylaxis	ГММН	ГММН	ГММН	ГММН	LMWH	No
Antibiotics	Meropenem, teicoplanin, fluconazole	Meropenem, teicoplanin, doxycycline	Cefepime	Meropenem, teicoplanin, fluconazole	Meropenem, teicoplanin, fluconazole	No
Respiratory support	NIV	High-flow nasal cannula	No	2L/min O2	No	No
Antiviral	Remdesivir	No	No	No	No	No
Duration of stay in days	14, hospitalized	14	10	10	10	Home isolation

## Choudhury A. et al: COVID-19 and liver transplant

Abbreviations: LMWH, low molecular weight heparin; PTBD, percutaneous transhepatic billilary disease; NIV, noninvasive ventilation.

Table 2. Laboratory paramete	ers										
	Patient 1	Patient 2	0	Patient 3		Patient 4		Patient 5		Patient 6	
Investigations	- Baseline 24/06/ 20	Base line 29/ 05/ 20	Discharge 12/06/20	Baseline 20/06/ 20	Discharge 30/06/20	Baseline 18/06/ 20	Discharge 29/06/20	baseline 09/06/ 20	Discharge 19/06/20	Baseline 14/06/ 20	Discharge 24/06/20
Total white blood cell count as 10 <sup>3</sup> /cc	7000	3300	5300	8800	8700	9300	7200	7300	6800	11100	9700
Neutrophil, %	88	82	60	53	67	85	67	82	80	72	70
Lymphocyte, %	10	25	36	30	31	6	30	16	18	25	28
Neutrophil-to- lymphocyte ratio	7.5	4.2	2.5	1.5	2.5	9.1	2.5	5.1	4.2	2.9	2.9
Platelet count as $10^3/$ cc	82	42	130	145	179	202	150	83	75	423	317
Bilirubin, mg/dL	0.6	1.6	6.0	0.6	0.4	1.2	0.8	0.9	0.8	0.5	0.3
Aspartate transaminase, IU/L	37	40	40	52	29	195	18	48	26	46	32
Alanine aminotransferase, IU/L	42	44	47	66	42	108	34	34	33	50	36
SAP, IU/L	74	221	347	63	68	378	454	296	180	148	159
GGT, IU/L	212	503	682	52	58	571	522	467	267	66	70
INR	1.03	1.1	1.05	1.1	1.2	1.1	1.15	1.32	1.22	1.32	1.33
Serum albumin, g/dL	2.83	2.6	3.2	2.67	3.37	2.7	3.9	3.02	3.39	3.3	3.39
Serum creatinine, mg/dL	0.66	0.76	0.4	1.13	0.8	0.6		19.2	5.00	1.2	1.19
FDP, mcg/mL	<5		<5	v	5	v	5				
D-dimer (ng/ml)	<0.5		<0.5	V	0.5	V	0.5				
TNF-alpha, pg/mL	20		17	Ħ	3.7	(.)	30				
IL-6, pg/mL	296/ 175		113	N	0.	01	11				
Ferritin, mcg/L	101		123	ſ	53	1	21				
LDH, IU/L	615		335	-	31	2	25				
Abbreviations: FDP, fibrin degrad	ation products; G	iGT, gamma-	-glutamyl transfera	ase; IL-6, interle	ukin 6; LDH, lacta	te dehydrogena	se; SAP, serum alk	aline phosphata	ise; TNF, tumor ne	ecrosis factor.	

## Choudhury A. et al: COVID-19 and liver transplant

470



Fig. 1. X ray of chest and CT Thorax at admission (upper panel) and on day 10 (lower panel) which showed improvement, post tocilizumab and convalescent plasma of COVID-19.



Fig. 2. Treatment timeline of severe COVID-19 case.

None had deranged liver function, due to immunosuppression minimization for 2 weeks during the COVID-19 infection.

### Asymptomatic COVID-19 disease in a post-LT recipient

This 48 year-old male, 18 months post-LDLT, had a close family contact with a symptomatic COVID-19 case and was asymptomatic positive for SARS-CoV-2 upon testing. He had multiple co-morbidities (i.e. diabetes, hypertension, obesity and had calcineurin inhibitor nephrotoxicity-induced kidney dysfunction, maintained on a calcineurin inhibitor nephrotoxicity-free regimen with everolimus). He was comfortable, afebrile and monitored from home. His everolimus was stopped, and he was given prednisolone (10 mg once daily) without hydroxychloroquine or any COVID-19-specific drug. In view of no symptoms or disease progression, low-dose tacrolimus (0.5 mg twice daily) and prednisolone (5 mg once daily) was started on day 5, instead of the everolimus. His subsequent SARS-CoV-2 tests, given at two occasions on day 12 and day 14, were negative. The previous calcineurin inhibitor nephrotoxicity-free regimen (i.e. everolimus) was started on day 15 and there was no derangement of graft function during these period.

#### **Discussion**

The SARS-CoV-2 infection and outcome among solid organ transplant recipients is variable. Whether immunosuppression therapy is a risk is largely unknown, but the severity of disease and outcome has been generally poorer than observed in others. The dosage of immunosuppression at infection and COVID-19 disease severity is poorly correlated.<sup>6</sup> Most of the recommendations have been for minimization or temporary withdrawal and balance of risk for rejection. However, this modification is individualized but mostly agrees for stopping the antiproliferative drug, reducing or stopping calcineurin inhibitor nephrotoxicity drugs and maintaining on a low dose of steroid.<sup>7</sup> The same course was followed in the present series and none experienced a rejection.

Severe or moderate COVID-19 often has poor outcome among transplant recipients, with mortality in 12-18% of cases.<sup>8,9</sup> The multimodal approach with combination of an antiviral, tocilizumab, has been reported with good outcome.<sup>9</sup> In our series, the severe case (despite early use of tocilizumab and remdesivir) had a protracted course and addition of convalescent plasma likely helped in recovery for this patient. Convalescent plasma action occurs through binding of the transfused antibodies to the pathogen, resulting in cellular cytotoxicity, phagocytosis, or direct neutralization of the pathogen.<sup>10</sup> One large study showed that early administration of antibodies led to an optimal clinical effect, as compared to later administration.<sup>11</sup> However, the data on transplant recipients need to be studied in larger cohorts to determine a routine recommendation.

In the moderate cases of our series, the limited availability of remdesivir or plasma represented a real-world scenario. Consideration of teicoplanin and doxycycline as repurposed drugs helped in the infection's resolution. Teicoplanin is a glycopeptide antibiotic, found to be active *in vitro* against SARS-CoV in the early stage of the viral life cycle, working by inhibiting the low-pH cleavage of the viral spike protein by cathepsin L and in the late phase by action on the endosomes, thereby preventing the release of genomic viral RNA and causing disruption of the virus replication.<sup>12</sup> Doxycycline, often used for atypical pneumonia, has been studied recently for SARS-CoV-2 chemoprophylaxis<sup>13</sup>

but regarding its use for therapy the data is scanty. The antiviral effects are secondary to transcriptional up-regulation of the intracellular zinc finger antiviral protein ZAP and repression of RNA translation.<sup>13</sup> In patients with moderate disease who are transplant recipients with multiple co-morbidities, out more than 2 years after the transplantation, leucopoenia and thrombocytopenia remain challenging scenarios to be managed without tocilizumab or antivirals, like remdesivir.<sup>14–16</sup>

Another important consideration is the natural course of asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 in a transplant recipient with multiple co morbidities (i.e. diabetes, hypertension and overweight). It was recently shown that 11 of 96 asymptomatic patients developed symptoms, and it was suggested that this could occur more with increasing age.<sup>17</sup> Kumar *et al.*<sup>18</sup> showed the most frequent abnormality in liver functions was hypoalbuminemia, followed by derangements in gamma-glutamyl transferase and aminotransferases, and these abnormalities were more frequent in severe disease.<sup>18</sup> The results were the same in our study. The consensus is lacking for this group of patients; few have suggested close monitoring, while others in favor of early antiviral therapy to prevent prolong shedding.<sup>19</sup> Data are limited for treatment in an immunocompromised person or transplant recipients.<sup>20</sup> The asymptomatic case was managed well by immunosuppression modulation only, with no disease progression or development of symptoms; however, large series are needed to support or refute our findings.

To summarize, we reported six cases of COVID-19 disease in LT recipients with co-morbidities, who were successfully managed. These cases included one severe and one moderate case. Stoppage of antiproliferative or antimetabolites, temporary tacrolimus withdrawal and low-dose maintenance steroid was followed. Severe cases, those with COVID pneumonia, thrombocytopenia or high neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio with lymphopenia should be considered for remdesivir and tocilizumab. Convalescent plasma therapy is usually preserved for severe cases in the absence of evidence, mostly for compassionate use or under clinical trial. Therapeutically repurposed drugs with minimal adverse effects, like teicoplanin and doxycycline, can be considered in resource-poor settings.

## Funding

None to declare.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

## **Author contributions**

Conceptualized the study (AC and SKS); drafted the manuscript (AC), collected the data (GSR, SV), revised the manuscript and generated the figure (VP, SMS, VSTP, RPM, AT, LGM, DB), provided final correction of the manuscript and all logistic support (SKS).

#### References

 World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Weekly epidemiological update. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200831-weekly-epi-update-3.pdf? sfvrsn=d7032a2a\_4.

## Choudhury A. et al: COVID-19 and liver transplant

- [2] Sarin SK, Choudhury A, Lau GK, Zheng MH, Ji D, Abd-Elsalam S, et al. Preexisting liver disease is associated with poor outcome in patients with SARS CoV2 infection; The APCOLIS Study (APASL COVID-19 Liver Injury Spectrum Study). Hepatol Int 2020:1–11. doi: 10.1007/s12072-020-10072-8.
- [3] Belli LS, Duvoux C, Karam V, Adam R, Cuervas-Mons V, Pasulo L, et al. COVID-19 in liver transplant recipients: preliminary data from the ELIT-A/ELTR registry. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020;5:724–725. doi: 10. 1016/S2468-1253(20)30183-7.
- [4] Hibi T, Wei Chieh AK, Chi-Yan Chan A, Bhangui P. Current status of liver transplantation in Asia. Int J Surg 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.05.071.
- [5] COVID-19 India. Available from: https://www.mohfw.gov.in/index1.php.
- [6] Pereira MR, Mohan S, Cohen DJ, Husain SA, Dube GK, Ratner LE, et al. COVID-19 in solid organ transplant recipients: Initial report from the US epicenter. Am J Transplant 2020;20:1800–1808. doi: 10.1111/ajt.15941.
- [7] Perazzo H, Piedade J, Castro R, Pinto L, Veloso VG, Grinsztejn B, et al. COVID-19: An overview of worldwide recommendations for management of patients with liver diseases or liver transplantation. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18:2381–2384.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.04.074.
- [8] Becchetti C, Zambelli MF, Pasulo L, Donato MF, Invernizzi F, Detry O, et al. COVID-19 in an international European liver transplant recipient cohort. Gut 2020:gutjnl-2020-321923. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321923.
- [9] Lee BT, Perumalswami PV, Im GY, Florman S, Schiano TD. COVID-19 in liver transplant recipients: An initial experience from the US epicenter. Gastroenterology 2020. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.050.
- [10] van Erp EA, Luytjes W, Ferwerda G, van Kasteren PB. Fc-mediated antibody effector functions during respiratory syncytial virus infection and disease. Front Immunol 2019;10:548. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00548.
- [11] Jiang J, Miao Y, Zhao Y, Lu X, Zhou P, Zhou X, et al. Convalescent plasma therapy: Helpful treatment of COVID-19 in a kidney transplant recipient presenting with serve clinical manifestation and complex complications. Clin Transplant 2020:e14025. doi: 10.1111/ctr.14025.

- [12] Zhou N, Pan T, Zhang J, Li Q, Zhang X, Bai C, et al. Glycopeptide antibiotics potently inhibit cathepsin I in the late endosome/lysosome and block the entry of ebola virus, middle east respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), and severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV). J Biol Chem 2016;291:9218–9232. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.716100.
- [13] Malek AE, Granwehr BP, Kontoyiannis DP. Doxycycline as a potential partner of COVID-19 therapies. IDCases 2020;21:e00864. doi: 10.1016/j.idcr.2020. e00864.
- [14] Wang M, Cao R, Zhang L, Yang X, Liu J, Xu M, *et al*. Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. Cell Res 2020;30:269–271. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0282-0.
- [15] Grein J, Ohmagari N, Shin D, Diaz G, Asperges E, Castagna A, et al. Compassionate use of remdesivir for patients with severe covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020;382:2327–2336. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2007016.
- [16] Nishimoto N, Terao K, Mima T, Nakahara H, Takagi N, Kakehi T. Mechanisms and pathologic significances in increase in serum interleukin-6 (IL-6) and soluble IL-6 receptor after administration of an anti-IL-6 receptor antibody, tocilizumab, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and Castleman disease. Blood 2008;112:3959–3964. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-05-155846.
- [17] Gao Z, Xu Y, Sun C, Wang X, Guo Y, Qiu S, et al. A systematic review of asymptomatic infections with COVID-19. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2020.05.001.
- [18] Kumar-M P, Mishra S, Jha DK, Shukla J, Choudhury A, Mohindra R, et al. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and the liver: a comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatol Int 2020:1–12. doi: 10.1007/s12072-020-10071-9.
- [19] Nacif LS, Zanini LY, Waisberg DR, Pinheiro RS, Galvão F, Andraus W, et al. COVID-19 in solid organ transplantation patients: A systematic review. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2020;75:e1983. doi: 10.6061/clinics/2020/e1983.
- [20] Di Maira T, Berenguer M. COVID-19 and liver transplantation. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020;17:526–528. doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-0347-z.



# Transaminitis in a Three-year-old Boy with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

Qiuli Xie, Yingen Feng, Jing Li, Xiaoqiao Chen and Jianqiang Ding\*

Department of Infectious Diseases, Shunde Hospital, Southern Medical University, Shunde, Guangdong, China

## Abstract

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is a fatal X-linked genetic disease of the neuromuscular system and is the most serious type of muscular dystrophy in humans. The disease is characterized by progressive muscular atrophy and a poor prognosis. The incidence rate is 1/3500, and symptoms appear at age of 5 years-old. Some patients present with abnormal aminotransferases as the first symptom. In addition to the clinical characteristics and genetic history, electromyography examination, muscle biopsy, serum enzyme examination, and measures of creatine kinase (CK), CK isoenzyme, and serum lactate dehydrogenase are important features of auxiliary examination. Clinicians who encounter unknown causes of transaminitis should consider the possibility of DMD. We describe here a 3 year-old pediatric patient with increased aminotransferases who had elevated CK and a family genetic history but without liver damage on computed tomography. He was suspected as having inherited the disorder and was finally diagnosed as having DMD by nextgeneration sequencing.

**Citation of this article:** Xie Q, Feng Y, Li J, Chen X, Ding J. Transaminitis in a three-year-old boy with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):474–475. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00038.

#### **Case report**

On August 22, 2019, a 3 year-old male received an annual physical examination at his local hospital. His blood tests showed alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels of 588 U/L and 492 U/L, respectively, negativity for serum hepatitis B surface antigen and positivity for hepatitis B surface antibody, and normal serum total bilirubin. Thereafter, on October 1, 2019, blood ALT and AST levels were 580 U/L and 302 U/L, respectively, and B ultrasonic examination revealed thickening of the intra-hepatic bile-duct wall and echo. He was admitted to the Department of Infectious Diseases, Shunde Hospital of Southern Medical University on October 1, 2019.

Keywords: Transaminitis; Duchenne muscular dystrophy; Gene sequencing. Abbreviations: ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; Since onset of the disease, he has had a good appetite and normal mood, no headaches or dizziness, no chest tightness or pain, no shortness of breath, no abdominal pain or distension, no skin itching, no bleeding from the mouth or nose, normal sleep patterns, normal urination and defecation, no weight loss, and has been able to carry out daily activities as normal. An investigation of the boy's family history revealed that his grandfather had chronic hepatitis B. The patient's uncle became weak and a little unsteady on his feet at 7 years-old, then became paralyzed and died at the age of 17 (unknown cause of death). Another of the boy's uncles and the uncle's son had "congenital lameness" (no specific information). The second child of the patient's mother died when she was 30-weeks pregnant.

Physical examinations, including of the nerve and muscular systems, found no abnormalities. Biochemical tests showed his ALT and AST to be 526 U/L and 408 U/L, respectively. All hepatitis viral markers, including cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus, were negative on PCR and immunoblot assay. Ceruloplasmin, blood copper, r-glutamyl transpeptidase, and alkaline phosphatase levels were normal. Autoimmune liver disease antibodies were negative. Creatine kinase (CK) and CK isoenzyme (CK-MB) were 42320 U/L and 700 U/L, respectively, and 3-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase was 1840 U/L. Serum lactate dehydrogenase was 2496 U/L and free fatty acids levels were 63  $\mu$ mol/L. His upper abdomen was normal on computed tomography scan, chest x-ray and electrocardiograph findings were normal, and the heart was normal on ultrasound examination.

The primary diagnosis was liver impairment (description of cause pending). After admission, the boy was treated with vitamins and other regimens to decrease blood aminotransferases. Blood tests were repeated on October 22, 2019, and they showed his CK to be 21755 U/L, CK-MB to be 311.7 U/L, ALT to be 430 U/L, AST to be 319 U/L, and lactate dehydrogenase to be 1207 U/L. Liver and muscle biopsies were refused by his parents. His blood sample was sent to MyGenostics (Beijing, China) for genetic disorder testing, and gene sequencing showed a DMD gene exon 8-43 hemizygous deletion (Fig. 1). To ensure the best treatment, the boy was transferred to Guangzhou Children's Hospital for further medical care.

## Discussion

DMD is the most common type of progressive muscular dystrophy.<sup>1,2</sup> The disease is characterized by progressive muscular atrophy and a poor prognosis. The gastrocnemius muscles of patients undergo pseudohypertrophy, tendon reflex weakening or disappearance, and proximal

CK, creatine kinase; CK-MB, CK isoenzyme; DMD, Duchenne muscular dystrophy.
*Received: 30 April 2020; Revised: 29 August 2020; Accepted: 5 September 2020* \*Correspondence to: Jianqiang Ding, Department of Infectious Diseases,
Shunde Hospital, Southern Medical University, #1 Jiazi Road, Shunde, Guangdong 528300, China. Tel: +86-757-22218693, Fax: +86-757-22223899, E-mail: jding18@foxmail.com



Fig. 1. Next-generation sequencing results

DMD gene deletion of exon 8-43 was hemizygous.

myasthenia. As the disease progresses, the patients may lose their ability to walk before or around 12 years of age and die of respiratory failure or heart failure when approximately 20 years-old. The incidence rate of DMD is about 1 in 3500 newborn boys, and symptoms start to appear at 5 years of age. Patients are usually male but some female carriers are affected by partial inactivation of the X chromosome; DMD is an X-linked-recessive inherited disease.<sup>3,4</sup> At present, approximately 60-70% of the known pathogenic genes of DMD are deletion mutations of one or more exons, 5-10% are repetitive mutations, and 25-35% are point mutations (single base mutations or small base insertion/deletion mutations). Currently, there are no specific treatments available clinically.<sup>2,5</sup> Traditional methods, including acupuncture, massage, functional training, and traditional Chinese medicine, can maintain and enhance muscle strength, and some later-stage cases need orthopedic treatment. Glycine, glutamic acid, vitamin E, and hormones have no positive effect. Muscle strength increases within half a year after cell transplantation<sup>6-8</sup> but the long-term effects are not ideal. Additionally, the potential use of gene therapy is still under exploration.9,10

In clinical practice, it is difficult to explain the phenomena of liver injury and myocardial damage using routine biochemical tests and liver protection treatment. When there are no other reasons for auxiliary examination, CK levels can be further investigated.<sup>11</sup> It is easy to ignore the early-stage symptoms of the disease, which could be misdiagnosed as viral hepatitis, drug-induced liver injury, etc. Detailed physical examination is very important in the diagnosis of DMD. The extensive application of next-generation gene sequencing provides promise for the early diagnosis of many diseases, including DMD.<sup>12,13</sup> Early intervention is highly advantageous for maintaining the normal functions of organs, and delaying disease progression.

#### Conclusions

DMD is a serious genetic disease of childhood. Gene sequencing is crucial for early diagnosis.

#### Funding

This study was supported by the Medical Scientific Research Project of Foshan Health Bureau (No.20200225 to JD).

### **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Study design (JD), analysis and interpretation of data (OX, YF, JL,QC), manuscript writing and critical revision (JD).

#### References

- [1] Verhaart IEC, Aartsma-Rus A. Therapeutic developments for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Nat Rev Neurol 2019;15:373-386. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0203-3
- [2] Mercuri E, Bönnemann CG, Muntoni F. Muscular dystrophies. Lancet 2019; 394:2025-2038. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32910-1.
- [3] Aartsma-Rus A, Ginjaar IB, Bushby K. The importance of genetic diagnosis for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Med Genet 2016;53:145–151. doi: 10. 1136/jmedgenet-2015-103387.
- [4] Chemello F, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN. Correction of muscular dystrophies by CRISPR gene editing. J Clin Invest 2020;130:2766-2776. doi: 10. 1172/JCI136873.
- [5] Ryder S, Leadley RM, Armstrong N, Westwood M, de Kock S, Butt T, et al. The burden, epidemiology, costs and treatment for Duchenne muscular dystrophy: an evidence review. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2017;12:79. doi: 10. . 1186/s13023-017-0631-3.
- [6] Sun C, Serra C, Lee G, Wagner KR. Stem cell-based therapies for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Exp Neurol 2020;323:113086. doi: 10.1016/j. expneurol.2019.113086.
- [7] Meng J, Sweeney NP, Doreste B, Muntoni F, McClure M, Morgan J. Restoration of functional full-length dystrophin after intramuscular transplantation of foamy virus-transduced myoblasts. Hum Gene Ther 2020:31:241-252. doi: 10.1089/hum.2019.224.
- [8] Blau HM, Daley GQ. Stem cells in the treatment of disease. N Engl J Med 2019;380:1748-1760. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1716145.
- [9] Duan D. Systemic AAV micro-dystrophin gene therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Mol Ther 2018;26:2337-2356. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.07.011.
- [10] Fernández-Ruiz I. New developments in gene editing for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Nat Rev Cardiol 2020;17:200-201. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-0350-7
- [11] Ndrepepa G, Kastrati A. Creatine kinase myocardial band a biomarker to assess prognostically relevant periprocedural myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol 2018:270:118-119. doi: 10.1016/i.iicard.2018.07.077
- [12] Ebrahimzadeh-Vesal R, Teymoori A, Azimi-Nezhad M, Hosseini FS. Next Generation Sequencing approach to molecular diagnosis of Duchenne muscular dystrophy: identification of a novel mutation. Gene 2018:644:1-3. doi: 10. 1016/j.gene.2017.12.009.
- [13] Okubo M, Minami N, Goto K, Goto Y, Noguchi S, Mitsuhashi S, et al. Genetic diagnosis of Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy using next-generation sequencing: validation analysis of DMD mutations. J Hum Genet 2016;61: 483-489. doi: 10.1038/jhg.2016.7.

# Impact of Liver Injury in COVID-19 Patients: Single-center Retrospective Cohort Analysis

Jiten Desai\*, Upenkumar Patel, Shiva Arjun, Kristen Farraj, Kevin Yeroushalmi, Sandra Gomez Paz, Jaehyuck Im, Andres Castillo, Rajmohan Rammohan and Paul Mustacchia

Department of Internal Medicine, Nassau University Medical Center, East Meadow, NY, USA

**Citation of this article:** Desai J, Patel U, Arjun S, Farraj K, Yeroushalmi K, Paz SG, *et al.* Impact of liver injury in COVID-19 patients: Single-center retrospective cohort analysis. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020;8(4):476–478. doi: 10.14218/ JCTH.2020.00075.

#### Introduction

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has become a serious threat to global public health. Unfortunately, to date, there are no specific vaccines or targeted drugs, and the number of patients with positivity for systemic acute respiratory syndrome-novel coronavirus-2 infection is growing worldwide.<sup>1</sup> Patients with COVID-19 may be at risk for liver injury, but the mechanism and clinical significance of injury remains unclear. Proposed mechanisms include direct virus-induced insults, immune-mediated damage (due to excessive inflammatory response), and drug-induced injury. COVID-19-related liver dysfunction is now gaining widespread attention; however, liver injury's impact on the outcome of COVID-19 patients is not clearly understood. We have evaluated the impact of liver insults on the hospitalization outcome of COVID-19 patients admitted to a suburban New York safety-net hospital and would like to share our preliminary results in a Letter to the Editor instead of an Original Article for rapid dissemination to the worldwide audience.

In our retrospective, unmatched, single-center analysis, we have identified the first 639 confirmed COVID-19 patients (ages  $\geq$ 18 years) admitted to our facility from March 2020 to May 2020. Elevated liver-related enzymes [serum alanine aminotransferase (commonly referred to as ALT) >40 U/L, aspartate aminotransferase (commonly referred to as AST) >40 U/L, or alkaline phosphatase (commonly referred to as ALP) >120] were used to stratify patients with or without liver injury. The primary outcome was all-cause in-hospital mortality; other in-patient outcomes, including cardiac arrest, acute respiratory distress syndrome, arrhythmia, shock, and intubation rate, were also measured. The Pearson's chi-square test and Student's *t*-test were used for evaluating categorical

**Abbreviations:** ACE2, ACE-2 receptors; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; aOR, adjusted odds ratio; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; CI, confidence interval; COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019.

and continuous variables, respectively. A two-step hierarchical multivariate regression model was performed to assess the risk of in-patient mortality and other hospitalization outcomes after adjusting for baseline characteristics and comorbidities. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS<sup> $\circ$ </sup> Corp. Version 22 (Armonk, NY, USA). This analysis was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Nassau Health Care Corporation (NHCC) at Nassau University Medical Center (NUMC), under IRB reference # 20-277.

Out of the total 639 COVID-19 patients, 476 (74.5%) [mean age of 58.89±15.61 years, 63.0% male] had evidence of liver injury. COVID-19 liver injury cohorts had statistically significant higher rates of all cause in-patient mortality [35.5% vs. 22.7%; adjusted odds ratio (aOR): 2.84; 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.71-4.71; p<0.001). COVID-19 liver injury was observed more often in our Hispanic patient population (38.2%). The COVID-19 liver injury group showed higher risk of other in-patient outcomes, such as cardiac arrest (26.1% vs. 14.1%; aOR: 2.65; 95% CI: 1.52-4.59;  $p \le 0.001$ ), requirement of intubation (30% vs. 14.7%; aOR: 2.87; 95% CI: 1.70-4.85; p<0.001), acute respiratory distress syndrome (43.1% vs. 30.7%; aOR: 1.89; 95% CI: 1.23-2.91; *p*=0.004), arrhythmia (5.2% vs. 0.6%; aOR: 3.16; 95% CI: 0.95-10.33; p=0.05) and shock (15% vs. 2.8%; aOR: 2.06; 95% CI: 1.15-3.70; p=0.016) compared to COVID-19 patients without evidence of liver injury (Tables 1 and 2).

The infection of liver cells with the systemic acute respiratory syndrome-novel coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) may directly cause liver dysfunction. Other indirect mechanisms of liver injury are also plausible. Chen *et al.*<sup>2</sup> showed that more than one-third of COVID-19 patients have some liver dysfunction; in most cases, patients had mild-to-moderate elevations of ALT or AST levels. Our analysis has shown that approximately every fourth patient presented evidence of liver injury.

It is postulated that SARS-CoV-2 binds to host ACE-2 receptors (ACE2) on target cells to gain entry. Interestingly, ACE2 receptors are also highly expressed within the biliary tree. However, the cholestatic liver disease is not a common feature of COVID-19.<sup>3</sup> Chau *et al.*<sup>4</sup> demonstrated in their study that liver biopsies of SARS patients showed a significant increase in mitotic cells, eosinophils and balloon-like liver cells, which indicated that SARS-CoV-2 might induce liver cell apoptosis and thus lead to liver damage. The study by Tan *et al.*<sup>5</sup> showed that SARS-CoV-2 specific protein 7a could induce cell apoptosis in different organs (including lung, kidney, and liver) through the caspase-dependent



Received: 6 August 2020; Revised: 7 October 2020; Accepted: 8 October 2020 \*Correspondence to: Jiten Desai, Department of Internal Medicine, Nassau University Medical Center, 2201 Hempstead Turnpike, East Meadow, NY 11554, USA. Tel: +1-516-296-2253, E-mail: jdesai1@numc.edu

## Desai J. et al: Impact of liver injury in Covid-19 patients

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of COVII	-19 hospitalizations with vs.	without liver injury
--	-------------------------------	----------------------

Variable	With liver injury, <i>n</i> =476 (74.5%)	Without liver injury, <i>n</i> =163 (25.5%)	<b>p</b> *
Age in years at admission			
Mean age $\pm$ standard deviation	58.89±15.61	61.92±17.32	0.038
Sex			0.041
Male	63.0%	54.0%	
Female	37.0%	46.0%	
Race			0.26
White	22.1%	21.5%	
African American	24.6%	30.7%	
Hispanic	38.2%	30.7%	
Asian or Pacific Islander	2.9%	6.1%	
Other	11.1%	9.8%	
Insurance status			0.23
Uninsured/self-pay	16.0%	16.0%	
Medicare/Medicaid	40.1%	45.4%	
Private insurance	41.8%	34.4%	
Unknown	1.9%	4.3%	
Comorbidities			
Alcohol abuse	14.9%	10.4%	0.268
Asthma/COPD	10.5%	11.0%	0.713
HIV/AIDS	1.1%	1.8%	0.789
Congestive heart failure	4.8%	8.6%	0.247
Diabetes mellitus	34.5%	43.6%	0.078
OSA/OHS	1.9%	0.6%	0.521
Hypertension	50.6%	58.9%	0.221
Malignancy	5.0%	3.7%	0.321
Chronic kidney disease	7.6%	15.3%	0.010
Coronary artery disease	8.0%	14.1%	0.05
In- hospital Outcomes			
All cause in-hospital mortality	35.5%	22.7%	<0.001
Cardiac arrest	26.1%	14.1%	<0.001
Intubation	30%	14.7%	< 0.001
ARDS	43.1%	30.7%	0.004
Arrhythmias	5.2%	0.6%	0.05
Shock	15%	2.8%	0.016

 $^{*}p \leq 0.05$  at 95% confidence interval indicates statistical significance.

Abbreviations: ARDS, acute respiratory response syndrome; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; OSA/OHS, obstructive sleep apnea/obesity hypoventilation syndrome; HIV/AIDS, human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome.

pathway, further confirming the possibility of SARS-CoV-2 directly attacking liver tissues and causing liver damage. In our analysis, COVID-19 patients with liver injury demonstrated nearly a three times higher risk of in-patient mortality and other poor hospital outcomes, including cardiac arrest, acute respiratory distress syndrome, the requirement of intubation, arrhythmia, and shock. Our analysis also showed that male and Hispanic patients were more likely to develop COVID-19-associated liver dysfunction than infected female patients and those of other ethnicities. We recommend studies be

designed on a large scale, to better understand the sex and race-related difference that our data suggest.

Studies are also needed to assess the outcome of COVID-19 patients with preexisting liver disease. Our analysis could not differentiate direct COVID-19-induced hepatotoxicity, drug-induced liver injury, or 'bystander effects' of systemic inflammatory response syndrome caused by the virus, which could be a major limitation of our analysis. Regardless of the mechanisms intricated in the liver injury of patients with COVID-19, worse hospitalization outcomes were noted in our analysis, requiring close monitoring. In the meantime, we

#### Table 2. Hospitalization outcomes among patients with COVID-19 with liver injury

Hospitalization outcome	aOR	95% CI	<b>p</b> *
All cause in-hospital mortality	2.84	1.71-4.71	<0.001
Cardiac arrest	2.65	1.52-4.59	<0.001
Intubation	2.87	1.70-4.85	<0.001
ARDS	1.89	1.23-2.91	0.004
Arrhythmias	3.16	0.95-10.33	0.05
Shock	2.06	1.15-3.70	0.016

 $p \le 0.05$  at 95% CI indicates statistical significance.

Abbreviations: aOR, adjusted odds ratio; ARDS, acute respiratory response syndrome; CI, confidence interval.

believe that the front-line medical staff should pay attention to liver-related tests in patients infected with COVID-19. We recommend using appropriate hepatoprotective therapies, especially in patients with preexisting liver disease, to attenuate the potentially deleterious impact of COVID-19-related liver dysfunction.<sup>6</sup>

Thus, in our preliminary observations, we noted that COVID-19 patients with liver injury demonstrated nearly a three times higher risk of in-patient mortality and other poor hospitalization outcomes.

## Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Daniel J Whitson, Amanda M Silverio, Allen Tsiyer, Raghda Abdelrady and David Gruen in helping in data collection for this analysis.

## Funding

None to declare.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interests related to this publication.

#### **Author contributions**

Conception and design (JD, UP, SA, PM), acquisition of data (JD, UP, SA, KF, KY, SGP, JI, AC, RR), analysis and interpretation of data (JD, UP, SA, PM), drafting of the manuscript (KF, KY, SGP, JI, AC, RR), critical revision of the manuscript (JD, UP, PM).

#### References

- [1] Yang X, Yu Y, Xu J, Shu H, Xia J, Liu H, *et al.* Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a singlecentered, retrospective, observational study. Lancet Respir Med 2020;8:475– 481. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30079-5.
- [2] Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet 2020;395:507–513. doi: 10. 1016/S0140-6736(20)30211-7.
- [3] Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, et al. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature 2020;579:270–273. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7.
- [4] Chau TN, Lee KC, Yao H, Tsang TY, Chow TC, Yeung YC, et al. SARS-associated viral hepatitis caused by a novel coronavirus: report of three cases. Hepatology 2004;39:302–310. doi: 10.1002/hep.20111.
- [5] Tan YJ, Fielding BC, Goh PY, Shen S, Tan TH, Lim SG, et al. Overexpression of 7a, a protein specifically encoded by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus, induces apoptosis via a caspase-dependent pathway. J Virol 2004;78:14043–14047. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.24.14043-14047.2004.
- [6] Cheng ZJ, Shan J. 2019 Novel coronavirus: where we are and what we know. Infection 2020;48:155–163. doi: 10.1007/s15010-020-01401-y.

478



# 2020 Reviewer Acknowledgement

Editorial Office of Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology

We thank the following reviewers for their contribution and support in 2020.

MaiAli Abd El Meguid EGYPT

Sherief Abd-Elsalam EGYPT

Anant Agarwalla UNITED STATES

Muhammad Ali Ahad SAUDI ARABIA

**Nobuhisa Akamatsu** JAPAN

Kawtar Alkhalloufi UNITED STATES

Gianfranco D Alpini UNITED STATES

Khaled Amer EGYPT

**Masahiro Arai** JAPAN

Teruko Arinaga-Hino JAPAN

Tarik Asselah FRANCE

Hamed Azimi UNITED STATES

Olufemi Emmanuel Babalola NIGERIA

Gyorgy Baffy UNITED STATES

Shashwatee Bagchi UNITED STATES

Dibyajyoti Banerjee INDIA

Jodie A Barkin UNITED STATES

Giorgia Beatrice ITALY

\*DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.000RA.

**Harjot Bedi** CANADA

Manas Kumar Behera INDIA

Rahima Bhanji CANADA

Ines Bilic-Curcic CROATIA

John W Birk UNITED STATES

Kyle E Brown UNITED STATES

Peter Buch UNITED STATES

**Chalermrat Bunchorntavakul** THAILAND

Wenqing (Wendy) Cao UNITED STATES

Guido Carpino ITALY

Ryan Chadha UNITED STATES

Phunchai Charatcharoenwitthaya THAILAND

Po-Hung Chen UNITED STATES

Yongpeng Chen CHINA

En-Qiang Chen CHINA

Xiaoping Chen CHINA

Lixian Chen UNITED STATES

Min Chen CHINA

Aziz Alami Chentoufi CANADA Watcharasak Chotiyaputta THAILAND

Emanuela Ciracì ITALY

Andrea Dalbeni ITALY

Babak Daneshfard IRAN

Mohamed A Daw LIBYAN ARAB JAMAHIRIYA

C Dimacali SINGAPORE

Jianqiang Ding CHINA

Xiaoguang Dou CHINA

Iliana B Doycheva UNITED STATES

Atanu Kumar Dutta INDIA

Mohamed A. El-Guindi EGYPT

Yu-Chen Fan CHINA

Christopher Fan UNITED STATES

Piera Federico ITALY

Gong Feng CHINA

**Annarosa Floreani** ITALY

**Yanhang Gao** CHINA

Sunir J Garg UNITED STATES

Mauro Giuffre ITALY

Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology 2020 vol. 8 | 479-481

479

Copyright: © 2020 Authors. This article has been published under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0), which permits noncommercial unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided that the following statement is provided. "This article has been published in Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology at DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.000RA and can also be viewed on the Journal's website at http://www.jcthnet.com".

Amit Goel INDIA

George Boon-Bee Goh SINGAPORE

Humberto C Gonzalez UNITED STATES

Yuecheng Guo CHINA

Jinlong Guo SINGAPORE

Julio A Gutierrez UNITED STATES

**Tao Han** CHINA

Ying Han CHINA

Ma Ai Thanda Han UNITED STATES

Guo-Rong Han CHINA

Tao Han CHINA

**Kazuhiko Hayashi** JAPAN

Marija Heffer CROATIA

**Jeong Heo** KOREA

David J. Hermel UNITED STATES

Cheng-Maw Ho TAIWAN

**Yan Huang** CHINA

Chiung-Kuei Huang UNITED STATES

**Junyu Huo** CHINA

**Tatsuo Kanda** JAPAN

Qian Kang CHINA

Sandeep Kumar Karn CHINA

Chandan Kumar Kedarisetty INDIA

Lindsey Kennedy UNITED STATES

Hyunseok Kim UNITED STATES

Ahyoung Kim UNITED STATES Arno Kornberg GERMANY

John Koskinas GREECE

Ramesh Kudira UNITED STATES

Tasha Kulai CANADA

Anand V. Kulkarni INDIA

Ravikant Kumar INDIA

Pramod Kumar INDIA

Karan Kumar INDIA

Ewa Kurys-Denis POLAND

Sundeep Lakhtakia INDIA

Xiang-Ming Lao CHINA

George Lau HONG KONG

Ruoqing li CHINA

Chen Li GERMANY

**Jing Li** CHINA

**Qingjiao Liao** CHINA

Joseph K Lim UNITED STATES

Vivek Lingiah UNITED STATES

Shousheng Liu CHINA

Cheng-Hai Liu CHINA

Xiaocong Liu UNITED STATES

**Xiaolin Liu** CHINA

Man-Qing Liu CHINA

Lungen Lu CHINA

Sunil K Malonia UNITED STATES

Alessandro Mantovani ITALY 2020 Reviewer Acknowledgement

Vladimir Marquez CANADA

Rosa Maria Martin-Mateos SPAIN

Krzysztof Marycz POLAND

Muhammad Masroor PAKISTAN

Mitchell R McGill UNITED STATES

Magnus McLeod CANADA

Matthew McMillin UNITED STATES

Ahmed Atef Mesalam EGYPT

Katarina Miskovic Spoljaric CROATIA

Søren Møller DENMARK

Harikumar R. Nair UNITED KINGDOM

Seyedehsan Navabi UNITED STATES

Paul Naylor UNITED STATES

Bolin Niu UNITED STATES

Jean-Baptiste Nousbaum FRANCE

Jason Pan UNITED STATES

Charles Panackel INDIA

James S Park UNITED STATES

Lei Pei CHINA

Chuang Peng CHINA

María Teresa Pérez-Gracia SPAIN

Cyriac Abby Philips INDIA

Paul J. Pockros UNITED STATES

M. Pokorska-Śpiewak POLAND

Madhumita Premkumar INDIA

Michele Pritchard UNITED STATES 2020 Reviewer Acknowledgement

Kittichai Promrat UNITED STATES

Atoosa Rabiee UNITED STATES

Alok Ranjan UNITED STATES

Pravin M Rathi INDIA

Aathira Ravindranath INDIA

Sammy Saab UNITED STATES

Mehdi Sadat IRAN

Ghada Salum EGYPT

Filippo Sartori ITALY

Jinendra L Satiya UNITED STATES

Moinak Sen Sarma INDIA

Neeral L Shah UNITED STATES

Shalimar INDIA

Mithun Sharma INDIA

Vishal Sharma INDIA

Jifang Sheng CHINA

Hao Shi UNITED STATES

Surajit Sinha UNITED STATES

Coleman Smith UNITED STATES

Martina Smolic CROATIA

Philippe Sogni FRANCE Bin Song CHINA

Vikrant Sood INDIA

Siddharth Sridhar CHINA

N Stefan GERMANY

Michael Stewart CANADA

Sridhar Sundaram INDIA

**R Tang** CHINA

Ni Tang CHINA

Tawesak Tanwandee THAILAND

Norberto Chavez Tapia MEXICO

Rolf Teschke GERMANY

Peng-sheng Ting UNITED STATES

Parijat Ram Tripathi INDIA

Georgios Tsoulfas GREECE

Shunsuke Uno JAPAN

Jaimy Villavicencio Kim UNITED STATES

Lucija Virovic-Jukic CROATIA

Lili Wang UNITED STATES

Grace Lai-Hung Wong HONG KONG

Yu Jun Wong SINGAPORE

Benjamin I Woolbright UNITED STATES Chencheng Xie UNITED STATES

Hui Xie CHINA

Yongning Xin CHINA

**Weijie Xu** CHINA

Tao Yang CHINA

Ling Yang CHINA

Yulong Yang CHINA

Eric M Yoshida CANADA

**Kentaro Yoshioka** JAPAN

Yanli Zeng CHINA

Yuanyuan Zhang CHINA

Dazhi Zhang CHINA

Lanjing Zhang UNITED STATES

Hao Zhang CHINA

**Yao Zhao** CHINA

**Ze-Hua Zhao** CHINA

Ming-Hua Zheng CHINA

Jianming Zheng CHINA

Jian-Hong Zhong CHINA

Da Zhou CHINA

**Julie Zhu** CANADA



Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology [Print ISSN: 2225-0719; Online ISSN: 2310-8819] is owned by the Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongging Medical University and published by XIA & HE Publishing Inc.

## **Biographies of the Editors-in-Chief**

## Prof. Hong Ren (General Editor-in-Chief)



Prof. Ren, is the President, Director [Key Laboratory of Molecular Biology of Infectious Diseases (Ministry of Education of China), Medical Imaging Department, Liver and Viral Hepatitis Research Institute], Leader and Distinguished Super Specialist Consultant [Division of Infectious Diseases (one of the

national key discipline in China), Department of Internal Medicine] of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University. In addition, he is also the Vice-Chairman and Group Head of the Chinese Society of Hepatology, Chinese Medical Association.

## Prof. George Y. Wu (Comprehensive Editor-in-Chief)



Prof. Wu obtained his MD and PhD degree at Albert Einstein College of Medicine in 1976. He was a resident at Harlem Hospital Center from 1976 to 1979. He worked as a postdoctoral fellow at Albert Einstein College of Medicine from 1979 to 1982. From 1983, he worked as Assistant Professor and then Professor at

University of Connecticut School of Medicine. He is now the Director of Hepatology Section, Division of Gastroenterology-Hepatology. Dr. Wu's awards include the following: Research Prize awarded by the American Liver Foundation in 1982; Industry Research Scholar Award from the American Gastroenterological Association for 1985 to 1988; Gastroenterology Research Group Young Scientist Award from the American Gastroenterological Association in 1990; Herman Lopata Chair in Hepatitis Research from 1992 to date; Scientific Award from the Chinese American Medical Society in 1992; He was elected to membership in exclusive societies: American Society for Clinical Investigation in 1989; Association of American Physicians in 1995; and Top Doctor in the U.S. awarded by U.S. News and World Report in 2011. He has published about 180 peer-reviewed academic articles, 11 books, and is series editor for Clinical Gastroenterology book series by Springer-Nature, and is Senior Associate editor of J. Digestive Diseases.

## Prof. Harry Hua-Xiang Xia (Editor-in-Chief)



Prof. Xia obtained his PhD in 1994 and worked as a postdoctoral fellow at Trinity College, Dublin University, Ireland. He spent 5 years as a senior Research Officer at Nepean Hospital, University of Sydney, Australia, and 6 years as an Assistant Professor at Queen Mary Hospital, University of Hong Kong to

continue his research on Helicobacter pylori and associated diseases. He has achieved an academic reputation worldwide in the field. He was elected as a fellow of the American College of Gastroenterology in 2008. He joined Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, USA, in 2006 for clinical development of new investigational drugs in different therapeutic areas. He is currently an Adjunct Professor of Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing; Municipal Hospital, Qingdao University, Qingdao; and First Affiliated Hospital, Guangdong Pharmaceutical University, Guangdong, China. He has published about 180 peer-reviewed academic articles. He has published two books, namely, "Helicobacter pylori infection: Basic Principles and Clinical Practice" (1997), and A Comprehensive Guide to English Medical Manuscript Writing and Publication (2017).



Published by Xia & He Publishing Inc.

14090 Southwest Freeway, Suite 300, Sugar Land, Texas, 77478, USA Telephone: +1 281-980-0553 E-mail: service@xiahepublishing.com Website: www.xiahepublishing.com

